TheAssociation for Diplomatic Studies and Training
Foreign Affairs Oral History Project

JANET L. BOGUE

Interviewed byCharlesStuart Kennedy
Initial interview date: May 18, 2007
Copyright 25 ASDT

Q: Today is May 18, 2007This is Tape 1, Side 1, thiJanet Lynn Bogue.
Janet, | et 6s s\Whenmandwhére werte goulbom® i nni ng.

BOGUE:I was born in 1955 in Tacoma, Washington, the State of Washington not the
City of Washington.

Q: I knew it wasgoing to happen. have somebody who was bohe tyear | entered the
Foreign Service.

BOGUE: My last job in the Foreign Service was handling the new entrstarted to see
people who werenét quite born when | came in
close.

Q:Let 6 s st ar tssidentheyBoguerfamilyallitme eher@ they came from and
what you know about them.

BOGUE:I donét know Samelofahat faanlydnistdry i aHitderbit murky.
My best understanding is that they were French Protestants who initially setthed
Carolinas.There is an area of North Carolina called Bogue Bay, Bogue Sound, Bogue
Inlet. There is a town of Boguépparently, theyriginally settled in that area and then
spread out.

My fatherdés father came flinosriheyhatibeenoi s; t hey
farmers in lllinois and that area for some generations, because some of his ancestors, |
think my grandfatherés grandfather, had foug

had come from lllinois and Michigain fact, one of my Boge ancestors askilled right
here in Virginia, in the famous battle of Cold Harbor, a great slaughter.

A

Then on my fatherdéds motherds side, there was
mixed German, French, and a lot of Pennsylvania Quakers ondéatfsamily.

Q:What did your grandfather on your fatheros

BOGUE:MYy gr andf at her 6 s n &mwas maisesl onfafasmnesaraedl Bo gu e .
in France in the Army in World War He then returned to the Midwest, married, started



a family, and tk Depression came alortge traveled with his family out to Seattle where

two of his sistersn-law, hiswifdmy gr andmot her 6s si sters wor ke
Seattle They told him there were jobs available in Seattle worked as a clerk and
bookke@er/accountant in a lumber shipping company in the port of Segtidgob

doesndt r eal Hgwoelklookdt aveholeylot oh lmgs and compute in his

head the number of board feet of lumber that would comefdhbse things like that.

He wauld do all those calculations and work it dde really was retired when | first

remember himHe did live to be 96 years old, so | actually had a long association with

him.

Q: Great.And your father?

BOGUE: My father was the second of three sons, ltorttis family.He grew up in

Seattle, Washington, and went to public school théeewas in the navy during World

War II. He was at the University of Washington as a student, then on active duty with the
Navy. The Navy sent him to medical school at thaversity of Nebraska, in Omahide

was there when the war ended and was demobilized, but finished his medical studies
there.Shortly after doing his residency, he was drafted into the Army for the Korean
conflict. Although he had served in the militaryeddy, he had not served as a dodter.

had become essentially a new persmhe did his army service in the Korean War.

Q: He did what in the Korean War?

BOGUE:He was actually in Port Townsend, Washington, of all places, at a place called
Fort Ward@, which is a state park now, not an army installatitewas one of the
doctors at the army hospital there.

Then he and my mother settled in a very small town on the Olympic Peninsula called Gig
Harbor, a town at the time of about 1,000 people thateteadloctorHe became a

general practitioner ther@bout a year later, my older brother was born, and then | was
born.Then there is another younger brother.

Q: How did your mother and father meet?

BOGUE:They went to high school and college togetinebeattleMy mother was also

raised in Seattle and they both went to Roosevelt High School in Seattle, and then to the
University of WashingtorLike a lot of middle class kids, they went by streetcar to

college and lived at hom&hey married during thBecond World War actually when my
father was in the NavyJly mother then accompanied him to Nebraska and worked while
he was in medical school.

When they settled in Gig Harbor, she became a housewife for several years, but was very
active and involved itocal government kind of issues and ended up spending 13 years as
the Mayor of Gig Harbodt was great fun for her.

Q:Letds go back on her side of the family.



BOGUE:Her side consists mostly of immigrants from Sweden who settled in the
Midwest, mostlyin NebraskaThey initially came from Sweden to Chicago, worked in
foundries.Again, the typical American story, until they had some money to buy some
farmland.They settled in Nebraska.

Her father had grown up in Nebraska in a big farm farkllywent as young man to
Alaska, just kind of on an adventure, to work in Alaskaen World War | broke outle
enlisted in the Army, and they assigned him to Camp Lewis, which is now Fort Lewis, in
Washington State-e liked it there a lotHe really liked it.Sowhen he left the army, he
stayed and went to work there, and met and married my grandmother.

My grandmother6s family was o FrScogishrdestenty most |
in Canada, although some of them came down into what is now the UnitecsStat par t o f
the Pacific NorthwesShe was actually born in Washington when it was still a territory,

so one of my four grandparents was actually born in what is now WashingtorS&tate.

was raised in Tacoma and met and married my grandfather Tinendived their lives

mostly in Seattle.

Q: Was she mainly a housewife?

BOGUE:She worked as a young wom&he finished high schodbhe worked in a
jewelry store in Tacoma until their marriadgdter the marriage, she was a housewife.
She was very activeiher church work and did the sort of volunteer work that ladies did
in those days.

Q:Let 6s move now t o Speakngofacnor¢chhwas theee a partifuart h e r .
religion?

BOGUE:Actual |l 'y, we w&lymothérivascalsad asah gmpalians .

My father was a Methodist.hey did not go to church and they did not have any of their
children baptized, because they thought that was a decision we should make later in life.
If anything, particularly growing up during the Vietnam years, 1 gbfelt the influence

of what had been one strain in my family, which was Quakerism, and was quite
interested, as was my mother, for sometime in Quaker thinRutgye were not raised in

a religious household at all.

Q: The other religion, politicswhere did they fall?

BOGUE: I would say that when | was a small child that my parents were probably
members of what seems to be a vanished species today, which is liberal Republicans.
would say that over time my father stayed thbhg mother moved in a ore liberal
direction.She is still living and is a very much left of center Demodrhey were active

in local community and school board, planning board, city council, that kind of Bing.
they were not active on the large scene politically.



| d mewdtb jump the gun at all, but it may be the most interesting thing in that sense

about my hometowrMy hometown of Gig Harbor was settled mostly by immigrants

from Croatia At that time, it was a heavily Croatian town that made its living from

commercal fishing.They fished for salmon in Alaska and Puget Sound in the surhmer.

think that was particularly interesting, morerthmy par ent s® | nvkolf vement
me, there were still mail order brides coming in the early 1960s when | was a afild fr

the former Yugoslavia, from Croatia.

Q: You are probably talking about ladies | sent thémgas in charge of the Consular
Section in Belgrade in the miP60s.Our whole job was to stop that trade, with singular
unsuccess.

BOGUE:One neighbor up thieill was a lady who had come from Croaflde people in
my hometown were mostly from the Island of Brac, which lies off Split, you will
remember, one of the large islantigerestingly, in a parallel development, it used to be
a fishing community and isow a tourist communityMy hometown used to be a fishing
community and is now a very wealthy suburb of Tacoma and a tourist enviroi@aent.
they have had kind of a parallel evolution.

t al k a Harbar.Ydugrewbupt about

Q: We will come back to the family.e t 6 s
about you as aVh&awasit el ement

there,didyou2z et 6 s t al k
like growing up in Gig Harbor?

BOGUE:I have very fond memories of Gig Harbdris a very small townl. think it was
probably a very nice emanment for a young child because everyone you saw was
someone you knewit was probably a terrible environment for a teenager.

We had a grand time, my brothers and/k lived sort of like Huckleberry Finiwe

lived on about six acres of properfjnerewere woods all around uk.was a small town
but in a very rural environmeniVe were outdoors constantly, doing things like fishing,
swimming and goofing around in the wootgent to the local elementary school and all
through the local public schooystem thereWe walked to school when | was in
elementary schoolt is kind of a lost life nowYou would walk to school and walk

home, all those kinds of things.

It was a little bit of a throwback even thenhink we were definitely behind neighboring
towns.We had no movie theater; we had, | think, one restaurant, one café, and one
tavern, but not much in the way of urban attractitthsas still a big deal to go into
Seattle across the bridge, paying the toll and driving a long livegems like niing

now, but at the time, it was still kind of a big adventure to go to Seattle where my
grandparents lived.

Q: Did you become a water kidAd you have a s&ior something?

BOGUE:We had a little boat when | was a kilfe had a nindoot sailing dindny, which
you could row or sailMy family had a little boat when | was a small chMde had a 19



foot, what was called then a runabdtitvas an open boat with no cabin, and we took our
vacations every summer in the San Juan Islands and the Gulf IslaPaisadaWe

would camp on the beach, spending about a month up Megrather as a doctor had

one requirement for his vacation and that was there would be no telephones anywhere
nearby.This of course was long before cell phones came altmgve woull go up and
camp out and just &b around in our little boalVe definitely became water kids.

My younger brother, who still lives in the Seattle area, has a boat and still does the same
thing in summerHe goes to the San Juaftss much more developag there now, but
he still goes there every summer on vacation.

Q: What is the age grouping of your two brothers?

BOGUE:I have two brothers, one older, one younyeée. were all born very close
togetherOne born in 1953, | was born in 1955, and my ymirbrother was born in
1957.

Q: Were you a gang?

BOGUE:We were,insome sensée wer e a gang partly because
other kids in the neighborhoo8.o0, i f we di dnodét play with each
play with anybodyLike all siblings, we had our elbows out with each other at various

times.| have often said that being the middle child and only girl was a great introduction

to diplomatic life.There was a lot of negotiating early détearned about the value of

alliances.

Q: How about family lifeX¥ ou di dndt have a | Wastheréalmut si de
of talk around the dinner tabld?id the world intruder how did things look?

BOGUE:I't wasndédt so much talk around the dinner
preity much wired to the telephon&he minute he sat down, the phone would riftgere

wasnodt a hospital i n o urnatans@lietendedtobat was e me
dinner very quickly because of all those things that were happening.

| would like tosay a couple of thing®ne is that my mother was very interested in all
things foreign, travel and things like thefhen | was a kid, we had some exchange
students from Germany stay with us.

Also, and I think that this is in my generatianleast aed tie that binds the Foreign

Service we took theNational GeographimagazineEven though we were in a town that

di dndt have a | ot of contact with the outsid
came from foreign countries, so we were certaimgra of thatWe did grow up on the

National Geographjand | have found that among people my age, especially those who

come from small towns or rural areas, that had an immense influence on their early

childhood.l am proud to say that this afternoomnh participating in a National

Geographic event, their s:alled BioBlitz of Rock Creek Park, where they inventory all




the species in Rock Creek Park in 24 houstill feel anabiding loyalty to the National
Geographic all these years later.

Q: My sonworks as a consultant to the National Geograpitcourse, | am of a
certain age where my first piNatonat es of women

Geographic

BOGUE:I think that was probably true for my brothers as well.

Q: It is a major world instution that has opened up; it is a very important publication.
certainly has its influence, I think, on the diplomatic community worldwide.

BOGUE: Could I throw in one more thing about tational Geographjdecause this is
one of those waysinwhich you donét realize it, but it ha
later.

One of my parentso neighbors when they first
Alf and FriedalerstadThey were both teachers at our high schblohd Mrs.Jerstador
Algebra Their son was then a college student and star basketball player at the local
university.His name wasute JerstadWhen | was eight years old, in 19@34te Jerstad

was one of the first Americans on Mount Everbstl963, National Geographic
sponsoredrmaAmerican expedition on Mount Evereldie was completely our hero of
course as childrehat is one thing that when you are living in a small town, we were
following with intense preoccupation a whole map of the route that came in the National
GeographicWe followed very carefully the progress of that clirtibs still a big deal,

but it is not an uncommon thing any more to climb Mount Evefdghe time though,

this was really only the second expedition after the Hillary expeditisie.was one of

the four, who summitted and came back to Gig Hardgrfather had a convertibl@an
immenseact of optimism in the Seattle climatée drovelLutein the little parade that
greeted himlt was all terribly excitingl ended up serving in Nepal many, mangrge
later.We will get to that at some poirgut Lute came over with his grandson and we
actually trekked up to Everest Base Camp together, which was really something.

Q: Janet, both you and | got enmeshed in Balkan or Yugoslav politics, during different
eras.| ask this with a certain amount of real curiositfow did the Croatian element
play in your town?

BOGUE:First of all, it is interesting that at that time, | am talking now in the 1960s, they
identified themselves as Yugoslavs, not Croatiansifspedty. They were from the

Dalmatian Coast, the Island of Br&®r instance, there was a social club that was called
the Yugoslav HallThere were certainly Croatians; there may have been a Slovene or two
thrown in there, but mostly Croatianthere washot this firm definition of themselves in

that sense until more recent years and events had tran€pirgolurse, at the time, Tito

was still very much alivd.was very much aware that the people who had immigrated to
theUnited Statesstarting in thel920s really to my town, were very much ahito, antr
communist.There was certainly that aspect of it.



| got very interested in all things Balkan from having grown up in this toViren |

later, fastforwarding just a little, was doing a junior ternr@ad in college in Vienna, |

took the spring break to go to Brac and see what the island walthikg when | was in

the Foreign Service later and applied to learn Croatian and go to Belgrade, people said,
ALearn Russi anT haantdb sy bweht ear cdRvassadamansthabno, |

was really very interested in Yugoslav@t course, | had no idea that some years later, it
would become a real growth industry, in the most unfortuseriee

Q: Nothing in the Foreign Service is better than &wé a horrible crisis in your area of
specialization.

BOGUE:Suddenly, there is a demand for people who have area expertise and language
skills.

Q:Speaking of this, how much did you € the wt
go up to Alaska, one hesaabout how it is probably the most dangerous trade in the
world. Was that part of the towrQr were they fishing in safer waters?

BOGUE:I think they were mostly salmon fishermen, only a few did halibut fishing

which is probably the most dangerolii nk | 6 ve Udterdstobdeinsher i ght .
deeper, further offshore watets. donét r emember a fatal fishin
townspeople when lwasachild. don o6t r ec arechll caxtainlypdopld al i t i es.
breaking bones, losing fingelsis a really hard jold.also remember, in the way

children remember things, immense astonishment at realizing that some of them did not

know how to swim, on the theory that when you went over, you were just basically dead.

You went off the boat, you wereadl t di dndét matter i f you coul
the water is so cold and you are wearing so much gear.

It was a difficult life and it was a very precarious economic existence asSesaie years

were great and people made a lot of mo®®me yearsvere terrible Essentially, except

for odd jobs people could pick up in the winter, carpentry or something, they had to live

for a year off the summer catcBomeone once asked my mother what the economy in

Gig Harbor was during the winter montighe said A Wel | , we sel | each o
st amplseroe wasnd6t much doing in the winter.

Q:Let 6 s g olnthedirstplade,averé you much of a reader?

BOGUE: Completely.l started wearing glasses when | was very small to idgablder

brother taughime how to read when | was three as a surprise for my m&béidearned

to read very early and | was, and remain to this day, an immensely devoted|Iresater.
everything | could my handsoh:r om t he back of cereal boxes t
magazies t hat | coul dndét Dbldogedtoreadahingsnder st and a:

Q: In the first place, where did you get your bookg&s there an equivalent to a
Carnegie Library nearby?



BOGUE:Actually my parents were very involved in the founding of aalippin Gig
Harbor, the first oneMy parents had a lot of books at horheemember very vividly
complaining to my mother one day that | was bo&tk pointed at a whole shelf of

books and sai d, AWhen you have freboreds hed r ead
As |l ong as there are books in the Weouse that
had a lot of books athom#&/le al so participated in a | ot of

clubs:the Young American Book Club, Scholastic Book Club, those kihttsmmgs
where you got new books every month.

Q: Did you read thd-oreign Service Manudbr potential female Foreign Service
Officers, in other words, the Nancy Drew series?

BOGUE:Absolutely, | am a huge fan of Nancy DreMove Nancy Drew! read allof

thoseAnd because | had br ot hereadtheHardyBeysd al | t h
Tom Swift, and all thoseSecretly, once in a while, they would read Nancy Da&iong

asl promised not to tell anyone at schagbw it is on an oral history.absolutely read

every single thing | could.

Q: Looking back, was there any book or series of books that you might say was
influential, that kind of opened your eyes?

BOGUE:I am not sure that there was any ofleere were books | read, and read, and
read againinterestingly, a Foreign Service colleague and friend, Bea Camp, who is
principal officerin ChiangMai now, we had a moment of epiphany one day when we
realized we had read the same books over and over and over again as children.

They were by &ungarian author named Kate Sereldym not sure | am pronouncing it
right because it is a Hungarian nar8ee wrote two books about the children in a family
growing up in Hungary before, during and just after World Wamle was calledhe

Good Masterand the sequel was call&tie Singing Tred remember reading them over
and over and over agaiAnd so did Bea, interestingly enoudrhey were definitely

chick books; my brothers did not read those.

The books my brothers read over and over, and |thé&m, and our mother had read

them to us and then we al/l reavdloechem agai n,
Treasure Islandl still love Treasure IslandAnd Kidnapped and all those kinds of

books that generally appeal a little bit more to b&yg.my brothers and | were just

crazy about them all.

Q: How about elementary schodi?h at sort of subjects grabbed

BOGUE:I really liked everything in elementary schobloved going to school.was
just a complete little nerd at schoblvas so happy at school, learning things.



| should say that was not true in the first grade when my parents sent me to a private
girl sé school i n | hatedewem minutewfhiihen hwas trahsterred d .
from the second grade on to oacél public school.

Q: What was your local public school like?

BOGUE:Very small.Again, it was a large rural district so some children, not me, had to
come miles and miles on the bus to school every day frofftufay areasThere was not

an anticipatia in the school that children would necessarily go on to universityuld

say probably most did not.

Q: Were these farming folk?

BOGUE:Fishing folk, some farming folk, some worked in logging and other forest kind
of industries thereéThere were notanysec al | ed fAwhi te coMyl ar o
dad had oneThe teachers had othefiey were definitely working class, middle class,
lower middle class people.

My memories of the teachers are very positive, wonderful teadherge one of those
incredibly vivid memories that | was in the sixth grade when President Kennedy was
assassinate@ur teacher told us that he had been killdds was a huge impact because
most of my classmates were Catholic, because this was mostly a Cruaiaican

town. Of course, the election of Kennedy as a Catholic, the first Catholic to be President,
was immensely excitindt was a public school and it was during one of the big early
debates about prayer in public schdasemember Mrs. Eaton, my teacher, saying tha
first of all, we didndédt know the fate of
shot.She said, first of all she thought everyone would understand if people wished to say
to themselves a prayer for the President, but that she would ask thisoveaid a prayer

for the person or persons and their families who had committed the assasdination.
remember how powerfully that struck mem thinking, here |1 was in a little dinky rural
school, miles from nowheréthink it was a very enlightengdacher, who probably had

a bigger influence on me that | realized that the time.

Q: Did you like writing early on, and all that?

BOGUE:Yes, | was definitely more of a verbal than a math pergiyrolder brother is a
tremendous mathematician and a reath brainl was much more on a reading and
writing side.

Q: Did you have spelling bees?

BOGUE:Oh, yes.

Q: How were you?

BOGUE:I loved theml was very good at spelling.

t
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he



Q: I would have hated yolt was always nasty little girls.

BOGUE: It was alvays girls, | knowGirls memorized those little sheets.

Q: It took me a long time, before computers came along to take care of that.
BOGUE:Now, I loved writing my lists of spelling worddt was definitely a girl thing.
Q: Just to capturewere thergirls and guys?

BOGUE:Certainly not in elementary school and even in junior Higlvas partly

because we all grew up together in a small commu@Bitys have a little bit of an
advantage physically because they grow eatlimember in the sixth gde, for

instance, when we used to play softball, by far the best player on our team was a girl,
Nancy Jerkovic, a good Croatian name you will recogrhe. was way taller and

stronger than anyone eldénad a few glory years when | could throw a foothatther

than either of my brothers, who are now great tall, six foot six inch gjust. sprouted
earlier as girls do and so, we could still sort of play and the kind of things you still want
to do in grade schodEveryone wants to be playing footbafid softballWe could all

play together in a sort of equitablewdyh er e wer endét all the hor mor
so you di dThérda wahnotalethistkimdof separation of guys and dittsnk
where it made a difference were things ldaoks, which were really considered, as there
were girl soé b o dlkestheaenere ook evéryorie oddakcy Drew

was definitely for girls.

Q: I read Nancy Drew todSecretly.
BOGUE: Exactly. This was definitely under the covers with asfiaght for the boys.
Q: How about newsPlow did news get to you all?

BOGUE:We did have a black and white television at hohk@ow my mother used to
watch the evening news, Hunti&yinkley and all thatWe also had radidVe listened to

the radio adt, not in the old fireside chat sense, but just in having it on in the car, having
it on at homeMy mother would listen in the kitchefhe radionewswould be on.

We did take the local Tacoma paper, which was a dailyfdeema News Tribuné
would rot hold it up as an example of fine journalism, but we did takeAlmakt we took
Time magazineLife magazineWe did a lot more magazine readih¢gake very few
magazines now.

Q: They had their era.

BOGUE:This was the grand erActually | rememberhat my mother like to sevehe
took Voguemagazine, which came with the fashions and the pattermsmiember

1C



looking atVogue growing up in a working class rural
do peopl e we alhadndver seen agybne ashabedt@ say, in New York.

The first time | went to New York, | was seventeSare enough, there were people
wearing those magazine clothes.

Ql still |l ook at these fashion shows and sa\
BOGUE:Well, in New York you do
Q: Junior high, what was it like?

BOGUE:I went to a middle school that had just seventh and eighth draded o n 6 t
remember a lot about middle school except that | participated in a summer program
which was kind of the first kind of travel, experiettiearning that | didWwe spent the

spring term, one clasK.you were going to do the summer program, you signed up and
spent the term studying Washington State history, geography, geology, industry, crops,
the whole thingThen in the summer, we actlyagjot on a school bus and went all around
the stateWe slept on gym floors atherschoos to keep costs dowiit was called

Mobile Education, Mobile Edl'he cost was quite minimal because we did stay in
schoolsWe went around and looked at all thes@adgs.We went to Grand Coulee Dam.

It was also the first time | ever flew in a plakecompany called Air West, which

doesndét exist any more, one of the ol d Howar
flight. It was a low altitude flight, so that weuld look from abovd.remember | had

never been in a plane befolevas terribly motion sickWhat | distinctly remembes

finally understandingomethings about geographihad never felt thatVhen seen from

the air made perfect sense, but wheensfrom the ground are very hard to comprehend.

remember how exciting that was to make this trip around and realize how much you had

learned being out there.

Q: Being in the State of Washington, did Canada and the Canadian territories ring any
bells?

BOGUE:Completely.We spent every summer in Canada in the San Juans and the Gulf
Islands.We would cross into Canada and we would visit Victoria and Vancouver Island.

| was in Canada much more than | was anywhere else in the United States, outside of
maybeOregon,asachild. di dndét really think of it as a
because British Columbia and Washington State are actually very muclEaiiept |

remember going to Vancouver and it was the first time | ever saw a man in a turban
because¢hey had a Sikh community in Vancouver from the early 1908at is

something you never saw in Seattiée had an Asian population, not a South Asian
population.That was first time | ever saw a man in a turbamas absolutely fascinated

by that.Again, it was like something out of National Geographic.

11



Q: How about CaliforniaVas this an attraction where one went for lotus blossoms or
something?

BOGUE:We made this boat trip everyyewWe di dndét make a | ot of f a
trips, like many Amdcans do, because we had our boat We. did go one year, the

Washington Huskies were in the Rose Bollis was January 1964 maylidy parents

were UW (University of Washington) alums and loyal Husky roofénisy decided they

would go to the Rose Bowaind take us kids along and we would go to Disneyland, which

had opened eight years before and was still a huge attragteodid thatWe went to

Disneyland We drove to California and went to Disneyland, and my parents went to the

Rose Bowl And we droveback.

California was seen as an exotic place that had palm treess an amazing thing.
Highways, much more developed freeways and highways that weaathington State
was not so developed.

Q: Was Gig Harbor changing?

BOGUE:Not then.It has changd radically since to become essentially a very wealthy
suburban communityzig Harbor itself was still very much a very small, not very
prosperous working class community.

Q: What high school did you go to?

BOGUE:I went to Peninsula High School, thelppublic high school in our area at the

time. My graduating class had fewer than 100, in the 90s, so there were probably about

400 people in the fowyear high schoolThis was during the Vietnam Wdtven though

it was not in the city, there was the ttainv of students from wanrtze hippies to people

who coul dndét wait to graduate aPfhdwayoi n t he a
high school culture is everywhetedivides itself upl was in the nergdlgoodstudent

group.

Q: Did you run across, | gws today we would call it diversityam thinking not only of
AfricanrAmericans, but also Japane8enericans or KoreafAmericans?Zan you give
me a feel for that?

BOGUE:There were no AfricaAmericans in our community or in our school at that

time. There were a lot of AfricarAmericans in Tacoma, largely because of Fort Lewis

and also McCord Air Force Base and Bremerton Navy Yards and Naval Base, which
were all nearbyBut not in Gig HarborAgain, the dominant ethnic group was recent
immigrant Slavs fron Croatia.There were also a lot of people of Scandinavian ancestry.
There were East Asians, not Koreans really but there were people of Japanese ancestry
about whom, | must say, we knew shockingly little about the World War Il internment.

My father toldme once a friend of his who was also a doctor in Tacoma had been
working with him.He said he was born in an internment camp in Califolnia.d i d n 6 t

12



really know what theyweré. hadndét heard a Helmadtdexpldnaout it i
me the very longnd tragic story of the internment of Japan&seericans.

Q: In high school, you were mentioning the groif.o were the various groups®ere
the battles of the 1960s being fought out particularly there?

BOGUE:A little bit in our very own small wayror instance you will remember the
Vietnam War moratorium, the Sam Brown organized @ae group of students, in

which | was involved, wore black armbands and at lunchtime, read a list of the names of
the young men from the county who had been killed gtnam.

Another group of students who considered themselves very patriotic, one of them

actually came t o schoa@adainthisisarurhlareaaddatbitoof hunt |
families had shotguns and things at holmemember the incredible shooksomeone
bringing a gun to schodlt was unheard of atthetimd.e di dndét polionm it at

not sure he even took it out of the truck, but he had aThare was a lot of anxiety and
discomfort about thaT here were fistfights about these tnln the way that high
school students usually settle these things, which is mockery and exclusion or inclusion.

| coul dnét wait t o gle&newbyuhen, lovas ol engughts ¢ h o o | ac
know that there was a world out there, beyond #iishe sort of pettiness or cliquiness

of high school wife. h&re was bomething duethee thatwas t o

going to be much more interestirignere was just no way to hit fast forward.

Q: How about dating patterns and things like th&¥@s there much, or what was going
on at the high school?

BOGUE:Do you mean were people dating across groups?
Q: Were there different groups dating®here did you fit in in this whole thing?

BOGUE:I was not only a complete little student nerd, but | mas years younger than
my classmatefecause my brother taught me to read, | had actually started school early.

Q: That can be a problem.

BOGUE:Although | was my current height because | grew early, | was two years
younger and socially, sort of, noowing in the older crowdso | had a few dates in high
school b u ta stehdyabyiri@rtd orfaraythiegl hung out with a group of friends
who had been friends since we were small children.

Q: How about extrecurricular activities:sports, band, sge, anything like that?

BOGUE: | was on the debate team and the speech team, and had a greatdime.
traveled all around the state, debating and speakings a lot of fun.
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BOGUE: Whatever game was in seaseaftball, basketbal\We played a kind ofross
between field hockey and soccer, a game that was, | think, just limited to schools, | have
never seen it played outside of a sch@éd did that or we went bowling or we went on a
field trip or something.

Now my family actually did quite a lot opsrts.We hiked a lotMy parents loved to

hike.We did a lot of hikingAnd we skiedMy f at her di dndét ski becau
injuries from skiing, the fracture end of skiifgy mother skied and my brothers and |

skied.We did ski as children quitelat. So we were very active in narganized, non

school sports.

Q: Because | am trying to capture the period, did you feel at the time you were in high
school that because you were a girl, you were off on a different track, not to think too
seriously abut anything except maybe to go to college and get an Mrs. degree or
something like that?

BOGUE:I di d n 6 ¥You teetanly hatd & gehder trapping system at scl@idb
had to take Home Ec (home economi&)ys had to take Woodshop and Mechanical
Drawing.Girls were not allowed to take Woodshop or Mechanical Dravaagnif they
wanted to or had some talents in that directibwas just, you are not allowed.
Obviously, that has all changed now.

| had somewhat the opposite experience in higlosicWhen the teachers got hold of a
student who really was academically interesting and intending to go on to university, they
tended to work with you a lothad a couple of teachers in high school who really spent a
lot of time with me, gave me a lof books from their own library at home to read.

Things like that to do in order to keep me stimulated and interested, pushing myself on to
other kinds of things to read.

For instance, there was not diversity in our to@ne of my English teachers gave m
the whole modern cannon of that time of Africamerican literature to readx Manchild

in the Promised Landnvisible Man all these kinds of thingstoredlh e sai d, AYou ¢
going to go out into the world and you have no background in these exjgsrign, read

these booksAt | east you will have some sort of ser
So | didndét feel that all this is wasted on

anywayl di dnodot feel that pr eshopdigitter. from my f ami

| am sure that there was a lot more pressure in every way on thébegsure socially,
pressure academicalljy.was much easier for girls to be a little bit under the radar.

Q: Of course too, the Vietnam War was right there.
BOGUE:Right. And the draft was facing therA.lot of boys in my class enlisted in the

military right after high schoollhey wanted to be in the military, wanted to serve in the
war rather than be drafte@hat was very much a reality for them.
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Q: You graduated invhat year?
BOGUE:In 1971.
Q: Outside of Vietham, did the Cold War intrude, or anything of that nature?

BOGUE:The Cold War intruded in the way that it did for most kids in my generation,
which is that we had these bomb drills in school, when you bohdér your little

chil dés desk, and 1{reamevenasschildrendwe Rnevwitawgead d o n .

little bit ludicrous that this would helpremember asking my parents once what would
happen if a nuclear bomb landed in Gig Harldy.father sayig well, that would be it.
You would probably see a big flash of light and it would be o&ed my mother saying
the thought that anyone would bother to drop in Gig Harbor was a little ridicbus.
course, as a child, you think you are in the centeneftorld.

| think there were some things | completely misgeat.instance, a boy came to our
school when | was in grade schddls name was Paul and he spoke Frekfghwas
from Algeria.He was just a new student from a place that | had only hearadadfisewe
had one of those games where you had to match the flag with the cdumemer
occurred to me to question why they had moved to Gig Harbor or why they were not
living in Algeria. Of course now that | am an adult, | wish | could go back andhiimd
to hear his story, his parents stajearly, they were in fact refugees from Algeria, or
something, because of the timing ofAit.the time, | had no idea that anything was
happening in AlgeriavVietnam, absolutely ye€uba, Cold WarlNot the kind of things,
even by the time | was in high school; there was Bangladesh, Biafaa. beginning
more of a consciousness of those issues around the world.

Q: I assume, given the background of your mother and father, that you were pointed
toward universy.

BOGUE:I't never cr os s e @inevayevemasked myself that guestiom.6 t .
think there was an expectation of theirs, and something that | had internBlizedsso, |

wanted to gol remember a friend of mine saying to me that she wetnltege because

there were more books there than there were at ®hgewent to graduate school

because there were more books there than were in cdllegeember just being

completely excited with the thought of going to collelge. d i d n 6 t s Wwa®aetitkett h a t
that had to be puncheldthought that this is going to be so much fun for me.

Q: Where were you pointed?
BOGUE: I went to a school that | could commuteltavent to a college called the

University of Puget Sound in Taconiais a smalliberal arts college with 2,500
students.
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| had just turned 16.was coming out of a town with 2,000 people, and a school o0fl400.
just felt |ike a big school was going to be,

Q: It sounds like a very wise move.

BOGUE:Way overwhelming for this kind of bookish kid from a small to®o.|
actually just went to school in the next town and lived at home until | went away to study
abroad when | was a junior.

Q:Let ds talk about t h&hatwasthke?r si ty of Puget St

BOGUE:It is a very handsn teaching plac& hat is, the faculty does the teaching,
including the freshman classéfiad some wonderful faculty members thétethe time,

the school was going through a transition from being an okay schoseing dquite a

good schoolSo the newhire faculty, the young faculty, were a big step above the faculty
that had been there, much more rigor@iscourse, they were very energetic, at the start
of their teaching careerkam still in touch with severalfdhose people, and they are not
much older than | am realli£specially now that we are all older, the difference has sort
of flattened outl had a very good experience there.

| also discovered that my real joy was the interdisciplinary aspectl séihember one

day in particular when all four @hy classes, through no prior planning, we ended up

talking about the excavations at Troy, but from completely different points of Geev.

in history class, one in an archeology class, one in a Germartdassvas a German

named Schleimann who excavated Troy and we were reading about in Germana n 6 t

remember what the other one was; maybe it was a science class or sorftethijugt

happenedit was one of those moments when you kind of start toyquit education

together and see that itds not just |l earning
pieces and putting them together as a whole.

Q: Where was the student body from?

BOGUE:It was largely drawn from two placedne from the Pafic Northwest all the
way down into Northern Californidt went down to, | would say, San Franciséod
Hawaii. About one in every four students came from Hawaii.

Q:Thatds interesting.

BOGUE:I think it was partly just a tradition that people knewgleavho had gone
there.lt was partly that if you are from Hawaii, it is away from home but it is not all the
way to the East Coast, which makes it a very difficult W¥e are already five hours
away from the West Coast flying/e had a huge number of Waiian students, which
included native Hawaiians, Japan€d@neseHawaiians, and mixed.
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Q: How did you find it2 am told there is a little problem in Hawaii with the native
Hawaiians who dondét have quite t heness.ame
Did you find that at all?

BOGUE:l di dno6t Sheses pdrtly agelsebedted group who has come to
university.The Hawaiian students were a real presence on campus, béeausere

like a quarter of the student bodyever saw anyitference.l saw individual differences
in students, but not group differences.

Q: When we were coming out of the Vietham War, where were people paivited?
were some of the interests that were going on?

BOGUE:I would say the two biggest issues adiden Vietham when | was in college
were:one was Watergatéthink | was a junior when Nixon resignéd/e all spent hours
just glued to the television watching the WaterdegaringsAnd then there was the
environmentlt was kind of the big age of eneimmentalism developind\lso to an
extent, | guess, was the kind of classic, you might call it, of 1970s femiinssmt of
Betty Freidan, Gloria Steinham era was also going on.

I n coll ege, we didnét have any aihtermhe Kk
of curriculumNobody i n coll ege said, fAiYou cano
AYou have to take t hwasadoecolleg&verythngwas ar e

open to everybody.

Q: One thing | was wonderingn the State of Wasigton, through this whole period we
are talking about, was there sort of an awashington, DCPeople up there are
causing all sorts of problems, you know?

BOGUE:You know, that is funnyOn the side of the state | am from, which is the wet
side, the 8attle western wet side, | have never seen Ymat.see that more in the Rocky
Mountain west Montana, Wyoming, kind of the ranching weshd you see it in
eastern Washington, which is ranch and farm couhtoye, fithose government
bureaucrats comingio

It may be partly because there is a huge amount of federal emplaynieatvest
Q: Tacoma, Bremerton, that whole?

BOGUE:A lot of military people, a lot of federal employment the3e.it may be that

the attitude toward the federal government different.| never felt in the part of the
country we were from that there was that hostility to the federal government in the same
way that you would find it in the Rocky Mountain west and the very deep distrust of
government.

Over there, onthe Seatdei d e, we di dInhink yod veoeld findthesame wa y .

thing if you went down the west coast, if you divided Washington and Oregon.
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Q: Even the voting patterns pretty well point that out.
BOGUE:Exactly.
Q: Something just occurred to M&as Being much of a presence?

BOGUE:Huge.One of the interesting things is that Boeing was an overwhelming
presence in those days.those days, the year | graduated from college, one out of every
five employed persons in the State of Washington workeddeirigy or a subsidiary of
Boeing.When it had its ups, Seattle had its upfhen it had its downs, Seattle had its
downs.Nowadays, of course, there is Microsoft, Adobe, Starbucks, Gen Tek, and
everybody else is therBut in those days, it was very muclore company towrOf

course, a company that is very dependent upon federal contracts.

| tease my brothers because they both work i
My younger brother is at Boeing, and my older brother works at the University of
Washington, which was the other huge employer in Seattle at the time.

Boeing was an immensely dominant for@me of the other interesting things, partly
because of Boeing and partly because of shipping and the lumber business, which were
the other domiant economies, is that we really were focused on Asiat is where out

trade wasThat is where our markets wetevas amazed when | first came to the East
Coast that it was so focused on Europe, because we were so focused on the Pacific Rim.

Q: What @rt of courses were you taking at the university?

BOGUE:I ended up with a degree litistory. That was largely because it kind of
encompassed everythirgid you study history at all?

OTHER:No, | am actuallya Graphic Design major
Q: I am aHistory mgor.

BOGUE: It kind of took in everything and | wanted to study everythirigok some
sciencesl took other social sciences or a lot of English because | enjoyeatétign
languagel had started German in high school and | continued with German.

Q: Why German?

BOGUE:Why German®Ve had only two languages offered at our sch®phanish and
GermanGerman was taught by a native speaker just by ch&hceother spoke
GermanMy father had studied GermaWwe had exchange students from Germany
stayingwith us.l think, at that time, German was still sort of the scientific language.
They thought it would be a better one to learn than Spa®shstudied German all
through high school and then continued it in college as well.
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Q: How did the environmentvere there tree huggers in that period/as this the year of
the spotted owl and all that?

BOGUE:It was little early for spotted owl, which was more in the 1989fact, one of
the huge differences | noticed in Washington when | was a kid in higlolsahd

college, my brother and | would go hiking up on the Olympic Peningédawere always
welcomed everywher&.ou would go into a little town to get a burger when you came
out of your hikePeople would want to know where you had been.

Some years lat, my sistefin-law and | were hiking, this was sort of pegtotted owl,

and we were hiking up on the PeninsMize came down and went into a little tavern to

get a bowl of chiliWwe were soaking weOf course, we had all our gedve basically

were notadmitted to the place because we were those city people, hikers,

environmentalists, wheereruiningtheirlives. They basi cal ly said, AYo
we | ¢ o meThisveas lend af stunning for me because it was not the environment |

had grown up inThings had become much more polarized.

Q: You hit just about the time when feminism was really crankinyylsjpnagazine, the
whole thingHow did it affect you?

BOGUE:| felt pretty strongly about if. certainly was encouraged by my mother and

others in thdairness aspect of it.think one of the big issues at that time was equal pay

for equal work.Two people could be hired to do exactly the sameThb.man would be

paid more because, even if he were not married yet, he would be expected at some point
to be supporting a family.

| think already | knew, for instance, friends of our family where the husband had died
very young and the wife was supporting the famillyis was unfair and she should be
given the same amount as a man for the samé fbimk that | felt there was a huge
unfairness to that aspect of it, or a huge unfairness that people could be prohibited from
something.

| must say | also felt the other side ofiialso felt that women had to take on all the same
responsibilities as mehfelt very strongly that when there was still a draft that women

should be drafted tod still feel that there should be some form of national service in the

United States. t 6s just my own view, and that women
responsible for perfoning that national service, whether it is military or not.

Q: Did you have, | mean in your reading while you were at college going through this, it
was a major change in the whole outlook and the United States was really leading the
way in the role of wmen.Did you have any women role models that you were looking
at?

BOGUE:I am trying to think if there was anyorde cause | candt think t|
in particular, I guess | lcevtainlylrehdhalithe say a par't
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w o me n 0 s, whithudre appearing on campusesad the classic books of

feminism, The Feminine Mystique, and those kinds of thingsuld not say there was

one person who ran for office, or there was one person who convinced me that | could do

this. | got a ld of encouragement from professors, from pdevsly can think of a few

cases in which people said to me, AWell , the
wi || probably just get marri edcaarmdembehen you
a fewpeople saying that to me, but no one ever saying thatamtbuch is something

you cannot do, or are not allowed to do.

At the same time, | think | was probably pretty passive about questioning some lthings.
didndét occur t o mercerthirardles o éhe milgarynvergpaosetite s si ons
women.l was not seeking to enter the militatyt di dndét occur to me t he
openSo that was a sl ower evolution on my part
fighter pil ot&td wo mdWhd oPsdabdbiyshydewn thikkihgat ? 0

changed along with the thinking of the country.

Q: Another thing, look at where you ended Dl foreign affairs, diplomacy, loom at all
in your thinking?

BOGUE.No.I di dndét Kknow wdeavasl t HedRO6t ekgprr Seakke a
political science class in my college caréeskipped the part in my history textbooks

when it got to the long, drawn out negotiations over the Treaty of Whatgustr.

though, ugh.

Q:You di dnodt diesindhg Ndrthwest?i ng tr e a

BOGUE:No. Ther e was a | ot goi ng omfactywwhenngot hat , bu
to graduate school, when someone suggested to me that they thought | might be
interested in the Foreign Service, | initially, literally, migheethem, and thought they
saiThheFoffr est Serviceo, because | | oved to hik:

| did go abroad as a junior in college and did a study abroad program in Vienna, which |
absolutely lovedl think | mentioned before that | took the opportyrid travel to

Yugosl avi a, st iAndlaldodraveledgo HiingarypoGrechoslavakia and
Poland, all behind the Iron Curtain in those d&ysund it absolutely fascinatingn a

sense, it did loom in that there was clearly an interest ihahings international, but |

had not in any way connected that with the Foreign Servitad no idea even what

people didOnce my roommate and | spent the night in Salzburg because we had our
passports and wallets stoléie spent the night in theain station until some friends

could get us some mondynever dawned on us to go to the ConsulMte. woul dnot
have known what they di#Ve really were completely ignorant.

Q: How did you get your passport¥hat did you do?

BOGUE:We di d n 0 passpoet & get hatk ¢o Vienna from Salzburg, so we just
needed moneyVe bought our train tickets and we then did find out what people did in
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embassiedActually, | still had my passporters was lost and all her money was gone.
Mine must have been indifferent pocket.

Q:Y o u dshow thénttiative. | remember when | was in Belgrade two American
students left their passports on the train; the train left without ti&amhey called up

George Kennan, our Ambass adlderefeaed thensta i d,

me at about 4:00 a.m. in the morning.
BOGUE:Right no, we had no such thougtte sort of thought it was our responsibility.

Q:Letdos talk a little bit about youwid ti
you come away with arparticular feelings, particularly about communist rule and that
sort of thing?

BOGUE:Here we were a student groghen you would go over the border, everything
would be ripped apart, all your belongingfese are weekend belongings, so you had a
rucksack or a little suitcase or somethitifyerything would be taken ouAt that time

i Cou

me t h

you will remember, the bad old days when there were all these currency regulations that

you had to change a certain amount per diagn they had to all be changed back or
spent because you could not carry a single coin out of the co@vieyything, all your
pockets had to be turned olturned 18 or 19 when | was theB8o here | am, a 19 year
old with five guys with machine guns, and | am turning my pockets inside case |
have a penny with Copernicus on it left over by accidaeimember thinking that it was
all so unnecessaryhis huge, aggressive thing that was probably unnece&arglso
remembering how down at the heel all those places were.

Vienna was ot prosperous then eithdtrnot had the boom its had in recent years.
Vienna looked pretty shabb$o did BudapestVarsaw looks glamorous now, but it was
terrible in those year&verything was peeling apart, buildings kind of crumbling;
nothing had beepainted in yeard he level of infrastructure breakdown was really
overwhelming.That was a huge impression that | went away with.

| went away with the same impression that everybody had in thoseTdaysvas, that
despite all that, the people we riato were incredibly friendlyAnd they all had relatives
in theUnited States in all these placéou know, you meet someone in Poland who
says, AMy son is in Milwaukee, 0 oTherei My
was nothing but good willThedisconnect between the good will and the machine guns
was severe.

Q: Did Yugoslavia strike you as being any different than that?

BOGUE: Yugoslavia did strike me as differeRtartly, their version of a search at the
border was to sort of wave at you ask if you had any cigarettésou will remember
this. It was not what you would call rigorousf course, in those years, they prided
themselves on being differe@tayingonBrac was stié t he f aci | i ti es
developed yetBut again, people are extremely friendly and hospitable.
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Il 61l tell you i f 1 may, one short story that

When | stayed on Braas a student was in line at the post offic& woman behind me

tapped me on the shoulder anddsai i Ar e you AmedShevay® 6 . 0

graduate student, getting her PhD. from Berkley in geography and she was doing her

dissertation research on Br&he was thrilled to meet another AmericBrh e sai d, Al 0v
got a carDo you want to tour thisland?We can gooéf sar d@ghe@lBar e. o

me this lovely story.

This is of course beforemail, and so all of the correspondence is through the Adail.

of hers comes opened, but very obviously opened and very obviously taped back

togetherHer father had died a few months before she came to 8hacwas writing

very frequently to her mother, and her mother was writing bEwk. was to try to help

her mother at this tim®ne day, therevasa knock on the dooShe spoke Croatian well.

Thepostman is theré&she opens the dodile hands her a letter that is heavily taped,

takes off his hat, puts it over hButs heart, a
until this | etter, weAldfusdodntatthepastibfewant how r ec
totellyoujushow sorry we are. o

To me, that was the differencEhey are reading your mail; but on the other hand, they
are really sorry that your dad passed awand the postmagomes to the hougde tell
youthatT hey ar e n 6to hide tha they aire ngdadinggyour m&ib there was a
kind of softer side to it in Yugoslavia.

| was just fascinated by the place as w@flcourse, the Dalmatian course is really
beautiful and very interesting.

Q: Well,Bracalso waswvhere Titohadhs headquarters, wasnot it
towards the end?

BOGUE:Right, at one time they were.

Q: When did you reaBlack LambandGrey Falcol know you di dé

BOGUE:I di dnét r ead iltactually teadlit laterovinee Wwasdine | at er .
Foreign ServiceThe first thing | read after that about Yugoslavia wasHiteoy
MacLeanbook,Eastern Approachesvhere he is oKorculathrough much of the wat.

readMa n g e meameibBiack Lamb and Grey Falcamas a little dauntingtfirst.

Q: I was given that when | joined the Foreign Service by a colugias in Germanyi.
read it and my wife read itWe had to go to Yugoslavia.

BOGUE:It is a fascinating booK.did find it a daunting read.

Q: What were you pointed towards when you vetrie university?
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BOGUE:I wasné6t sur e MHoaghtthat | nightrcdntnde onin  d o .
academic |ife, butl Iremddryotdi dwmrbeg &Khowt wthtaat .|
So when | graduated in 1975 and | actually worked for a yedindédiederal government,

in a kind of experimental federal welfare program in Twin Falls, Idhvas in Twin

Falls, the program was countrywide.

Q: Talk about that a bit.

BOGUE:The program was interesting first of all because the federal government was

concerned that many of the people who most needed welfare assistance were in groups

that declined to take it, such as the elderly, because of pride, and Sonpey decided

if they linked a welfare program to the Social Security Administration, iladveeem like

Soci al Security which people dwatoabed have a p
Supplemental Security Income and it was meant for people who were blind, disabled or

over 65 who had very limited incomes and were, for whatever reasongiaiidied for

Social SecurtyThey admini stered it out of Social Se
welfare office.l was hired right out of college in the Seattle region, which included
l[daho.l went over and | i ved i tidikeVewimaochFradstl s, | dah

say.lt was a very isolated life for me there as a 20ymdrarriving from out of townl
think I did read every book in the Twin Faflebliclibrary that year.

After about a year of t hatdlmdvedbalatd Segttlede ci de d
and got a job in downtown Seattle working for a firm of consulting actuatissed to

describe my job asnEnglishto-English translatorThey wrote reports for their clients

which peopl e who wer en 6ldhavaa hafdédmeplowingal |'y i ncl
through.One of my jobs was to understand what they were getting at and write them in

| ayper sonAonsd Bnrugslti shhe. a gener al dogéls body in
was fun.Ilt gave me a little bit more of a glimpséwhat the world of work was like.

| then decided | didvantto go back to graduate schobtopped working that summer.

An oldfriend of mine since the sixth grade and | drove across tlitedJStategand back

in a battered Volkswagen beeti¥e spenseven weeks driving back and forth across the
country.Then | enrolled as a graduate student at the University of Oregon in Eugene in
the fall.

Q: You were at the University of Oregon from when to when?

BOGUE:1977 to 1980.

Q: What were you taking?

BOGUE: | was studying Europeaistory. | started out doing Medieval and then went
into Early ModernActually, again, that proved to be very interesting, considering where

| ended up, because ipdriddgshe wHole emegrigendeefthe at i on b u
modern nation state and that period.
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Q: How did you find the teachers, the professors?

BOGUE: Terrific. Absolutely fantasticAgain, | am still in close touch with several of
them.One of them came to dinner the other night in Washingoe. and his wg who
were very close friends visited me | think in two, of my postings, maybe fhineg.
visited me in Kazakhstan and when | was in Vienna as athyed in very close touch
with all of them.

Q: I was wondering, maybe this might be a good placeojo. kput at the end of the tape
where we were so we know how to pick this up.

You said you went to the University of Oregon from 1977to 8. havenot really
talked much about what you got out of that and what were you pointed toWsedsill
pick that up the next time.

Q: Today is May 30th, 2007.

You were at the University of Oregon?

BOGUE:I was there as a graduate student in Eugene, Oregon.

Q: As a graduate student, from 1977 to 198@7at were you taking?

BOGUE:I was in Europeahlistory. | did a masters degree there and then continued on,
starting my PhD. program with a view and expectation probably that | wouldthiermo
academic life

(Humming sound)

Q: When you say Europeddistory, was there any particular era or place?

BOGUE:| stated out as a medievalist, studying medieval history and over time, studying
the early modern periadthe Reformation, the early natielbuilding period, which

turned out when | was in the Foreign Service to be very interesenged up involved

in a lotof places that were going through a natimnlding process, or not their own.

ended up in that.

Q: How did you find the teaching ther#?hat was your impression of the faculty?
BOGUE:I had a deeply positive impression of the faculty théhe late1970s were

kind of a glorious time in a lot of ways bea student, partly because there were funds

for graduateassistantships and things like tHatvas also a very tight market in
academia, which wasndét good f eacademicmdent s gr a

world. It meant that all across the country, all universities were able to hire really top
notch faculty at that time.
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Q: Was there any residue of aimietnam War protest peoplgéou know, there were
people maybe that sought refuge in acadamistay out of the draft, etceteNd/as there
a fire going on witin the faculty? Were you catching arof thisanti-government stuff?

BOGUE:Not so much by this timé&Ve are now quite a distance from Watergate.
Certainly, | would say the faculty was jably left of center if | had to pin down their
political views.There were a lot of very serious scholars there and a lot ofehgaged
with uson that basis, rather than on a political basis.

Oregon was not the most political of campussthe othehand, the environment
around Eugene is very liberal and we used to joke that Eugemeis hippies wenbt
retire.It is an extremely pleasant communityandwas still availablecheaplyso a lot of
people set up for organic farms and things like thatas that sort of environment.

Q: Was there muchf an Asiarorientation there?

BOGUE:Some, not as much as you find in Seafkegene is inland in an agricultural
valley. It is not like Seattler Tacoma or Portland, you knaport city, whergiou have
all the trade and things like th&ut certainly, there were very strong programasian

History and things like thaDefinitely, the Pacific and Asia had as much of a grip on
imaginations agurope.

Q: How would you define yourself politically?

BOGUE: My family has always sort of laughed about me joining the government
because | have always been quite left of center in my own political \Agilse time, |
suppose the big political issues internationally were about Central America.

Q: This waghe Reagan periad

BOGUE:Actually, it is not Reagan quite yéthis is the Carter era and so &eagan
comes a little bit later.

Q: Was there much in the way about civil rights or anything of that natuneas that all
settle®

BOGUE:I wo ul dverndtadayshatyhe issue is settled by any méar@@tegon, the

issues of affirmative action and civil rights tended to be more about Asian populations

than Native Americand here were also more and more issues regarding migrant farm

workers, mostly Spash speakingThose issues were certainly still very liveBo were

i ssues of f emi ni dlhofthosedverw defimgety  she miOrgdont s .

was that kind of place where those kindssstiesvere aroundt woul dndét descri b
certainly rot like Berkley or somethinlike a highly politicized campus.
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Q: I am fishing just a little bit to get an ide®/as there much in the way of any religious
movement going onzhink coming from a farming community often yimal a certain
level of fundarantalism

BOGUE:Not at Oregon, nol'he University ofOregon is a very laitback placeYou
havelots ofdifferent kinds of student$rom leftover hippiesn a sense, | mean Ken
Kesey was stilliving out therein Eugene at the time in his famous bidss son was a
student at Oregof.here was sort of everything from that to the basketball teantsand
fanatic supporterd.ike a lot of large state universities, it encompassed a whole range.

Q: You got out in 19807
BOGUE:Right.
Q: You came out with whayour masters?

BOGUE:| took a masters and stayed on for a year in their PhD. progitsn.| went on
leave in 1980 to go to Alaska and teach.

Q: Where did you teach in Alaska?

BOGUE:I taught in a program that brought teachers to remote sites ikaAlagprovide
sort of collegdevel instruction in ongear coursesSo | taught in different places the
Alaskan bush, as they call it.

Q:Was this what youdd caPl your Peace Corps ¢

BOGUE:Sort of.l always laugh because | came into theekgm Service from there and
was assigned to Londohused to laugh that they looked and saw that | was coming out
of Alaska and decided to put me in a more civilized place for my first That. is not
actually the way it went, but a couple of things peped.

In Oregon, | was having really mixed feelings about whether | wanted to pursue an
academic career and | didnoét mpleingmyPhlo devot e
flwan 6t r eal | y Andlimadtakeh tedForeign Serntice exam passed at

that time.l was essentially beginning to think about that whole prod¢eshe midst of all

that, saw an opportunity to have a big adventure in the bush in Alaska,sekitied like

a lot of fun.So | decided to go off and do that, teach ingkla because it was in this

remote siteThey only wanted a terto-term contractYy ou di dndét have t o malk
contract for an entire year or even an academic jteaould be easy for meecause the

Foreign Service then had somewhat of the same problent ke now, which ishat

you wait and wait and wai t ,h6 Soadwadtedttolbeanat hey s a
shorterterm contractual basis.

Q: I want to goback to Alaska, but do you recall when you took the oral exam, any of the
guestions that yowere asked then?
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BOGUE:I do, as a matter of facActually, | recall quite a lot about the oral exam

because | was already in Alaska and | took the exam in Seattle on a trip out of Alaska.
had todashoff to getadresspecausé was coming out of Faska in my parka and

mukluks and thought that probably was not the right outfit for the Foreign Service exam.

| was asked a whole variety of questioniey still did the written inbox test theYiou

k n o vihere fiou areThe Ambassador is in the northtbhe country.The DCM (Deputy
Chief of Mission) is on home leavEhe only other experienced person has been
medevacedHere are all the problems you have to deal with.

In the oral exam, | recall being asked for instance if | were to pw@t@m oversas post

a series of f il ms o rheritageevhat fitma woald Idiakdfil ve Amer i c
were to bring four outstandingispanicartistsof any of the art formt post to

demonstrat¢éhediversity ofthe Hispaniexperiencen Americg which artiss would |

bring?A lot of it was very heavily cultural, American culturAind then situational.

remember they sort of dalgood cop, bad coapproach

Q: This is Tape 2, Side 1 of Janet Bogue.
You were saying that with the group?

BOGUE:Right, | distinctly remember the group exercitevas one of these typical
things that actually does happen in an embadsat is, there is enough money to send
three people to the United States on a study Ttheare are nine of you and you each
have a candidatgou like. The group has to agree on which would be the best three
candidates, meaning six people are going to have to give up their candidate.

| remember thinking at the time, having been given a candidate who | would not have
wanted to send.was readyto pitch this candidate overboaide was a police captain

who had been involved in human rights abuses, but was pressing very hard to get a trip to
the United StatesHe wanted it for his own benefRealizing that this guy was not,
compared to the otheandidates, | thought pitching him overboard and putting my
support behind some of the candidates | thought would be hetatized that some of

the people in the group thought that you did well on the test if your candidat&avon.
they were hangingn to incredibly bad candidates, and sort of missing the point that it
was having the group reach the right decision rather than having your candiddte win.
remember a couple of these guys, to my astonishment during the exam for the Foreign
Service, couldose their tempers and start screaming at other pebipde.cannot be

smart!

| do remember very vividly these guys getting into a screaming match with each other.
wondered at the time if they were planted, if they were not actual candidates bt there
see how other people would redatealized subsequently that they were real candidates.
| have never met them in the Foreign Service.
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Q: Quite obviously when you were thinking that way, this shows you have the proper
mindset to the Balkans.

BOGUE: It must be.

The main thing about the exam was that | was very reldxeas not at all sure that |

wanted to be in the Foreign Servitevas not at all sure that | would be chodemas not

at all sure that if | were chosen, that it would be the rigihgtfor me.l think that made

the exam much easier for méhere were people who were very much pointed toward

this as their career go&f course, becauseall is like playing a Super Bowl or

something, it all happens on one dkiyou are not on yougame that day, too bad until

next yearSo for them, | think it was incredibly nerveracking.l was so ambivalent

about the Foreign Service that | thought if
As a result, | think | was far more relkthan a lot of the other candidatésd | was

not inclined to shout at people and so looked very good in comparison to them.

Q:Let s go i nt o Couldgou bive arhideadf whéré eese lsane of the
places you were?

BOGUE:The way that tts program worked was that they moved teachers so that in the
course of a year, each place got essentially a full curricofiem would stay three

months in one place, then move to another place for three months, and then move to
another place for three mis.

| started out at Cape Lisburne, which is well within the Arctic Ciitlis.sort of on the

most northwest corner of Alaskifyou picture Alaska as a square with Point Barrow

here and Nome here, Cape Lisburne is right up tltesewell above Nme, say two

hours flyinginasmallplané.t 6 s ri ght on t helnf&,dheicece, t he A
almost extends so that you could in theory walk to what was then the Soviet Union, in a

year that it is thick enough.

| spentthree months in a towratted T&otna, which is near Denali Peak, near the park.
You could see Denali, Mount McKinley, on clear days thitris.a small townThe
nearest bigger town was called McGrath, in central Alaska.

| spent three months at Fort Yukon, which is right anAlaskaCanada border at the
confluence of the Yukon and Porcupine Rivers.

And then | spent three months on Shemya Island, which is the next to the last rock in the
Aleutian chainOnly Attu is further outShemya is about the next to lasou are

actudly closer to Tokyo than Anchorage at that polintfact, when you look at a map,

the International Date Line makes a jog around to bring the Aleutians in so that they are
on the same day as the rest of the United St@tbgrwise, they would be over tbate

line.

Q: What was living like in those places?
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BOGUE:I actually was housed in each of those places on Air Force ddsas.

essentially wasndét any other housTheAy f or son
Force was cooperatinginthisgrea am, because its students wer
program.

So you will recognize that some of these were old, old DEW (Distant Early Warning)
Line sites, radar sites meant to detect an invasion from the Soviet Union coming across
the Pole or acros&é¢ North PacificOthers were bigger installations; some had fighter
jets.Shemya had an immense array of antennae, aircraf§leemya was used for all

sorts of purposest actually had a landing strip dating back to World War

| was fed and housday the Air Force, and slowas quite comfortablé®bviously, these
were all places you had to fly in and outlefying was exciting and ofteifhe weather
was terrible most of the placdgut | had a fabulous timéfished and hiked and panned
for gold. This was a great adventure.

Q: What were the students like?

BOGUE:The Air Force students were highly motivated because if they got better than a

C, the Air Force paid their whole tuitioRlus, these were all remote sites where they

didndét mkawv e itelsei s of when they werendt wor Ki ng
do. There was a chance to build up some college credits while they were still in the Air

Force.They often were students who had not had the advantage of a lot of academic
preparationwhere they had grown ypput they were motivated now to learn and do their
homework.They were terrific.

| had some other adult students as wehink any teacher will tell you that teaching

adults is a complete joy, because they are only there becaysedht to be ther8hey

are often making up for something they didno
youngerYou dondot have anTheygstwockitwick asmad apthey b | e ms .
need to and soakitup.t 6s a | ot of fun to teach them.

Q: Wha type of courses were you teaching?
BOGUE:| taught basic freshman levdistory and English, the kind of thing you would
take at a community college or your first yadrS. History, Western Civilization,

Expository Writing

Q: It sounds liké In theForeign Service, they talk about challenggshi s wasndét a
challenge, this was fun.

BOGUE:Yes.Of course, | felt that way about every place | was in the Foreign Service.
The most remote and difficult posts, | thought they were fun.
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| remember a few yesa ago, Deputy Secretary Armitage was up making a speech, and |

was sitting with Beth Jones, my old friend from Pakistan and Kazaklr#tanas going

on about the sacrifice people make in the Foreign Service, and certainly pedplédo.

middle of hisa | k , Beth | eaned over and said, inWer en
It was absolutely true.

Q: | have to say that having an interview program with people in the Foreign Service,
these are not dismal interviews.a lot of professions, they could,lbout not here.

BOGUE:I had some tough posts for sure, but not typically because of living conditions.

It was typically because there was a war going on and people were ldyavgr minded

the deprivation of material things, because | always thobghtwherever it was, was

suchahoot di dndét care i f we couldnodot get partioc

Q: Looking back, was there an attitude of the Air Force people you were teatherg?
they a conservative crew?

BOGUE:There was a real mixn the case othe Air Force people | taught, | usually

asked them at some poinhere we were spending a couple of months together in these
remote areas and you gotTitevtypicalifb stayyfdtlesel i f e st
enlisted personnel was that theywrup in a townsaya coal mining town in West

Virginia, about to finish high school, and realized that the only real option was to go into

the mines, like their dad or their uncl@$iey hitchhiked into the nearest big town and

enlisted in the Air Forcbecause they wanted something differ@hiey wanted to see

the world a bit.

A female student | had told me essentially the same ssbilygrew up in a small town in
Missouri.It was a community in which very few people went to college or could have
afforded to go to collegeMost of the girls got married and stayed in that town right out
of high schoolShe just had a little bug in her that wanted to see the world, so she
surprised everyone by joining the Air For&he has been to Egypt, Germany, Koesal
Iceland.Now, she was up in Alask&he was in fact seeing the world, which is what she
wanted to do, and enjoying it very much.

For a lot of the same motivation that | heard in the Foreign Service was very much
echoed from people often coming fromexy different educational and sogégonomic
backgroundpeople wanting an adventure, something more than they felt was offered
them.

Then, there were a lot of kids wiaamuld kind of shuffle and look at their feet, act a little
embarrassedl and wa y t Thdifedlng that senviee avasoneaningful,
and this was a chance to do something meaningful in their Tieswas a constant

current Youwould meetal® ear ol d from Mississiplpi and s
talked to people frorthe South a lot because they were always freezing in Alaska, and
spent a lot of time indoor§hey took a lot of classes.h ey woul d say, Al Kkno

hokie, 0 or Alt sounds cornyObut iMyr daidl wawanm
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the serviceMy grandfather was in the servidéverybody in my family was in the
service. o

You see the same thing in the Foreign Senfameily tradition, service, adventure, doing
something different.

Q: | have a certain appreciation for what you were doing beeduus for the grace of

Godi | wasanenlisted man for four years out of college, | was in the security service.

They had apostupinAddk. coul d have gone {#vasindapan,but | uc
Korea and Germany.thank God for that and not Alaln those places, you either have

a wonderful time | earning, or you can goé

BOGUE:There was that definite divisiomhere were people whiothis was true of the

local community, not just the Air Foréespent their time drinking and fighting, and

goingstir crazy.Then there were people who just threw themselves into what there was

to do, which was fishing, hunting, hiking, or outdoor pursuits of various kidghey

used the time to take classes, to read, and do things liké $hapect that nowwyith

distance learning on the internet, there are a lot more opportunities for people to use their
timeinthatwayl t wasnodt |poulsthat thdy eventbbtieento send teachers

out any more.

Q: Were you out on the circuit when you got thezall

BOGUE:Not exactly.l should back up and say again that | took the written exam when |
was at the University of Oregohpassed the written exartwas going to be about a

year before the examiners for the oral exam came to Séatts.neither sowse of a

Foreign Service career nor so wealthy as to be able to fly to Washington for a test, so |
was going to wait until they came to Seathtethat intervening year, | finally started

talking to some people, found some Foreign Service people whetiradi to the area

and had conversations with thehdlid a little more homework about the Foreign Service,
because when | took the exam | really knew nothing abdutvdas encouraged to take it

by friends, but Inthatdmedlméead daingthat. k about it .

| was in Alaska trying to do all the things you had to do when | camé carhe out of

Alaska for a break at one point and did my physical at the public health hospital in Seattle
at that timel filed all my security paperdt was st of a slow process partly because |

was in Alaska and in very remote locatioAsone point, | came out of Alaska at

Christmas timel either needed to sign a new contract for the next three months or not.
called back just to try to get an impressafrwhen | might be called.had no sense of

where | was on the list or how many they were hiring, and how that all wdnked.told

that if | wanted to join the Foreign Service | should not sign a contract to go back because
| would get called soorsol decided to do that.

| had made up my mind in Alaska that | would try the Foreign Service for a few years.
really didnodt see myhsughtifwouldprobally go backesntoas a car
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teaching, but that it would be a fun thing to do fobapie of years while | was still in
my twenties] made that decision to go ahead if they offered me the job.

| came out of Alaska in late December 1981, and flew back to Washington on
March1®, 1982.

Q: You started in 1982What was your initial classhe A100, like?What was the
composition and the spirit of the class?

BOGUE:Apparently, we were quite unbWMseswesel , whi ch
thirty members and we were half women and half men, which was still unusual il 1982.

d i d nnk ainythirtg of it at the time, but as we went and talked to people, they kept

| ooki ng out an dousare guchrag ynusiaMiass pezcase it has so many
women. O

The other distinctive thing about the class was that most of us, as it happerettom

outside of Washington, bkoewweonan dndt know any
WashingtonDC, and neither did most of my classmae ended up forming quite a

strong bond together still remain very close to several members of that class.

Q: Who wee some of the members?

BOGUE:Deborah Grey, who is our Consul General in Milan right now, was a classmate

of mine.Steve Mull, who is Ambassador in Lithuan&ome others have already retired.

woul d say Carol Foster; 3lackkn Washikgiohnog; Ri char
but was in the Middle East.

Q: You came in 1982n the early Reagan Administration, foreign affairs changed
radically over the years, but at the beginning, it came out of the conservativd right.
assume most of the class, make lyou, were more out of the liberal |&ffas there any

kind of talk, sort of, fAWhat are we doing?bo9
BOGUE:Definitely. There was a lot of talk about thath er e was a | ot of , @\
doing?0 because this is al.Budalsp,dherewasthe eer , i n

whole question of our foreign policyhe focus was Central AmericBhere was a huge
amount of concern among all of us about what was going on with the Contras and the
whole Central American situation.

Q: Nicaragua and El Salvam?

BOGUE:Right.| remember seeing someone at FSI (Foreign Service Institute), then in

Rosslyn before we moved out here, who had just come back from the Embassy in El

Salvador, wearingag hi rt t hat had a pictureiof helicop
Apocal ypse oThat Bas theoissusamparabl@although not as big, as Iraq

is today.
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We were beinglispersedo consular spots all over the worlthe exciting thing for our

class was that posts were just opening in Clitvary generation irhie Foreign Service

has its kind of new frontier, whether it is the Central Asian posts, or whatever it happens
to be.The new frontier in those days was ChiAl.the consulates were just opening in
Guangzhou, Shanghai, and all those consulates, afteghaad only BeijingThat was

where people wanted to géeople were not happy about or interested in going to Central
America because of policy conceri&ople were very excited about going to China.

Q: With what was happening in Nicaragua and E| Sdbrathere was sort of a hard sell

at the time because there was a lot of opposition to\t¥ese there people coming to FSI

and talking to some of you while you were thaAé&te any of your members or you
fighting back, saOrthatiy, fHAWhat about this?

BOGUE:I think yes to the first, and no to the secovids, we did have people conie.

remember a very senior person coming and say
woul d be headed to Central Amd@hiat &8s Wwldcause
you can real |l y mak/andweonere all thakingfiuhdiwuhaReoples o o n .
asked questions, but in an extremely polite walyink we were all so new and so green

that we were all very polite and careful in our questi@h&re was not angutright

pushing.We would debate it at length later among ourselvignk we were not quite

sure of pushing back.

Q: Did any leaders kind of emerge, obviously bound for bigger and better things, in your
class?Did you see a certain stratification?

BOGUE: There were some people who were definitely leaders in the Alassiple of

them were women who were rielvel entrantsWe had the program to bring people

who had been, for instance, in the Civil Service, at the mid r@sause they had a lot

of State Department experience and took us all under their wings in that regard, they

became natural leaders of the cladso, by force of personality, several of them had

terrific charismatic personalitie$hey were the ones who were quickest to question

things, or say, ADonét b &heymdbeenmithasystgmou ar e

|l woul dndét say they were jaundiced at all , b
what was said.

There were clearly people who were not going to staydariFtireign Servicelhere were
clearly people who were already in2®0 and were miserable, unhappy, and not feeling
that this was at all right for therivlost of them left during their very first tour.

Q: In a class that was fifty percent women, did yal &y of the problems of being a
woman?That is, going into a career if you got married, had children, that sort of thing.
Was this at all in any of your thinking or talking?

BOGUE:People talked about it a lot, men as well as worAetouple of the mem the
class were engaged to be married and their fiancées were very concerned about what they
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would be doing in the Foreign Servidéis was kind of a constant problem for everyone,
as it remains.

If I jJump ahead to my last assignment, which was hagdilhthe new people in the

Foreign Service, officers and specialists alike, | would say the overriding personal
concerns all of them had were, AdAwhat about s
AWhat about t he c ahesear@majoredsditeatreleyyonp facesbut s ? o

the Foreign Service creates some additional tangles foll thatk that is true for men,

as well as for womerit is probably still more of a challenge for women to be

accompanied by a nemorking spouse than by men, buisita challenge for both genders

in that regard.

It was something that people talked about aWs.had very few people in the class who

were marriedl think we had one person who had one child alrebldy.6 s st i | | i n th
Foreign Service, John Hepburn,evis DCM in IndonesiaHe has four kids now, but he

just had a small baby at the tintezeryone else, if they were married, had no childiten.

was definitely a concern.

On the other hand, | would say, and this is typical today as well, most of us tieught
would just be in the Foreign Service for a short tiMest of us looked at it like going
into the Peace Corps or the militafhis was going to be a two, four or gigar deal,
and then we would do something el§ke fact is that most of us stayedthe end.

Qltds iIntsGdiaodiki.ct i ve.

BOGUE:When | was dealing with entitevel folks, | would hear kind of grumpy

criticism from more senior people saying, fT
only going to spend a few years and not catting themselves right now to a lengthy

c ar €Se did I.&o did everyone els&he trick is when they are in, if they are good, to
persuade them to stay somehdwh at 6 s t he chall enge for the Fq
life interesting enough that they wdistay.

Q: Did you feel at the time, looking at the Foreign Service, were you looking around for
female role modelsRid you feel this was a place as a woman with pretty good
opportunities or not?

BOGUE:I think we saw some senior women role modelstregtay. That is my
recollection We saw Joan Clark, Roz Ridgewayemember being particularly

impressed by Roz Ridgeway, who | later worked with and continued to be impressed by
her dynamic performancé@nd Joan Clark as well, who was the Director Gelperad

sort of a remote Gaolike figure to entering peoplét. was not at all a parade of only men

in terms of people who came to sp&aih us.

| certainly knew that the demographics were that the Foreign Service was largely white
and largely maleln our class, everyone felt the world was changing.dondét t hi nk an
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us felt that we were going to have, therefore, a horrible struggle in the sense of
institutions.

Q: Where did you want to go?

BOGUE:| wanted to go to ChinaMy class was assigned, andrly understood this
when | started assigning people myself and it makes perfect sensevesyone who
passed the language test went to an Englaking posi.came in and did the test in
German, and passed, which meant that part of the anxidtg @fdt few years was over.
| already completed my language requiremAihost everyone else who passed a

| anguage went off to an English | ang
Those who didndét have a olgatoalthaopresulases ia
Mexico, and/or Chinese, to go to one of the consulates there.

-
~ o
D«

| was very fortunate to be sent to Londtirwas great fun.
Q: When were you in London?

BOGUE:I was there 18 month$hat was when an introductory consularrtaas 18

months.The only reason it was on our list was because Richard Queen, who you will

remember was one of the Tehran hostages, had multiple sclerosis and had to be

medevaced from London because of his condition worseSmthere was an opening.

This sticks in my mind because when you get o]
toaposti Vi ce Smitho or AVice Jones oMyordersiVi ce Ke
to London said, AVice Queeno which was kind
stepping dwn. It happened to be Richard Queen, not The Queen.

| was there for 18 months on a straight consular tour.
Q: What was your impression of teenbassyn London?

BOGUE: It was unbelievably hugdt was like working at the State Departmdhtvas

an enomous placeThis was before the visa waiver program, so we still actually issued
visas for any British subject who needed to\¢f& were processing well over a million
non-immigrant visas a yearhere were still massive numbers of Americans in military
bases all over Britain, so we did probably 24,000 reports of birth abroad d gegs.

were around 10,000 lost and stolen passports for tourists dtyeas. just hugeThe
consular operation alone was just hubeen, of course, there was the rest ef th
Embassywhich we almost never saw, even though we were in the same building.

In fact, | remember seeing a guy in the cafeteria one day and the only other time | had

seen him was during Presidential and Vice Presidential wgtsiad a thing in his ea

and he was out on the streehought he was in the Secret Servicgaw him in line in

the cafeteria and | said, A Oh, does your bei
He said, AdAWhat alr ewoyroku itna |tkhite g jcstheensgre®c t i on. 0
of the site advance peopldonestly, | never saw anybody outside the Consular Section.
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Q: Who was Consul General?
BOGUE:A guy namedRobertMaule.
Q: Were you doing visas the whole time?

BOGUE:No, typically everybody switchedh an 18month tour, you did nine months to
a year of noammigrant visas, and then did something e¥seu did the immigrant visas
or you did some form of American Servicgsssport, prison visits, eticwas one of the
people who was switched to American Servigferwards, so | did passport, nationality
adjudication, prison visiting, lost/sick/distressed Americans, deaths.

Q:Let 6s t al k ab oWNas mosthfatoutineos cid yquiind autatsost the
foreign ?

BOGUE: That was our wik essentially.
Q: To the norBrits?

BOGUE: For British subjects, most visa issuance was very roufiney were going to
DisneyWorld on holiday, things like tha¥Ve only had a few issues like, at the time, a lot
of illegal , before there waaprogram for that.

The vast majority of our work was interviewing third country nationals who were
applying in London for their visas for instance, because there was no lorigetbassy

in TehranA lot of Iranians and AfricandVe had a lot of peopleom the former British
colonies:India, Pakistan, Bangladesh, Jamaica, who may or may not have been resident
in Britain, but for whatever reason, they were in Londidrat was the vast majority of

our work

Q: Howdid we treat the Iranians and Africans?

BOGUE:For one thing, they all had to get a special security clearance at th&time.

there was a rather involved procéd& had a lot of especially young men seeking visas,
presumably partly to avoid the draft because thelha War was in progredken.

There were a lot of people trying to get out of Iran for whatever redbene would be

sort of the rumor of the week, which was that if you were an Iranian passport holder and
a Christian, you could get a visgo people would come in with a shiegormous cross

hanging around their neck and say, il know
parents didndét want hreallythave eGhristiae rratesand itisp a s
Paull .roemember asking one guyhr ifisSte saido?ud wer e
AYeb.said, AWell, Hehaaids fihet Rrnki iy?0s a

It was a good answer, but not the one | was looking for.
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The problem we had with Iranian applicants aside from security issues was ttaat we h

no way of judging theirtiestolraR.e opl e woul d come i n and say,
going to go backl. own propertyMy mo t h e r Thereswag nb way ef knowing.

is so different from being in a place and understanding how it works.

Q: Was thee a pretty high refusal rate of Iranians?

BOGUE:Yes, forsureAgai n, |l honestly dondét think it w
as they were desperate to get out and it was very hard for them to establish that they
would in fact ever return.

Also,Ishoul d add that, for instance, those who
have to go to the hited State$ o r me d i Wel, they evere adready in Britain.

There is not a particular reason unless they are having some very bizarre thing done that
wasnot being done in Britain, there was no r
proceed to the hited State$or medical careThey could get adequate medical care

there.

Q: What about the IndiafPakistani typesThere are a huge number in GreaitBin.
What kind of people were coming?

BOGUE: I would loosely put them in two categori€3ne was people who were not
resident in Britain who were sometimes visa shopping, and had been refused already in
their home countryThey thought they would be ko try again in LondoriThere was a
huge refusal raté&Jnbeknownst to them, we did have enough technology already to know
that they had been refuséden there were people who were actually residents of Britain
who were not yet British subjects, anété& were longime residents of Britain who were
British subjectsln the case of that group who had established-teng residency in

Britain, it was not terribly difficult for them to get visds.the case of the group who had
come to Britain as immigints, but were not necessarily settled there for long, had only
been very recently settled there, we looked those a lot more because we were a lot more
concerned about whether they were essentially immigrating illegally on tanitexlU
Statesand not planing to return.

Q: Did that same dynamic work for the Caribbean?

BOGUE:Not so much, because people from Jamaica and everything had a much longer
history of immigration in BritainThey had typically been there since the 1950s or the
1960s, whereas thenmigration from the sulsontinent was much more recelRor

Caribbean people, it was much more likely that they had already been a generation or two
in Britain, more settled.

Q: Did you run across IRA (Irish Republican Army) problems?

BOGUE:Not so muchThey did definitely at our Consulate in Belfast and at the
Embassy in DublinwWe di dndét see so much of 1t in Londc
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We did have IRA issues at the tintewas the time of the IRA bombing campaign in

London.It was one of thesthings where you go off in the Foreign Service, and your

parents are holding their breath saying, naTHh
L o nd o n, Thantherais a bombing at Harrods, a bombing in a movie theater, and a

bombing at PiccadillysquareAll of a sudden, there are bombs going off all over

London.Your parents are thinking that maybe you should have gone to Rwanda after all.

It was the era of the IRA bombing campaign in London itself, so we did have some

terrorism issues.

The othelbig issue we had at tlimbassyn terms of security concerns and things like
that, it was also the era of Reagan putting missiles in Europe, and in Britain.

Q: The S0s?

BOGUE:The SS20s, right.So there were protests every day atEh#assywithout

fail. Most of them were completely peacefillher e was a womendés group
peaceful vigil.There were sometimes some that would erupt into violence, although it

was usually handled in a good way by the local authorifiesdid have daily

demongrations at thé&Embassyon those issue3he invasion of Grenada brought out

protests, and various other events.

| remember the day we saw a whole line of protesters come into Grosvenor Square where
the American Embassy iSuddenly, it turned across thquare to the Canadian High
Commission, which is in the old American Embassy building right across the siuare.

was Green Peace protesting the seal harvest in Caadaere quite pleased and called

up all our chums over there and offered to bring tsandwiches, because we were old
hands at managing food.ou c o ul d n 0 Theyywere besieageddmeflyo u t .

Q: What were some of the dynamics in the Consular Secsiydu know, | was a

Consular Officer for a long timé\s a personnel officer, yowahe problem cases, and we

tend to send them to London or a big embaSemetimes this is a problem because

youdbve got young junior officers |like yourse
theseold | wo n 0t i bwtdhgse daredpsople who Haeken around a long time

and they were problems.

BOGUE: We definitely saw some people at the middle lekelas clear nobody wanted
them running their own section somewhéreey could do less harm thefeor instance,
one of our supervisors was subseatglyereprimanded for having written exactly the same
EER (Employee Evaluation Report) on every person, word for vitongs the old cut

and paste.

Q: Are these are the efficiency reports on which promotions are based?
BOGUE: Exactly. Admittedly, we werall kind of interchangeable partswas probably

a challenge to think of different things, but this was kind of an excessive lack of interest.
So | would say there was some frustration among the junior officers, most of whom were
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second tour officerOne of them was sort of a reward post for people who had been in a
hardship postMost were already on their second tddften they would come out of
tougher places and they tended to be more vocal about their frustrations.

Q: Was there any attempt by neasenior people in the Consular Section, or the
Embassy, to bring you in and introduce you to diplomatic life, to do morgukire
visa issuance drudges?

BOGUE:Part of the problem was that we were just overwhelmed with Wi pound

was very strongnd huge numbers of Brits were travelitigvas hard to break people
loose to go and spend much time in other sectibims junior officers ourselves set up a
little kind of lunchtime speakers prograReople from different sections would come and
chat wth us about the worklVe tried to volunteer to work on visits, that kind of thing, to
get that experience and have a break from theatapy grind.We invited our young

British colleagues, their entitevel people, to event$here was the trickle dowtheory

of diplomatic events where the first diplomatic reception | ever went to was a Malawian
|l ndependence Day where someone couldnodét go,
| t s a g o dcSdmebne very genior fromdhe Embassy did go, prglihbl

DCM, to represent the ited Statesbut there were extra invitations floating around and
they would fall to usWe would go and learn to do that sort of thing.

Honestly though, it was not only a hugmbassyand we had a lot of work, but because it

was London, it was like working at the State Departnmertt. wasnoét | i ke being
remote post under difficult conditions where people sort of beadple came to work

and then went home and did their own thiigu could do your own thingfou cauld

travel all you wantedT'here was no language isslidere were no security restrictions.

Q: When you moved over to American Services, what sort of things were you doing?

BOGUE:We registered newborn babi&¥e adjudicated citizenship issues for peopl
We had a lot of Americans who lost their passports, fell ill, or sometimeswletiad
just about a death a daie had about 360 deaths a ydartly because there were a lot
of Americans resident there; partly because people felt that even inteehelate years,
they could still travel to London, when they would not have gone to Afghanistan or
Thailand or something-hey could still make a trip to LondoWe had a lot of death
casesWe had a lot of Americans in prison at the time.

Q: What werehey in prison for?

BOGUE: Mostly drug offensesAlthough we had everything from people in prison for
murder to writing bad checkSome of them were American citizens but resident in
Britain. Others were people who were there temporavilg.went to vig them on a
guarterly basisThen, just the usual kinds of things that happen to peBplaple get
robbed. American citizens are there who are mentally ill and need assistance, either in
getting medical care or in getting hons® there was a whole randgeople need notarial
services.
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| remember the great excitement when Jimmy Connors came in during Wimbledon, in his
tennis clothes still, because he was going through a very highly publicized divorce from
his wife and he needed to have some papers petafor the divorce-e cheerfully gave

out autographs for about half an hour in the waiting room while we prepared the papers.
And then we charged him for my autograph, because it was a notarial fee of $3.00.

We also had various American celebrities tupnJerry Hall who was married to Mick
Jagger then was an American citizéames Clavell who wrot8hogunA lot of these
people lived in London and they would turn up periodically, just for normal things like
new passports.

Q: In American Services oniVisa Services, do you have any consular stories?

BOGUE:As you know, the few of our colleagues who never did consular work are just

hopeless at dinner partiékhey have no good storieBhere are a lot of good storiddy

own favorites were prison visiin a sense, because you get on a train and go to some

town. The British prisons are actually less violent than American prisons, but tended to

be physically much older, almost Dickensi&owme guy with a big chain of keys and
muttonchops would comeoatn d open this huge gate and say,
y o u n g Itlwasdalysorbof out of the pasthat was always fascinatinglso, hearing

the stories of the prisoners.

| suppose my best consular story in that regard might be the man who walky act

white-collar criminal.He was an American citizen serving about a-frear sentence for

a massive financial fraud in Londdfe was a highly educated madnce, when | went

out to see him, he said he had a favor to ask and that was that hisssoomwag to visit.

The son was graduating from Georgetown University and was coming to visit his father

in prison.His son was very interested in the Foreign Service, and in fact he graduated

from the School of Foreign Service at GeorgetoWns man saidi You ar e the only
Foreign Service Officer | knowVould you be willing to meet with my son and talk to

him about | ife ih ¢ a&iedF onouiligdea.bRe rhvaippe?d o. 0

| took his son to lunch when he carie was a very nice, young gwye never did join
the Foreign Service; he went off and did something else indtdwatl not occurred to
me that one of our prisoners would be actually seeking career counseling for his son.

It was kind of sadl felt very sorry for the young man who hadfe ith a lot of turmoil.

Q: Did the consular officers band together and do things?

BOGUE:Absolutely.We were a close buncWarious groupings of us traveled and
explored togethet.remember one Fourth of July; one of the female consular officers had
married a British Naval OfficeHis naval unit actually invited us all down to

Portsmouth, to be their guests over the Fourth of July weekend, which was a very nice
gestureSo maybe 15 people from the consulate all went down.
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Because it was so big, youlg came on duty every six months or so, which meant that
the rest of your weekends were very free to travel.

Q: What would happen to an American Consular Officer being married to a British
Naval Officer?Did she have to resign eventually, or was she bleep going?

BOGUE:They were able to keep it going, partly because he retired from the Navy at the
earliest opportunityThey were separated a few timeie was a bit older than sheas
anyway, so was able to retitlecan think of two female Americaofficers who married

British Navy officers, while they were in Londdm.the case of the other one, her

husband retired a few years later and became a trailing spouse.

Q: In doing these oral histories, we are trying to create a collection of work tplpe

who are in the Foreign Service, among other things, to find out more about the places
and pass on Foreign Service lore and history and work methéel you getting much
about the Foreign Service from other peoplg&s it pretty much the blind shagitheir
impressions with the blind in the Consular Section?

BOGUE:There was a lot of that certainlywas one of the only first tour people there.

The people there had been out serving in Africa, Latin America, the Middle East, and all
around the worldThey had a bit more experiendeealized at the time that | was not
experiencing the Foreign Service, either in the work or thel s having a wonderful
time in London, but | knew that the work would not be this way elsewhere and | knew
that the ife would not be this way elsewheltl were really going to experience the
Foreign Service, | would need to go on to another overseas assigAgent. my plan

still being that this was sort of a four or fiyear kind of deall could not really judga
decision on whether to stay in the Foreign Service or not on London.

What | did know was that | liked my colleaguéseally enjoyed my colleaguek.

thought they were committed, smart, fun, and even in a big post like London, quite
solicitous of eaclother.l remember, for instance, that somebody arrived two days before
Thanksgiving, as a new arrival at pdse told me he had waiting for him six invitations

to Thanksgiving dinneiSeeing that he was coming right before, people had left him
invitations to make sure that he had a place tdeyen at a big post, there was that spirit.

| liked the local staff a IotA lot of the local staff were of Caribbean island origin who

had come to work for the Americans because their acoetitgir skin colowould not

be a detriment to them in the American Embas$sgy were huge fun and terrific people

who took us into their heartalthough we often came from very different backgrounds,

t here wasnoét t ha tThegaouldioftea tell frona ouacderdsrwheoefin ¢ | as s .
the Lhited Statesve wer e f r om, but they coWhaeasdit t el |
in Britain, it is such a giveaway when you open your matm:education you have had,

the class you come frorBo it was much easier for us as Armans to go out one night

with Lord and Lady S@ndSo, and the next night with the brand new Anigidian 17
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year old school leaver working in the Consular Sectda.could move that way,
vertically in British society, in a way that the Brits themseldesd n 6 t .

| also learned a lot about Britain that whyemember the brightest kitlmean kid

because they left school at 16 or 17 and came to work féteusas an Irish fellow who

worked for us in the Consular Sectidte was so smart and so capableas really

encouraging him at one point to go on to get some higher eduddton.s ai d, A But wh
would be the pointPwould come out with a degree but | would still have an Irish accent

and | would still be from an Irish working class family. w o ueledbe ahie to be

more than a clerk anywalnless | emigrate to Canada, Australia orltinited States,

somepl ace where it doesndét matter. o

| thought what was sad about that was that he saw his future as completely constrained.
He was an only childdereally just saw his future as being in a complete btwse

kinds of things were very revealing to me about the different ways the Americans saw
themselves from the way the Brits saw themselves.

| found the environment very convenient, in terms of meyhAmerican and my
nonAmerican contacts.

Q: Did you have any control over where you went the next time?

BOGUE:I had very little, especially since | was coming out Janatyruary, which
was not the normal transfer timdanded up back in Washingtamthe Operations
Center, because there were very few other jobs availHiée was available, so | went
back to Washington, which was a new post for me as ixsgent a few months there.

Q: The Operations Center, someone was looking out for youpoething.This is

basically the key to really workirgheadrapidly in the Foreign Serviger can beThis

i s where all tlhedibdensétt ckannodw dtahtee sCper ati ons C
was a junior officer.

BOGUE:It started in the Cuban Missi(risis.

Q: By that time, | was over the hill.

BOGUE: It had its 28' anniversary while Iwasthere. di dndét realize that
You did have to have your boss nominate yowas one of the few things available on

the list, and | asked hine kindly nominated me for it.was chosen to come back to

Washington.

Q: You were in Washington for how long?

BOGUE:I then was in Washington for 18 months, because | did a year in the Operations
Center, and then went into language training.
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Q:L e t 0 about thd Operations Centailhat were you doing?

BOGUE:AIl the junior people were what we called, WOEDS (Watch Officers and
Editors).We were eager on the watch, handling issues that came up and alerting people
to them, or we were writing these littleonming briefing for the Secretary of State, then
George Shultz, that we compiled from overnight cables.

To truly date myself, there was no CNN (Cable News Network)Tlyetre were no 24
hour news networks at ato, it was based on phone calls and talegtraffic coming in
from posts.

Q: Who was running the operationW¥hat was the spirit of the organization when you
were working there?

BOGUE:The head was Jim Collins, | think, who was subsequently Ambassador in
RussiaHe was head of the Operationsnta thenOne of he Deputy Heads asBob
Pearson, who was actually my watch captain initiddly.then became the Deputy
Director, and subsequently Director General and Ambassador.

The big issues the year | was there were bombmBeirut. Big bombings took place in
Beirut took place that yeahlso, highjackingsThere were a huge number of Middle
East highjackings such as the TWA (Trafusrld Airlines) highjacking in Beirut.

Q: This was where they killed a man, is that right?
BOGUE:Right. Those were the major issues.

There were a lot of things | really liked about the Ops Cehli&ed the camaraderie of
the small team working hard, late into the nighie got to know each other very well.
We stayed up all night, sowekad.We di dndét havlieeal@éhpdyedmy wat c h.
colleagues there liked the fast pacd.liked the fact that no matter how hard you were

working on something, after nine hours, someone came to relievé you.was ndét t hat
had to work 36 or 72 hus straightYou would often stay to help if it was particularly

busy, but you did get to take a break and come Bde was a great way to do it.

It was a very positive place to woikhad two team captains, senior watch officers, Bob
Pearson and tineAllen Shippy.They were both terrific bosses to haBeme of the other
teams were not as happyhere were some personality conflicts on some tedeswvere
lucky to get along welll enjoyed that very much.was glad when it came to an end,
because Was really tiredl kind of lived in a state of exhaustion all year because the
change in shifts all the time.

Q: One of the things that people often say when they come out of that is that they

understand who does what to whdmother words, they unddesd the wily diagram of
the Department of State, which can be a rather complicated place.
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BOGUE: Exactly.And that was huge for me, because | had not ever done an internship at
State.| had come in and three months later, | wlkisadyin London.| had ro experience

with the Department and | think that fiasunderstanding who does what in the
DepartmentSecond was meeting some fantastic people like, for instAncie, Rgohel,

who spent a lot of time on Middle East issu¢s.was the Principal Depufyssistant

Secretary of thdliddle East Bureau then.

Another thing for me was just that it was a very quick, intensive course in everything

from Afghanistan to Zimbabw&/ou had to be at least conversant with what was going

on everywhereYou hadtobecaie you coul d get a call saying
Ni caraguan Foreignl MsaiidtefiWglulst wauw dneddesdo
said thato and how to get him on the phone,
how to get him on the phone.

Just toshow again how green | was, one of the first telegrams | saw came from Indonesia

and sai d ADAS MOdsuchiWell,d tharight DeasuMomjo must be an

l ndonesi an name; t hahadesgottodook itapandfigueeroutc an name
who he isThis was before the internet, before Googlmn frantically looking through

the lists of world leaders, ti&act Book and | cannot figure it ouOf course, as you

already know, Deputy Assistant Secretary John Monjo had been out in Indbneschi d n 6 t

even know the acronym for a Deputy Assistant Secretarpbably spent an hour

running around, trying to figure out who this Indonesian figure Das Monjo was, before |

realized it was our own guy.

For that kind of thing, | crammed five years worth of ex@nce into a year, really, in the
Ops CenterThere is no doubt about ltcontinue to recommend it to people.

Q: How about your fellow watch officer§¥hat were they like?

BOGUE:Again, | found them funTheytended to be very fast moving people witiod
senses of humor typicallfaecause nobody does that on their first tour, everyone had
been to one or two places already, so | picked up a lot from them about the work in
different parts of the world?eople had come out of China, Africa, &tbat wa really
fascinating.

Q: Did you have any competitiveness or sharp elboiwsste was no point in being
competitive, | guess?

BOGUE:There were a few people whoweret 6 s very much Adsoteam env
when things happene dongoadahings@/e veere there whéndbade t o h e
things happened.remember being stunned when a colleague, not on myitedrad

happened through sheer bad luck been on watch for one bombing and one higiijacking
actually said, nlisgoidguodooksa goodan ybur gerfoenariceu ¢ k .
review because you werelodivad®tthceomsendehi a [k
the loss of colleagues and a highjacking as lucknsidered it as horribl&nd for

anyone to even think in those terms was Ibeyme, to think about this as a great career
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move.What a great career mouwbere was a highjacking while you were on watbtthat
a horrible thing to happeithank heavens we were able to help a bit.

Only one colleague of all the people working therthattime ever openly expressed

those kind of competitive, @Al dve got to get
Everybody else had a much more sober view that these were human beings, and often our
colleagues.

Q: Did you get a feeling while you weleete, because you were dealing with the whole
world, that of the various bureaus or areas, which ones were more responsive or faster
on their feet, when you contacted them?

BOGUE: I would say that | was very impressed with all of th&imat surprised me
because | had heard a lot of mytiikere are stereotypes that this bureau is like this, and
that bureau is like thafgain, the people we saw and worked with were the staff
assistants, who were typically very sharp, capable, fast moving p&bple we woked

with the Office Directors and the Deputy Assistant Secretakias they tended to be
really good.

| must say in my day, because most of the action by then was in the Middle East, |

probably saw most of the Middle East Burelawas very impressed lifie people in that

Bureau.lt was a hot spot and | remember thinking how datblese were people who had

a war before breakfast twice a wdend they were cool and calm professionals, and

steady.They dealt well with otherd hey took time, even thoudghey were so busy.

Arnie Raphel was killed in Pakistan, but here he was, a million crises at a time, he spent a

lot of time with people on the watthe wer end6t even working with
was waiting for instance you would have to wait half arobr for a phone call instead

of just going away, he would sit down with s
about their plans, what they would like to do, how they would like to deviélismo

surprise to me that the award for developing yoahent in the Foreign Service is the

Arnie Raphel AwardHe really did give whatever spare time he hde probably spent

over the course of that year, two hours talking to me about what | wanted  toadionot

been in NEA (Near East Asia) and was notipalarly pointed that wayHe was just

very good.

Q: Did you get any feel for this basically select group, George Shultz and his team?

BOGUE:We were all huge fans of George Shultz and his wife Helena Schultz as well.

They were unfailingly wonderful tall of us.George Shultz was not a screamer.

Whatever he may have done with his peers, I
unfailingly kind to all of usThis was to the point that, for instance on ChristmasiEve

the watch goes all the time, so peamle working on ChristmasMrs. Shultz and

various grandchildren arrived with home baked cookies for everybody on the $a#ch.

arrived late, late at nighReople were workingl he Shul t z6s were incredi
George Shultz used to drop by the @mter and thank everyoréou di dndt get th
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i mpression that s omeon edewaaldjussbe walkingby,He vy , donéd
have a minute and stop iind we were grateful.

| remember being very impressed, chatting with his security d€kaly knav them far
better.

Q: You did that for a year?

BOGUE:Right.

Q: Do they pretty weklvring you out?

BOGUE:Yes, you are definitely readyou are just exhausted.

Q: Being in Washington, were you able get closer to figuring out what you wanted to do?

BOGUE:I think so.l decided | really needed to make up my mingas getting close to

turning 30 at that point.needed to make up my mind about whether the Foreign Service
was going to be right for m&o do that, | needed to go overseas to a more norma

embassy, not like Londohneeded to work in the cone | had been put in, which was
political, which | knew nothing abouthad just been put in it when | took the exam.

They saiVWe afirCGkapyutti ng you in this cone. o0

As you will remember from oysrevious conversation, | had had a long interest in

Yugoslavia, because | grew up in a town that was full of immigrants from Yugoslavia.

Everyone wanted to go to the Soviet Union in those d&yspeople in the Slavic

speaking world, that was the most iongant placeYugoslavia was a little bit bizarre.

Tito was dead by then, but it was pursuing itsown gath. wasnoét i n the main

A

the whole Warsaw Pact.hat 6 s where | wanted to go.

Here is where again the Ops Center really helps you aantto see the Office Director

for that part of the world who was Ops Center alum himself, and very favorably disposed
to Ops Center peoplele agreed that | could go to Belgrade as the junior most of the
political officers | still was not tenured yet becaudead been in such a short time from

the time | applied, so | was assigned to five months of language training in Rosslyn.
then headed off to Belgrade in the summer of 1985.

Q: How did you find the languagé&¥ere you picking up anything about the crétof
Yugoslavia?

BOGUE: I was definitely picking up a lot about the culturéund the language very

challengingl worked very hard at if. was very motivated studerthad had German

bef ore and some French, bultenjdyedihaldnguage at ac k| e d
lot. And | definitely picked up a lot about the culture because, for instance, the Serbian

and Croatian t eac her Bieydvereail ihthe sarpeedaplartmend; eac h o
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there were six of themintotdl.h ey wo u | td eaéhtothesitpvasa kood
introduction.

They all were native speakers who had come out of communist Yugoslavia, and they all
had pretty strong views about thingfiey were not at all shy about sharing th&imat

was goodIt got you right into the soiof mode of having those conversations with

people.

For me, language training was such a relief from the Ops Center, because the hours were
regular.You could actually get enough sleep.

Q: So you went to Belgrade when?

BOGUE:In the summer of, it mustave been August 1985.
Q: And you were there until when?

BOGUE: Until 1987.

Q: Who was the Ambassador when you got there?
BOGUE:Jack ®anlan

Q: Was he the Ambassador the whole time?

BOGUE:He arrived just a few weeks before | did.

Q: How would youwdescribe the situation in Yugoslavia when you got there in 198%7?
were relations with the United States?

BOGUE:Relations with théJnited Statesvere very positiveYugoslavia was still doing

its famous balancing act, trying to be a leader of theAlagned Movement but also be

on good relations with the two big powelrsvould say it had a better relationship by far

with the United States than it did with the Soviet Unibdeeply suspected the Soviet

Union wanted t6  &cause it had broken out bt Warsaw Pact, it was deeply
suspicious of the Soviltetideditself anitsbopenriesst ent i ons
People could come and go; the borders were not cl¥sedcould get magazines and

newspapers from the outside world thdtrevas definiely a much more open

environment than elsewhere, although it was a single party communisSstagtations

were goodWe had a very positive and healthy thilgh at di dnét stop us fr
followed and harassed by the police

Yugoslavia had boom yeain the 1970s, economically speaking, developing tourism and
bringing in a lot of Western currencyhen, the oil crisis of 1974 hi¥ugoslavia is
completely dependent on petroleum products from the outside Woslent through an
economic freefall aohit was still in place when | was thefiéghere was huge inflationary

47



pressureAll the weaknesses in a socialist economy anywhere, like keeping unviable
plants open because they were providing employnyent.can get away with that for so
long, but you jgt cannot get away with it forever.

Yugoslavia had a couple of particular issuU@se was that part of it had a modern,

Western European economy, in Slovenia and parts of CrBaiits of it were hugely

backwardT hey wused t o say tihirgthe ecbnonges of WastiWe ar e c o
Germany andndiai n t h e s a$odhatingplaced likeyMaagdonia, it was very

impoverished, very backward, very limited d&shioned industrialization, a lot of very

unmodern agriculturdn Slovenia, they were makingis until

, making skiing popular
telephones and modern electronic equipment and the combination of all the historical

resentments among the various people of Yugoslawa hatred by the communist

government ver the war, but also the growing economic resentments with Slovenes

saying, (iwhwod&k werhllave to subherewereze t he Ma
definitely those kinds of resentments and the system that Tito set up to replace him was
extremely cumbersoe and clumsyit could not change rapidlyt could change but it

was very ossifiedSo there were growing pressures economically and a system that could
notrespond tahose pressure$hat being said, in 1985, you did not see the kind of

suffering.

By 1987, you had the first stirrings of Slovenia and Croatia going their separate ways.
They started doing thing$here was universal conscription for m&he old rule had

been you always got assigned tstate or province or whatever you called thteatwas

not your own.So if you were a Slovene, you would get assigned to someplace that was
not Slovenian; if you were Bosnian, not Bosfiihe ostensible reason for that was it
helped to promote brotherhood and uniityoughoutYugoslavia, as you will remenab,

and got people out of their homes and meeting people and ®hesamably, the real
reason for minstates that require significant police or military presence was that it is
easier if the police or military come in and crack down on demonstratdistarbances.

't i s much easi erSotthe Sldvenesirhl987 startbdesaying thingss n ot .
I i ke, A Wmgnren avelconsciipted, they will only serve in our units; they are not
going to s er Vhereivere thefirbt thindike that Hagpening.

In 1985, we were certainly aware of issues left over from WorldIW&br instance, one

of the things that happened was that there was a man named Andrea Artukovich, who had
been the Interior Minister in Croatia during the wée.was extradited from the United

States, | think in 1985 or 1988¢e had been the head of the camps in Croatia during the
war.He had come to America and claimed, as many people did, that he was anti
communist and that is why he needed asylum to be givetenes Finally, the Uhited

Stateshad years and years later when he was quite old, stripped him of his citizenship in
theUnited Statesind sent him back for trial in Yugoslaviehe reactions to that, the

difference in reactions to tiatOn the day he waflown back inl was called, and so

was almost everyone in tligmbassy, by friends in Serbieolleagues, contacssying,

ACome over and have some vinyac and celebrat
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been r et ur rveahwhilepougonssldte ircZagreb was getting bomb threats,
as theUnited Statesad returned this great hero for trial.

So the differences in the way the war was understood, and those issues were still very
clear and strong.

Q: What happened after that?

BOGUE: Artukovich was found guilty and sentenced to de@tien the court made the

sensible decision that while they reviewed his medical status, he would just sit in prison

until he died of natural causéhey actually did notwanto execut e him. They
wantthat kind of disturbanceé.remember at the trial that his lawyers argued that he

should not be punished because he was already so old, sick arlddéragmber the

prosecutors saying that because of him, a great many people did not have an opportunity

to become old, sick and frait was a tremendously emotional event all over Yugoslavia,

for different reasons.

Q: I remember, back when | was in Yugoslavia in 1962 to 1967, Artukovich was very
much a name that came up every time you mentioned Sdeovaas basically the
Himmler of the Croatia Ustashigovernment, and he was getting very strong support
from his brother or somebody, a wealthy contractor, in CaliforHia.contributed very
heavily to the Republican Part&lso, the fact that he was portrayasl being anti
communistlt was a nasty case.

BOGUE:Right. I think there is no genuine question of his guilt, party because he
engaged in some of this himsd¢fe wasndt | uHetouldactuallyge autitc r at .
the camp and he would actually kpkkople.So that was there.

Maybe not for this time, but one of the things that might be interesting for the record, is

t hat one of the things | didfuilNezipastggass| avi a W
unveiled when he was going to becoRresident oAustria He had served in Bosnia, as

well as in Thessalonikl.was the person who went through military archives in

Yugoslavia to look for the records because | read German as well asG3edi@n.And

because | was so junior, | was expendable forraéweeks, which | spent in the

archivesThat might be a fun thing to do next time.

Q: I am thinking that this is probably a good place to stop at.

So, we have talked about the general situation in Yugoslavia when you were there as a
junior officer in 1985 to 1987, and we talked about the Artukovich cAsewill talk

about the Waldheim case, what you did and how the embassy operated at tbadtime.
you get out to Macedonia, BosniA®Rd the relations with our Consul General in Zagreb
and how that workedVhat were you doing as a junior political officé®®, we have

quite a bit to talk about.

Today is June 18th, 200Janet, do you want to say something@ will do a little test.
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BOGUE:SureWe 61 I see i f this wor kmicrghoheintore.l e bett «

Q: I want to talk about the Waldheim ca$ids rather appropriateYou might explain
why.

BOGUE:We | eft off | ast time mentioning the inv
crime activitiesAs the irony of the universe would havehg passed away this week and

there were a lot of obituaries that focused very heavily on his war crime activities and the
guestions about his Nazi or ndlazi past.

While | was in Belgrade was when this issue first camétwyas a revelation in, |
believe, an Austrian newspapédirmay have originally come out of a Yugoslav
newspaper and then been picked up by an Austrian one.

Q: This was during the time you were there?

BOGUE:Right. It was in 1986, maybe 198Waldheim had, in fact, participated in

wartime atrocities in the Balkans during the Second World War, being a member of the
GermanarmyWal dhei més own official position had a
the Russian front, been wounded, and spent the rest of the war in Andaiz, that

turned out not to be tru&he Office of Special Investigations in the Justice Department,

which was the office that essentially chased Nazis in the United States, asked if we could

work with the Yugoslavs to see what records they Mtk newspaper arlie referenced

the military archives of Yugoslavia.

So | was dispatched to do that, partly because | read both-Sevhttan and German;

partly because | had done my graduate work in history and knew my way around an

archive; and partly because | was aiqu officer and expendable for several wedks.

were out of the office for several weeks, it
embassyOff | went to the military archives of Yugoslavia, which was absolutely

fascinating for a number of reasons.

One was that there were a lot of older gents in there who found it a refuge from crammed
apartments, full of children, ilaws and grandchildrehey were all writing theifiHow

| Won the Partisan Wamemoirs.| found them very engagin@ivVe started takig

doughnut breaks together and | heard their stories about being partisans in the Second
World War, which was absolutely fascinating.

The records in the archives were actually records that had been captured from the
Croatian fascist government, tbistasi government, and from the Germans at end of the
war. It was really heartbreakingVhat you would have is an order in German, coming
from the German military headquarters in Croatia to the government of Croatia, saying,
for instance, fucealare to belvaundédeupvlsy stamtfisuch a date and
delivered to the camp at Jasenovac, the infamous concentration camp.
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Q: Where was the camp located?
BOGUE:In Croatia.

Then you would see, attached to it in Croatian on the letterhead of the Croatian
government, a thing that say=®ndsubhlaglatecalnnect i o
the Jews of Andaluca numbering so many men, so many women, so many children, were
delivered to the train station at ssahdsuch a time, and put on the train tsel@ovac

Camp.

The thing one always hears about but | had never seen in person, this very banal and
bureaucratic transaction involving all these liv@s.l spent about two weeks in the

archivesWhat | was essentially doing was a reconnaissance missitmef®ffice of

Special Investigation, figuring out if there was enough in those archives for them to send

over a team of specialists to look at themiid as much research as | coulthe old

chaps at the archives were very supporfitany of them weréard of hearingOne

morning, when | came in and sat down, | coul
Anot her one said, fAShe is from the American

Q: This is Tape 3, Side 1 with Janet Bogue.

BOGUE: Various people who worked at the archivesiliegim and military, would arrive

at my desk with a box of thingbwastrydgtosay, AYO
find it by the archival methods | had been taught, but obviously they knew the archives

very well.

Q: What was the attitude ther&Vere they purely professionatidbw were the Yugoslavs
treating you?

BOGUE:They were treating me extremely wélhe Director and military officers, |

would say they were both professional and extremely friendly and hospitable in the way

you will remembefrom your daysl started going in the morning and leaving at noon, so

that | woul dndt spend t hligwasvgrobebsmnalaljutakr noon dr
work stopped at three while they all go and have a viniaere were very helpful to me.

Theyver y much wanted Wal dh e iTmabwas cear becauset i es t o
they were appalled that he had attained the position with the UN that he had while lying

about his activities during the war.

Q: Were they quite familiar with Waldheiri?as thisvell known?

BOGUE:Theywere well aware of his unit and rastivities Before his unit went to
Thessaloniki, where it became quite infamous, it had been in Croatia and in Muslim
Bosnia, the parts of Bosnia that had been occupied by Croatidaluca andhat

region, Sarajevo and so orand they were well aware of the activities of that unit there.
think they were incensed that Waldheim would carry off this level of deception.
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In a funny way, having been through the war, | think they would have accieiad he

s ai d,|sdivEdetlserd:t was terriblel n war , t er r i Thefactthabhhen g s
tried to conceal it and so ofihere was also, again, as you will remember, a great deal of
pro-American sentiment about the war in Serbia becagseave seen as allies.

In fact, one of the great fun things | didhere are so many fun things you get to do in
embassies a group of four farmers from Ohio who had all been part of one air crew that
was bombing Romanian oilfield§hey had been shohd the plane damagethey

managed to limp back over Serbia, actually Burvadena, and bail out over Burvadena.
They had been rescued Bgrtisanssmuggled out to the coast, taken aboard a British
submarine, and returned to allied care through this kinshdérground railway of
PartisansThey came backlhere were eight on the original crew; four were still living.
One of the farmers in Ohio organized them all to make a great return trip.

| went with themWe went up to Burvadena where they actually metdy then old man
who had been the yourRartisarleader of their villageThe tears flowedThe alcohol
flowed. When we arrived, a young man who was then the mayor of the town, or some
official in the region, pulled out of his pocket and held out to mecketknife.One of
these guys had given him this when he was a small boy in the lt@astill had it, all

these years later, this army air force issue pocketKhifieas a grand thingfhere was a

lot of strong sentiment that during the war we had ladless. We had fought the

Germans together.t was genuine; it wasnodét put on.

| had a very warm welcome in the archives, including from the other patknstarted
taking doughnut breaks togeth&his was part of my thing because they all ate
doughnus in the archives, with the jelly spilling on the recoitidrove me crazywe
would go outside and they could smokeeryone smoked in the archiv@e kind of
things you would never see here where essentially you walk into the archives with a
penciland nothing else.

Q: Did you have any feeling that there were people in there looking to get things on
Croatians and all that at that time?

BOGUE:Not the patrons who were there when | was th&sdar as | knew, no one was
working on the same set ofoards | was, which included these records that had been
captured from the Ustashi governmeérttey included a lot of things that were not related
to the German army.looked through them out of curiosity and to see if | could find
German army records ihére.No one else seemed to be working on th@be. things
people were working on were these personal projects, writing their mefrains.what |
saw, not a lot of memoir writing was being dohievas kind of a social club, a sort of
VFW (Veterans of Feeign Wars) or American Legioiveryone lived in these crammed
apartmentsAt the archives, there was heat in the winter and air conditioning in the
summer.There were likeminded fellows around?eople came, drank coffee, andhgu
out.

Q: In sum, did ya set the path towards further investigation?
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BOGUE:I t hink that ds alngpowdmindatyastcleartd mestttar | be it
Wal dhei més unit was up to its neck in the tr
others.

Q: Roma, being gypsies?

BOGUE:Right. | never found a smoking gun, as it were, in the sense of something with

Wal dhei mdés s i g nThe unithe wasmdvaichiwasgn intdlligence unit,

only had a handful of officer3here were only three or four officefghe unit wvas doing

all this.If he were unaware of it, he was the most incompetent officer in the German

army.l am not saying that is not possibiee also received a number of awards in the

course oftmeAgai n, people get awards tmeeThe t hey dor
fact is that he had to at least be aware of it, even if not personally culpable.

Q: Just to sort of finish this offvhat was that unit doing?

BOGUE:In Bosnia, which was the part | looked at the most, it was essentially the liaison

between te German army, the Croatian police, and the Interior Minitng. German

army gave the instructions and the police of Croatia obéyéd. was Wal dhei més ul
was issuing those instructionghose instructions included deportation of peojsvs,

Roma and political undesirables to camps.

Q: Was the camp a death camp or was it a place where they collected them and then sent
them off to a death camp?

BOGUE: It was itself a death campo go back to the Artukovich case, many of those
crimes were commtiéd when he was in charge of Jasenovac Cérdgfinitely was a

death camplt has become, of course, a huge issue between Croatia and Serbia, about
what actually transpired at Jasenouabink it is quite clear from the historical records
that it was aleath camp.

Q: After, you came back with this, what happened?

BOGUE:We sent off a very detailed description of what was in the recBed®d on

that, the Department of Justice sent a team of researchers, historians, people with proper
linguistic skills and historical training'hey set up camp in the archives for quite a long

time and did the worlkOut of a lot of that work came the eventual travel ban on
Waldheim.A lot of that was based on material from the archives.

Q: Did you work get into the paers?

BOGUE:Our own, the embassy work#b. Do you mean the local papers?

Q: Yes.
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BOGUE:No. When the Department of Justice came, Neil Sheraton himself came and
was head of OSI at that timde and his team met with government officidleat was
heavily covered in the pres§hey always graciously thanked the embassy for its help
and supportThe fact that | was working, beavering away in the archives, another good
reason to send a junior officer is that people in the archives Riéivary people who

were quite disciplined knew it was premature to say anytfing.right time would be if

the Justice Department canhastayed in touch with the Justice people, once they came,
to see what they were findin@f course, what they found was what | had fotmd

great extent, but in a lot more detdihey went through every single piece of paper there.

Q:Were people coming at you in the archives

BOGUE:They did.The Director of the archives was a colonel in the atdgywould

often sit down and chat with me about how things were gélegvould make

suggestions about things | should look feople would turn up with a box and say,
AHer e, you s h¥aumehtiohed bekore akout weheipsopleout to get
CroatiansSametimes what they brought me were some records from the Croatian fascist
government that were not related to the German armgs only looking for Waldheim
related thingsl was only looking for the interface with the German arBwymetimes

they just braght me these things.

For instance, one woman who worked there brought me a whole box of rédoodson

was illegal in Croatia thehey had taken this sort of a step furtlfery woman who

was admitted to hospital with a miscarriage was subjectedlitme interrogation to

ensure that it was a genuine miscarriage and not somehow an abortion or attempted
abortion.There were these pages of interviews with these women, often heartbreaking.

Some woman saying, AMy husbawyedrs\Wehdvel have be
been trying and trying with no success to have childriénally became pregnant and

then had a miscarriage. have been prThege poligeménaverssthen Jude. O
saying, fADid you take aDigyouoerditci arThdyed D0 e vy o
were trying to find evidence of thiShere were boxes and boxes of this stitifivas

incredible.

It is the kind of thing you see in a police state, regardless of the ide&weny kind of
detail of peopl edsveryintensescruirg.i ng subject to th

Q: For somebody looking at this, this is just a reminder that the Croatian government at
the time was very Catholic and took one of the strictest views of Catholicigas.
obvious one reason why they took this view on abortion.

BOGUE:Right.| am not having a quarrel with them having this |aWe intensity to
which these cases, and in some cases, then intervidweargember in the case of one

womanil di dndét read through al Il bulfgotdtanteds e becau
and got fascinated with one case, interviewing the woman who had miscarried, her
husband, the womands moaoAlldf them attestéddotheactg h bor , a
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S young woman was in

at i f a
I n, and that they coul dno

t h t h cavevery distr
childre t i magine tha
Q: While we are on the subject, did you run across any women subjected to & higpe?

is wartime.

BOGUE:No, but by this time in the records, Croatia is quite stable at this pbiete

was not f i g h tinievery cageahatl lpokediatgain, | looked at a sliver of all

the cases the woman was married and the husband was the presumed father, and they
were being investigated in case it was an attempted abortion.

Q: Then, you camleack after this intense, fascinating look at the warybody who
servesinthe Balkarist her e are various times, Iyou areno
history is always with you in the Balkafi$is was recent historyWhat were you up to?

BOGUE:In terms of my other work?

Q: Yes, your other work.

BOGUE:I had a wonderful and eclectic portfoliccovered religious groups, minority
groups, and two of the republics that were considered insufficiently important to give to a
more senior person which veeBosnia and Montenegrbtraveled all over Yugoslavia

for fun, and my own pleasure and edificatibepent a lot of time in Bosnia and a lot of

time in Montenegro.

Q: When | made my trips, | always made sure for social security, that | had

BOGUE:Some of the best scenery, not to mention the best beer and fish.

Q:Let 6s tal k about Inthefirseplacef didydu gettheiRonea? i t i e s .
BOGUE:I did.

Q:Letds talk about the Roma as you observed

BOGUE: It was vey interesting because there was a kind of two tier of Roma in
Yugoslavia that | saw at the time.

One was people who were well integrated into society but the King of the Gypsies as he
was called, was actually a man who was a poet and a professor atweesijnof

Belgrade who was the titular King of the Gypsids.lived in an apartment in Belgrade.

got to know him quite wellThen there were a lot of evenir instance, the Jewish
community and the Roma community did a lot of commemorative WorldTWa

events together because they had both been victims of the Nagysdid them with the
Serbs because all of them had been victimized by the Nbais. t  Bratstvolh e i
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jedinstvoo (Brotherhood and Unit apDntbeusi ness,
other hand, the Roma, in many cases, were living in the lowest gossaimlomic realms

in Yugoslavia, often in extremely poor housifitnere was stilanunresolved problem

within the Roma because the Yugoslav government, like most Europeanmewts,

had decided that the Roma should be a settled people; that they should live in apartments

in cities.They should not move from place to platbey should have settled

occupationsThe children should be going to regular schoets. many of the Bma, this

was a great conflict with their own cultural desires and inter€stse was that sort of

conflict.

Then there was the sort of Roma who were well integrated and who were part of the
system, in a sense, including some at fairly senior levels.

| looked also at some of theotiewh en t hey sai d minority group:
Serbs, Croats, or Slovend8$hey meant Ruthenianglachs some of these very tiny
groups that were in Yugoslavia at the time.

Q: Where were th¥lachsfrom and where werthey located?

BOGUE:TheVlachswere maybe on the northeastern fringeybe you findvlachsin a

bit from Ukraine all the way over to Poland, Hungary, the old Czechoslovakia, and into
RomaniaThey were a very small number of peoflaere were/lachsin Bosnia during

the war.Ruthenians | knew a bit betté@hey were Eastern Rite Catholics who also were

in that jumbled region of Eastern Poland, Western Ukraine, all through that region where
peoples are quite mixedhese were very tiny groups that haut been given the

distinction of being a nationality under the Yugoslav constitution.

Q: In looking at them, was this the role of playing ethnologigt’ there anything going
on there that was of interest?

BOGUE: The questions were moigsuesof humanrights and thingsOne of the ironies

of the Yugoslav setup at the time was that it recognized various nationalities and had set

up all these schemes to rotate all those nationalities through positions of Pbwer.

course, if you were in one of thesetmy oups, t her e Thaeswadnot r eal |y
point at which a Ruthenian rotated to the PresideYioy.had to be a Slovene, a Croat, a

Bosnian, a Serb, a Macedonian, a Montenegtiere were special arrangements for the
Hungarians and thi€kosovarAlbaniansit was the people in even tinier groups than that.

| wasnodot bei Pasorally,|leve talkimgtopepplesabaut those kinds of
things.It was more looking at questions of human rigtsauch bigger part of my
portfolio was religiougroups and their rights and their relationship with the government.

Q: The government at that time, | imagine they were a signature to the Helsinki Accords.
How did they stand as we were looking at the human rights element?
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BOGUE:Remembering that atdhtime everything was seen through the prism of the

Cold War and the Soviet Union and the Warsaw Pact, they were way, way Binead.

was much more freedom of movemdPeople came and weidthey traveled as guest

workers and on vacation to European daes. You could hold a passport without a
problem.There was much more less of an onerous police state atmosphere than there was
in the Eastern BlocThere was actual encouragement of these groups to hold cultural
festivals and the like.

On the other hat) there was still censorshiphe media at the time was all controlled by

the governmentEmployment was controlled by the governméiatr various jobs, you

had to be a Communist Party membewas officially a oneparty statel t wasnot what
we would onsider full human rights.would say they have not lived up to all the

Helsinki AccordsThey were a lot further on that path than most communist societies.

Even if you look at their neighbor Albania, at the time which was under Hoxha, one of

the most etteme.

Q: It and North Korea were probably the two most extreme and oppressive regimes.

BOGUE:Right. | think that we certainly had human rights issues while | was tQere.

of the big ones was abuse of psychiatry against political oppofi¢miiswas a

tremendous issue at the tinfdere were similar kinds of issues, but it was not in the dire
human rights league of the very oppressive governments.

Q: Did you get into, or was it too big for a junior officer, the Kosovar issue.

BOGUE: It was definitelytoo big for a junior officerOther people covered thaidid

visit Kosovo while | was in Yugoslavids | said, | covered Bosnia and Montenedro.

did notcoverKosovd. di dndét have any Arncileatally,wen | anguage
di dnodot h amallyteined o Albanidnon thEmbassybut our Consul General,

Bill Ryerson, essentially taught himself Albanian because we had so many Albanian

speaking consular cases and visa applic@nghe strength of that, it helped to establish

our embassy wan we did open in Tirana, and he became our first Ambassador in

Albania.It was all because of visa applicants.

Have you talked to Bill?

Q: Somebody haslave you seen him?

BOGUE:I havenoét s eHe has tetireshhereencd/egmit sognewhdrthink
they live in Charlottesville or someplace in Virginide had a very interesting time in the
Balkans as well.

Q: What were you picking up, because all hell was going to break loose shwftiir?

you were going into Bosnia, what were you gettingobosnia after a time¥You were
there from when to when?
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BOGUE: | was there from 1985 to 198Ih Bosnia, in the cities like Sarajevo and

Mostar, I di dndt s eWhatasaw wecefquitevdosampbpolisaa s t o ¢ 0 me
placesOf course, Sarajevo hadsted the Olympics just a few years befdrevas quite
acosmopolitanplaceopl e went t o ¢lnovMthatbécauserlwent hol i day

with them oftenWhen | was visiting one time, the Deputy Mayor of Sarajevo at the time,

| had a meetingwithhimmnd he had to rush off because he
sai nt 6s Tmsastile a Qirthgaylf you are Orthodox, you have the name of one

of the saints as your confirmation name, and that day, you celebrate as if it were a

birthday.One of hisneighbors who was a very dear friend was having his nameé day.

was supposed to see himthere ldtte. s ai d, AWhy dondtWeyou just
will drop in on name dayit will be a thrill for my neighbor to have a foreign guest on
name dayThen we wi | go on to the other event. o

He wasndt going becauds$ewabgoingbacausdittwashibe put y Ma
neighbor.The crowd at the name day party was a huge mix of Catholic, Orthodox, and

Muslim peopleThey all were all neighbors and friends freghool daysWe see this

later when Karjich had a Muslim best man at his wedding, just a few years before he kind

of promisedthe Muslims theyvould all be slaughtered in the strekt.the cities, you saw

that.

In the countryside, which | saw only bywng and traveling through, it tended to be
much more in another centutyou would leave sophisticated Sarajevo and go 20 miles
down the road, and see people plowing their fields with okieere were people dressed
in what we would consider folkloric casnes, but were their normal wear.

Q: To me, the most vivid experience | had was that one time, | had a ride in an ox cart.
My god, those things are slow!

BOGUE:And bumpy!There are no shock absorbers on those things.
Q: Ifyou arelivingnearoxcarts it 6s a different worl d.

Did you get any samplingofwiéea When you tal k about the Chur

really candét talk about a Muslim é They real

BOGUE:No. Well there was a multi, a wulmayet on many occasidgain, remember

that all the churches had to make some sort of arrangement or accommodation with the
communistgovernmen. ou ar e not going to get somebody
party line, in a sense, among these folks at the titoslims by an odd wjrk of history

were Europeans who became Muslims during the Ottoman périmambination of their

own history there and the recent communist history meant that they had a completely
Europeanized educatioReople dressed in Western European ways.

The dstinction for me is that | later served in PakistBime difference between Pakistan

as a Muslim state and Bosnia as a place with a largely Muslim population is quite
amazing to meThe first time | went to Sarajevo, | actually arrived by train in theevint
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in a heavy snowstornh.arrived on Friday night and the mosque was letting out, and here
were all these tall, blond guys in Rossignal ski parkas coming out of the miissjunet
what Americans think of as Islam.

Again, this was a communist worlBeople were careful not to display their faith too
ostentatiouslyThey could doitThey wer endét being prevented f
by the state, but there was a | i ARtwahat | t
true of all the faiths, nqust Islam.People drank alcohdPeople ate porlReople wore

tank tops and shorts, things like thiatvas not the kind of things that Americans, when

they think of Islam, they think of a sort of Wahabi Saudi form of Isl@ertainly, hat

was not whayou saw.l visited Turkey while | was in Yugoslavia, and | guess it was

more westernizethanTurkey at the time.

r
h

Q:Let d6s take t he Oidyobtgetdanydeel@®hwhat thé Orthddoxs t .
Church was doing theré®/as there any hint of their pasgion prejudice and hatred,
that sort of thing, which you were picking up?

BOGUE:I would say yes and no to thdte Patriarch Garamond, | think, was not in that
businessYou will probably remember the old saying that the Serbian Churchiakys

our Bishops are either saints or brigadghink he fell more on the saintly side than the
brigand sideCertainly, if you got some of the bishops started talking, they would talk
about the suffering of the Serbs in the Second World YA&you yourself recglthey

were much more obsessed with the Turkish period, in a funny way, with the Ottomans,
than with recent history.

| was more interested, first of all, finding that kind of line of what the Church was

all owed and not al | o wewihthe govalnment was, and howt 6 s r el
they accommodated themselves psychologically or even theologically to the communist
governmentThe answer to which was that they took a very long view that governments

are temporary; they are made by human beiflge.Church is made by God and is

eternal, and will go on no matter what the ups and downs and flips of temporal life are.

The first problem | had with the Orthodox Church was just getting to see them because of
genderMy boss was Dick Miles in the Politicak8tion.When he told them | was going

to come and see them, they saidfihdhey di dndét realize at the ti
womanosSinmacnee .it ends in a consonant, it woul
Slavic languageshey told Dick when they reakzl that | was female that they would

really rather | didndét come to see them and

them.So Dick handled this in a very wonderful wéle was very supportive of me, but

he didndét get conf rHefjustaortof ecratchied hisiheathand daid, Ch ur c
AWel | , Shewilldshe® toretwo yeard/ho knows who will follow her? could

be a womanit could be a man in that joMaybe in two years, we will have someone to

work with you again, but maybetha 0

He didndét say, fAYes, we wil IHesmadaipclearéghat out an
that is who it was going to be from the emba3$yey either had to work with me or not
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see people from the embasSy. they very quickly agreed to see me aadtually
developed very warm relationships with a number of the bishops in the Orthodox Church
after that.

Their views on gender were not what Americans would consider progrdssiaet, we
had a multireligious delegation from the United States coamel they were very worried
because there was a woman minissre was in fact a nun who was the President of
Marymount Manhattan, and that was fidenun was fine.

Q: How about your name®’hi ¢ h ncedh s N

BOGUE:I di dnoét t umbl eemthatwaswgoing ® bevahfigitfirsta pr o bl
struck me when | would call a restaurant to make a reserv&@faurse, what they are

heari ngisGos.,TabThki $lfatwerd reallyrGod)it would be a table for 13.

People would just hang up thlone as if it were prank callhen, it made the church

people very uncomfortable that | had this surna@wmel decided that since no one in

Yugoslavia could tell with Americans what was their first name and what was their

surname, | would just use mydtrnamel was just known as Jan&@ome people called

me Miss or Mrs. Janet, thinking it was a surna@iters called me Janet, thinking it was

a first namelt was all fine withmel di dndét much care what | was

Q: How about the Catholic Church?

BOGUE:I had less contact with the Catholic Church because the Archbishop and
everyone were in Zagreb, and covered by the consulate klggievork quite a bit with
the Papal Nuncio who was in Belgratiealked to him a great deal about his efforts to
kind of heal what he sawhere were two thing©ne was to protect the rights of
Catholics and the rights of religion generally in a communist state, to heal some of
the bitterness left over from the Second World War, from the sense that therCroatia
fascists had been somehow allied with the Pope or with the Catholic Church.

The most interesting thing | found about the Catholic Church the whole time | was there
was that there had been believed to have been an apparition of the Virgin Mary at a place
called Medjugorje in Bosnia, right outside of Mostarent down to visit because there

was an American woman who claimed there were severe human rights abuses going on,
that the police were beating everyomhis was actually not true at alf.turnedout she

was a consular case who was very severely mentallyhdl.priests there were only too

glad to turn her over.

The interesting thing about the Catholic Church there was that the apparition was

strongly supported by the Franciscan brothers who there, and strongly opposed by

the regular diocesan Catholic clerdfywas one of the reasons why no Pope, and the

Catholic Church generally, had not declared this an official apparition like some of the
otheronesl t 6s ki nd of antei nfor mal pil grimage si
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But the fight that raged between them was a typical Yugoslav kind of Aljlthese

letters to the editor started up in the Mostar paper between the Franciscans and the

regular clergyThey all went straight back to the" 8entury, with the Franstans

saying, ADuring the Gr eatWeBthyadgheregnddedu al | ra
wi t h t h @hispame pbisession with who did what hundreds of years ago was

spilling over into, is this a real apparition of the Virgin Mary to these scholdlrehj or

is it not?Who is going to control the sitg¢hd so on.

That was my only real contact with clergy on the ground.
Q: Did you settle any arguments?
BOGUE:I did not.

Q: When you were talking to the Papal Nuncio, did you get any feel for Pbpdamil
coming from Poland and being a Slabfl that have any resonancé&®so, his dealing
with the Soviet communist world, did that have any resonance in Yugoslavia?

BOGUE:A bit, although again, Yugoslavia had diplomatic relations with the Vatitan.

had a much more open religious environment than the Warsaw Pact countrigs tieel.

situation was not nearly as fraugim.fact, the Papal Nuncioad only been in Belgrade

for a yearHis name was Antoni€alsuonoDespite his name, he was Argentirewas

called back to the Vatican by John Paul to be the first head of the new office John Paul

created for relations with Warsaw Pact countifeb.i s was John Paul 6s att

a much different relationship between the Vatican and those couBi€slsuono went

back.We were neighbors as well as friends and colleagues, and he came to see me to tell

me he was leavingde was rather disappointed because he had only been in Belgrade a

year and felt he was just starting to make some progress on stimesefssuesie was

in the diplomatic service, which | new very little abdde said that, well you know,

diplomatic services are the same the world over.s ai d, @ WhHaet shaaipdp,e nfield ? 0

wascalledThe guy in charge of heHplyFathermantsyouesour ce

to retur Catls uPhmme .séad d, A Mi n dCalguonoyasnothi s man |
He said, Al told hi m Ananwweullneverthaghetogive pr ay ab
any of my career development officefisT h e p h ava leours later and the Jesuit in

Rome said, 6The Holy Father want é&ttato know i f
point, Calsuono said, 0TelHesubmittedtokisffatd, s houl d
but did an excellent job.followed him from afa and he really did a great job.

The people who have been in Zagreb can tell you a lot mbeze were still the issues
of the Archbishop who was under house arrest,iSdepstarting the process of being
beatified.

Q: Stepnac being the Cardinal Archishop during the Nazi occupation.

BOGUE:He was then was under house arrest for the rest of highiéze were people
who wanted him beatified and saintétdvas a very awkward issue for the Vatican.
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Q: I have to admit my Belgrade prejudice becaus@s$ therel got that the Catholic
Church played an unhappy role, and | am using the term politely, against the Serbs
particularly in the Croatian area during World Wr.

BOGUE:ANd sad to say, much as the Serbian church during the wars in Bosnia and
Herzegovina until the very end.

Q: This brings me to a subjeatiere we looking at what the churches were doing, not

with their pronouncements, but at the parish priest level, Orthodox and Catholic, usually

with the mothers who were raising the kiddte fahers were somewhat out of@ne

has a feeling that it was the women who attended church services in bothSaittes of

the poison came olut wds theamoed eatdbst mel kot he

BOGUE:| would agree with that.would also say, ahthis comes directly out of my

experience working with religious groups, is that even among those who never attended

church, the cultural identification of your ethnicity with a particular religion was so

strong.For instance, | went and spent a lot aidiwith a small group of Baptists in

Yugoslavialt was fascinating to me because | interviewed a lot of them at length about

what had brought them to be interested in being Baptist and this alternative form of

religiosity. Protestantism was not at all werdtood| had a very funny experience once

when someone asked me in Yugoslavia what my religious backgrounéves.| said
Protestant, he said, n0AlewasmbaaingtheHaoese peopl e
Krishna at the timePeople knew about Judaiskslam, Catholicism, and Orthodoxy.

was stunning sometimes to Yugoslavs to learn that Protestantism was even the state

religion in places like Sweden and Norway and Englaihere was not much

understanding of thi§-here was a small group of Baptistsstjas there were small

groups of Jehovahés Witnesses, which was ano
they refused conscription.

| went out and interviewed a lot of these Bapti¢fhat was so interesting to me was that

significant numbers, becsaé | was in Belgrade, theses were mostly Serbs and a few

Hungarians, they never attended Orthodox, or Catholic in the case of the Hungarians,

services any mord&.hey attended only Baptist ones and they were very devbay

went toBible study.They wentt o0 me n 6 $Theywerd to fhis and thathey had

declined baptism in the Baptist adult immersion in the Danube sort of way bécause

would be so upsetting to their extended families because that is a sign of turning your

back on your cultural herteagcror t hem to say, Al have been b
means, fil am not a Serb anymoPe®oploe dildmadt no
make a distinction between their ethnic background, their cultural heritage and their

religious affiliation.So that f you are a Serb, you are Orthodox; if you are a Croat, you

are Catholic; if you are Hungarian, you are Cathdliod to accept baptism as a Baptist,

even though you have as far as we would be concerned become a Baptist in your practice

and your religioushinking, would be to deny your culture, to deny your parents.
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I remember one man saying to mlewouldiik&él | , I c a
be, but it wouldbe todeny my parentdt would be as if | had no parents because my

parentsare Sesb and t her ef or eThattomewas thernost Bterésting d o x . 0
aspectofreligionPeopl e di dndét Tiey might goto atthurchoweddinge h .
orachurchfuneralhey di dndét gBveéo thosehwmacwer enodt
inCommunst Party things didndét go to church muc
ladies.And rural women tended to go to churdfen tended to watch soccer on Sundays,

not go to churchThere was still this intense identification that if you are from this ethnic

group, you therefore are of this religious group and no sense that your religious and

ethnic identities could be distinct or different, but somehow compatible

Qln a way, it runs toeée | have al ways sort of
thed der | get ,rockhhardathemsdlr et Hiomk at he whol e thing
senseln a way, why fight?

Did you get any feeling of what was going on in the local churcBes@use we are

tal king about, | donodt srkorBembiamisinon t 6s Cr oat i an
Orthodoxism, but these people are out killing each other within a decade from the time

you were thereDid you get any feel for what was stirring this up?

BOGUE:Not at that levelThe only sort of parish church level things | attendede

actually from the nomajor religious groups, the Baptists, the Javksiow | went to a

Passover with a small Jewish community and a small group of Lutherans who were in the
Vukavararealk di dnét get Thdonlytima tcanme aloseas khenlle v e |
visited a couple of womendés cl oisters or nun
like so many of them, tucked away from the TurKsese are contemplative; the nuns do

not work in the worldThey are not teachers and nursésy do dlhave some sort of

craft or tradeThey might make honey or paint icons or something, or sell church

vestments, but they stay aparypically, girls would enter them just after puberynd if

not, a decision typically made by an adult woman but a yaworgan, girl. What stunned

me in most cases was really how completely cut off they efe. cour se, they di
have television or radio.

| remember when | actually spent the night in one of thieseoman could be their
overnight guest. spent the nightSome of the best, | must say, homemade lakia | have
ever hadThey had their own little stord@here were only about 12 sisters there, ranging
in age from the very old to a woman probably in her Z0gy raised their own
vegetables and they had a milknca hey were pretty seufficient.

| had arrived with coffee, sugar and things that were hard to get, ag\ggtsdinner,

there was an hour or so when everyone read to themselves, not communally, but read on

their own.l had brought a book, in Engh of course, to read@he sister sitting next to

me, who was probably in her 50s or 60s, asked me what | was reladiplied what the

book wasabouShe sai d, fANo, whatodosatdatfAiyobobsare Ee
And she sai d,yofiuNoar ew$8hahaddsctudalghfadter seen the Latin

alphabetShe asked me what it washen she had me write it all olishowed her where

63



the convergences were with the Cyrillic alphabet; we wrote that all ouMeaevrote her
name and my name both alphabets.

Then she said, AThose are t hle stawod, & lfipGha bneot.so
realized then that this is an extreme case of someone who came into this remote thing at

the age of 14 or 15 and really had seen nothing of the wAghiin, not everywhere in

the Serbian context, I found bitterness abou
people actively preaching hatred or revenge.

Q: Within the Jewish community, | know it was small, but was theaen trying to think
backand candt i @awpdntSgmitisre tha llthink maybe just because there
wasndt enoughi didyoudeat anafeel fortha? t i me

BOGUE:No and interestingly, the Jewish community was probably on a better footing

with the government than pother religious community because a lot of the early

Communists were Jewshe Chief of Staff of the Parsons, Moishe Piata; Moishe is

MosesTi t 06 s d o c The fellowahs was thd heead .of the Jewish community

when | was there was named Vladiskarlberg.He was, as | recall, quite senior in the
administration at the universityhe Jewish community had not been in opposition to the
Communist government and often had been fully involved in the creation of the members

of it; not as a community bumaybe membersofit.i t o6s doctor, who was
to know, went to Jerusalem for Passover every year.

In fact, we had one of these funny experiences where an American group canhe over.

was accompanying them, bund tlhedyi ddn &tn 6kin ocvwh etchk
going to do thisThere was a rabbi with them and we went to see the Jewish gituexp.

had an aide open up a suitcase and they sai.d
Pas s olvheer .rbabbi start ed Ilgltaxgl&ntoygu wheredthes ai d, fJ

Jewi sh members of t hé#&wasimieBvergyear, jeecallednteep r mat z
bef ore Passover and said, AHowwilhsmypyverl ews ar e
some mMAadre oc®ul dndét boagditHe diodmdt yhaMemtt dves mu

just got it in Germany or wherever, and he gave it td wsuld go around the embassy

and ask who needed matzo for Passdwsould say that we needed three boxes or four

boxes this year, and he would drop it éfEre was this somewhat condescending

American saying, APoor benighted oppressed f
they were our suppliers for the Jewish members of the embassy.

They were actually on good termé&u are also right; the communityas smallThe

large community had been in Bosnia, in Sarajevo, which was wiped out during the watr,
almost to a persordarajevo had actually had both Sephardic and Ashkenazi populations,
both very largeThey actually had one Yiddish speaking and loagino speaking

rabbinical seminaryT'hey had a very vital and active Jewish community life there, which
was destroyed completely in World Wiaiand has only recovered in the tiniest amount.
There are just a handful of Jews in Sarajevo.
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Q: While you were dom Bosnia, what about the Croatian, the Serb enclave, to the west?
What was that called Bosnia.

BOGUE:There is the Kraina in Croatia.
Q: What about the Croatians in Bosnia?

BOGUE:There were the Croatians in the west of Bosnia, Serbs mostly iotineast,

and the Muslim population tended to be more urbanized and more numerous in the cities

than in the countryside, although Mostar was for the most part, largely a Croatian city at

the time.l visited a lot of folks thereAt the time, all the govement officials, all the
university officials, all the media official
been terrible problems in the Saw@evowasit now, r
the only place where | really spent enough time awldped enough friendships to see

people at home, and see people interacting with their neighbors and their friends where |

really did think people were quite relaxed about these thindact, the statistics say that

before the recent war, in say th@7Ds and 1980s, something like a third of all the

marriages in Sarajevo crossed ethnic lihbes.d ondét t hi nk thdre is real
donét think you have that many é

Q: Well, we are seeing an example of when people start workingraBiaghdadoday
where Sunnis and Shiites are kiYbdcanrstgkeeach ot
these things up.

BOGUE:I think when we get to the point of looking at the war itself that is really one of
the interesting things to try to understavhatdid take a situationPhere were not

active problems of that naturEhere was a lot of intemarriage What turns that into a
situation where all trust or familiarity is lost and neighbors are doing these things to
neighbors?

Q: When you turn it over thlontenegro, what were you picking up there?

BOGUE:Montenegro was one of the more conservative of the repulbligas very

disdainful of the Slovenes who were going green and talking about making their own

way. Again, Montenegro was on the receiving efidthe economic subsidies and the like.
Very determined and proud of their own distinct past that the Montenegrans have, but
they were not interested at all, in those days, in independence, which they felt, would be a
disaster for them economicallfheywere closely tied, not only politically but also

through personal connections of property, work, schooling, with Serbia, and also to an
extent with Bosnia.

It was kind of a quirky, funny little placén the way that the Yugoslav government, you
will remember, had been set up, every government office was completely replicated at
every level.So you had the federal parliament and then the state or provincial republic
level legislaturesThen every town had its Upsnia assembly, which had 300 people in it.
Half the town would be on the town council.
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Montenegro had a Ministry of Foreign Affairs and a Ministry of Agricultitreias a

tiny, tiny place. loved MontenegroOne of the things | did to amuse myself in

Yugoslavia was that | got the records from leaional Archives of our legation to
Montenegro when it was an independent country from about 1905 to 1911 or 1912,
whenever it wasOur Ambassador to Greece was accredited to Montenegro and he wrote
accounts of his visits, which are in the National Arelsimow and are completely

charming and very much like Montenegsdoday

On my trips there whenever | had free time, when | had finished my appointments and

had a day or half a day to fill before our flight back, | went to the old Grand Hotel in

Cetinrand found what was the ol d Ametjuistcan Legat
poked around and that part interested me, our earlier representation in Montenegro in the

days when you took a ship to Kotor from whatever that port is right outside ofsithen

PiraeusThen ride horseback or donkey back up that serpentine hill to Cetinje.

| found Montenegro completely charmingand fun. di dndét think of it, w
my Montenegran friends, as having nearly the significant role that for instance Bosn
had economically.

Q: As you went around, what were you picking up on the legacy ofWio&re talking
about the whole area you were covering.

BOGUE:Tito died in 1980When | got there, it was already five years after his death.
There were all thedand of anniversary events and all this sort of clo&Kito. | think
there were a lot of mixed feelings about Tito.

One was people were sort of rolling their eyes at the post mortem deification of all these
Tito celebrations and Tito this and Tito thiathink that was something people were

finding a bit ridiculousThere was still a law on the books against insulting the memory
of Marshal Tito.

A great junior officer job for any junior officer always is that | like to cover rock and roll
bandsTherewas a rock and roll singer called Aldenandic, | think, who during a big

outdoor concert had enormous amplifiers, which were Marshall brand from EnQlaad.

of them blew duringtheconce.e | eaned i nto the microphone ¢
isdead, bt t he s h o wHemassgiven §0odays for.indulting the memory of

Marshal Tito.

People were beginning to think that things like that were just completely backward and
embarrassingt made Yugoslavia look idiotic in the world.

Some people lookingt the rather lackluster leaders, who were then rotating through

various offices, thought on the other hand that Tito had had something that others had
lacked, some charisma or some stile.managed to give Yugoslavia a bit of a place in
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the world that tese others were not up fthe others were kind of communist
bureaucrats.

And others were angry about Tifbhey were angrabouthim imprisoning people,

people like Djilos and people who were ideological fdéwey were angry that he had
spentalotofigosl aviadés | iteral, not f-Alighed ati ve, ¢
Movement when economic development lagged so milzdre was a lot of concern

about that.

Q: As a junior officer, usually you are more attuned to seeing if there was a generationa
differenceDid you see a generational difference in Yugoslavia in the areas you were
covering?

BOGUE: Yes, theravasstarting to beYounger people were not as interested in being

Young Communists and things like th@he kind of younger people who wtanto the

League of Communist Youth, or whatever it was, which you could be in until you were

about 40, were seen as a kind of party hack types in the makiogof younger people

were really looking towards Western Europe for a model, and to thedJgiates to

some extentWhether it was music or art, or what they were writing, there was a very

kind of very trendy theater scene in Belgrad
time. There were a lot of rock and roll bands, some of them quite gooddjuite

iconoclastic, certainly in Yugoslav terms.

There were little shops that started to oppihat sold things that right on the edge.

There was a wonderful little shop run by a couple of guys who were artists, down in the

old central squar&.heysold things like an apron, a sort of barbecue aptdrad the

hammer and sickle on it, andlt twasandat dmMet loi
you couldarrest somebody for because you could pretend to be that with a straight face.

There was #ot irony around itThere was a lot of that, a lot of irony.

People traveled freely in Europe, so they thought things like censoring magazines was

ridiculous because you could just take the ferry over to Italy and buy them! ttiéind.

there was moref@ sense of the ridiculousness of it, rather the sense of being oppressed.

The only young people who I think really felt oppressed, were people who were
Jehovahdés Witnesses, boys who wotUhHed spend ye
were never goingp be able to get jobs as teachers, because you had to be a Party

member.

Q: How big was the movement there?

BOGUE: It was fairly small Again, it was all the neamainstream religious groups,

maybe a couple of thousarfeveral of whom worked at the ensbg by the way because

it was one of the few places where you could getjohs.r cashi er was a Jeho
Witness.They had no law against double jeopardy in Yugosladaat would happen

was at eighteen, a Jehovahos andiwdudeesrs boy wou
two years in jail.This is the same length of time as the army tétenwould come out at
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age 20 and be drafted again, refuse again, and that would go on until he was 35 and no
longer draft eligibleThey were spending 17 years in priséfe objected to that on

human rights grounds saying, o-kiitary i f you don
service but dondét keep incarcerating them fo
QI may have pointed out that Jehovahos Witne

of a lot of Western Europeans and the United Statesy refused to salute the fldg.
was a confrontational setting that caused headaches for a lot of Western leaning
governments.

BOGUE:Yes, they are neoonformers wherever they ateadmired them sually in
Yugoslavia because they so willingly endured what was essentially 17 years of
imprisonment before they could get started on their lives aljasna huge commitment.
| admired that level of commitment.

Q: The generational gapvhat about matis of sexDid this get involvedThe sexual
revolution had been going along for some time.

BOGUE:The sexual revolution in Yugoslavia was compounded by the housing problem.
Essentially, people had no space of their own and no pri?aople lived at homwith

their parents and their grandparents and their aunts and uncles, crammed into these
socially owned apartment&ven when they got married, they often lived with one set of
parents or another because it was almost impossible for a young couplarto get
apartment of their own.

| remember a woman | was friendly with telling me when she got married and moved in
with his family. They lived in his boyhood room, which still had a Snoopy bedspread.
She sai d, A H e vummawied cauples sleemgron g little single bed with a
Snoopy bedspread. o

What was even more complicated was when a couple got divorced; they often had to
continue to live together because there were no other housing oftoons.friends of
mine were divorced and were tryingrnavigate dating again, when they were still living
in the same apartment with theirggouseHow do you manage the new girlfriend or the
new boyfriend plus your kids and their girlfriends and boyfriends when you are all
crammed into a little apartmetatgether?

| think that the sexual revolution for Americans was partly a matter of that it was
possibleln a way it was very much more difficult in Yugoslaviacould be a fairly
straightlaced society, but you would often see a lot of public displagéfection in
parks and things, because people had no place else to go.

Q: I was in Naples somewhat earli@ihey still had those problems and you would see

cars in the public park with newspapers taped inside of these small cars, bouncing up
and down, ad the motor was not running/e can laugh at it but it was a serious matter.
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BOGUE:The other thing in the Yugoslav context was that contraception was not readily
available, nor was it readily available for married couptelat of the women | knew
whowere 40, had maybe two kids and four or five abortidgst was in the Soviet

Union, that was standard contraception at the tirhere were things about the sexual
revolution that were possible in America, like contraception and privacy, which were not
possible there.

Q: When | was in Yugoslavia, again we are talking about the 1960s; everything was still
done by state productioiithey never really came up with a good sanitary napkin; it was
sort of cottonThis is just a bunch of guys running the ecopom

BOGUE:Yes, consumer goods were terrible for the most part.

Q: Speaking of the generational gap, how did it work in the embassyally young
officers, and you were still of that category, often have quite a different outlook about
how things shoultée done and recorded than the more senior officers.

BOGUE:I't was a big embassy but iltwashibigndt have
embassy, not in comparison to London or Tokyo, about 80 Americans at thé tras.

big compared to a Warsaw PachbassyThis was partly because we had a huge
contingent from the U.S. Il nf ormation Service
Warsaw Pact countries.

There was not a huge generation gap in the emblslesg.of the people in the embassy
were SoviéveteransAt the time, Yugoslavia was a kind of R&R (rest and recuperation)
post for the Moscow handi.had better wateit was more laid backlhe language was
easy learning if you already spoke Russhost people were coming out of thathink

that if anything brought that perspective, probably part of the reason we all enjoyed
Yugoslavia so much was partly knowing how different it was.

| was dating a guy who was at the time at our embassy in Poland, so | used to go up to
Poland every now andeh.He would come down to Yugoslavia and would rave about

all the things that were in the stores, how nice it was, how sunny iDi¥asurse,

Poland, this was in the Jaruzelski days of martial law and it was prett$ibaithrly, our
colleagues who werie Romania used to drive over, spend the weekend with one of us at
the embassy, and go to the market to buy things like potatoes and @uams.had an
incredible perspective that we were really lucky to be in Yugosl@hiags were so

much better therthan they were in neighboring states.

| met a young Swiss couple who were assigned to the Swiss Embassy in [Tnaba.
them in Titograd, now Podgorica, in Montenegro.

Q: Was it Titograd when you were there?

BOGUE:It was Titograd when | was theregwi reverted to its earlier namghey had
actually come up to Titograd for a nice weekend of restaurants and shdffgoad
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was pretty bleak in those daysnet them and we got to be friend$iey would come
and stay with me in Belgrad&gain, compaed to their lives in Tirana at the time, we
were living life at the palacdt was all a question of perspective.

|l didnot feel a big generation gap in the

Q:Sometimes in outl ook you f ed&hishgppansimr en 0t
someplacesTher eds no particular reason.

BOGUE:I had a wonderful boss, Dick Miles, and | did not feel at all that | was in this
situation.He had been in Yugoslavia befoke had been desk officer for Yugoslavia, a

real pro on Yugoslavidde worked hat on Yugoslavial di dnét f eel I i ke
were dissing our

Q: Again, as | mentioned before in the last session, did you get any feel for relations with
that hostile state in ZagrefQur Consul General there?ow were things at that time?

BOGUE:Things were a little pricklyl am proud to say that one of my achievements in
the Foreign Service is that | have always had very good personal relations with the other
posts, whether it was Karachi in Pakistan or Zagtdias always driven melitle

crazy, but so many people spent so much of their time focused on fighting with another
post, instead of getting the job dofiéere was a certain prickliness between Zagreb and
Belgradel had a great many friends there who | had met in our traamdghrough

other ways! quite enjoyed going up therkeenjoyed seeing Zagreb and talking to our
friends thereThere were a lot of disagreements above my head on repditiagis one

of the moments when it is great to be a junior officer becausargosort of aware but it
does not involve yourou can be happily oblivious and just make friends and enjoy what
is there.

Q: Who were some of the people you dealt with in Zagreb?

BOGUE:BIll Lawrence and his wife, Lee; he was the USIS (United Statesniation
Service) Chief at the timdim Swyheart was there; he was the Consul General while |
was thereBob Mustain was the Chief Consular OfficEagreb was pretty small in those
days.Leonardo Williams, he was a nice person.

Q: Leonardo and | were iAthens togetheie used to play war games.

BOGUE:!I got along fine
DCM (Deputy Chief of

Q: You left in 1987Where did yogo?
BOGUE:I| went to Vienna to the Conventional Arms Control Talks.

Q: You did that from when to when?
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BOGUE:From 1987 to 1990, for three very long years.
Q: How did that come about?

BOGUE:At the time, arms control was one of the Big Things, botiventional and

nuclear.lt was a really hot thingfhe Cold War was still going offthere was a chance to

do multilateral diplomacy that | thought might be terrilviterestingg Then frankl vy,
was a chance to live in Viennighad been there as a stutlérioved Viennal thought it

would be great to go back and trying my hand at multilateral diplomacy and do arms

control.1 did not enjoy the work at allt was great fun being in Vienn.was an

exciting time because it is when the Berlin Wall caroeml All that started to changé.

was very exciting to be in the area when all that happd&hed.have to say the work just

left me completely cold.

Q: Before the Wall came down, | imagine things were chandfiiat were youwloing
and who were your [ssesAVas this part of the problem?

BOGUE:Vienna was one of these places with multiple Ambassad@bese was the
bilateral ambassador who was Ronald Lauder and then Henry Gruball wad hesee.
was the CSCE (Commission on Security and Cooperationropg), now the OSCE
(Organization for Security and @iperation in Europe) talk¥hey were going through
one of their regular processes, a thyear procesRyan Zimmerman was the
ambassador there.

Q:Heds an ol d |3weadaovishlhien wheheavasd junior officer.

BOGUE: It was just before he went back to Yugoslaviaabassaddahat he was at the
CSCE.There was the Mission to the UN (United Nations), the UNV Mission it was
called.Then there was the Conventional Arms Control Talitevelettergar was the
Head of the Arms Control Talks when | arriv&bb Blackwell left just a few weeks
after | arrived and then Steve Lettergar caiAfeer Steve Lettergar was Jim Woolsett,
who subsequently became head of the CIA (Central Intelligence ®genc

For me, it was really that | found the work stultifyifart of the problem that | had not

realized was that nobody on any side wanted this tr€atyhe negotiations were a kind

of elaborate kabuki theatérhe treaty did eventually go into fordayt only after the

coll apse of the Warsaw Pact, essentially whe

| just got very frustrated because | felt we were wasting a lot of tim&as my first
introduction to multilateral diplomacy. There were these endlessify sessions at

which everyone has to speak at length on every sulfjbets to be translated into six
languageskor me, it was not what | wanted to be doihgianted to be driving through
Bosnia.l wanted to be splashing through rivers in a jeepnitoring an election

somewherel did not want to be sitting in the Haupsburg, listening to endless speeches on
t he dangers of &
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Q: Did you find that you were an alpha and some of the people there were Ipetas?
other words, on your delegation, were thg@eople who were cottoned to this?

BOGUE:There were some people who cottoned tbatn remembering that arms

control was considered a really hot thitigattracted a lot of terrific people, some of
whom did not work well in the multilateral environnieThere were really three levels of
negotiationsThere was the NAT@Varsaw Pact (North Atlantic Treaty Organization)
negotiation.There was the intrAlATO negotiation, which was very difficulhe most
difficult of all was the inteilagency U.S. governemt negotiationGoing on at all of these
three levelsAt the NATO level, the American Delegation first of all was always way too
big. We would always arrive with 20 people and everyone else had two orTheee.

other thing was that sometimes Americagls that it was litigation, that somehow if you
scored a point or won the argument, you had wofact, within the context of NATO,
what you were trying to do was get the consensus that you have to Qettes mostly
done over lunchThere is cajolig and flattery involved, and horseding.To embarrass
someone at a NATO caucus meeting in front of their peers by scoring a point on them or
pointing out that they were factually wrong about something did not make them come
over to your side.

Q: Was itbecause we had too many lawyers?

BOGUE:We did have too many lawyefBhat may have been part offRart ofit was
sometimegpeople inthe backgroundSometimes people came out of more of that, more
of a political background where you are trying to troeithe opponent rather than get
everybody on boardt was not just us by any meafi$ie huge problem within the

NATO caucus was between Greece and Turkey, over how much of Turkey would be
included in the area that would count for their conventional weapo

Q: Were the Greeks trying to embarrass the Turks?

BOGUE:Yes, there was thathere was also the port in Turkéjhere was a great

debate about how much of Turkey would be in the &ean Atlantic to the Urals had to

be definedT h e S o v i @terestwas getting things like Incirlik Airbase included.
We understood thathis was a Cold War thing.

Q: On the western flank of Turkey, on the Mediterranean?

BOGUE:Right. The Greeks wanted to make sure that the Turkish port that was used for
the nvasion of Cyprus was included so that the Turks would have to report any troop
movements or anything with conventional forces in that area.

Q: The Turks had already invaded; were sitting very solidly on Cyprus at this point.

BOGUE:Yes.
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Q: They came i1974.

BOGUE:RIight; this is years latedust looking at that map back there, there was a huge
debate within the NATO caucus over how much of Turkey would be included.

There was also an egoing struggle within the NATO caucus between the French and
theGermans over who was really in charge on the European side with the Germans
arguing that since the French did not participate in the military aspect of NATO, they
would have very little to say about thishe French arguing that because they were the
Frerch, they had everything to say aboutib. there were a lot of difficulties there.

The most fascinating thing for me about this was that in the course of the negotiation

while | was there, essentially the Warsaw Pact collajsedor instance, the Czec

delegation went from being Communist Party officials to being a guy who had been in

the Foreign Ministry for many years but had then been involved in the 1968 events, the
Prague Springde had been thrown out and had been working as a bus driver irePragu

ever sinceHe showed up as the new representattweas absolutely fascinatingle was

very wonderful and very funnyn fact, we were organizing an annual picnic in the

mountains for all the delegations and their familiés.raised his hand andsaid il woul d
be happy to drive the bus. 0

You had this where the new Foreign Minister of Czechoslovakia had been working as a
furnace boiler man because he also had been bounced out of his job for being a dissident.
Things like thatThat was absolutely fagating, all these changegou saw Trabants on

the streets of Vienna.

Q:Trabants being &

BOGUE:The East German cailsclemember turning on the radio one mornihgey had

the news and the weather, then the traffic refdne. traffic reporter actuallgtarted by

saying that since cars from the Eastern Bloc were now able to drive freely in Austria and
so on, would people please be careful because all the Mercedes and BMWs were just
running over these little Trabis and other Eastern Eurepeaie carsThey pleaded with
drivers to be alert and slow down, be cautious about the Eastern European cars.

We started seeing tourists from Eastern Europe showing up in ViEinatwas just
tremendously exciting?eople felt very stronglyVe kept doing these nonsscal set
pieces, kabuki theater pieces, at our meetiAgthe same time, | think everyone felt that
Europe was really on the edge of the something.

Q:Di dndét the Czech and Polish delegations in
ofallthiss t ulftf . wasndédt so much switching sides as

BOGUE:Right. In fact, the troop withdrawals that the treaties had been aimed at were in

fact being accomplished by dint of the change of governmidots.that the new Czech
government was not going to keep Soviet troops in Czechoslovatesestingly, and it
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really was a danger in a way, that an agreement in a sense might codify permission for
Soviet troops to be there when the governments no longer were going to happdh there.
di dndét wor kiwauld havetloked to haveabgen a mouse in the corner at the
Warsaw Pact caucus meetings after these changes started to happen, and all these new
people started showing up, with the first being the Czechs.

Q:Let 0s Ioa &gain thahsemefof the Wall came doWhat were you doing, you
yourself?

BOGUE:I worked on the NATO sidéVe had people who did the Warsaw Pact side

political reporting and we had people who did the NATO 3ide.always had a Russian

speaker who dithe Warsaw Pact sideedid the NATO side of that job.covered the

NATO conferencesThere was a lot of papéNe were preparing talking points, position

papers, interventions as they called the speeches, doing all that kind of thalged |

wasa real field person and | liked being ouliked being out having tea with people at

themarkett di dnét | i ke rushing around saying, AH
a helicopterDo you want to take a look at it?just did not appeal to meg all. | was

very ready to movd.loved Vienna, but | was very pleased to go.

Q: As my career developed, | found they kept telling me as a political officer you would
do this and thatl liked being a consular officet.found that writing analyses hat
appeal for me whatsoever.

Did you get any feeling watching the Gorbachev phenomenon in the Soviet Union that
things were really happeningrhis was before the Wall came tumbling doWiass that
so much above your pay grade that it wasnot

BOGUE: It was way above my pay gradevatched it with interestAnd being in Europe
was a lot of fun because you are right there, as it is happémergember, for instance,
the Unhited Statestill owned its old consulate building in Bratislava from thgsiwhen
ClaibornePell was a viceeonsul there.

Q: I interviewed him laterHe was very proud of that fa¢de always had a warm spot
for Slovakians because of this.

BOGUE:We had this beautiful little flatiron building right downtowhis only 60
kilometers from Viennalhe Czech government was always trying to get it back from us.
We had to show continual useo one of the things they did was set up a bunch of little
TDY (temporary duty) apartments and keep the key in the embassy in V¥énnaoul

go up and stay for free for the weekexdu could drive up, take the key and stay for
free.That way, we could show that our people were usinthis was kind of a fun thing

to do.

| remember the first time | did it, having to go and get the vis&svieeadvanceThere

was a twehour wait at the border while the car was searched and everything was
stampedT wo mont hs | ater, | dondt get a visa, I
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through, and | am therdust seeing those changes happen beforegy@srwas an

incredible thing and a very exciting thitf§ge ei ng al so t he Austrians w
that outward | ooking for the most part, at C
overthrown in Romanialhere was some very bloody fighting in the streEte

Austrian Red Cross set up mobile blood banks in Viefihay would then take the blood

to Romanian hospitaldust to see over Christmas weekend the lines of Austrians lined up

to donate blood for people in Romanide kind of excitement that Europes at last

breaking out of a situation that had been, in a sense, fixed since 1945.

Q: In the fall of 1989, were there increasing numbers of people going to the German
Embassy in Prague®/ere other things happening¥as there a sort of sense that
someting was going to break?

BOGUE:We were all completely glued to the radiolo speak German, but it is not

perfect.| remember the radio alarm would come on in the morning and | would listen to

the news and say t o mys el fhoughtbegcauseéthimhan must
they just said that people have torn down the Berlin Wali.hat cannThén be true.
going to the office, switching on the television and seeing in fact that people had punched

through with sledgehammeiswas sort of like, a fewears later, when | would wake up

and the radio would say, AToday, our forces,
somethi woudd think, Als this a Star ltTrek rer
was just so bizarre, but so exciting at thme time.

| went for a walk in Vienna and seeing a family, you could tell they were from Eastern

Europe because of their clothinrigh ey ar e standing in front of
The kids obviouslyveredyingtogoinYou know t hey omeyptoaford have t he
it. | actually went up to them and spoke to them in German, which the father $heke.

were from Czechoslovakilhey had come to show the chil dr e
have any money to eat thefldey had brought some sandwiches framk.| tried to

give them some change so thEhewnwiwadulednatout ak
They said no, they wouldndot take any money.

It was incredibly exciting, but it was also this realization of what a gap there was between
the haves andé havenots.

Q: How about the sessions after the Wallcameddwn?d anyone say, HAWhat
doing?o0

BOGUE:No.I am sure that in private, eilneryone wa
public, it was droning on, these endless interventiowss so diwen mad that | was

listening every day in a different languageould listen in Italian this day, and Spanish

that day.Things like that because it was just the same tiMiog. got it all handed out

anywayYou di dndét have t oronhedyoultwadjysttheesame,had it a
droning onl think we just kept going through the dance even though the world was

changing all around us.
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Q:Were you able to say, ALet me out of this I

BOGUE:I decided no more multilateral diplomad/.so, | decided no more European

posts for a while; go somewhere nédwuas chosen for a position in our embassy in

Pakistan!l was wildly excited about ifTypical of the group of diplomats who make

European multil aterall ddmdadjustile mdridarsjbut | i f e d s
Europeans as wéllwhen | told people where | was going next, they all said in all
seriousness, nADi d Bidyou offend peaplematthéStateg wr ong ?
Department? s t hat why t hey ar @fcaorsenléeitlikggthaggou t o Pa
won the lottery, because it just seemed so wildly exotic to me.

Q: There are often beta people in the diplomatic business | thinkd on 6t know what
want to call it, but the one group being able to go fromiB&o Warsaw to ¥énna and
Paris and London, is the be all and end all.

BOGUE:Well | remember actually being in Athens years later for a NATO ministerial,

and a party, who shall remain unnamed, said his foreign posts had included Ottawa,

London and Rome, looked arounddat hens and said, fAGod, Il coul
t hird wor Ofdourse, thkose of us who hadl been in Pakistan and other places,

Athens on any terms | think is gorgeoukve Greece and Athenkhad just come back

from Pakistan and | thougtitiooked pretty swellAfter Vienna, | had vacationed in

Western Europe since then very happilgnly served in hardship posts and had served

in the Third World since thefin my Foreign Service career, | decided | did not want to

be doing diplomatic wi in the developed world any molet wasnét my cup of

Q: When we pick this up the next time, did you take language before you went to
Pakistan?

BOGUE: Unfortunately not.
Q1 611 pi ¢k Yoo arsoff topakistawvelwdl pick it up tlere.
(Note:Conversation ends at Counter 80 and restarts at 88)

BOGUE:é Af ghan iwsassuesart of what we <clall ed @ Em]
was a closed mission in Kabul by that time and a number of those positions had gone to

the embassy in Pakast and its consulate in Peshawawvas the Afghan watcher, you

would call it, in the embassy in Pakist&neally was not so concerned about Pakistan per

se as | was about the Afghan issuegias just at the time of the ®@lled Negative

Symmetry Agrement, by which both therlited Statesind the Soviet Union agreed to

stop supplying their proxies in Afghanistan, in order to bring the war there to a

conclusionSo that was really my focuklived in Pakistan, but worked on Afghan

issues.

Q:L et &sabout Afghanistarin 1990, what was the situation in Afghanistan?
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BOGUE:You still had Najib, by then styled himself Najibullah, Najib of God, in power

t o ever y o nrkey thoughiuthe minutesthee Soviet troops pulled out that Najib
would fall. He was still in powerThe Mujahedeen groups were still fighting the
government at this point, rather than the Soviet Army, and jockeying with each other for
power and position in what all assumed would be some sort of succession to the Najib
government asome pointThere were still, if | remember the figures right, some two
million Afghan refugees or so in Pakistaany of the Mujahedeen groups had offices

and in any case, their leadership actually lived in Pakistan at thafTiaewas still the

big staging area for them.

| never set foot inside AfghanistaWe wer endét al | owl@idnotgo go at t
into Afghanistan in the course of my touspent a lot of time in what is now becoming

more familiar to Americans, the Tribal Areas of Pakistthat is the Northwest Frontier

Province, als@®aluchistanpwhich is where the Afghan refugee camps and the

Mujahedeen headquarters were.

Q: What was your Embassy in Exiléfhat was the constituency?

BOGUE:We were completely integrated into the endyas Pakistanl reported to the
Political Section chief, the counselor there, and through him to the DCM and the
AmbassadoiWe were not a separate missidhere was a separate envoy to the
MujahedeenThere was the U.S. Envoy to the Afghan Mujahedera,of the
Ambassadoeat-Large or Special Envoy situatiortde was based in Washington and he
would come out periodically on visits to Pakisthassisted him and traveled with him
when he came out.

Q: Who was that?
BOGUE: It was Ambassador Peter Thoropswvhen | was there.

On a dayto-day basis, my reporting and my operational work went all through the
embassy.

Q: Who was the ambassador?

BOGUE:My first year there it was Robert Oakldyt was t he | ast year of
ambassadorshifhen Nicholaslatt camel was there for the first year of Ambassador
Pl att s ambassadorship.

Q: What was your impression of how we were viewing Afghanistan at thatBiebhe@en
your group and the regular embassy in Pakistan, was there any particular division there,
on outlook, or something like that?

BOGUE:I woul dndét s ay Theoe wasuoccalsmad ¢xteiihb e t i me .

Mujahedeen were still seén used to laugh, they practically had an acronym and were
called The Fiercely Independent Afghan Mujahed¥¢e.alled them the FIAM because
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that is how it always appeared in the pr@$ey were still seen in this kind of heroic

light, in many cases, quite justifiablywould go see them and they would be barefoot in
their office.They had taken on the Soviet naliy machine and they were seen in that

way. Certainly Najib, the government still going on in Afghanistan, were still very much
perceived as a puppet government of the Soviet Union and as a very severe abuser of
human rights, and a very corrupt and evgmmentAt the same time, | have always
thought it was vastly more complicated than thide Mujahedeen, despite their valor

and heroism in standing up to the Soviets and their undoubted toudghingsst all, a lot

in Afghanistan has to do with tribpolitics, regional politics, a revolt against control by

the centerln the case of some Mujahedeen groups, there was huge resistance to things to
things that the Najib government had put in, like mandatory elementary schooling for
girls. It is a rathefunny situation for Americans to be in, when you are supporting the
groups who opposing education for giflst wasnodét seenltwahiseemugh t hat
as everything was in those days, in a Cold War pridmase are the guys who are

resisting the Soet invasionThey are resisting Soviet occupatidiey are resisting the
puppet government that has been creatbdrefore, we are on their sideis part of our

whole Cold War with the Soviet Union.

| must say that some of the Mujahedeen were jusedibly impressive charactets.

would have to just add to that | probably never met the most impressive of them because
| think they were in Afghanistan, not sitting in Pakist8ome of them were venal and
corrupt and egotisticallhey were peoplérou could not really define them with an

acronym or a simple phrase, as people and the press tried to do at the time.

Q: Did you get any impression of the CIA operation théneas wondering whether

there was what you were reporting on and whatthe CIAwaggd t 6 s no secret t
were supplying weapons and all thiatvas wondering whether there was a feeling that

they were much more operational and not necessarily paying much attention to the

future.

BOGUE:No one saw the future in Afghanistan theywitaturned outl will come back

to that point in a minuté.would say that certainly you are right; it is no secret that the
CIA was payingequipping, fundingand so on, the Mujahededy the time | came on

the scene, as | mentioned this Negative @wtny Agreement had been madibe Soviet
forces had departed in fadthe idea was that tHénited Statesvould stand down on its
claim and equipping at the same tirffibat was part of the deahterestingly, while |

was there, we spent some time coopegawith the Soviets-or instance, the Soviet
Ambassador once gave us a list of their missing soldiers in Afghanistan and asked if we
could use our contacts with the Mujahedeen to try to find out the fate of some of them.

In fact, we did find out the ta of some of thenThe only ones that the Mujahedeen

would talk to me about were those soldiers who were in fact Muslim, at least nominally,
to begin with, say from Central Asian republitbey said they had been captured, had
voluntarily taken up the cse.How voluntary it was is not for me to s&§ome had

married an Afghan woman, settled there and had no desire to go back, in which case we
asked that the Red Cross be able to see them and ascertain that was so.
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So we were at kind of a different phashis was at the very tail end of things when |
was there.

| think that there were certainly some thought, | guess voiced at the time above my pay
grade, that the CIA, some of the groups that they likpdrhaps liked because they were
more operationalral successful in Afghanistanwere the ones that thénited Statesn

the whole might be less comfortable with because of their radicaligain, this was

going on well above my head.

Q: What was your slice of the pie?

BOGUE: My slice of the pie was tdo three things reallyYOne was to be working on
what Pakistan was doing vésvis Afghanistan and to make our representations to the
Pakistani Foreign Ministry about Afghanista#nsecond was to workith the
Mujahedeen leaders in country, in Pakistdiost of them had offices in Islamabahd
then to support the work of the Special Envoy.

But let me just make two other points about the futOree was, of course, there was
already a lot of concern in the U.S. government about the stifgerstingersvere a
shouldeffired, manheld weapon that can be easily carried and fired by one or, at most,
two peopleThey are essentially a hesgeking missile fire by a shouldfred device.

They were inordinately successful in Afghanistan at bringing dowreSbelicopters

and other aircraffPeople, who understand these things far better than | do, argued that
the stingers were really one of the things that ekthke Mujahedeen to be effective
against the Soviets because they could bring down airtredt).S. government was
supplying stingers to the Afghan Mujahedeeneryone had seen the photographs of
these fellows out in their turbans, in the desert, with this thing that looks like a large
bazooka, resting on their should&€hey were tracking and tailg down aircraft.

The fact was that once the war was over, what was going to happen to those slingers?
old saying about South Asia is that the bazaar is always ®pere are deals to be made.
Obviously, there was concern that these might fall inéovtrong hands.

The thing that I think none of us saw coming wake Unhited Statesf course had a lot

of other programs in addition to arming and supporting the Mujahedézhad health

programs, education programs, programs for woénhad all sod of programs going

on in the refugee campdle certainly spent as much as could be done in a very limited

way in Afghanistanagricultural programs, canal cleaning programs, mining programs,

all these kinds of thinggvh at | donét t hitworcetherSgvettteeats aw wa s
was over, and in fact Soviet Union proceeded to break up, that U.S. assistance to

Afghanistan would dry up so fast and so thorougllg di dndét stay in for t
reconstruction phasédo remember a long telegram that Ambassaddt sdat back to

the department at one point, essentially arguing that we needed to maintain our

commitment to Afghanistan through the reconstruction probess.was the wrong time

to walk awayAll those refugees had to return horilbe place was in shands, and so
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onl f we didnodét, there would not only be a I|o
poppy production; all the kind of things that have since come to Ipgsk part of it

wasa recognition in the case of the warlords, having gaimagense power locally, why

would they let that goWhy would they submit or agree to being governed by a central

gover nment t haAlotofthewarlods wiere @lassid youkgersons or

distant cousins who were not going to ascend power thrthegtraditional tribal

networks.

Q: How did you see the Pakistani government as it worked with the Afghan leaders, this
being part of your pieThere have been many stories about how the Pakistan intelligence
service sort of got in bed with the radidduslims and this is one of the big problems that
we are faced with todat that time, how did you see it?

BOGUE:I think at that time there were already, the divisions in the Government of

Pakistan were very cledvlaybe | was hoodwinked, but my impresswas that the

Foreign Ministry in Pakistan, while certainly maintaining a very strong,-tong
Aintéamdtld am putting quotes that you canodt
interesti in the sense that Pakistan had always tried to manipulagstto its own

advantagel think in the case of thmter-Serviceslintelligence group, called ISl in

Pakistan, the feeling was quite stromgthe U.S. government, that they were the conduit
essentially for things that flowed to the Mujahedé&érey defnitely had groups they

favored and presumably, they favored groups they felt they could control and manipulate

in the interest of Pakistan.

Q: As you were dealing with this, was somebody in your office sort of keeping a book on
these various groups in tiMujahedeen, noting these problenW@re we particularly
worried about radicalism or was this not much of a factor?

BOGUE:There were a couple of groups we were very worried abaguld say the

group that worried us the most was Gulbadin Hekmatyar,wéawin a way of the seven

or so main Mujahedeen groups we were working Withere was kind of a seven party
alliancei was by far the most radicalVe perceived him as the one with the most
potential to be trying to put himself in sole power and wouwldbe willing to create any
kind of power sharing situatioithere was a very strong perception that the government
of Pakistan favored hinThey felt, rightly or wrongly, that he was in their contrhd

there were very strong perceptions in parts ofil® government that the CIA favored
himaswellT hat i s n élékmatyarunsomuach ag he is a continuing player in
Afghanistan, is one of the moatriolic ant-rAmericars.

Q: At the time, to put this in perspective, was there concern about Adtdraand we
just didndt want t oDidswe leaveanysdncem abgput whatdhsst y | e a d
might mean for the region or not?

BOGUE:We wanted the Communists out and we wanted Afghanistan to be stable in the

region.l think that was the big goaboal number one was accomplisht
Communistswereoul. he Sovi et Union | eft and Naji bds
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halforsolaterSt abi |l ity di dn&t abappeéern, doldwnidobuslappen

of reasons, many of them related to tHeghting with one anotheStability, in my own

view, didndét happen because we and ot her Wes
do was doneAlso, as always happens in these times, there are always many more

demands on funds than there are fuhdsn sure that today, now that so much of our

resources are directed toward Irag, someone somewhere in the world is jumping up and

down sayi ng, ThisBugbing tolwane backtahtudt us because we are no

| onger s upByrecenough,negeyaXr.so f rom now, we are going

didndot do this because all the money going t

In fact, | have been editing the transcripts you gave me and one of the hard lessons |
would guess of your job Stu is seeing how often we make the sana&esisbver and
over.

Q: How would you feel you were supportdd? d ondt want to get into r
operations, which is off limit#\s you were working with the Mujahedeen, did you feel

that you were getting a pretty good picture of who these peopleawdnehat they were

up to?From either the CIA or military intelligence or the Pakistan@®fwas there a lot

of information about these people?

BOGUE:There was more operational information than | would have gudssedbout
things that had been cadieut in Afghanistan, keeping in mind this was the tail end of
things, not the height of the dranTdere was a fair amount of briefing on what was
perceivedRemember that we were not in Afghanistan, so all our information was
coming filtered through thBlujahedeen themselves or through the Pakistaveshad

this onei' | have to use the word heroic for hinwe had a heroic FSN (Foreign Service
National) at our embassy in Kabul who kept the building gditegwould come out by
truck and car and foot andute, whatever he haéile would come out every few months
to Islamabad so we could give him some money to keep paying the bills and to keep
paying him, and so oide would always sit down with me and give me his perspective
on what was happening in Kabuhklso quizzed anyone and everyone who had been to
Kabul as journalistsThere were people, NGOs (ngovernmental organizations) who
then were starting to work, like the Halo Trust, the landmine NBOpeople who

would go in.I would quiz to try to get aswuch firsthand accounting of Afghanistan.
People going with UNICEF and the Red Cross and thellikeuld work on theml
should go back and say that the gentl eman in

Q: Is he still alive?

BOGUE:He is and he won a hugevard after we reopenelde was brought back here.
Q: I'would like to see if we could get somebody to do an oral history with him.
BOGUE:Yes.He is an absolutely delightful, charming géy.tremendous risk to

himself, he kept our property togeth@rhen folks went back in to open up the mission
again, they tell this great story about this whole row of Volkswagen Golfs or Volkswagen
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Jettas, now almost antiques in the Volkswagen waiey were all lined up and when

you turned the key, they all starteeldause he kept the batteries charggmmaintained

the vehicles, the building-here was some damage to the building, through no fault of his
but through the fighting that had gone on in Kabld.really kept things togethdfe was
also a source.

Otherpeople had embassies theFbe Pakistanis had an embassy thétaer countries
had embassies theldried to meet with their folks when they would come in.

Q: You were there from when to when, by the way?
BOGUE:From 1990 to 1992.

Q: In dealing withthe Mujahedeen, how were you received as one, the American
representative, and two, as a woman?

BOGUE:First of all, things were completely intertwinddhink | would have been not
nearly as well received had | not been an American representative.

First of all, my way had been paved by many women who had gone with Doctors
Without Borders, the Red Cross, and other NGOs, into Afghanistanestingly to me,
when Afghans in refugee camps first saw me, they all assumed | was a doctor because
that is whata Western woman would be doing in the refugee camps typically in their
minds.

Also, there had been women there as journalists and Spdrwas not, by any means,
the first.

Second, | was from the American Embassy and we had things they needezmier

the old song, @ Send Theaetore & wosld hawe beesaganstd money ?
their own interests to be inhospitabfother thing is Afghans are tremendously

hospitableThey do live by a code of hospitalitfhey knew Western women were

playingunder a different set of rules than Afghan wormdanded to emphasize that.

wore very modest dr es slnevérwdnttdareduged nampinave ar | o
shalwar kameez; | went in a blue blazer and a long &kidrything was all coveretut

| was definitely in Western garb to emphasize the fact that | was playing by the Western

set of rules.

There was only one of the seven Mujahedeen leaders who would not receive me, Abu
Sayoff as he was called, or usually just Sayidé.was one of theost radical of the
group.The others all received me very graciously.

In fact, | never met Hekmatyar in person, but | met his representative frequUétlijrst

ti me | met hi m, I r e me m®¥odhis gy B gyoing tg betvaay my s el f ,
conservatvel need to see if he is going to be wil
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He greeted me in wonderful, colloquial American English, which he learned from a
Peace Corps teacher in his villagie went on to tell me all about her and that he still
receved Christmas cards from her, a woman living in Ohio, and how he was very
attached to America, even though the ideology of Hekmatyar was very Islamist.

It was not an issue for me | felt in the job since the Afghans had a very nice way of,
rather than refsing to shake your hand, they would simply put their hand on their heart
as a way of greeting you, which | found to be a lovely custbima nice gesturén the

germr i ch environment that is South Asia, and
cleanlines because everyone was sick all the time, actually shaking hands with anyone,
including a fellow American, is not a good id&&aey would just put their hand on their
heart and make a little bowhe Afghans were immensely cordiahever had an issue

with an Afghan | worked with saying or doing anything inappropriatéact, they

tended to be extremely correct in their relationships with woiéth. me, they were
gracious and hospitable, but they never made an untoward réfhagks in stak

contrasto say, walking through a market in Pakistan, where you would be sometimes
grabbed.

Q:You were of an age where you had been br ouc¢
flowerOn t he spectrum, how did yadamtHinkinglin i n t he
terms of your observations, particularly of a society which is not very benevolent towards

women.

BOGUE:There were plenty of times, and | am going to say this more about Pakistan
because that is the society | was living in, in a sense, socially, thaamdtgm.The
Afghans | saw were not at home, they were in camvpgh is a far different situation
than when they were at home.

In Pakistan, it was maddening a lot of the tiffleey were, at the time, the only country
in Asia where the birth rate wasinig and the literacy rate was droppifigne indicators
were all going the wrong waffemale children, except among the welldo classes,
were far less likely to get health care or any kind of education than male children.
Women had to be completely cogdrand escorted when they went out of the house in
many places, not in all parts of Pakistan.

| was a real oddity socially there because | was a single woman clearly of an age to be

married.l di d n 6 Had bbedn Pakistdni, Itwould have been medrto my cousin

years beforeln fact, | remember a Pakistani | met saying to me, in a very kind way,

AHow many chil diIr emnaidd, ymlu danieiohamna any ¢ hi
marr Hedsai d, A Oh, ylamsobkoaryteeresmo one foryoa ton s ?

ma r rltys.a very different set of social expectations there that everyone got married at

a very young age and typically to a relative, a cousin or a second cbiusimarriages

were typically arranged by the pareniihis was sucla different social experience that |

found it sometimes very frustratingfound it frustrating when some of the problems for

women were the result of deliberate government polibgt | found very frustrating.
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In terms of being able to do my work, Itféhat | was able to do my work and that | was
completely supported by the embasBlye Deputy Chief of Mission was a woman.

Q: Who was that?

BOGUE:Beth JonesShe ended up being a festiar career ambassador, a very senior

American diplomatShe wasttie Deputy Chief of MissionThere were other women in

very significant roles within the missioh. di dndét feel at all as tho
sayi ng, AWell, you cannotYoduo ctahnabtt bdeoc at uhsies ybo
youareawomar¥ ou c amatt pecduse yTlherewas mneafthatatman. o

all.

| did feel immense frustration about a situation for girls and women in Pakistan,
particularly those from the poorer clasddglt the same frustration for men in the poorer
classesChildren,especially boy children, were out working at very young ages and not
getting school eitheiYou would go to a bike shop and here were all the little boys
repairing the bikes and not in school.

My frustrations with the situation in Pakistan were not gesgecific.They were a little
more universallt was a feudal society.

Q: What was your impression of the rgovernmental organizations, the NG this
time, they had really come into full flower.

BOGUE: My contact with them was mostly in the wodtithe Afghan refugees and the
efforts to go in and clear landminésvas very impressed with the people who were
doing that, the people who worked with the refugeess very impressed with their
commitmentThey lived in a very tough environment inkan.They lived out in the
Northwest Frontier province or Baluchistanwhich was not easyslamabad was clean
and green and had a lot of amenities compared with the parts of Pakistan they were living
in. They were very, very committed peoplevasalso very impressed because great
numbers of the NGOs there were what would now be calledidagkd organizations,

like the Salvation ArmyYet, as far as | could tell, they carried out their good works
without being a religious missioiithey were ther#o feed the hungry and to clothe the
naked and heal the sick, but not to convert or proselytalso worked very closely with
people in the UN and all the UN agencies such as UNICEF, UNIFEM, all the alphabet
soup of UN agencie$also very much admirettheir commitment.

Q: Sometimes the UN is greatly criticized, but it is usually at the management level, the
top level At your level, these are dedicated, havdrking people.

BOGUE:Exactly. There were young Swedes, Turks, Malaysians, Paraguayans, and
people from all over the world, who were in their 20s and 30s, working on the ground in
a difficult and sometimes dangerous situatibimey were terrific, most of thenAgain, as

is so often the case in any big organization, whether it is the army cratiee S
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Department or the UN, what you see in the field and what you see at headquarters are
very different.

Q: How did the Gulf War intrude on your workfdw was it received?

BOGUE: It was interesting because this was one of those cases where offi@ally th
Government of Pakistan supported the coalition in the First Gulf War, and even sent
troops.The Mujahedeen even sent some trobfsink they were embedded with the
Pakistani forces or with s omeblbedpyblicel seds
respnse to the Gulf War was much different in Pakistdre public was oppose@here
were very inflammatory newspaper headl in
Destroyed, Pr ai s e TAésearity,situationifoa Westeroerst o f t
deteriorated &ry badly in Pakistarin fact, we evacuated the post.

| remained behind with a small group, but family members and most of the mission were
evacuated during the Gulf Warthink countrywide that about 100 of us remained with
maybe 65 or so in Islamabaahd the rest in our consulates in Peshawar, Lahore and
Karachi.

Q: Did you have to take special care to go into the souk?

BOGUE:Yes, there were whole areas that were off limits taAes had kind of self

imposed curfewd-or instance, Friday was a dggu did not want to be hanging about
when the mosques let oMtle sometimes would say that if you came toEh&assyon

Friday morning, which was a day off for us, but if you came to do some shopping to play
softball or catch up on work, then you neededttaly until the mosques had been let out
and the crowds had dispersed, usually nightfall.

We paired upFor instance, a colleague of mine moved into my house witlrimst .of

e
h

f

S
[

all, this reduced our footpri nime someohe al s o,

would know you were missiniVe took a number of different actionnsised to describe
it as a sort of glorified house arrest that we weré/d® did have to use ca®nce you
were on theembassyompound, you could roam arountdwas huge ath had swimming
pools, ball fields, weight rooms, a restaurant and things to do.

or

S
ng

't was sort of | i ke how plewapdsertofiasseftgprisbno | o k e

in that you were stuck there but it was very comfortae.did have some problam

with people having windows shot out of their hormegas not famous enough to attract

the kind of attention that some people would have attracted who were much more senior
and well known, who had their photos on television and in the papers.

We did hae to be carefulThere were a few scary episodéle colleague | was sharing

the house with and | were once on our way to work when we were chased by a couple of
young guys brandishing AK7s out of the windows of their carhey did not fire at us,

but they kind of chased us in their cahere was a bit of a nerweracking time from a
security point of view.
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Q: What was your impression of the Government of Pakistém&t elements were you
dealing with and what was your impression of how they dealttiiitiys?

BOGUE:| dealt mostly with the Foreign Ministrydid see occasionally people from
Pakistani intelligence, usually when the Special Envoy was there and | would traipse
along with him to his calld.think they thought, and you will recognize atpan here in
Pakistan even at this time, they could control all of tfies, there were groups who were
radical.Yes, there were groups who were this, but they could control them.

Also on the part of some of the groups themselves, they were cleaitygpttpymestic

politics without much understanding or concern of what that would mean for other

people.l remember, for instance, the fellow who was then the head of the very radical

Pakistani political parties used to give these lfireathing speeches alhddmerica.fiMay

America be burned completely to ashdsy no two bricks be left side by side in

Americao And then would calmly come in to see timabassadovi t h hi s sonbés pa
to ask theambassaddr o r enew t he sonds viastke si nce t he s
University of Houstonl remember Ambassador Oakley sort of saying with his Louisiana
drawl, ASo, when you said America would be D
around the University of Hous Hiemnmeaasmpus wher
Kazi Ahmed Husseiie sai d that of cour amgbashaddiadi dndot me
to understand this was the red meat to his political constitugheyambassadoand

rightly so, just laid into him that it was fine for him to think it wad j&xl meat for his

constituentsBut the fact is that when he said those things, people came and torched the
Embassykilled people, shot peopl&his was a very irresponsible thing to be doing.

Interestingly, | was once having a conversation with a Rakiabout this kind of thing.

He was talking about how people like Kazi Hussein were so honorable, they were the true

men of God, andsooh. s ai d, ABut Theysgnd their&idshoysghaokim i t e s .

t he Uni tka <aiad &hafigddttrue.That is just propaganda put outto

make him look badt is not true thahiss on goes t o s cTheykeptiti n t he S
very hidden that a huge number of these guys had green &drdge number of them

had kids in school in the Statd@$ey just kept that hidden from their constituents, so they

could pretend to be this kind of populist leaders in Pakistan.

Q: Were thereembassyattacks or high level visits, or anything like that when you were
there?

BOGUE:We did not have a Secretary$tiate or Presidential visit or anything like that
during the time | was ther@here were a lot of demonstrations in the area of the
Embassyor on the way to thEmbassyVery few of them made it to tHembassy
because we were in a diplomatic enclave, Witiould be closed offOccasionally, there
would be things like thaBome of them were about the Gulf War; others were about
other thingsThis was kind of a constant in Pakistani life.
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In fact, | remember when Nick Platientto present his credentialse was accidentally

teargassed by the polic&here was a demonstration at the presidential compound that

had nothing to do with us, but the police were-g@ssing the demonstrators, and-tear

gassed Ambassador Platt on the wég.was very good humoredbout it all.He said,

Altds been years since | was a juhior office
havenot ghesasmr dt ¢ ake todkat alyiregaod spiritd

| think again that the authorities thought, as they often seem to sxyesthat they can
control all of this, that they have got their fingers on the button soméflamwnot as
sanguine as they.

Q: How about Congressional or staff visits and that sort of thing?
BOGUE:We did have a lot of Congressional visits becaugheofAfghan presence, and
the concern about Pakistani nuclear capabiliyould say the visiting was more keyed

toward Afghan events such as the Charlie Wilson Brigade.

Q: There was the book calle@.h ar | i e WiHe was a @oagre¥gman from
California or Texas?

BOGUE:I think Texas.

We did have Congressmen come from time to tiiime Secretary of State had come out
at the time that General Zia was killed, and our Ambassador Arnold Raphel and General
Wassom from our embassy had been killétat hal been only a short time before me.

Q: You left in 1992 your opinion, whither Afghanistan, as the wheels went up on your
plane?

BOGUE:I think we all felt that Afghanistan was in for a period of struggle among the
Mujahedeen for controllhis was ofcourse before the Taliban appear upon the scene.
When Najib fell, the various Mujahedeen leaders were lined up practically outside of the
ambassadordés office, trying to be recogni zed
President of Afghanistaifhey werenot able to broker compromises with each other.
There was already a lot of fighting going on amongst and between different gbmeps.

of things | was sure we would see after the faMajib was a devolution of central

authority, more back into the regi. Ahmed Shaw Massoud was up in the nora.
controlled the Panjshir at that time and he would keep control of the @dhtbrs were
squabbling over Kabul, Kandahar, and other different aRaashi Duzdom had the

Uzbek area up on the border with Ceh&sia therelsmail Khan had Kharaf hey

would control their areas and scuffle then for who ran Kabul.

That was the fate of Afghanistan for some time until the Taliban rollétvias one of

the reasons that the Taliban were able to attract any kimabdic support, the constant
fighting.
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Q: I realize you were at a certain levélhis would be above your pay grade, but were
you and your fellow officers looking at Iran?

BOGUE:We realized actually that that was one of the gaping holes in our wartrsg

of AfghanistanWhereas | think something like three million refugees had gone to

Pakistan from Afghanistan, another million or million and a half or so had gone to Iran,

including many of the Shia population of Afghanistére had very little conta with

those folksThe best we could do was to draw secbadd accounts from UN people,

other diplomats from other countries, who did travel to Iran and talk to refugees and the

Iranians thereWe di dndét have any direct contact ours

The Iraniansvere presumed to be doing the same thing on their side of the border that
the Pakistanis were doing on their sifibat is, try to manipulate people and events to
their best interest§Ve had very little contact with that side oflitwas a big missing
piece.Every time we would write a cable saying what the refugees are going to do, we
would be very careful to say that we only knew through the UN what we think might
happen with refugees in Iran.

Q: After having settled everything in Afghanistan, whedeydu go?

BOGUE:| came back to what was then an even bigger mess, which was the Balkans.
left Pakistan to return to Washington in the summer of 1992 to become the desk officer
for theformerYugoslavia At that point, Croatia and Slovenia had alrehdyken off and

the war in Bosnia was well underway.

Q: In 1992, you have the Yugoslav desk essentiblty® long did you have it for?
BOGUE:I had it for less than a year, for reasons that will come to you, involving dissent.

When | say | had the Yugaal desk initially, despite the fact that all these things had
already happened, it was still really a gre¥son desk in the office, as it had beEmat
had not changed, even though there were multiple countries and emlzassiediassy
in Zagreb, an endssy inLjubljana There was a war in Bosnia.

| think there were two things about th@ne was something you remarked on earlier Stu
when we were chatting before we started today, which was the desire to not deal with this
problem.If you stack up for avar, you are some how dealing with the problétso, the
European Bureal again, this is my opinion of how this worked @éutad had a very

static situation since the end of the Second World Whad been very statidhere had

not been border chang@ere had not been wars and this kind of thifige bureau was

not used to reacting swiftly to changddne Middle East Bureau had a war before

breakfast every morninghey could turn on a dime and get people on the problém.

Eur opean Buowhawtodbihatn 6t kn

So when | took over the desk with the war going on in Bosnia with all these embassies
and all these things happening, it was apeaeson deskWVe had two people on the
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Portuguese desklo offense to our ally and friend Portugal, buiggemed to me, wrond.

very quickly realized | was completely overwhelm&btere was more than a person

could do, even if | worked all day and all night, every day and niigiould only fall

behind more slowly, rather than get ahead of thihg®nt tomy office director who first

of all said, dAltodés al wa®nyeperdorehamalways lzeenablep er s on
t o handl e Thete was a kirel bf oefugal tarecognize changed circumstances.
Then the conclusion of the European Bureau wasitivould be unfair to make

someone who thought they were going to work on Portugal, to make them work on
Bosnia.That just would not be fair to the persdin. needed extra help, | could go round

up any help | could round up on my owrtould have thia This was a very different
atmosphere that we have today on Iraq, for instance, where everybody is being thrown at
the problem.

So | did.l went and rounded up people who had been medivaced and who needed a three
month bridge between assignments, olelnids who were had an assignment cancelled

because a family member fell illrounded them up and put together a group of about six
people We named ourselves Thaigo-slawes, because they didnodt r
additional room, or stuff, or secretdrieelp, or anything likethatve used chi |l dr e
school desks in order to fit them all We had to sit sideways to the table, because our
knees would not f i titwasridilbuslustas you baid|tretJ&nb6s des
governmentand the St Department were just sort of wishing this problem away.

ea
noé

Q: In interviewing people, there was case of this in July 1&fdece and Turkey had
always been in the Middle East Buredihey were moved to the European Burdney
had a coup on Cyprus, omly 14, 1974The Greeks took overhen the Turks reacted
by sending troops in.may have been talking with Tdwoyatt The European Bureau all
of a sudden had never had NATO allies fighting each othieink the man who was
responsible for this was kimg for help and went to the head of European Affiairs
believe it was RoBeitzat the timeHe said the look he got from colleagues was as
though he had shat on marble floof$is was not supposed to happen in Europe.

BOGUE:That is exactly the redon Ilwas givenFi r st it was, well why ¢
it? It has always been one personbefodrdoen it was, you canod6t ask
Portugal, you candét ask people who might hayv

A

to stay late or worktobard.l t 6s a very different European B
they have been through this experiertethe time, theYugo-slaves and some people |

got into the office but we didndét even have
dragging their beloriggs to wherever was sick that d&ar instance, the Albanian desk
of ficer is out sick or at his daughterdés gr a

It was just a nightmare from a management point of view as well.
Q: Who was principal head ofutopean Affairs at the time?
BOGUE: Initially it was Tom Niles, an old Yugoslav hand himself.

Q: 1 was Tombés first boss in the Consul ar Sec!H
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BOGUE:He certainly knew the place and the people Wéiht was at the end of the
George H.W. Bsh AdministrationWhen President Clinton came in it was a political
appointee named Steve Oxman, who did not last all that long on the job.

Again, the front of f i dmefébadadenapalityi on was al l
determination made by Baker anddeége Bush, Sr., that this was a European problem,

t he Europeans had come to uWeenlhndethisd, 0 We a
kind of Wer cshali edrha ifidH i@h eida wr se, they didndt an
for a lot of reasons, structuratdotherwise.

We were holding very firm to the idea that this was not our issue.

Q: Could you describe, and it can be fairly detailed because | think people want to
understand what had just happened at the time you took over.

BOGUE:I took over; | am gmg to say, on August 239921 took over on the same day

James Baker |l eft being Secretary of State to
against ClintonLarry Eagleburger became actiSgcretaryandthenthe first ever career

diplomat to be fulSecretary of Stat®bviously a man with immense knowledge of

Yugoslavia.

What was happening was, first of all in terms of the management, the former Yugoslavia

was in an office called the Office of Eastern Europe and YugosBwid.was in with
Poland,Czechoslovakia, Hungary, etc., the foviet Warsaw Pact countries and

Yugoslavia.lt was still in the old Cold War structure of the European Bur€he.person

who had been working on Yugoslavia had just resiginkdt was George Kennelle

hadresignee nd made a very interesting € | dondét |
interested in interviewing-e resigned in protedtle sent a letter of protest about Bosnia

and that we we r Hedafetwadlinvites hy soae Setb lgroupsgand

became the Bmmian equivalent of a Holocaust denide completely flipped sides and

has publisheél He doesndét get much dbnédah kodiwewbat f b
doing now, but he did publish some papers in which he denied massacres; he denied these

kinds of thihgs.

Q:l't sounds v e risshe daFbrign Sdradce brat®t i t ?

BOGUE:I donét kInhavemebhano twigeanaybehave no idea what is in his

mind.He had just resignedhere was no one on the debkaddition to the fighting in

Bosnia, his was just at the time when Roy Gutman, the journalist, of Newsday, had just

revealed the existence of the concentration camps in Bdgreavar was really in full

swing, but the revelation of the rapes, the holdihgmenincampsT he phot os we hac
seen since the Second World War of these living skeletons in these camps were all just

coming out.
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| will come back to the point, because Stu | think you hit it on the head so much about
how we were so much in a sense running away from these prolaehes. Time or

Newsweek, | dondt remember which, had a cove
these secalled rape camp3.hey showed a photo of a Bosnian Muslim woman who had

beenrapevicimShe i s bl ond and dr es slgamarnberone Eur opee
of the senior people i n t ISkelodksalmmgste an Bur eau

West éammd. d said in the SheigaBuropgan with@ BEuropgars We st ¢
education and a European outladEuropean travel, who is, through a quirk of

hi st ory, Theyrdalyhddinmmeirominds that Muslims were people who wore

burkas and turbans and lived in sandy deséhs.idea that this Muslim population was

in fact acompletely Europeanized population was so hard for people to undetstand.
remember t his g &y loska gimost yVestefin,MhavinG noddea that the

Muslims of Sarajevo were Western, just like the Muslims of Turkey were, at least in

Istanbul and the cities of western Turkey, which were quite westernized.

Q: It is 30 hard to explain to peopl&/hen you went to Albanidosovqg at that time,
there was an ethnic difference of some darBosnia though, you just have people being
different just like between Unitarians and Catholics.

BOGUE:One of the reasons | amkadg about this so much is because | am trying to
sort of show a little background for the dissent that | was involved Wik is to come.

Q: Refresh medad you served in Yugoslavia before?
BOGUE:I had been in Belgrade for two years and | had cavBiesnia during that time.
Q: You were bringing all this to the table.

BOGUE:That is why they wanted me for the jdthad the backgroundt was that
background that made me the right candidate for thdtjalas that background that
made me want toadthe job.

Q: You were replacing George Kenney?

BOGUE:I actually replaced a guy name Richard John&wmurge had been doing the
day-to-day work.Having said that it was a ofperson desk, they had had two people on
it. I am not sure where they had gott8eorge from, whether he had been brought in
temporarily, or how that worked.

My chain of command within EUR was fed up with the Yugoslav probléns was the

age of the exciting, dynamic new Europeland, the Wall had come down, all these

folks werecharging toward NATO and the European Union and full European

participation.This was supposed to be a glorious moment for Eufdpe skunk at the

garden party was Yugoslavighey really so badly did not want to deal withTihe

Europeans were clearlgifing. The United Statesli d n6t want any part of
number of reasons.
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They said it was al/l anci eThese dreaBalkae gesplewe canao
eeprimitive,; we c¢anWetwil geomiredrdgwn ke weglidmb out i t .
Vietnam.There is no exit strategye can 6t do aThiyi$ahEurapganabout i t .
problem and the Europeans really need to handleltissnot our problemlt does not

touch our interests in any wafnd so on and so on.

Q: How about Somalia?
BOGUE: Somalia came latef.he disaster in Somalia is still down the road.

There was a huge view that we should not be really engaged except in a humanitarian

way.We were going to provide aircraft for the UN to fly food and medicine into

SarajevoWe were ging to drop food and medicine in the countrysiie were going to

try to feed people, but we weE€ertainlybwewggei ng t o
not going to put on a military effort of any kind.

Q: Was Croatia a separate countrifad we opeed our embassy there?
BOGUE:Yes.

Q: I have been interviewing Ron Knightskie was Consul General, then Chargé and

talks about his problems of getting thingam not sure if it was from yo&omebody

said, AQuick, send U\MearamettingsoGany Sethiamn atr oci t i
atrocities that we arTeepointwas, htginktherewasd ance t he
study done later that it was ten to ofiéde Serbs were really being beastly.

BOGUE:I spent a lot of time apologizing to Ron and othersalbise the demands as you

know when you are in Washington; most of the
They come from the seventh floor, the senior leadership, your own front dffieg.

come from Congress, the press, and all these various fiateis. case, particularly at

the very beginning when | was alone, we could pay very little attention to our missions.

We had an embassy by then in SloveWa. had one in Croati&/e had one in Belgrade.

We were not staffed to look after them very wellq @ery sorry to say?oor Ron, | felt

his pain.We could not do that kind of research in a timely way for him, because we just

did not have the horses to do it at the time.

We did then get staffed up with our motley crewrafjo-slawes, as we called ourkees.
Eventually, some additional positions were created to bring in pedftén, typically,
initially not made permanent; made a grear position, because all this will have blown
over in a yearThen we can go back to just a desk officer handlinthedlagain.

| kept arguing at the time on a management basis that even if the war ends tomorrow, you

are going to have multiple countries and multiple embassies, where there had been only
one beforeSo in fact, you are going to have to have a Croatik ofi€er, a Slovenia
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desk officer, a this desk officer, that desk offiders never going to go back to the
previous situationlt is too late for that now.

In any event, this was the period of the great revelation of the atroltitiess also the

period of the encirclement, the sieges and the shelling of the cities of BBaragevo

and the other cities that were essentially encircled by Seatidlery. The citizens in

there, of all ethnicities, whoever was there, were essentially trappease¢hiesThe

UN convoys could only come and go with the permission of Bosnian Serb commanders.
We had airlifts into Sarajev@hey were just pounded with artillery and with sniper fire.
think that people know that about SarajetVbey know about thengpers.They know

about the sealled Sarajevo roses, the bloody pavement where snipers had taken victims.
They know about the shelling.

What is less known was there were at the time, five or six other cities or towns that were
enduringthe same sortafie i r cl ement , t h atPeople ldhewdabouth av e
Sarajevo because of the Olympiltshad a functioning newspapéirhad journalists who

were working therdt had things people could recogniZde journalists all stayed at a
Holiday Inn hoté It had things that people could relate to beffhere were these other
towns.Also, it had vowels in its name@laces like Brcko, no one could begin to

pronounce or spelBo the scene | would set is that all of this was happening.

| came on in laté&ugust.In November, we had a presidential electiGhnton was

elected Presidenitle had promised in his campaign that the first issue he was going to
work on was Bosnidde had been merciless with George H.W. Bush about failure to
address the problem the Balkansin fact, when Clinton was inaugurated, NSDD 1 (the
National Security Decision Directive) was going to be on the Balkapent that
Inauguration Day in my officd.was there late enough to see the inaugural fireworks that
night. | was siting in my office writing the paper for thigve had very high hopes that

U.S. policy would change.

| want to just add one other thing that was happening at the sam@ hiatas, the
Holocaust Museum was being finished on the Midle Holocaust Museumasg in the
process of inviting a lot of Eastern European folk to the grand opening including, you
will recall the controversy about whether Tudjman should be invited.

Q: Croatian President Tudjman was not very sympathetic towards other githgosk
God that he and his wife were not Jewish.

BOGUE: So our office writ large, not just théugo-slawes, but the people working on
Poland, Czechoslovakia, Bulgaria, and so on, were all working with the Holocaust
Museum.The officials and curators at the Holocausiddum said to us one day to thank
us for all the work we were doing with them, and because of what was happening in
Bosnia, would we like a special tour of the museum on a weekend before it opened.
We could come and bring our spouses or significant oirethildren who were old
enough.They would give us a tour before it opened up.
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So we wentlf you have been to the Holocaust Museum, one of the things is a series of

glass panels, etched into them are the names of t@freurse, many of the towns veer

in Croatia, like Lukavac and Osiekiklany, many, were in Bosni&anja Luka and these

other towns, which were again suffering great expulsions and killligsphrase that

was in the air as April came neare for the F
a g a ieveryane was talking about the Holocaust Museum; it was there so that this could

never happen again.

For those of us who were working on Bosnia, all the politicians and everyone was saying,
ANever againo and yet, nMNeAganinEdgpaanthagdnr ems t o
in some of the same towrit that same time, the Clinton Administration had now been

in office for three months and it was by now clear that, to quote The Who or whoever it

is, ASay hell o to t hssDeapite albthe sasnpaigh prosnises! i ke t h
and all the rhetoric, our policy was not going to change in the slightest and that the

United Statesvas going to continue to have a complea@dsoff approach to the former

Yugoslavia.l think the combination of wéing on this problem and the constant new

U.S. rationales for not being involved, the disappointment with the Clinton

Administration which came in with such promise about, thtsich then did not happen,

and the fact of the Holocaust Museum and all theebeand noble statements that people

like Clinton were making about the Holocaust, all kind of came together and resulted in

the Yugo-slawes launching a major dissent against U.S. policy in April 1993.

You may remember that at the inauguration of the HalstMuseum, Eli Wiesel, the
author and Holocaust survivor, actually diverted from his speech text and turned to Bill
Clinton and s aMrd., HirDebthinkcakofetatrodalesged.

What | would like to suggest Stu is that, maybe we hditdeatime, we do that dissent
as more of a whole piecext time if that is all right with you.

Q: All right. We will stop at this poinBut | have one last question.

| have just finished reading a book callésye Thy Neighbadboy Peter Maass, wheas a
reporter for theWwashington Posit this time For anybody who is reading this, | refer
them to that as a major sourdevas wondering whether it was really the newspaper
reporters or the media that was giving you the most information about what was
happening.

BOGUE:Yes.First of all, we did get a lot of very useful and tremendously helpful
information from our missions.would leavelLjublanaout , not because they
hel pful, they werWedidgeta lotfromlZagelaBkigraddBo s ni a .

Q: Could you get much from Belgradefa way, they were kind of cut offhey were on
the Serb side.

BOGUE:They were actually doing heroic and magnificent reporflings is after
Warren Zimmerman had depart&tle had a Chargé theRudy Painer was thereBob
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Rackmales was ther€hey did a heroic job in trying to figure out what was happening.
So did ZagrebWe got a lot of information from UN and NGO people on the growl.

got a lot of information from the press.very young man, whothink is now the

editorial page director at thA@ashington PostlohnPomfretfrom theWashington Post
would come to see meknew Elizabeth Neuffer, who wrotBe most marvelous book
caledThe Key t o My ,Abeutthensbacch forgustiteBusrsaeand
RwandaElizabeth Neuffer, | am very sad to say, died in Iraq in a car crash a few years
ago.This was a very great loss, a tremendous journalist and a wonderful pérson.
journalist Roy Gutman had assembled a tremendous amount of informatibe
documentation on the camps.fact, the U.Sgovernmentaunched a very intense and
heartbreaking program to interview people who came out of the camps, who were then
refugees in places like Austria or in Croatée sent out people with good larage

skills to interview, for instance, these women who had been raped, so we could assemble
a dossier of abuses that was credible.

Q: The irony of this is that here we are documenting something we are not doing
anything about

BOGUE:We were documentinigke mad.We were pushing the UN to issue these
reports of human rights abuses
Q: This is Tape 5, Side 1, with Janet Bogue.

We are winding up this thingVe are coming to your period of dissent in April 1988u

have been talking about some of the infation that was coming ihwonder if you

would give your impression of what the United Nations was doingthdres o, | donot
imagine you have much time to contemplate it, but did you get any feel for the role of the
French, the British, maybe the Gerns&n

BOGUE: That would be a great place to start.

Remember, this is a time when we are refusingptanythingand Francoiditterrand

actually went to Sarajevo and walked in the streets of Sarajevo, which was an incredibly
brave thing to do at the tim&he French were much more out in front in many ways than
we were.

Q: Talk about that and then go into what was going on and how your reports were being
received above yot.ou mentioned some of thii¢ere you are againii M y50d, here

comes Janet with theaily rape report.You are making the sign of the ;
dondt ¢ o me 0.l can imagimeythatatfis fvaryadificult.

BOGUE:We were pariahs essentiallyne of my senior colleagues actually said to me
once when | wal k d,deraconesthelBlack Arigél 6f Basrda, withfi We |
more bad news. 0

Q: Well okay, we will pick it up there.
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You were saying also next time thatoé

BOGUE:The Patriarch of the Serbian Orthodox Church, Patriarch Pavle, came to see
Secretary Eagleburgdrwas thenote taker for that meetin§ecretary Eagleburger

completely lost his temper and threw the Patriarch out of the State Department because of
the refusal to recognize that horribleness is horribleness and wrong is \Wwolh¢gell

that story next time, iyou like.

Q: Today is July 27th, 2007.
Janet, you were dealing with this from when to when?

BOGUE:I came onto the desk for Yugoslavia in August 199#ough a variety of
circumstances that will shortly become clear, | left the desk in May 1993.

Q:What was your impression of the United Nat.i
you saw it from your vantage point.

BOGUE:I am a defender of the United Nations in Bosnia at this firthey get a bad rap
around the world, particularly a bit later wiSrebrenica and so on, they get a horrible rap
for not having a strong enough response to thihdpnk the one thing that has to be
remembered is that it is not the UN that makes decisions; it is the memberT$iates.
member states would tie the hamdishe peacekeepers and only allow them to do certain
things.| think people forget that significant numbers of UN peacekeepersmdibd

course of dutyThey made heroic efforts to get food and medicine to people under
terrible circumstances in whichday were not allowed to go out and deal with things
militarily. They were not allowed to respond militarily in most cases to people who were
acting in a military way.

| think all things considered, they really did a great job, particularly when reliéwing

sieges of the cities, relieving them with food and medidineed on 6t mean r el i ef
military sense, but providing Sarajevo and the other encircled cities with regular supplies

of food and medicine at great difficulty and risk to themselves.

The oter country that has gotten a very bad rap in more recent years in the Balkans is
France France has been accused of being obstructionist, being a friend of the Serbs,
protecting Radovan Karadzic, revealing the fact a French offeclyeen convicted for
passing NATO information on to Serbian forces, and s@\gain, looking at the earlier
Bosnian campaign at the time | was working on the desk, they had probably already lost
about two dozen soldiers in BosnhMitterrandcame, as | mentioned before, andda

this quite courageous walk around Sarajevo at a time when sniper and artillery fire was
killing lots of people, and he was a very obvious targiink the French were really
pushing very hard diplomatically and politically for the West to takecagér role in

this, to take a more forceful role in protecting civilians, protecting lives, and being more
aggressive about what was a horriblgnanitariarcrisis at the timel. think that,
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regardless of events later, | do think that the criticism thaftes leveled at the French,
particularly at the UN, is somewhat undeserved.

Q: At the time, what was your reading about what we were doirg viss the UNAVere
we trying to get them to be more aggressivste we willing to stay with the situation as
was?

BOGUE:First of all, we did not want to get involved at all, further than we Wi/,

were involved in humanitarian aid on each s\ provided a lot of aircraft and a lot of
relief supplies to the UN; we assisted with that side & little known fact is that we

actually did have a few military personnel in Bosnia who were there to see the other end
of the aircraft side of it, the U.S. aircraft coming\ivle had some Air Force personnel on
the ground who assisted with those flights that woutdeo with food and medicine.
Typically, they would carry out some injured or wounded Bosnians, a huge prdgram.

lot of children had, for instance, eye injuries because they tended to rush to the windows
to see what was happening and would be hit witbasglao hns Hopki nsdé f amous
ophthalmology program had a program of treating those kids who would fly out on the
UN planes.

We were encouraging the UN to be active and robust on humanitarianvkdiefere not
pushing the UN to be any more actiltefact, we were opposing any more activity on
the military front.

You mentioned last time Stu that there was this tremendous irony in that we were the
ones compiling the rape reports and the reports of human rights abuses for the UN, the
United Statesvas.We hadthe horses to do it essentialye had the resources to do that.
At the same time, we were opposed to any kind of military action or aggressive btance.
think that was where things stood with us and the ldiérestingly, we had some

episodes that | thk really highlighted that.

For instance, we had three local employees in Bo$hiexe was an American library

there, which in fact, heroically stayed open through the early years of thit was.a

place people could come to read books and just hhttke doreak, which was less and

less possible in Sarajewdle had three Foreign Service National employ¥es. will be
surprised to learn one was a Croat; one was a Bosnian Muslim; and one was a Bosnian
Serb.They all got on famously with each other pg®ple in Sarajevo generally dithey

had become a target, or the American library had become a target of the Serbs, partly
because of the defiance in staying ogemas shown, after the war, some of the books

that actually had bullet holes in them frag@ople shooting into the librar@ur three
employees became very much targetganted to get them out, with their familiedrad
arranged fotJSIS, the United States Information ServiceZagrebto get them all jobs if
they could get t&agreb | hadarranged for the UN that they could come out on one of
these fightsTh ey woul d be | ow pri or iOnegshadbeeoause t he:
shot earlier in the war but had recovergdey would be low priority, compared to the
injured children, but they @uld get out on a space available kind of basis.
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What the UN wanted was an official Ugvernmentequest, which | was not
authorized to make, not being at that rdndould not get anyone in my chain of
command to make that reque&gain, we are nogetting involvedlf they make their

own way out to Zagreb, it is not our problevvie are not going to ask the UN to do this.
On and onl just got excuse after excugénally, | did an end run and went to
Eagleburger through one of his aidefo | knew.l knew he knew these peopl&knew

he would care about ikknew he would think all the excuses were nonsefsein fact,
ordered the European Bureau to meksrequesin the UN They did come out and they
did get jobs irzagrebwith their familiesthere.And they all lived through the war.

An interesting side note to that is that even when they left, the library stayedropgn.
left the keyswith the local peopleThe local people started staffing it in volunteer shifts
and kept the library opemvhich | think is just remarkable.

It was that kind of an attitude in the State Department, that we were not going to make
any movein this case for me was particularly horrifying, to protect our own pedyde.

are seeing a little bit of rerun of this iraq todayBless Ryan @cker for insisting that

we look after people who have been working for us.

There was very much (an attitude dfingp, we don
us deeper intthis conflict. The reasons were that it would bether ViethamThese are

ancient hatreds that we can do nothing abbluey tied down six German divisions in

World Warll. There is no way to beat theifhis is a European problem, etcetera,

etceteraYou just heard this constantly as an excuse foratang any further action,

even trying to get something like a-flg zone.

Q: You talked about the FrenctWhat about the British and the GermaWghat were
you either observing or doing with them?

BOGUE:With the Germans, almost nothing, certainly atlewel. | had almost no

contact with the German¥Vith the British government, we did have a lot of contact
because Laurie Owen was deeply involved with attempts to negotiate a solution to the
war in BosniaThere was the soalled VanceOwen PlanCyrus Vance whohad been
Secretary of State under Jimmy Carter, and David Owen, by then Lord Owen, had
created a sort of cantonment division of Boswi. called it the Leopard Spot map,
because it was not possible to simply divide the country into three oéaissk was

more typical that a town might be Muslim and the surrounding countryside might be
Croat or SerbThey had kind of leopard spot concentrations; each one would be a
cantonment, like in Switzerlan@hey have a great deal afitonomyand sel
governmentWe worked with the Brits a lot because Lord Owen was so deeply involved
in thateffort.

Q: I think I mentioned before | have just finished going through this haole Thy
Neighbor by Peter Maass, Washington Poskeporter at the timeHe likened the Vanee
Owen Plan to a complete appeasement to the Serbs, a la Munich in Basaally, it
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was a fancy way of dismembering Bosnia in favor of giving the Serb government what
they wantedHow did you view that?

BOGUE:The U.S. government actualhpposed the Vane®wen Plan for a lot of

reasonsThis was awkward since Vance was essentially the U.S. government and was
picked personally to work on thishen the U.S. government rejected the pldhink we

were right to reject the plait.was a pédition essentially of Bosnia in a very convoluted

and difficult way.We could see this just becoming immensely difficult down the rbad.

was, to a certain extent, appeasement of the aggressor parties, but it was also a statement
t hat you thaseproblemalheGethnicfpioblems are intractabldéwe only thing

you can do is partition.

| think that in addition to that being wrong for Bosnia, it would have been a horrible

precedent, given what else is happening all over Europe with all thedeeswrhich

have multiple ethnic groups and things like thvaiu could try to partition almost village

by village.It was what Boutros BoutreShali had called, when he was Secretary General

of the United Nationdimicro nationalismd Every village is itsown sovereign unit.

think we were rightOf cour se, Vance was very unhappy wi
approach.

Q: These people have been living together for thousands of years, at least since

Christianityand Islam.. The people had been Serbs, Craatd Muslims and had 6 t

been fighting each otheWorld Warll was basically an aberratiot some point, they

are going to get back and suddeghtit Ther e seems to be al most th
these people have been fighting foreVidrey are going tgo back to fightingYou just

candt cont rMehre geting she dameattsng now in Iraq about Sunnis and

Shias, saying, nllTiaesymulatadthatelhera ardireasongright . 0

now.One looks look back and they have not bednifig each other forevewWas

anybody sort of saying, AWait a minute, | o0k

BOGUE:I would say we on the desk, and we who had some experience in the Balkans,

were arguing those points without succd$we senior officials in Washington hadan

sense accepted Sl obodan Mil osevi cldsdopnréotpagan
know because | cané6ét read their motives, but
convenient to accept that, or whether they really did belieVéatwould makehe

arguments.

Just what you are saying Stiyou look back in modern history, even ancient history,
but particularly modern, the fact is th@gaceful coexisten@mong these groupgas
much more the norm than conflict between the groGpsflict terded to flare up only on
rare occasions.

Q: From outside forces aa World Warll or a Milosevic

BOGUE:Right. It did not happen spontaneously and internally on any kind of a regular
basis.In fact, the kind of thing that might provoke it, a child isadted or someone is
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murdered, tends to be seen as a criminal isolated act, rather than an ethnic provocation.
We tried to push back these ancient hatredsmember Warren Christopher repeating

that, Bill Clinton repeating thatwe | | , i t 0 IsatredsaThat was ane ofe n t
Mil osevicds constant | ines, AThereds not muc
anci entHehaalrseod .rocepeated the | ine over and ov
German divisions in the Balkans during World Wait will be another ViethamYou
will get in the mounTheythenswatloivedBhatsvimmlea and be |

Maybe it was just a politicaxpediencymaybe they really believed that was the truth.
When you tried to look at that in afjectiveway and lookedt the Bosnian Serbs, what
equipment they had, what military organization they had, compared to what we and
others in the West could bring to bear on them, it was absolutely aBserdour
attempts on the desk to level the playing field, there was am@mbargo on the Bosnian
governmentThat was a UN embargo strongly pushed by thiadd Statesand supported
by the Lhited State®n the argument that the last thing you wanted were more arms in
the BalkansSo what it meant was that one side had albtines because Bosnian Serbs
had recourse to the arms and armament of the Serbianlahag.recourse to armament
factories in Serbia and the Bosnian government didSwin a great sense, our policy
kept the playing field unlevel, rather than keepingvel.

It was very difficult to say to people things like,| obefére this little war startedl,

because it was still then a little wéibefore this conflict broke out, a third of the

marriages in Sarajevo crossed ethnic liaésyou really have enenched ancient hatreds,

you dondt have these Ro0me@ieanoflevelyulree et mar r i a
marriages were in fact what would be considered ethnically mixed marribges. very

common.

Q:One of my favorite oavefrinaaosssz, | dondt know i
Whowas an ambassador to a couple of places in Africa, but served with me intsoul.
parents:onewas CroatSerb and the other was Croat.

BOGUE:A very common mixI think one of the tragedies of Bosnia is, partly assalt
of the war and partly as a result of the peace and the structure set up by the Dayton
Accords, there is not a lot of room for anyone who is not one of the three gfoums.
are mixed, or if you are Jewish, or if you arélach or aRutheniaror aRoma or
something, the political structure has essentially no place for you.

Q: It will probably take decades, maybe even centuries, to work that out.

BOGUE:So we were battling a tide of perception that was not at all in tune with reality.
JustlikeMI osevic would say, AThese abuses are te
on al |IThatis tcheThey were As you mentioned this before, if you looked at the

proportions, it was like ten to oméou could not say it is all the same thing; thereas

differentiation between the players théiée were not at all successful in getting that

message through.
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Q: It points out somethingConventional wisdom in Washington sort of sets in and often,
it is at considerable variance with the fadBften conentional wisdom is what is most
convenient.

BOGUE: It is to suitedto the political agenda, conventional wisdom.
Q: Talk about the Orthodox Patriarch and Larry Eagleburger.

BOGUE:Larry Eagleburger was of course Secretary of State during the briedl peri
between AugusBeptember and the inauguration of Bill Clintbte is a man, as you well
know, of immense Yugoslav experience, having lhbere as junior officer and the
ambassador and so @kt.one point in the midst of the Bosnian war, PatriarcHé&dkie
Patriarch of the Serbian Orthodox Church, came to call on him, in all his robes and so on.
| was the note taker at that meetik¢e were all up on the seventh flodhey are having

a perfectly civil meeting until the moment that Eagleburger raisessue of the rapes

and the human rights abuses.

What he was doing was pushing the Patriarch in aaggmessive way, especially for

Eagleburger, but starting to push him gently about how as head of the church, how

helpful it would be if he came ougainst these thingavl e sai d, AWell , yol
understand the history of our country, 0 whic
thing to say to Mr. Eagleburgdd.e s ai d, fAYou donoTerriblender st and
things were done to us by the Tutk®n and onHe started this line that you and | and

others have heard from Serbs over the years, which essentially justified all of these

things, based on the history of Ottoman occupation.

Secretary Eagleburger completely lost his temidez. s a i tdfall, Ifkitow yoar

historyyDon 6t | e c tyaurlestomm8ecoad) thanetis nothing in your history that

can possibly justify to a man of the cloth, the rape and murder of little Gise is

not hi ng t hat Therahe swjtched intiSérbjan antl lean what |1 would

have to describe as a vocabulaxpandingexperiencdor me though | spoke Serbian

reasonably wellhe included some phrases that were known to me and some that were

new to meHe stood up and said to Patriarch Pavle,aretyone was stunned around the

tabl e, AGet oGQet oofutmyo fb umy dshtnhgewehimpatp ar t ment .

So the Patriarch and his entourage had to leave the buildingey di dnét f i ni sh |
meeting.Eagleburger was just completely enragdthd the job of writing a cable about

this meetingl trotted back down to my desk, and my phone rang not long afteftthat.

was Secretary Eagleburger.

AAre you writing the cabl e?0

I sai d, ifYes, | am. O

He said, AHow good is your Serbian?0o
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| sai ddequdiel t uhnder st ood most everything you sa

He said, fAHow good is it?0

=1}

| said, Wel | I mi ssed a f ew Igoioweddshes and wo
t. o

gi s

He said, AThat i s HowgoodwBatwolur ameabkang§oyou.
| said, A3iram Inoam usnodrerrys.t andi ng what you ar.
He said, AWas it good enough to know what st

I sai d,PofiVYes tsaikreen. 0O

It was really quite extraordinarfPart ofthe reason I tell thistory is that Eagleburger has
been faulted by many people saying he was toeSern, he was too soft on the
Yugoslavslit was partly his fault that intervention was so |dtieat was not my
experience with him in that short timeatd worked with him.

Q:Let 6s move on to when vy oWhatwasé&apgeerigtoi ng cl| os¢
you?

BOGUE:I actually brought in some clippings because | thought you might enjoy reading
them, given your Balkan past, but also to refresh my owmaong

Last time, | had mentioned that a number of things were coming together aDoece.
was that we were hopelessly overworked on the Yugoslav actartiad therugo-

slave army and we had very little suppofinother was that our views were not being
heard We felt very strongly that they were beistpppedrom reaching the seventh

floor. This is by now Secretary Christopher and the Clinton Administrafiesnhad the
tremendous disappointment, after all the Clinton promises, of no change on Bosnia
palicy. Our views, not just opinions but facts being presented, were completely revised
before they got to the seventh floor in order to supportiateovention policy.

Q: Did you get any feel about where or who was doing this?

BOGUE:In my own view agai, it went all the way from our Office Director who kept

saying to me, 0lThealeasméway llam goeng to letimg somfighhia .
Bosnia, o to the Assistant Secretary, a pol it
to present inforration, policy options and recommendations to the seventh ftowas

our job to wait for the seventh floor to tell us what they wanted, and then send up memos
supporting thatA kind of backward approach.

| actually saw a couple of memos after they badn radically revised by our bosses to,
for instance, downplay human rights abuses and play up this whole idea that it was
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useless for th&Jnited Stateso even attempt to do anything more than drop more

hamburgers on Bosni&o that was very frustratinggain, you will recall that in the

Foreign Service we do what we are told in a policy seis. wer endt el ected t
presidenand we do what we are toldthink that people can accept that much more

readily if they feel that the facts and viewspebple working on the issue, whether at an

embassy or in Washington, are at least preseWedelt very strongly that was not

happening.

We had a combination of miserable working conditions, poor management, a very

agonizing situation in Bosnia, popdlicy from our point of view, and then what brought

this all to a head was the opening of the Holocaust MusAlittie politicians from the

United States and Eur ope aWhercimourrview, Newes sayi ng,
Again was happening in Bosniacano one was interested in really doing anything about

it.

All of this came to a head on a Friday afternoon, when one of my colleagues, Marshall
Harris, who was the Bosnia desk officer, drafted a letter to the Secretary of State,
essentially saying, herg a dissenting view on policy and bés why. What this was was

an effort to get some information and viegiectly to the Secretary without it being

sliced off in betweenAnd Marshall shared this letter with a group ofide.and | were

office matesEveryone was an office mate, since we all sort of became one big mess
there.But other people working jrsay, the Bureau of Internationarganizationand the
Bureau of Refugee Affairs who were working on Bosnian issues, and asked if they would
like to sign it.

We ended up negotiating for some time over the langhaget hought t hat Mar sh
was too based on emotion and not enough based on a kind of bedrock of U.S. interests

and hard facts and analysWe all massaged it a bit and we changeatauind.One of

our colleagues was on leave in Florida and | wanted to make sure he had the chance to
participate, so | phoned hihke s ai d, Al f you are fine with t
|l etter and you can sign for me. o

At the end, there were 12 o$ at the end of the day with a text that we agreed/éodid

not clear it with anybodywWe did classify it because we had taken an agreement among

ourselves that this was meant to be a private letter to the Secretary, and not a public

dissentWe adheredo the code of the Foreign Servitatthis would stay irhousel

tookthelettera very dear friend of mine, Beth Jones
executive assistant, and another very close friend of mine named Peggy McGinnis, was

one of the fewstaff assistants to the Secrete®p. | knew | could get it directly intthe

S e ¢ r ehamds thréugh Peggy and Beth, without going through all the layers of

bureaucracy.

| gave it to Peggy and | explained what it wllsis was on a Friday afternooghe gave

it to the Secretary.The Secretaryas leavingso she ran down to garage and handed him
as he lefso that he could read He invited us to meet with him the following Monday.
We then felt the honorable thing to do was to, after the fact,ealeryone in our chain of
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command in between that we had done #ithough they would be blindided, they
would be blindsided less badly\Ve told them.

Of course, they were furious that we had done Trhigy wanted to see the lettéve
declined.If the Secretary wanted to share it with them, that was his deci$imwas a
private message and we didnét want to share

On Monday afternoon, we met with the Secrethig was extraordinarily polite, as he

always wasl hasten tadd that one of the things that Secretary Christopher emphasized
to differentiate himself from his predecessor, James Baker (skipping over Eagleburger for
a moment), was his openness to disseathe invited us ugde said very littleHe heard

us out.The group actually asked me to be the spokesperson as | had been on the desk
longest and was the most seniothat regardAlso, a couple of the folks were so

completely angry and emotional about it that the group argued that they would not make
the best geakersl was a little more Quakdike in my approach to thispeak truth to

power, but quietly.

So | spoke and some others spdBeristopher listened and said he found it all very
interestingHe asked us some good questions, like, if we got in,vaowd we get out?
What did we see as an appropriate outcome in Bo3iia&e were all excellent
guestionsWe had a very cordial discussion with hivie left feeling two waysOne was
that we felt we had been heakte had heard us outle did not lectureis.He did not
ignore usHe listened politely and asked questions, as was his viodtthe other
feeling very strongly that nothing would change.

We went back to our desks and sort of contemplated whatWektwhat next was that

on Thursday, | think was, the Holocaust Museum was dedicated, the official dedication.

Also on Thursday, which would have been Ag'®l t hi nk, someone, and
know who, although | have my suspicions, leaked our letter tNéleYork Times

Q: It always happns.It could be up and down the line, but once somebody who has a
different agenda or an ego problem, there are all sorts of thihghvays happens.

BOGUE:Exactly.l got a call late that night.think it was late Thursday nightgot a

call from Pggy McGinnis, staff assistant, who had gotten a call from the Public Affairs
Office saying theNew York Timeshad given the State Department a heads up that this
would be on the front pag8o Peggy called to let me knolicalled Beth Jones so that
she caild alert the Secretary that this was happening.

Of ¢ o ur sseepany matei trchtmight.felt sick and betrayedNot because |
would take back the dissent in a minlBet because someone had leaked something we
intended to keep private.

As it happened, we took turns coming in suparly to do the press guidantteawas my

supere arly morning and | came i hhadthe about si x
extraordinary experience of writing press guidance on my&itdh the questions being,
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how wauld you characterizthese Foreign &vice officers?Of course, the temptation
was to write intelligent, witty, good lookigg.

| was going to call Beth Jones and ask how the Secretary wanted to handle this and

should someone else write this guidance, wdtenjust appeared in my office, gave me a

big hug, and said, @Al knlamownomewfyaliwdntedt want t
t hi s t olarhtalghhy etmers &hat Beth argued forcefully in skeff meetingwvith

the Secretary that we were a grouefy serious and committed peopldere were a

couple of people in the Secretaryds retinue,
that we be punished.

Beth argued forcefully that we were a group of serious and committed professionals who
did not want this to happerA case in pointveh adn o6t | ewdweotkitAt when
whole week had passethe other person who really stuck up for us was the spokesman,
Richard BoucheMWhen he did the noon briefing that day, it was all about Hessaid

very bluntly that there would be no punishment; there would be no recriminafioiss.

was a private communication that had been entirely appropriate, and so on.

We coul dndét get anything done &Vvehthodghit bec
had been eaked, we had met that morning, the
own commitment to keeping this private and that we would not talk to the press, even
though the leak was out.

au
12

| want to say a wonderful thing about the Foreign SerWiéiin 24 hours, | had

probably 150 emails in my queueMost of them were from complete stranger

coll eagues, people | didndédt know who were s
They were essentially saying eitlhmer , Al don
completely committed to the principle dissentand this was part of the obligation of a
professional Foreign Service officer, so you

O M

Or saying, il have been watching Bosnia in a
Or sayinngyouGéeea,d iasked me, I would have sigrt

| think that one of the really heastarming things about that whole episade c an 6t

begin to describe how sick and disappointed | felt that this had been madé ghblic

reaction among our colleagues vigsmendousin fact, a very dear colleague, we

coul dnét be more different poWeweregoadl | y, but
pals with him and his wife and their kidde was a very conservative fellow who

disagreed with me totally on Bosntde cdled me up at about three in the afternoon and

said, AYou have a |isted phone number and yo
Your name was spelled correctly in the paper totfayou go home, your life is going to

be hell with people calling, reperts and everythingyhy dondét you come and
pizza with me and the kids?0o0
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Here is somebody who could not disagree more, but a Foreign Service colleague, and |
am going to look out for yooou are my colleagué/ou are my friendlt is a rough day.

He was right.When | finally got home that night, there were 56 messages on my
answering machine, which | judeleted | figured my family would callback.Over the
next few days, | did start taking messadagt some hate calls from some Serbian
Americangroups and things like that, threatening kind of callg.from everyone else,
immensesupport.

| called my mom, because | thought moms should never be blindsided leithiézd her

and said this was going to be in the pafée said a wonderful thinThe day before in

theNew York Times the frontpage story had been about the Tailhook investigation,

Tail hook being the naval aviatorsodo annual
There had been groping and sexual harassment.

Q: Really quite a digusting episode.

BOGUE:A few male naval aviators were named by name in that siertheoffendersl

think itdos a | ot easi edissentewn Begsoiaythantwr ex pl ai n
Lieutenant Whoever to explain to his motheh at  h grapisg wbneimthe

hallways of the hoteMVhichwas quite true.

So, tremendous support from everybolyt we were pretty much done on the desk at
that point.Our bosses up through the front office of the European Bureau had completely
lost confidence in $1 They were furious.

co

t

Q: I neverunderstood hese were professional working off

BOGUE: Except for the Assistant Secretary.

QI am surprised they didnodot s ayDoyouiaa,l | , I
this is maybe gag into the mind a little too much, but do you feel they were mad at you
because you bucked the system or mad at you because they supported the policy?

BOGUE:I think they were mad at us because we had embarrassed/tteiwe were

sayi ng wastary, duliews ha&venever reached yOur bosses have
suppressed those views an drenvembenoaegpdrsam 0 Cc 0 me
the chain just saying to me in amazement,
AWe di d. Evoathsy And gotynowhdreo $o wenfinally reached the end of that
road and welmhave te bay, thevdtherrthing was that very senior people in the

State Department were immensely supportive. The late Warren Zimmerman, who was

then the Assistant Sestary equivalent in the Bureau of Refugéthey used to have a

different name for it), asked me to come see him and essentially just gave me a big hug

and said fimore power to you.o
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So Warren Zi mmer man gave us hi s appreciatt o n al sup
what youdre doing and think itdéds the right t
the desk. Two people resigned: Marshall Harris and a guy named Steve Welkally,

Steve hadndt b e etmnk berhad resifnedtdtiedatessthagthae r s |,

Marshall resigned and everyone else scattékeel. wer en o6t exactly fired,

clear to us that we no longer should be thieréact, the Assistant Secretary said that he

was going to | ook for @¢giedbpinet tlbawerd&kpiomi Bos
interesting personnel approaétind people with no opinion&o all of us either, in one

case resigned from the servite other cases, some people stayed in their cfffpeople

in International OrganizationBut eveyone who was in the European Bureau working

on the desk went somewhere else.

Q: Who was the Assistant Secretary?

BOGUE: Steve Oxmante was a law school classmate of Hillary Clintbie. had been
an investment banker or lawyer in New York and had beamghtan to do this.

We all scattered to the four windsended up in a kind of unusual situatiéight at that

moment, Secretary Christopherds speechwritin
diplomat to put in therélhe speechwriters were all from tb@mpaign and political

appointeesRichard Boucher had seen, first of all, a lot of my writing, because | wrote a

lot of press guidancéie also thought that if Warren Christopher really wanted to

demonstrate that he was someone who tolerated and enabdrsggnt, one great way to

do that was to put a known dissenter onto his own Saffl moved over in May or June,

it may have been June by the time it all happehethved over to Public Affairs and |

worked in the speechwriting office for Warren Gitopherln a matter of a few weeks, |
considered myself fired although yBuw donoét r
it was made clear to me that | needed to movéon.did.l landed up writing speeches

and still doing a lot of work on Bosai

Q:Was anybody telling you, AYou will never |
something like that?

BOGUE:No, not at all.There was one person, someone who | have known for a long

time. woul dndét say we were cl otleefordlongegmeds, but
We were certainly warm acquaintancds. saw me one day in the hallw&obody was

aroundHe sort of said, APsstj dps sH¥h astal sue, u pi?yéoru |
know, I havendét call edljupdoudiombgo wamt| tmch aker
hurting my career by being around ypu. hop e y o u wlithbughtitwaslteer st and .
most amazingly pathetic thing to s&yaughed it off.I thought it was kind of sad that he

actually thought in those termisverybaly else was wonderful really have to say that

no one said, AYou are never going tNm eat in
one said anything like that.

In fact, | have to say | was treated with immense civility and courtesy by everyone,
outsde of my immediate chain of command.



Q: What was your impression of the press treatment of this?

BOGUE:| talked to a couple of reporterslater. di dndét tal k to any repoc
In fact, | started traveling with the Secretary from time to ti@eause | was one of the
speechwritersOf course, there was press on the airplahess very careful not to just

sit in the back and play cards with them and chitchat, for just thatrdasod.i d n 6t want
talk to anybody about this at all.

Years laer, when Iraninto some of the journalists | knew, a couple of them said to me
that for the press, this was a golden opportunity because the press had been the ones
leading the charge on all the terrible things that were happening in Bdengaat lastin
their view, was a sort of crowbar into the governm&here were in fact cracks and
fissures and dissent within the government on this iSshee people who knew, the

people who were the experts, the people working the i$sieee were articles donk.

think it was in a way an opportunity for the press to really push the issue even harder.

Richard Holbrooke told a colleague of mine, so this is third hand, that he thought that
while the dissent itself didnothinadgecob mpl i sh a
the wedge that changed policy later.

It is true that a year after the dissent, policy had completely changed on Basdria.
dondt want to gi ve Ithinkatmayhave fflayed arole, bueitwag f or t
not certainly the wble amount of pressures.

Q: For somebody looking at this, it gives a feel for the prodetakes little wedgesn

various elements of the government, the pressure begins to build up and all of a sudden,
the government has to respond positivdljoo many people talk about septic problems
anywhere, coming in from the experts, you have got to pay attention to them.

BOGUE:Right. | brought you another thing that was frdame. My mother became my

clipper, because she is my mothEnere was a little ihg about therugo-slaves up here,

saying, fAAt | east they aTheyargrotgoigtotfbotheget bet t
policy. 0

Q: ThisisinTimeof September 13tYhgoslalefobtileS@mted it says,
Department, Washingtoit the State Bpartment, unhappy souls in Eastern European
Bureauassi gned t o wor k o Nugdslkawesn$odar, three have guit c k n a me
in the past out of frustration with U.S. polidyh e depart ment 6s embarr as:
command recently had a meeting to hetidrmre defectionslhe solution is to at least

reduce the physical discomfort involved in standing by at Foggy Bottom while genocide

is committed in the Balkans, and thiegeslaves will get better lighting and more

space. O

Oh golly.
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BOGUE:Exactly. Tha was kind of the way it went was that rather than change the
policy, they decided, well at least we can make sure everyone has a desk and a phone and
a light that works.

By then, | had already moved on and was writing speeches.

Q: I just want to repeasomething | got from Warren Zimmerméhave an oral history

with Warren.When he was with Secretary William Rogers as his speechwriter, he was

told by Rogers, fAln your speeches, | want yo
ma k e h e dldat wasweéliam Rogers.

For Warren Christopher who was such a lawyer and such an unemotional and cool
character,notnastfde 6 s j ust a v er y kimaginedt wouldg beilleet , cal m
writing speeches for a schoolmarm or something.

BOGUE:WarrenChist opher was not GodoWhaawas or ator, t
interesting to me was that given a prepared text, he was a terrible sptakemmbled

and tripped over linesive him a chance to speak from notes or to simply speak off the

cuff in responseat questions, he did something almost none of us cadalepoke in

well thought out and grammatitagc o mp | et e sentences, and, here
funny Somet hi ng peopl e &Ve cdonldnotgel bire t® sovatbthbat t  hi m.
mode.We could no get him to work from note$ think it was the lawyer in hintHe was

afraid of making an error.

One of the things that had happened on Bosnia was at one point in a press conference,

this was before there was adpited Stategngagement in Bosnia outsiof

humanitarian, and someone asked him if théed Statesntended to step up its

engagementdde sai d, ANo, I think weTlhefelowmlhgne al |l wi
day was the heaviest artillery barrage in Sarajevo up to that pthintk the reakation

that the Bosnian Serb commanders were watching CNN along with everyone else and

sayi ng, UntedeStateh a ©rej ust gi v éthink that kird offathiege pass. 0
along with his lawyerly disposition, made Warren Christopher very caudloust what

he said.

On issues like the Middle East, everywordiscodlel. you | i terally say il
of Aglad, 0 it me &ohle waseanyaetdiinedjthathie wduld only n t .

speak from a carefully, thoroughly vetted, prepared téatdid not read well off the

teleprompterH e  w a s n df t may indonlgeyn.a story, because it illustrates his

lawyerly disposition.

We were out in Seattle for the Asia Pacific Economic Conference mektiad.been

sentout alittle bitearlybecatle | am a o6nati veod aMed dli dnpdke S
have an embassy there to do all the advance work, so | went out with the advante team.

was also preparing speech@se of his speeches was going to be an after dinner speech

held for the Seatl Chamber of Commerce at the Boeing Museum of Flight, which is sort



of a small version of the Air and Space Museum Hefres gorgeous early airplanes
hanging around and then they set up a big dinner area.

Secretary Christopher, you will probably rememnbiked to make fun about his adte

was by far the oldest in the Clinton Administration and make jokes about that all the

tme.So we thought , hAMewmt@aremarke thp speethehatthe o n e .

woul d begin t he s poekmgalount lyeresoday at these bedutitd w ,

old airplanes reminds me of my first flight that took off in South Daktta flew

around. could seemyhousé. coul d s ee rhgouldseeioerhtitksodrit f ar ms .
was so exciting that when we landed, [pped my goggles off and sai
go around one more time?060

We thought, first of all, a person his age would distinctly remember their first flight.

Second, this fed into this whole thingemember this conversation with him because he

sad, fAWell, | was born in 1925 aSotcoudhe Wri ght
not have flown with the Wright brothers and
funny. o

We said, AwWell Mr. Secretary, a lewll of humor
have had a few glasses of wittds an after dinner speechis Seattle and they love

airplanesThey wi Il | augh. 0o

|l remember that he | ooked at me and said, #fAtFt
And | sai d, A W&dulrejustgoiagno have must mé teat people will

| augh. o

He finally agreedHe ar gued with wus for a | ong time be
inaccurate; it is not correct. o

And we said, tlst @s jrokte. & | i e.

He agreed finally, reluctantly.he great thing about i was that he was so deadpan that

he could pull off deadpan hum@ure enough, everyone has had their glasses of wine

and their dinnerThey are happy and relaxdde gets up at this gorgeous wooden

seaplane right next to him, and hetoldthestdeyggd t o t he part where he
ri pped off my goggles and said, Thépdcd bur can
just fell apart laughing.

He looked over at me like, why are they laughikb® st i | | coul dnét wunder
people were laughing. h a t hatst was like writing speeches for him.

Q: I am trying to get the workings of government and foreign pofioywere

speechwring. Can you talk about some of whatgoesintb e Secr et aryébés spee:
What sort of things weryouinvolved in, and how dthese thing get put together?
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BOGUE:We had a lot of different kinds of things we did for the Secretargrything
from the swearing in of amambassadaor recognition of Black History Montar

Womends History Mont h Agaih, givemhésjretcencegpand | cy speec
| awyerly dispositi on, Héleftthdse choredtd Pregidents 0 many O

Clinton, one of the great speakers of our tire.tended to make more almost technical
kinds of presentations at ministerial meetings.

The typical hing was that we would be doing two thin@me was looking ahead at the
calendar and seeing where he was going and what he was going to be doing, and what we
would need for thatAlso, looking for things he should be doiyere there auspicious
moments b should use to advance policy or stake out a new policypartiaularissue?

For me, | kept doing a lot of work on Bosn@f. course, Bosnia was still very hot and

heavy.l did the Congressional testimooy Bosnia.Also, by then, on Somalia and Haiti.

| went with him when he traveled for instance to Paris to talk to European leaders about
Bosnia.l went along to do the speechwriting, partly because it was in my head and |

could summon up a lot of the information quickly.

What would typically happen wage would decide or propose to the Secretary, we being
the whole Public Affairs apparatus, an occasion or venue, the kind of thing he had to do.
Or there would be an automatic thing, such as a NATO ministedaalould have to

make a speech at somethinigelthat. Then we would send to appropriate bureau in the

department a request f or Thatsbhotessmtialyical | ed

speech form, but those were the points that needed to be made, the information that
needed to be included iomme kind of logical order, we hopethe idea was that we
would then take that and massage it so that what came out at the end was a speech.

Major policy speeches had to be then vetted through the White House, which was done
speechwriterbwar of & rWehadiclbde soptects there in the
speechwriting office for President Clintofn in-house thing was just clearedhouse.

The information was supposed to come up to us from the bureaus and we were supposed
to turn it into a speech.

There were a lot of things that | enjoyed about the Rdrt of the thing | realized as |

went along with it, in our context, at least in that place and time, speechwriting was pretty
much substanefree.We were just the writer®e wer en o6t dfheel opi ng
substanceT h at i s n 0 tinthe bldwayg,spee¢chwriteng had been part of policy
planning in the recognition that the speech is in fact a vehicle for moving policy forward.

Q: You had some really tegrade peoplePeter Rodman and obviousigeorge Kennan,
but others such as tlmbassadoto China.We had some people who were sort of part
of a thinktank crowd in a way therdéit this point, this was not really the case, was it?

BOGUE:No, the speechwriting function had been moved intoiPu#{fairs. There were
four of us in the office; three had come off the Clinton campaign and then | was there.
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Q: A couple of thingsivhat about the White House connecti@u’metimes the White
House wants to make sure their principal, the President ovite President, gets all the
goodiesDid you sense a conflict there in that?

BOGUE:Not a conflict because Secretary Christopher deferred to that.
Q:This wasndét his thing anyway.

BOGUE:Ri ght , and with President Kelwasgbimgndos gr e a
to always be the one with the fine oratorical or rhetorical flourighesvas also the
emotion guy, the guy who felt your paifhat was not Warren Christopher.

Q: We are not trying to denigrate Warren Christopher.

BOGUE:But his personaty was very reserved and a gentleman of the old school in a

senseHe wasnét going to have $hewe diodmdihghawme
conflict that | felt with the White House speechwriters, because they were doing different

things.It was a rag occasion when they both spoke on the same subject at the same time.

Things like NATO ministerials, and | say this with all respect for my colleagues and

myself who spent hours writing these things,
d o n 0 t any NATOhnkinisterial speech, and | could be completely wrong about this,

has been included in the book of the worl doés

Q: What about BosniaRlere you are, full of piss and vinegar about Bosnia and you are
supposed to write speechekw didyou treat this?

BOGUE:First of all, | was immensely relieved to be out of the European Bureau at that
point, and not dealing with all thddiscouraged as | was on Bosnia, | did feel that the
Secretary had listened to our viewdso, this was the timehen things were starting to
change on the policy front on Bosnia.

This was the time we were in Paris meeting with the French when there was theiterrible

not the marketplackit was the kids who went sleddinbhe first couple of days witho

shellingand abunchof kids took their sleds out, and the Serbs just opened fire and wiped

out all these kids sledding down a hill in the snbremember this distinctly because the

secretaryvas about to go see Mitterraife were all sitting around prepping hfor

this meeting and Ambassador Pamela Harriman was thenee of Secretary
Christopherodéds aides were sayWeangpgointde ar e not
me et t h e Miihandhadfacilitated that meetingwas all about human rights.

Just tell them you are not here to talk about Boshimbas sador Harri man sai
notpossibleYou have to talk about it. o

So it was agreed what tkecretaryould say and then | would be dispatched to go off

and quickly write up the pointBy that time, we were already starting to see a shift that
there was not going to be a public tolerance any longer, in the United States or elsewhere,
for little kids. What happened later, in one of my introductions to the way the world
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worked, was when the maatplace shelling took placall these people were standing in
line for bread were shelled by Bosnian Serb artillery, with-Bthyne killed in one go.

When that came up on CNN, |l was sitting in t
senior politichappointee aidesdle was shaking his head and say
Thisis terribleThisisterribleThi s i s [ usai eawfil .a@&gree that i
just have to remind you that this has been going on for a longTimeeis notthe first

time innocent civiliaHe haveetheeo mbeaheds aio
is so terrible is that (I think it was) Tom
| f it wasnot Tom Brokaw, it was Peter Jennin

Q: We are talkig about one of the top anchors for one of the major television networks.

BOGUE:Right, one of themMy memory says it was Tom Brokaw, but it might have

been Peter Jennings might have been Dan Rath€mne of the top anchors of the nightly

news from on@f the three big broadcast networks at the time, just happened through

coincidence to be in Sarajevo and so vatraightto the market with bloody limbs

everywhereHere is this person, this anchor, with immense personal credibility saying,

AThi s iiss hwehpapte ni nggnd nt IBias agied® . ®ai d, AWhat i
isthatbecausg et §FomaBrokaw i s there, nmathewe have
words, it was medidriven.

Q: Horrible things can happern a way, the Rwanda thing whappeningout of the
sightof reporters and it took quite a while for everything to filter back.

BOGUE:A lot of the reporters had been evacuatedas a lesson to me that so much of
this policy was medkariven, orpublic opiniondriven, and the medidrove public

opinion to a great extenlready, during my speechwriting time, there was starting to be
more and more of a sense of inevitability thatiWimted Statesand the West in general
would have to take a stronger linewas also clearer thatiMsevic could not be trusted.

On these trips, theecretary y pi cal ly had some biThgestafbr mal &6 d.
not involved in that would take advantage of the fact that you are in Paris and go out and

have a nice meal.ended up having dinnevith three or four friends, one of whom was

Dennis Ross working on the Middle Ed3ennis was fascinated by Milosevic and he

asked me about hinwhat he was like in person,andsodre s ai d, AYou know,
the West like a fiddleHe issogood at tRedf er ri ng to the first Gul f
Saddam Hussein were as clever and canny and knowledgeable about the West as

Milosevic, he would still be sitting in KuwaiHe would still be saying, | am going to

withdraw but | have got a real problemtwin  my r i g ht Hesvbuldgustkeeg i ci ans.
on this thing Of course, Milosevic had lived in New YorKe spoke English welHe

had been in the Wedte knew how things worked in the Weldbrrible person that he

was, he was not stupid.

Q: He was ale a consummate liar.
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BOGUE: And he was a consummate liate would sit down with people ovemnyacand
say, ANow my friend, tel/l me é 0

Q:1 6 v e histaltviewsavithgRudy &ina. He had tohold his hand aDayton and
dealt with him. He said That mancould tellthe mosbutrageous lies and look you
straight in the facelHe never lost his temper.

BOGUE: That was one of the keys to his succa@$sngs he did, even shows of temper,
wereKabuki TheaterThey were stage managéddey were for a purposele was a
great manipulator.

These kinds of cracks were starting to applestrll recall that conversation with Dennis.
| doubt that he does, because he had a lot of other things on his mind and \pkse.
quite interesting to get his view from outsiofethe Bosnian thing, but very familiar with
the characters that we were negotiating with.

Ql would assume that every Secretary of
Middle East.Things are of such a closely entwined natiyteu have alreagmentioned
thatyousaythwor ds &6 gl ado6 o ssondethiagyquylihosthhva tb haree a n
a professional Middle East speechwriter or two.

BOGUE:We worked immensely closely with the bureau that handled the Middle East on
those kinds of speech&3n some occasions, Dennis for instance who was the Special
Envoy on the Middle East, would himself sometimes write whole sections where the
importance of getting every word rigl@f course, the irony is that then somebody gets

up and interprets it as whmows what.

Q: Then it goes into Hebrew and Arabic.

St at

BOGUE:I't was very crucial for our Secretary Ch

with a word to change policy inadvertentie certainly did not want to be in that
situation.

Q: For instance, ae of our spokespeople talking about dealing with the Israeli
Palestinian problem said, fiAiWe want to be
somethingHe slipped into Episcopalian and caught hell for it.

BOGUE:It is very toughThat was a very toughitig. | think one of the thingthatthe
speechwriters who came off the campaign trail were usedgthrowing a lot of stuff

out there, as you do in a campaigind also, they were used to the fact that you make a
speech in Kansas City and then you momeand then you make a speech somewhere
else.People in Omaha may not pay that much attention to what was said in Kansas City.
Whereas in the foreign affairs world, everybody is paying attention all the time, is what
you are sayinglhat was a bit of a giggle for them as well.

Q: How did you deal with the campaign types?
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BOGUE:I think we had some interesting discussior®ey were initially a bit distrustful

of me because | had obviously worked for Republican administsatipninted out that

| hadalso worked for Democratic administratiofifiey sawus somehow asercenaries

whowould just hire our diplomatic services out to whoever was running the country.

That made them nervouskept pointing out that they needed to understand that our

perceptio of ourselves was that we were patriots and we worked for whomever the

American peoplechos&e di dndét wor k We were facusédyontbene party.
interests of America, rather than the interests of a pamas not a line that had a lot of

successbut it was a small officéDver time, we developed personal relationships that

helpedto overcome that.

| think the reason that they sought a person from the inside was partly to help handle the

inside work, like a swearing in of ambassadowhich isa very different kind of speech

than a speech you would give outsidéso, just to sayfii Waa nminuted because early

on, there had been a terrible gaff, which you will apprecidie.speechwriters, in a

flight of fancy and not looking at the map, hadtten--ii @ne are the Cold War days

was essentiallthe themefiGone are the days when we feared Soviet tanks rolling across
southern Germany through the Fulda @dp. s ai d, A One Odheygaide ot her,
AWhaArd | said, nHedee ei s st hseo uRThheeryn d&eedrnndatn y . ¢
have the sort of insistence that we had all been raised on, on getting it right

geographically, getting it right ethnically, getting it right in how people in countries

describe themselves, and so ©hey wanted ameone who would help them do that.

| think also they had run into some rough spots in their dealings with the professionals,

because they did come off the campaign and it is a pretty rough and ready world out
there.Besides the fact that we are diplomatsthink partly because we served together

abroad and need to get along with each ot her
e ac h o tshH thinkdve terpl ¢ottreat each other with a certain level of courtesy, even

when we are disagreeingmayhave been a matter of personalities more than anything,

but the chief speechwriter would tend to cal
me i s t dHhataslnot the veap wedalk to each other in the Foreign Se&aene

of my jobs was to bthe person between them and the bureaus, to talk to the bureaus

about what we needed, how best to package it, when we needed it, aridtedryrto

smooth over that relationship a bit.

Q: Were there any instances of you all gettinggberetaryinto a problem, or the
secretaryalmost getting you all into something that you had to dig out of?

BOGUE:Not that | can recallAgain, | attribute that to the lawyerly professional

carefulness that a tremendous characteristic of Secretary Christdptdidnot dig a

hole for himself like thatl think what we wrote for him was vetted by senior aides of his

before it became a speedgain, when we would meet with him before a major speech,

he would go over it with us, line by line by lindot editing forrle t or i ¢, but AWhy
saying this?s it actually true that this is our specific polidg®l the presidentactually
saythatShow me where and when. o
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Q: As a speechwriter, were you or your colleagues monitoring wharésedentwvas
saying?

BOGUE:AIl the time.We followed himWe got advance copies typically of speeches he
made on foreign policy i sWeadadsrytdkeapimackoh e speec
that very carefully.

Q: You mentioned the Wilbur Wright thirigid you have a joke file @omething™ost
of us are all told to start a speech with a joke or somett8ogetimes you have heard it
from five peopleDid you have this?

BOGUE:We di dn 0t Whlad apersoiHeie lvas a person working then in the

Legal Department who hdmken with Secretary Christopher at his law firm in Los

Angeles.This is a fellow called Mark Steinberg, not to be confused with Jim Steinberg in

Policy PlanningMark Steinberg was a litigation lawyer who had started life as a
filmmaker, but found thatheeal | y wasndét going to be able t
filmmaker.So he had gone to law school and ended up working closely with Secretary
Christopher in his firmThe Secretary had brought him in to a job in the Legal

Department, which he did, whateyeb it was.On the side, he helped w$e knew

Secretary Christopher inside and dvark was a very funny guy himseke knew what

the Secretary would be able to tolerate as joking in his speeches, and what would go

beyond the pald.think he was the anin the end who privately pushed Secretary

Christopher over the line on the Wilbur Wrightjoke. dondét t hi nk he real |
assurances that the people of Seattle would ldugmk Mark probably convinced him

that this would go over well in thgarticular environmenSoMark did that actually.

Q: Did you ever have any contact with thexretaryand the Balkan deskDid the
secretarye ver | ook at you and s aWasthis dhepisodko you f e
that had gone by?

BOGUE:Notatalll need to go back because | just rer
joke book, but one of the things we did havef course, Secretary Christopher had to

make a lot of speeches over the years in his private life a$ Wwelhad a notebook of

favorite quaes he liked that he kept over the yeditsey were from General George

Marshall, Dean Acheson, all sorts of people he admired and respgeetgdve us copies

of that notebook and said, fAFeel free to use
ard have found inspirationdlwould be happy to use any of them again, many of them

from for mer S e Xouwiltramembersthatthé hadslteen tDeputy Secretary

of State in the Carter Administration, so he had to do a bit of this before.

Comingback to Bosniano, | often was taken along on trips because it waddwone.l

could do the Bosnia work and the speechwriting work on the sam8anpetimes these

trips came up very suddenly or were secret, and the only reason | even knew was that my
friend Beth Jones, the Secretaryod6s Senior As
saythati t woul dnét be a bad idea if on the way
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cleaningpThi s was her way of Yswngedtogetverfithingu ar e t r
organizedYou need to have somebody look after your apartment and you need to be
ready Weavoulyl takedff very suddenly on these trips.

The value added to them was that | knew the Bosnia stuff wtgtestingly, the

European Bureau drthe desk did not object to thathink they were swamped with

work. There was no animosity with the new people on the detit of them were

personal friends of mingliked themverymuch. di dndét f eel theiny ani mo s
being thereAssisaint Secretary Oxman had not succeediégy had opinions too, it

tumedoutHe hadndét found the opi nHeuttilmatet/stpeopl e
his job.He was replacedde did not fill out the full terml think the frustration with him

over Basnia; maybe he was a scapegdaere was asentegath e wasnodét doing th
on Bosnia that was very strong in the department.

| continued to work a lot on Bosnia from a speechwriting point of view, or writing talking

points and things like thalt. wasnot at all set aside and | was sometimes called into
meetings where maybe the speechwriter woul dn
Bosnia angle, especially on trips.

Q: Did you have your Bosnian contact, someone on the desk who kept you appfraised
what was happening?

BOGUE:I talked to them a lot.saw them a lotOf course, | was reading all the cable

traffic still and kept in touch that walfound it very interesting then to be in that

circumstancel t wasnot so muc phetwoudicom® ®ene fertadvicey Chr i s
A few times, someone would say something about Bosnia using shorthand, and he would

turn to me and rai se hAndlwewdedplhiowhatthatnd say,
meant, what the background was.

His senior staff, pdicularly the spokesman, Mike McCurry, would often talk to me at
length about Bosnia.

Q: How long did you do this?

BOGUE:I did that until February 1994t that time, something happened that was very
exciting for me Since we had opened the Central As@aucasus post, | had been
champing at the bit to gd.o me, this was very excitingewembassigsnew countries.

We had opened these very tiny little missions in all the countries in 192994, the
department decided to expand them a bit from #irior eight people, to be slightly

bigger embassie$here were suddenly a bunch of new openings to start that summer in
Central Asiaandthe Caucasus.really wanted to go.

| wanted to go because | was very excited about that part of the Wweddted to go
because | wanted to get out of Washingtdelt very cynical and jaded about policy at
that point.I thought the one thing that might really reenergize me was to go to a new
embassy and a new country where we were doing lots of good and pibsitgseSo |



went down to the head of the Central Caucasus office and | gave him my pitch about why

| would be a good person to gaspoke SerbeCroatian, so | thought | could learn

Russianquicklyl had served i n Paki st amtherbgiocdf wasnot
kind of remote Central Asia.

Q: Islam.

BOGUE:I thought | could do all that and | gave him my big pitdle. listened very
politely. He was someone | had known for manyyears. t he end, he sai d,
what?Anyone whowantstogg et s t o go. O

So in February, | started a shorter course in RusBjsummer, | was in Kazakhstan.
Q:You were in Kazakhstan fromé

BOGUE:I was there from 1994 to 1997.

Q: What was your position there?

BOGUE:The first two years, | was the Chiefthie Political, Economic and Science
Section.| emphasize science because one of our biggest projects was nucleaMgsues.
last year, | was DCM.was sort of a brevet DCM, | guess you would say, in the old Civil
War sensel. had a battlefield promotiomtDCM for a year.

Q: Who was the ambassador?

BOGUE:When | arrived, it was Bill Courtney, who was known for arms control work,
and that is the reason he had come out thFdnad Russiade had done a laif the
nuclear arm controé

Q: This is Tape 6Side 1 with Janet Bogue.
You were saying Bill Courtney had been in Arms Control.

BOGUE:Right. And he spoke Russiakazakhstan was one of the four nuclear

successor states of the Soviet UniMfhen the Soviet Union broke up, Russia, Belarus,
Kazakhsta and Ukraine had nuclear facilities, materials and presumably, we&puas.

of ourbig projects was going to be dealing with thahink that is one of the big reasons
that Bill partly was choserit was a very small embassy at the time, skin and bémes.

fact, | think there were nine State Department officers when | arrived, and there were 60
when | left three years latdt.grew immenselyOf course, the first issue when | got there
was weapons and materiaBy the end of my time there, that was dpand the issue

was all about oil.

Q: What was the situation in Kazakhstan, political, economic, our interests, and all of
that?
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BOGUE:Kazakhstan was perhaps the most reluctant of the newly independentitstates.
was the last one to declare its indegemce. It is a huge countmythink it is the ninth

biggest by landmass in the world, severely landlocked, and very sparsely popvtzed.

of it is steppe or deseithe population is very interesting because Kazakhs are not a
majority in KazakhstariMaybe 40 percent of the populatiarereKazakh.The rest were

the most amazing collection of peojlethnic Russians, ethnic Ukrainians, ethnic Poles,
ethnic Germans, ethnic Korea@zakhstan had been one of the places of the exiled
labor campsFor exampe, Dostoyevsky had been in Kazakhstan; Solzhenitsyn had been
in Kazakhstan, at various times, in exile or in camps. But also it was the place tinat Stal
had moved whole populations to because he feared during the Second World War that
they would collabaate with the enemyde moved, for instance, ethnic Koreans from the
Soviet Far East to Kazakhstan because he feared they would collaborate with the
Japanesdde moved ethnic Germans, ethnic Ukrainians to Kazakhstan because he feared
they would collaborateith the GermansAfter that time, there had been a large influx of
ethnic Russians and Ukrainians to the north of Kazakhstan, because of the virgin land
campaign of Khrushchev trying to make it a whgiadwing regionBefore that, in the

time of Catheringhe Great, she had settled thecatled Volga Germans, had brought in
German settlers as agriculturalists, and many of them had settled in Kazagbsthere
was a huge mix of ethnicities.

When friend of mine came to visit me in Kazakhstan duringtayr, | put them on a

train for MoscowAs we were waiting on the train platform, | remember my friends

|l ooking around and finally one of tomem sayin
this trainplatform  And it was trueThe mix was just stunng. Also, remember that the

Soviet Union had sponsored people from all over the Third World to come and study;

from Africa, Latin America; mostly from Africa and Asi@ome of those people had

married locallyl t wasndédt so commonseethmut you did occa

Q: Were the Kazakhs and tKgrgyzbasically the same stock?

BOGUE:Yes.| would get myself into trouble there if | said théhe Kazakhs were
nomads unlike the Uzbeks who had settlgtles-- you had the great cities of Central
Asia of Samekand, Khiva, Bukhara, are in Uzbekistdimere was not that tradition in
KazakhstanPeople had been nomads, and there are still éiazakhsn Mongolia and
in Western China, the whole region.

Q: You mean horse and camel herders?

BOGUE:RIight. They ae livestock herders and they travel from place to place, rather
than building cities as the Uzbeks had done.

Q: So a place like Bishkek was like a new city?

BOGUE: It was a Russian military outpost called Frunze in its previousiifth a lot of
thesetowns, Almaty was the capital but it looked like a little Russian ttigid not look



Central Asian in the way other places ditie current capital, which is called Astana,
which just means capital, the old Kazakh name was Agnibken it was Tselinogd in
the wake of the Virgin Lands campaidrhen it reverted to Agmola and thAstana All
these places had gone through lots of iterations.

Q: When you got there, what was the state of things there?

BOGUE:Kazakhstan was still really finding its fedtere was a lot of excitement

among the population about being their own couritryact, the day the flag was raised

at the American Embassy, before | arrived, a lot of people came to see it because to them,
it was tangible proof that they really werelependent, because the Americans had an
embassy ther&azakhstan had been largely, almost completely, closed to foreigners
during the Soviet times for several reasons.

One was that they did an immense amount of their nuclear testing there, in thef north
the countryAnother was that their space center was there at Baikdhair. space

launches took place from Central Adishad been a place that foreigners did not
normally come toKazakhstan was one of those places where when you went out in the
villages, even though literacy was practically one hundred percent and people had
educations, but when you went out to the villages in 1994 andyb@0still could behe

first foreigner they had ever m&uite an extraordinary place.

Like in almost all he Central AsiamndCaucasus places, the former communist
strongman had reinvented himself as a nationalist leStitrin power, President
Nazarbayewnad beernead of the Communist Party.

| think one of the other exciting things when | was there, ledlogpd a real sense of
possibility about the futuré think a lot of that has changed becaussiitow sea as
autocratic and corrupAll the fantastic resources they have in ey have something
that developing countries would lovehey have a hugnatural resource, a small
population of 1618 million, lots of room and a highly educated populatiou can
drink the water in Kazakhstamhe germ theorgf diseasés firmly establishedHygiene
is good.lt is a very different situation than in thevaeloping worldl think people had a
tremendous sense of hopefulndsscause of their great situation with tremendous natural
resources and a low populatjdhatthey would in fact become quite successful
economicallyAs it has happenedhe rising tié¢ has not lifted alboats It has lifted the
yachts ofthe wealthy, unfortunately.

| was there at the time of excitemenhe time when people still thought this wouldabe
great change.

Q: I spent three weeks at Bishkek about the timas retired btl was helping as a

USIA type advisor talking about setting up a consularcokgs.] t he Kyrgyzd see
carrying briefcases and obviously Russians were doing all the work other than office

work. They were running the small storékw was it in Kazkhstan?
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BOGUE: It was interesting the way jobs divided dphe rural farmingypejobs or

herding were still being done by Kazakheu are quite right, for instance, in that all our
drivers at the embassy were ethnic RussiBossome reason, this wagoa for ethnic
Russians that men did. great many of our interpreters were ethnic Russian women.
That was a field girls had gone into traditionally th&knereas a lot of our professional
contacts tended to be Kazakh, certainly in the political sptie¥esenior ranking people.
Although not exclusively, many of them were Kazakhhemember, for instance, only
two members of the cabinet who were fathnic Kazakhs when | was the@early,

they were getting a firm grip on political power.

The Kazakhanguage was rarely, if ever, spoken when | got tli@ren President
Nazarbayev spoke it badlde worked very hard at that and now speaks fluent Kazakh,

but at the time, the first two sentences and the last two sentences of his speeches would
be in Kazakhand the rest in Russiahhis was partly because of the way people were
educated, but partly because of this immense ethnic variety in KazakRgtsman was

the lingua franca, to make a bad joke, but it was the common landuesdénas changed

to a grat extent nowThere is much more Kazakh spoken than there used to be and much
more education offered in Kazakhll of us who went out there in the beginning were
Russian speakers.

Q: Was there, while you were there in 1994 to 1997, a substantial eabdtisic
Russians or ethnic Germanb¥other words, the neKazakhs getting out?

BOGUE: It was certainly true of the Germans.
Q: In fact, Germany was welcoming them.

BOGUE:Right. And | wanted to make thatclear. donét think it was so
as it was a pullGermany said essentially that anyone of German background could

come.So, lots of people who héd In the old Soviet passports your citizenship was

Soviet but your nationalitwas listedandif your nationality was German, you could

immigrate to GermanyL.ots of people did that.would say chiefly for economic

opportunities, to help themselves and their children.

The Korean situation was much more tricky because the Koreans who had been brought

to Kazakhstan were from the Soviet FasE&his means that had they been from Korea,

they would have been from North Kor&#ell, nobody was going to repatriate

themselves to North Korekl.clearly presented an awkward situation for South Korea if

it started suddenly taking back people whoevar6 t f rTohne yt hweerreee.n 6t t aki n
back.They would be taking in ethnic Koreans who theoretically, at least, would be North
KoreansSo t he South Korean governmentds solutio
Germans had done and welcome everyone lmagknstead to pour a lot of resources

into helping Koreans in Kazakhstan develop entrepreneurial busindtsecreating a

whole program of Saturday or Sunday lessons in Korean language and culture for

children.So the culture could be kept alibat people would be kept in place.
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Q: How was the economy?

BOGUE:The economy was really staggering th€he oil revenues had not started to
flow yet. The western companies were only beginning to come in to take on the
development of the Caspian olil field$e transition from the Soviet system to the
modern, what they considered their modern, system was very difcudtenly, all the

old subsidies fell awaylhe high quality education people felt they had gotten for free.
The healthcare, which was maydifemedium quality but had been available to everyone
for free.Subsidized housingill of those thingsA tremendous safety net that they had
under the Soviet systemwhich for all its faults as everyone said, they all had education,
they all had healthcarSuddenly, that all disappeardthr those who were talented,
energetic, young, well educated, and quick on their feet, that was okay because they
could find a new way to make a livinBut for pensioners, for example, living on a
pittance of a pensiomd too old to find a new job, it was hdtlwas really a very

difficult situation.| think that period of transition was very agonizing for a lot of people.

| remember, for instance, a headline in the paper when the government decided to put in

water meers and charge people for watkse which was something neWwhere was a

huge headl i 8, | AWhaty mrcenatrge uAlloffthese t he air
things had been entitlements and taken for granted under the old dystesia very

rough timre. We saw some painful scenes of elderly, often ethnic Russian women, widows

begging on the streets.

Q: With their little stands witla couplelight bulbs,two or threecigarette®

BOGUE:Right. A few matchesThat was really very painfu¥ou also saw gople who

were working for us at the embassy were astonishifgghave had, literally, rocket
scientists, working as payroll accountants because they could doReatiie for whom

the bottom had fallen outVe had on our guard force a neurosurgdte dators just
werenodt get t iHedadpfamilgto feedde came to work on the guard
force, which was fantastic because our guard force could respond to trauma better than
anyone in town with a trained neurosurgeon on the #g#in, what theembassy

offered for people was stability, wages that would arrive, benefits that would arrive,
being provided the proper equipment if you were in a technical job like an electvitgan.
had people who were just extraordinarily capable.

Q: I think also th& compared to other places, we held an awful lot of respect for the
people.

BOGUE: And Americans were friendly, despite what they heard all those yeamned
out Americans are kind of friendly and furhey like to go out after work and have a
barbecieor something like that.

There was a lot of excitement among the staff too, about doing something new.
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Q: I hope one of the things that people looking at this, in particular the Soviet Union,
wanting everyone the sanfctually the Stans were the grdssneficiaries of the system

because the Soviet system had poured a lot of money in to keep these people from being

restive.They plunked a helicoptéactory into Bishkek They were getting subsidies, as

opposed to other parts of the ethnic grotpgwe e n 6t gett.ing subsidi ze

BOGUE:The Kazakhs had a slightly different take on that becatides nuclear testing.
They had in the north of the country enormously high rates of cancer and birth defects.
Remembethatuntilé was it all the wayntil Gorbadevthat it wasabove ground®o,
Gorbachev stopped the testing, but it had been aboveground testing until therb@60s.
belowgroundesting.Soil in the area was unusable for anim#su could not put herds

out in that part of the steppe because tlilensas so contaminated with radiatidrthink

they felt that because they were rethnic Russians, because they were Asians, they
were considered expendabBan they had borne the health and environmental

consequences of thids one personsaidtomeain e ti me, Al f 1t was so

ithappear i ght o ut s $odlehinkvbotsattyaheyXadt some bitterness and anger
about the way that they had been treated in that regard by the Sohestdiked the
education, the healthcare, all tHadif the testing had been very destructive for thdext
time, we can talk more about what we did about all of that.

Q: I think this is probably a good place to stége will pick this up the next time when
you arrive as the heaof a large portfolio in Kizakhstarirom 1993 to 199AVe have

talked about the background of Kazakhstan, b

doing there and the developments at that tifmne of the questions | would like to ask
would be related to oiHow do you geit out of Kazakhstanwithout letting the Russians
siphon it all off?

BOGUE:A continuingproblem.

Q: I was struck because of my short time in Kyrgyzstan about the role-of non
governmental agencies who went in there for good, or sometimes trying to ddithe rig
thing, but uncoordinated.would like your impression of dealing with them, and the
Christian missionariesAnd many of other thingsVe want to take some time to really
talk about this because this is a fascinating period and very important foolaltew we
got into the whole area.

Al so, as a single woman, I talked to a
said it was not much fun there because the idea of going out and having a goaithime
the Kyrgyz mewas to go and get a bottld¢ wodka, sit at a table and drink it all down.

BOGUE:I had a blast, but we will talk about that more la¥au are right.The culture

of drinking in Central Asia and throughout the former Soviet Union is very strovag
very grateful when | got to myext post, which was Nepal, where the culture of drinking
IS nan-existent

Q: I had my problems witklivovitzin Yugoslavia.
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Today is July 31st, 200Talk about your job.

BOGUE: The embassy was growing rapidly under pressure of all the issuesctthufa

in KazakhstanWhen the Central Asian posts were initially opened, they were meant to

be very lean, small embassigdgsh at was Secretar yBuBthek er 6 s vi si
number of issues and the range of issues facing us in Central Asia, partaulbaly

time in Kazakhstan, | ust Wehadnudearwpapansnoilt s uc h
and a lot of American businesses starting up in Kazakhatarwere adding all kinds of

positions at the embassyne of those positions was to have a chiefombined

political, economic and sciensectios. Anot her reason wasno6t |Just
embassy, but a kind of State Department conundrum that over thefteaitis our

youngest and most inexperienced people who end up in our toughestguiposir

newest embassiec.hey are young, adventurous, often d
school, can often go somewhere wites e the hea
partly natural, partly that junior people are the ones we can order armredeadily

than more senior peopl€ypically, when a junior person goes out to a post, if there is a

sole consular officer or a sole general services officer there, there are Foreign Service

Nationals locally engaged employees, who have 30 years @dreqce to help then®f

course, in a place |ike KadZdhleltabytermjagedor Kyr gy z
staff was also brand neBo there was a little bit of the blind leading the blind, with all

good will on every side to do a good job, but thees a lack of experienckthink it

took a while tcadjustthat.Part of it was creating positions for more senior people, |

understand probably a Two, so in the middle ranks.

Q: Sort of at the major level?

BOGUE:Yes, the equivalenOr alieutenantcoonel level.l had quite a few foreign
posts under my belt already.

Another way we did it was to bring in, for instance to the Consular Section, the State

Department created a position in Moscow and a quite senior consular officer came out

and spent allfohis timei it happened to be a marhen Iwas therég traveling to thee

posts to make sure the Consular Sections were running the way they shéigdamaild

teach peopl e that, 0 Rtaeklydunblank passpsty¥ous ndt t he b
realyneed t o d dHewduld hold kkagning shssi@ns for the local staf.

would go from place to place to place constamlyob he found a lot of fun, fortunately

for him since he was on the road all the tiffileis wasimmeasurable help to us.

Similarly, people who were retired management officers were brought in for six month
stints at a time to help regularize those sectibwss part of that effort in a sense.

helped regularize the missions, which had grown up so fast and without ofteant-fe

of experienced handk was even a time whadSISand the Department of Commerce
were actually going out and simply hiring people on sterh contracts, two or three
years, who had excellent Russidnthad never served in the Commerce Depaninor
USIS before.They were brought in because of their language skills.
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So, those sections were growing too with peopfien with immense talentbut no
experience whatsoever in the embassy.

Q: We are talking about really exciting times for evesyaoncernedBut at the same
ti me, exci tnecasgariyneamyos aralgoimgdotget things done right.

BOGUE:Exactly.A lot of my job had to do with the issues that were facinghes:

nuclear materials and weapons, oil, and those kinds afsiAnot of it was also

essentially trying to help pull the place together, to start operating in the way a normal
political-economiescience section wouldlissions had been off the hobdt theirfirst

few years in existence in doing a lot of the anmapbrting that our missions do:
commercial reports, various kinds of refugee reports, drug reports and other reports we
are obliged to do annuallyhese missions were given a kind of pass for a few yé#es.
were trying to get ourselves in gear and dehalse things, along with the rest of the
missions around the world.

It was a lot of fun, both internally and in termstioé issues.

Q:Letds first talk about your i mpressions of
and dealing with them at variolsvels! i magi ne t hat politically \
to report on.Was there a way you could count who was standing on the equivalent of the

Kremlin wall or something?

BOGUE:I't wasno6ét quite that bad as in the old d

Maybe | cold start to have initial impressions of Kazakhstan itdé¢ibd never been to
Central Asia at alll had been to Pakistan and | thought there might be some similarities.
| was so wrong about that in every way.

| got off the plane and there was the imratgyn officer, a womarShe was wearing a
kind of uniform short shirt and cap, like the old Soviet stled a black leather
miniskirt with high heelsWe | | ;, wedre not in Pakistan.

My very first week there, | went out to the Chinese border on the easteter of

Kazakhstan on a reporting trip about crbssder trade between China and Kazakhstan.

A Kazalh captain in the border guard hosted lunch for Ties man was an ethnic

Kazakh.Of course, vodka was served at lunch, as it wouldHeepicked up higlass and

he held it uBi $o0om;Al h.abivaseanpléalyastiinned, having

been in Pakistan, that someone would make a
ABottoms upo or fBueheaetbally usedtheypbras@B iils e anld tAh | @ h
rahkma® b ei ng bldssing, essdntalipiTbanks be to God. o

I mu st have |l ooked a little stunned, because
the phrase. 0
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| sai d, nYes, Il hhaeehéardeahdopherseldefor eh

One of the fascinating things that had been done in Central Asia was a study by an
American scholar called Nant¢ybin, in which a whole lot of questions were askeao:
instancefi D you want your country to be a democraeynd everyone overwhelmingly
said yes.fDo you believe the newspapers should be able to print whatever thay like?
No. iDo you believe people should be able to say whatever theghiketthe
President®@No. A similar question waido you consider yourself a Muslim@ great
majority ofthe ethnic Kazakhs said ygfo you believe in the statement, there is no
God but God and Mohammed is his propb&zll, not really.fiDo you believe you
should abstain from porkNo. fiDo you believe you should abstain from alcolbdzell,
hell no.

Sowhat you had was an idea people had in their h¢laalithey were Islamic without a
sense of what that meant really, as a result of years and years of the Soviets.

Q:To me i tBossianlfrieride my

BOGUE:I had that moment too, that | was back agary Bosnian brothemsnd sisters
Also, to come to your question about the political scene, the same thing was very much
true on the political scen@/hile people liked the idea that they would be a democratic
state, there was a lot of discomfort with wtiaat meant in practicéthink people really

As time went on and after the vodka fl owed a
it permissible i nHd sdaind,t ofildrti miknkalyouth od r?ed n
al cohol on H&wabpesfecttly aeyiaus. 0

hadndét thought through in their ovacceptni nds ye

if you are a democracy, including papers printing whatever theyAikide time | was

there, there was still a lot bbpe that in fact Kazakhstan would develop democratic
direction.That hope has been very much dashed over the years in Kazakhstan, but it was
still there then and people were very curious about those things.

Although they were very nervous about tisrlike norngovernmental organizations, and
anything not controlled by the staléhere was a strong perception that it wasGheens
the environmentalists in Russia, who had helped bring down communismTthese.
kinds of organizations were always pichal and were always out to get the government.

One of the programs we did once was to bring over a group of women from the New

Jersey branch of Mothers Against Drunk Driving, MADD, to talk about what kinds of

things norgovernmental organizations can, duch a lobby for stronger drunk driving

bils. Peopl e kept asking t heseWhoasmaingyouitodb o got

)

this?’Who i s behhey kWemt?osayi ng, AWhat got me to

was killed by a drunk driver in a trafaccidentSo | just went out and called a friend
who had the same experiend¢e di d t hi s @&hatdvaswa@netdingdhatt hat . 0
made people in Kazakhstan very uncomfortable.
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Q: In many of these places, many groups like MADD are very Ametfdaere is an
injustice and there is something wrong, you do something abdeaybe you go to your
government, but it iThisis bwoyldsaytu&wopdaetboh no, weoQd

BOGUE:I agree completely.

Q: We were hoping something wouldrd®p in a country that we would be tertiary in
their experiencekirst go to the Russia, then go to Western Europe.

BOGUE:I t was & Kapakhstarwasreturning to a remembered democratic past, as
you might saywould be the case in the Czech Republicomething like thawhere they
had a history that was quite different from that in Kazakhgtara whole, there was a
wave of hope for some yeatghink now people have settled into the reality that it is
going to be a very autocratic state.

Q: Alsotoo, the genesis of Kazakhstan really came about reluctdinthas not as

though this was a great liberation, as the Czechs had, and other places really getting rid
of an oppressorActually, the Russians were the people who sort of brought goodies to
them.

BOGUE:Kazakhstan was the last of the republics to secede, as | recall, and quite
reluctantly.l think that there was not, partly because it is a very multiethnic state and
partly because it is a bit of a madp construct, something we are very faaniwith in
Yugoslavialt is a little bit of a constructAgain, not having been a settled people,
Kazakhshad beemomads, to draw the borders of a state is a tricky proposiioa .of

the fascinating things about it was trying to see a new counttyafarefinition for itself.

In many places, there isshared history, ahared language, a shared culture, a shared
ethnicity, and a shared religiofihat was not the case in Kazakhstan where it is so
multiethnic, and there was not a shared past withaits architectural monuments and

the like.What theUnited Statesvould argue, and probably Canada and Australia and
New Zealand, was that then you create a shared civic entity in which there is allegiance
to a political systemBe c au s e t h a therdthegavénmenbtbecame e i t
increasingly autocratic, one of the questions that | personally think remains unanswered
is, what does it mean to be a citizen of Kazakhst&hat is the glue that holds the place
togetheraVhat is the sense of shared past, gsharesent and shared futuMvhen you

|l ook at nation building, as it happened in V
place in a sense in Kazakhstan.

Q: As | found in Kyrgyzstan, was thereah@ith e Kazakhs have the same
they?Othersd on 6t wear i t.

BOGUE: That was again part of the isslfeyou create an identity that is based on being
ethnic Kazakh, where does that leave the-Kanakls? It was much different in
Kyrgyzstan where ethnic Kyrgyz were a much greater proportion ofojelgtion than
others Kazakhstan was much trickier in that regafy. own view is that it is generally
true across the Central Asian republi€grgyzstan was going to be the new Switzerland.



It was going to be mountainous and democrdine mountains a&rcertainly thereThe
democracy part didndét work too well

Q: I have a vision of Janet Bogue going around the country with a lantern looking for a
democrat.

BOGUE:Very few.

Q: What about the role of Islam and the Orthodox Church during the time yeu we
there?Do you see these as being powers or centers of something or not?

BOGUE:No. The Orthodox Church was | think like many Orthodox Churches at the
time, its congregants tended to be female and d¢@adw if you went to an Episcopalian
Church heren Sunday, you would find the same thing.

Ql went to a couple of popesd funeral servi
male there at the cathedral among all thégke elderly Korean ladies.

BOGUE:Exactly, it is women who go to churchnd that was true in Kazakhstan as
well.

| actually went to as many different manifestations of religious practice as | could in

Kazakhstan, out of interest and curiosity as to what was happening after years of state

controlled religionThere was a very safl Catholic Church, which interestingly had

Korean priestsBy the time | left, there was a growing Pentecostal movement, in which

the church | visited had a preacher who was ethnic Russian, but had beenrnietie U

Statedor training in Tennesseéle had adopted magnificently the look of Elvis Presley

with the tremendous sideburns and the slicked backth&r. di dndét wear the | u
he came from Tennessee looking alarmingly, | have to say, like Elvis Presley.

In the case of Islam, of course ttate had controlled religion in the Soviet period and
appointed the imams and run the mosques and sthere had been almost nothing in

way of religious education for peoplEhe great fear of the Kazakhstanis part, expressed
quite openly by governmeofficials and private citizens, was that the Pakistanis, the
Saudis, the Iranians, and others in the neighborhood af Velngeadhered to what the
Kazakhstanis looked on in all cases as a more extreme version of Islam, would come in
and try to create argilar movement in Kazakhstat.is true that some of the new

mosques that were built were financed by foreign mén®egudi money, and so on.
Interestingly, in requesting help in things like religious education and the building of
mosques and the traimgrof clerics, the state turned to Turkey, looking for a ma@dgl.
course, there is a relationship in that they are all Turkish pdgyiehey were looking

for a model that was more compatible with a secular government and what they perceived
as a lesganatic model.
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Q: My understanding is that the Turks, when all the Stans were created, saw this as a
great opportunity for greater Turkeyhey were putting up embassi€his was going to
be a whole new world for theM/hat was happening there?

BOGUE: I would say that the Turkish influence was very strong, mostly in a commercial
way. It was the Turks when others were very nervous about investing in a place like
Kazakhstanlt was the Turks who came in and built hotdlse Turks started all sorts of
commecial ventures in Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstagain, they had somewhat of a
commonality of language and backgrouhthink also that the people in Kazakhstan saw
themselves really as part of Europ@en though they are in Asia, they had European
educationsThey had looked to Moscow for years and yelmw, in the independence
period, the organizations they joined were Western drtesy joined the Organization

for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE) based in Vidiey. joined the
Partnership for @ace, which was the NAT€un operation to help put the military
establishment on a more Western basis with civilian leadership and open budgeting and
all that sort of thingThose were the places they look&tley were looking to Europé.

think it was mub more natural for them to look to Turkey, rather than for instance to
Pakistan.

| hada particular interest, having been in Pakistan, in how the Pakistanis would be
perceived] was in Pakistan when the Central Asian states became indepértuent.
Pakisainis thought this was a golden opportunity for them to exert their influence, and
that they would go and be the big broth&fell, a couple of things happened.

One was that Kazakhstariisio one likes to be condescended tbought the Pakistanis

weresg i ng, AYou ar e oTheyalsoehaught they wdreewaypbeyortdh e r . 0
the Pakistanis in literacy, health, and educatford they werePakistan has an

enormous illiteracy rate.

So for the Pakistanistocome aaxéday , fiDear | i tshdawgoutheway her s, we
after years and yeaTbeyKazahhset bpes deneeday
want to be like PakistamMor e t han half of our popul ation h
degreeWe dond6t want to be illiterate. o

Turkey was a much mogeceptable model for therAgain, Turkey is part of NATO,
Turkey is part of western institutions and the Turks are educated and, in the view of the
Kazakhstanis, a civilized peoplgo the Turkish diplomats, the Turkish businessmen, the
Turkish engineersnade far more headway among the Kazakhstanis, partly for cultural
and linguistic reasons, but largely in the way they presented them3étegsdid not

arrive in a Little Brown Brothers mode.

Q: How would you characterize how we felt about the develofmwee have been talking
about?Various Islamic countries coming in, in their various NGOs, particularly

religious organizations playing arounBid we worry that one day we are taking away

our influence or werWewe&ohdligredgntovtesady, | MGwo |
What was our attitude?



BOGUE:I think the one thing that concerned us and the one thing that | can recall

Ambassador Courtney for instance quietly cautioning Kazakhstani government officials

about was becoming too deeply indebtadrally or figuratively, to someplace like Saudi

Arabia, Iran, Pakistan, and to be careful not to assume they could ride a particular tiger.

As far as others coming, | think we felt at the time, and it would be interesting to see now

in the post 9/11 enronment if there is a different atmosphédtetthere was a free

market in religion like there was in anythingeldef. t er t he Sodwmteat 6s heavy
issue had been removed, people ought to do as they please.

The place that |epthee wiiete this has mwallywpayed outasurt t h
Uzbekistan, whereadical Islam has become, or in a sense anystaiacontrolled Islam,
radical or not, has become the political opposition to the dictator for life, Karfdmov.

there you have the leadersipigesenting itself as the bulwark against Islamic
fundamentalismThat particular development has not happened in Kazakhstan.

Q: Did President Khomeini of Iran make a trip to your area?

BOGUE:I dondét r ec al IThete lwereweriainly Irarcaepresemtgtives

there.l know there has been a great deal of fuss made in the last few days because
Ambassador Ryan Crocker in Baghdad had actual talks with Iranian countéfferts.
actually participated in talks in which Iranian representatives werenpieseause there

were talks about things like shared used of the Caspian Sea, among all the nations that
border the Caspian Sdaemember going to one of those meetings as an observer and
there were all the Iranian representatives there and, quitestimefg, the Iranian
representative was speaking to everyone in English, being a graduate of the University of
California at Los Angeleshere were a lot of issues with Iran about the Caspiaat

was the main contact with Iran.

Q:Let 6 s n o taspiareSeal et washaderriGle ecological disast®id the
Kazakhs understand how much of a disaster this was?

BOGUE:Yes.There were huge ecological disasters all over Central Bsia.was the

Caspian Sed&ven worse was the Aral Sea, which had esagntried up because its

waters had been diverted for irrigatidrne Aral Sea is a lake that straddles Uzbekistan

and Kazakhstarits waters had been diverted when the Soviet government, in the Soviet

way, decided that Uzbekistan in the desert would betton monoculturdt took

massive irrigationto dothdt.t wasndét sui t ed lathoseadaysoff or gr ow
wonder f ul centr al pl anning in Mostmptyw, they s
t he Ar al Sea and cotton wild/l grow. o

So there wathe Aral SeaThere was the Caspian with not only ecological issues, but

over fishing and poaching of sturgediere were all these countries which border the
Caspian arguing about how to divide it up for oil rights, for drilling in the Caspian.
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Then Kaakhstan had the very particular environmeoghstrophef the former Soviet
nuclear testing programs that had devastated the environment in the areas of mostly
northeastern Kazakhstan.

Q: On the environmental issue, how much did the people, the irdqrapailace, know
about the disaster there and what was happening?

BOGUE:They knew because they and their children were Sicky had astounding
rates of leukemia and other cancdiisey had astounding rates of miscarriage and of
children born with severbirth defectsAll the things we have come to understand are
associated with radiation exposure.

We did a whole series of health and environmental remediatiorities Part of that was
our end of the bargain for removing highly enriched uranium Haxakhstan to safe
storage in the United Statdhat is something we can talk a little more abdbat was
one of the personal highlights of my career and a very exciting pr@jeetof the things
we did in return was to provide health, medical andrenmental remediation.

For instance, in the Who Knew category, the air force keeps something called a Tumor
Registry.The air force tracks | think in the United Statiéslid this in places where there
was also testing.think they track the incidencd oancersThey have software that does
this very nicely.Teams would go in and set up this software so that Kazakhstani doctors
could start to trace and track the places that had suffered tumors.

Also, we donated a huge amount of sophisticated hospiigment.Everything from

CAT scanning equipment te another thing that was a constant problem in that region
was kidney stone$Ve donated several lithotripters, which are essentially the machines
you go into to have your kidney stones smashed withagesy.We provided things like
that.We made a huge effort to assist on that side.

Another thing we did was remote sensing, aircraft based sensing with a U.S. Navy plane
equipped with these special sensing radars that could look beneath the surfase and s
how deep the radiation poisoning was in the soil, how far it had gone, and to what extent
it was in aquifersA part of the problem in Kazakhstan was they could not use the steppe
there for grazing anymore.

Q: In the steppes, was the consumer parhefdountry just basically efimits?
BOGUE:Most of the country is just flal.here is a little part around Almaty that looks

like Kyrgyzstanlt is very mountainous, very beautifdlhe rest of it is flat all the way to
the Ural MountainsA huge sectin of northeast Kazakhstan was still not usable for

agriculture because of radiation problemhdh at wasndét true in the

or in the far west.
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Q: Was there much that you were seeing of cooperative effort from the aftermath of
Chernobyl o the side of the Soviets, the Ukrainians, dealing with Bidtthat transfer
over?

BOGUE:ltis an interesting asped¢t. hadnoét really thought about
meet a couple of Russians who had been in the army and had been in the msriidéa

had gone in to deal with Chernobyhey went in with very little protectioffhese

particular officers were from Kazakhstan, although ethnic Russiaey. opted to

transfer over to the Kazakh armyhappened to meet a couple of them later when w

working on some of these nuclear safety and security proj¥etsn fact arranged for

one of them to be treated at WalRgedbecause he was suffering from cancer, probably,

almost certainly, as a result of Chernobyl.

Q: Wewerefinding out these this. In the first place, did you think that the Kazakh
government was making good use of the efforts that we were putting in there?

BOGUE:I think so.We had a number of effortsthink the nuclear safety and security
one was hugel'he environmentadndhealth remediation was hugéur USAID

programs, some were wildly successful; some encountered a lot of resi€tance.

USAID program there was very different from we think of traditionally in Africa or Asia.
't wasnodot ab o u tltwdsaereée bout cksgtryceiring gn eoenoiny. from the
Soviet commandatyle economy to a modern marked based econdhmgt. was a very
difficult and painful process for many people.

For instance, in Kazakhstan, factories and mines would be kept open even if they were
not profitable.Businesses stayed open even if they were not profitalbleourse, in a

market based system that does not happeme of the things were well receivdthere

had been no basic commercial law, no bankruptcy law, and no fundamental banking laws
All those kind of things USAID helped to develdpther things that were more painful as
part of the transition met with a lot of resistaréeliticians do not want to see a painful
transition for people on their watchhat was very tough.

One of thefun things about being in Kazakhstavgs thait was a new country.

Everything was being done from scrat8lmmetimes at the Foreign Ministry, they would
ask us how in the world you did thinghey had a lot of people who had never been
diplomats beforeThey had some very experienced Soviet diplomats who were Kazakhs
and who shifted into the Kazakh servig@ey knew they needed English speakers so

they offered any young men who would otherwise face mandatory military service if they
spoke English to aettain levellf they had been taking it at university, they could do

their service at the Foreign Ministry rather than in the afdycourse, they leapt at it
because being in the army was not much 8myou would go to the Foreign Ministry
andthere would bethree really nice kids who had no idea what diplomatsidixhe.

| remember this coming home to me once when they called me to say they had a problem

with a diplomat at the embasdy. went over to find out what it
wonderwhyl havenét hdhry askmowt Hhitkcsesaheé s t he per
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nameé. 8ai d, ABut that per sontturnedountthatthiam di pl o0 me
was an American who had come over, sort of an adventurer, presented himself at the
ForeignMinistry as an American and talked them out &frated Statesliplomatic

|l icense plate, not by claiming that he was a
worksAny American who | ives he&otheygprlt s a U. S. d
AReaOkhy ? 0

| s ai d,Youohgjve autdhose platés uswhen we request thefe will send

you a note with the per soThényouwiigiveusand descr i
plate, and we will all know the numbé&¥hen that car is sold, we are goitoggive that

pl ate back to you. oo

They saiTdhati Groewantds really good. 0o

It was all brand newe were signing the kind of treaties that we signed with Italy in
1890.We will deliver your mail if you deliver ours; that kind of thinthis was a lobf
fun, but there were a lot of bumps in the road.

Q: Did you find that you or any of the other foreign diplomats were holding the
equivalent of little diplomatic seminars, talking about the work and that sort of thing?

BOGUE:Yes.In a very informal wg. | must say it was such a delightful time because it
was all so informall think it has probably gotten very grand now.

One day, | was flying back late on a Saturday night and the Deputy Foreign Minister

stopped by my apartment to drop off some signeaty papers that | was going to hand

carry back to the State Departmefé had finally gotten all of the last of the Kazakh

sidebs signatures and he | uWhenhearived, Iwaes woul d
in the process of moving furniture araljibecause my belongings had just arrivéel.

just took off his jacket and spent two hours helping me move my furnitimek that

would not happen today.

In those days, it was so amazingly informal and just incredibly cdsuads still such a

thrill for the Kazakhs to be an independent nafioh.ey hadnét kind of got
that you need to act in a grand wae diplomatic community was very small.

Q: This was big fun.

BOGUE: Exactly.

Q: How about the other members of the diplomatic cgopsticularly the Western ones?
How were they?

BOGUE: They were lots of funAgain, in a small community, we all got to know each

other very wellThe first attempt at a combined European embassy took place in
Kazakhstanl think it was the first seriouattempt.The Germans, French and British
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Embassiesll shared one building.hey had separate floors but they shared the
administrative costs of security, parking, that kind of thifg. had great friends there.

The British Ambassador particularly wasery dear friend of minéde and his wife and

| used to joke about the danger of having the Brits run the cafeteria, the French run the
security, and how you could get this all wrolgu had to be careful in how you

assigned tasks.

The Russians were the@nd all the other Central Asians and the ChinElsere were

very few embassies from Latin America, Africa and Southeast Asia, although there was a
Thai Embassyi. recall in Bishkekl think there was only something like nine embassies at
the time.

Q: Wee the Kazakhs concerned about the Chingae®ainly in Bishkek, | think you

have got four million people and they have got two million sitting on just the other side of

the mountaind. t wasnodét because of militare i nvasior
some Chinese start coming over the passes to open up restaurants and laundries or
somethingPerhaps they would be wiped out, there would be so many.

BOGUE: Exactly the same concern existed in Kazakhstae.Chinese were easy to
blame.When people feleconomic hard times, they tended to blame the Chinese for
bringing all thesecheap goods and undercutting the local products and local merchants.
There were Chinese restaurants that started up while | wasThere.was more and

more Chinese businesthere was very little other overt Chinese presence, in the form of
official presenceThere was an embassy, but the Chinese were lying pretty low,
politically.

They did make a striking agreement with the Kazakhs while | was there about clarifying
some issas of the border, which had been disputed, and opening more border crossings.
There had been very few in the many years of tension between Russia and China, and
very few border crossing$here was a good relationship, but definitely with some
wariness ifnot anxiety on the part of the Kazakhs.

Q: Was there much cooperation between the American Embassy and the Chinese
Embassy?

BOGUE:Not so muchWe worked mostly with the other assistance donors in groups.
The Chinese were not in that groWfge worked wih the Europeans, the Turks, others
who were providing assistance, and others who were members of NATO or other
members of the OSCHhere were joint demarches, things like that tended to be based
on OSCE membership or NATO membership.

Q: Did the Russiankave a military presence there?
BOGUE: I am not sure what the actual answer to thakhgy did not have the kind of

thing they had in Tajikistan, where the Russians themselves were the border Duards.
Kazakhstanis had their own border guards who wareof the Kazakhstani government
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apparatusThe Russians were not handling the border, as they did and probably still now
do, in TajikistanAlso, in Turkmenistan, | think they did that as well.

It is a hard question to answ@&here were certainly mihry attaches and the likA.huge
number of the officers in the army had been officers in the Soviet army, either because
they were ethnic Kazakhs or because whatever ethnicity they were, they were from
KazakhstanThey made the decision to come over badome officers in the Kazakh

army. Their personal and professional ties to Russia were certainly very strong.

Q: What about the KGB (Komitet Gosudarstvennoy Bezopasnosti, the Committee for
State Security in the former USSR) or the equivalent thereof?

BOGUE:Only one initial changedt became the KNB (National Security Committee).

There was a lot of overlap in membershilk. wasnét one of those thirt
huge contrasts with something like the Czech Republic or Poland or Hulgemy.had

been in the service of the old regime, you were almost automatically and universally

considered not a person who could be allowed to not be in the service.

| am putting this very awkwardlyzor instance, if you had been in the old Hungarian or
Czech serniees, | think you probably got pitched out and replatfegbu were a

technician who worked on dams or something, you could probably keep yolr job.
Kazakhstan, given the wholesale rollover of people who had been in the KGB or in one
of the security seices in the old Soviet system that had simply rolled over into the new
iteration of thatAgain, they had close relationships with their counterparts in Moscow.

They also had close relationships with us, and a lot of the same worldview, a lot of the
sametraining and tactic3Ve have seen a lot of that in Kazakhstan sifibe.one and

only newspaper that takes advantage of press freedoms suddenly finds that its warehouse
holding newsprint is burned to the ground, so it has no newsprint to publiShroagh

various ways, we came to believe that that had been an effort sponsored by the security
servicesAgain, one of those ideagery American, is your loyalty to the constitution or

to a person or is your loyalty to the state and its people?

One of the mst amazing examples | saw of this was with one of the first group of

visitors we had, and we had a lot because Central Asia was the flavor of the month or the
year.Pete Peterson and his group were trying to find out what had happened to Missing
in Action and Prisoner of War Americans from Vietnam, Korea and the Second World
War. Because of the prison camps in Kazakhstan, they were particularly interested in
trying to find out if there had been something in Kazakh®ate Peterson, then a
congressman, li@re he went out to Vietnam as Ambassador, and that group that worked
on this issue came out and spent about four or five days in Kazakhstan.

| went around with therm.remember at dinner one night, being seated between two
enormous Kazakh generalheylooked completely SovieT heir uniforms were almost

the sameSo picture the huge guys with lots of vodka and lots of methaksy were
absolutely fascinated that the United States was willing to spend all this money to try to
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find out what happened to @ale who, in some cases, were surely déathe case of the
World Warll veterans for instance, just age, let alone whatever had happened to them,
would suggest that by now chances were, they were dead.

| was trying to explain, in my far from perfect $aan, the whole idea of bringing closure
to the families and the social contract of the militgxgu may get hurt, you may die, you
may be captured, but we will eventually find y&vwven if you are dead, we will find you
and bring you home in some wayasother And this is part of the unwritten contract the
military had with its people.

The generals were saying, dAlf we ever stoppe
military, | guess we wil/|l have to start thin
| said, A%Whherbodappe

They said, fAln the old Soviet days, i f we ha

buried him there and not tell his famiW¢hen his mother would come six months later,
demanding to know why she hldshyptiblathehadmam d f r om
away and we hadSoddwthe sm@mthinksihen chidd hasaeserted the

army and has not even bothered to get in touch with her, when in fact all along, lvan was
dead and buried. o

So that whole Soviet mindset was veryanuhere One of the projects that we worked
very hard on through the partnership with the NATO programs was things like that:
taking care of military spouses, children, providing health care for military family
members and decent housing for théththose kinds of things that make it possible for
people to be willing serve, to be willing stay in, and to create a professioral non
commissioned officer corps, the backbone of any military.

Q: I interviewed Admiral Crowe who said the head of the Sovietanyil#aid thatour
main asset wasur non-commissioned officer corps, which is trée. an enlisted man, |
know the sergeants run the outiifetake care of them, wgive them authorityNot only
that but they have responsibilities too, as well as authdtimakes a tremendous
difference.The Soviets sort of leave the soldiers off on their own, at the mercy of the
older guys, and the officers run everything.

BOGUE:The American military was always stunned at what the Kazakh military had
captains and majs doing, what we would have sergeants and staff sergeants Taéng.

of course ran the other wayhe Kazakhs were stunned to see g@dr old staff sergeant
with no college being in charge of a whole group of people, with no officer anywhere in
sight.It was a very, very different approach.

| think that was what Kazakhstan was going through twihlarge in the sense of what
are we as a country, and then writ small in every hospital and department.
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Another example was they did have very well trdidectors, but their solution for

almost everything was to hospitalize ydiere was almost no outpatient treatment.

Once they went to a market model, the costs were just going to go through the ceiling
unless they developed some sort of outpatient nfodéleating rurof-the-mill illnesses.
Something that we would be sent home for, strep throat, we would be sent home with a
pile of antibiotics and told to stay in bed for a wele&ople there would be hospitalized

for two weeks.

Q: Who was the head di¢ government?
BOGUE:Nazarbayev.
Q: What was your reading of him and his coterie at the time you were there?

BOGUE:Nazarbayev was and is quite an interesting chardadéealways presents

himself extremely well in public and people admire himemenber howcontemptuous

he wasHe allowed a little bibf his contenptuousnest show about someone like

Yeltsin and the spectacle he made by being drunk on his aircraft and being unable to meet
the Irish Presidentyeltsin came to Kazakhstan once and wask on the aircraftl hat

is the kind of thing Nazarbayev would never do in public.

| mistakenly thought when | got there that Nazarbayev had only daughters, three

daughtersi t hought at | east we dondét have the sol
who is going to replace the father. hadnét really thought that t
the sonan-law. Actually right now, one of the sons-law is on the outs and the

daughter has made the decision thhjust won a friendly wager with ma old friend:|

saids he can always get a new husband, but she
life in KazakhstanSur e enough, she has divorced the hu
in all this.

Nazarbayev himself presents a very kind of respectabliecontrolled, fit imageYou
dondt see him drinking in public Hxcept mayb
certainly, I am told, drinks in private but not in publte keeps himself very fit.
Ambassador Jones and | used to have our priveskiy staff meeting very early on

Sunday mornings at the outdoor ice skating rink up in the mountdmsvould skate

around without phones ringing and talk about whatever personnel problems or whatever
was going on in the embassy without being interruptetiwithout being overhear@ne

day, as we were skating arouindnd | hasten to say that Ambassador Jones is an expert
ice skater and | am a terrible ice skater, so we were moving slowly because of my pace
somebody came up behind us, linked our aogsther, and skated us dffwas

President Nazarbayev, also up for an early morning sk&gehad a nice chat with him.

He really worked at keeping himself fit.

That said, he is a complete autocks. has worked very hard to centralize more and
more paver in his own handd.ike autocrats everywhere, he has become increasingly
paranoid over the years about thinge.has been very reluctant to let anyone else



become a center of powetis longtime other person he was close to, the Prime Minister
when | was there, a man named Akezhan Kazhegeldin, is now the main opgaent.
typical in these cases, he had a falling out with his closest assatiatamily is very
powerful and very corrupA huge amount of state assets are controlled by them and
funnded into their handsThey have magnificent homes and palaces and theTlies.
coterie around him is also very corrupt and very powerful.

The sad thing is, for me, they could have done a lot for the people of Kazakhstan in terms

of health care, educatiphousing, and so on, because of the oil reverubsige amount

of money and a very small populatidrhey could have really rebuilt the collapsed
infrastructurelnstead, everybody in the government has to have ten Mercedes Benz, not

just one.The moneyhas gone into private pockets and into conspicuous consumption.

There is a large group of young men who were always known as, when | was there, The
Nephewsl think we see the same thing developing in Rus&i@ang men with fancy

cars, huge amounts of mgnend they terrorize the populatidihey go into nightclubs

and if they dondét get wh arbatkinthd lyehawiaitist , t hey s
not unique to Kazakhstan at all, but it is a very sad development for the country.

Q:Let 60s tlear nmatters¥ou said¢his was a move that gave tremendous
pleasure What was the situation and what were you doing?

BOGUE:As | think | mentioned last time, Kazakhstan was one of the four successor
nuclear statefRussia, Belarus, Ukraine and Kazakhs&lhhad nuclear weapons,
nuclear facilities.

Kazakhstan made the decision, | think a very wise one, to get rid of its wehtonis.

two things:one was the legacy of all of the health and environmental damage and the
bitterness left behind’he othewas, as you can see when you look on a map, they lived
in a lousy neighborhood.here was going to be a lot of pressure there to s#livas

going to be difficult for them to protect ithey decided they would do much better to get
rid of it.

The poject we did, destroying the missil&e also had huge projects to increase both
safety in the sense of the way these things, nuclear materials, were h@hdl&aviets

did this with a kind of casualness that they handled a lot of safety isdseseurity. |

was told by people from the Los Alamos lab in New Mexico who had come out that there
would be one rusty padlock to guard whole supplies of nuclear materials.

Kazakhstan had also been a producer of biological weapons and there were biological
wegons labs that needed to be dismantled as well.

Our main projects included, for instance, we cut up the missilesalso imploded the

test tunnelsWhen they went from aboveground to underground testing, they dug what
are essentially mine shafts in ordedo underground testin@nce one is used, it

collapses and it is unusable agains also heavily radiatedt is full. They have still lots

of them.They were not going to pursue a nuclear program themselves; they were starting
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to get inquiries fronsome interesting characters in the neighborhood about renting their
test tunnels.

So they asked us to destroy théf'e had teams come over from tbeited States,

always call them the Dayglyn Mountain Boys, because the test tunnel was at a place
calledDayglyn MountainThe fellows who came over were from Tennessee and they
were all good old southern boys with tremendous accents, but they were experts in
imploding tunnels and sealing them so they could not be tikedDayglyn Mountain
Boys went out the and imploded the test tunnélge did this at our expenséhe U.S.
government paid for all that.

Our most terrific achievemeit thiswas that one daly and one of the things | love
about this story is that diplomacy really can wbrthe science mister was skiing with a

coll eague of mine, and said to him at the en
The fellow Sai ahedaWeldol, no.
He said, AWell, we have around 500 kil ogr ams

be made very ey into warheadsWe would like to get rid of itWe would like you to
have it.We would like you to box it up and take it aw&ynd we would like this all done
quietly so that nobody grabs it in the meantime, or stédtéingf or it . 0

The U.S. governent at first wanted nothing to do withWe could not get anyone

interestedAl t hough that didndét stop alFnallgf them t
the U.S. government agreed that we could move this 500 kilograms of highly enriched

uranium from Kazakhstan to safe storage in Oak Ridge, Tennel$sess a highly secret

project call ed ThOmrasona was eorsecitaspghatronce tbe stuff, the

uranium, is bundled up in a safe way, this is the best time for the bad guys to take it

because it is safe for them to grdlhere had already been cases in the former Soviet

Union of someone walking out of a facility with a briefcase full of unprotected things and

died three days latém a hotel roonof radiation poisoning.

This was goingd be the most handy possibly arrangemiemst the U.S. government

said, Alt candt b eSolhe gribdsgy actually weatlareltbokur ani um. 0O
samples of it and sent them baSkire enough, it wa&inally, reluctantly, the U.S.

g 0 vV e r n me netnegstiatedd dealfinWhich essentially we would purchase it mostly

for environmental, health remediation efforts in the areas affected by that, and safety and

security work with your facilities. o

The whole project was well over a year, including briggiwer a whole crew of fellows
from Oak Ridge, who lived up at the site while they did what they had to do to package
up the uranium in what almost look like little beer késey are lead and make it

possible for you to move it in a safe wayen flyingin C-5s, huge cargo aircraft, one of
which broke downThey were leaving from Incirlik Air Base in Turkey and one of them
broke downlt was snowing that dayrhe convoygoingto the airport had heavy security.
One of the cars ran off the road, fortunatebt one of the ones with material on it.



To make a long story short, it was loaded onto the aircraft and then they flew straight to
the States with midair refueling because of the problems landmgwill remember
Spain and the atomic weapon that gagfy.

Q: | talked to Ken Towall who had to go out and swim with the ambassador because we
dropped a hydrogen bomb off a Spanish behtttink it was fall and the water was
pretty cold.He had to get out there and swim, just to show that it was okay.

BOGUE: The things we do for our country.

So they had to refuel frequently in midaihey landed at Dover Air Force Base in

Delaware The material was transferred onto a truck convoy, highly protected, and taken

straight to Tennessee and pleepundergroundOnce that was announced and Secretary
Christopher, Secretary Perry of the Defense
Energy Department, all did a press conference.

It was very late at night already in Kazakhstan, but we all converged on a celléagju
house and brought some vile, swKgtgyz champagne from the champagne factory
there.It really was one of those moments in your career when you felt like, | actually did
a concrete thing that made the world saf@re hundred kilograms of highly enohed
bomb-grade uranium is stuck away where whoever in this neighborhood, or whatever
rogue elemest cannot get at ifThat was a wonderful thing.

Q: You were saying that there was reluctance on the part of the govermiteitdid
you do?Send offacdbe s ayi ng, Cb ker a nwwéhataapeened?. o

BOGUE:I think the U.S. government just thought this would be expensive, and why

canodot they takeWeadenodéot want hemsVekhave s Avol vec
enough problems with nuclearaterials in our own countrythink our ambassador then,

Bill Courtney, | want to give him a lot of credit for being very persuasive on this issue in

the nonproliferation contextOne of the things we all did when we were in Washington
atvarioustimesvhi | e t hi s was going on, wadooko | ust

at the neighborhoodran. Afghanistan Pakistanlraqg. All these folks in the

neighborhood who have interest in these kinds of weapons and here it is made for them.

They don@tf ihgawree out how to make it themselyv

Q: This is Tape 7, Side 1, with Janet Bogue.
BOGUE:So, in the end, you do what you always do to get Washingtonu s ay, AThi s

going to look really bad in thé/ashington PosAll this material, because weidave
woul dndédt take it, when al/|l of 1t ends up in

Anyway, we did itIt was a magnificent succe8¥e all just kind of sat witlour
champagne on the floor, looking at the press conference on televigidieeéing like
something we had done had really made a differekgain, it was olefashioned human
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diplomacy.It was the fact that one of our guys was out skiing with the Science Minister,
because they had developed a very friendly relationship andikbdyto ski together.

The Science Minister had developed enough confidence over time that he felt he could
pose this question on behalf of his governmientas not something they wanted to
present in a formal waythey wanted to get the agreement qyiathd keep it all under
wraps.

Q: And you were watching the heads of the departments in the States who originally
didndt want to have anything to do with it?

BOGUE:And | have to say the only one who didno
Christophera very modest mawice President Gore, Secretary Perry, and Secretary

O6Leary were all thepackThagoés$ hemae !l h&ipmens i n p
anythingunusual. dondédt mean to be criticizing them |
they did agree, they didndét stint in terms of

Q: Were we doing anything as far as destroying material thehe®e interviewed Jane
FloydI dondét know if you know her.

BOGUE: She was in Moscow.

Q: She wasut with her lusband inthe depths of Siberia.

BOGUE:They were inJlan-Ude,doing the ICBMs (Intercontinental Ballistic Missiles).
Q: Were we doing anything like that?

BOGUE:We did thatWe cut up missiles so they could not be used or salctually

d i d n 6 thosgsiteslhave seen the photos of theGulleagues of mine were out at

those sites, seeing the nosecones being actually cut off with an enormous what looks like
band sawlt was a marvelous project, and credit to the Kazakhstanis for deciding they did
not want to be a nuclear power.

It took Ukraine and Belarus a little longer to come to that deciSio@ Kazakhstanis
were very much out front and they got a tremendous amount of positive press for it.
Internationally they got a lot of positive benefitderms of people trying to be helpful on
environment, health, and things like that.

Q: Was there any effort to get the President of Kazakhstan to go the United States?
BOGUE:He did goHe visited the Wited States lot. He and Vice President Gorecha

developed a special relationshifou may remember that Vice President Gore was the
one who traveled to Central Astde came to Kazakhstan.
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Secretary Christopher cantgecretary Perry came from the Defense Department multiple
times while | was theré lot of the cabinet came through with intense attention paid to
KazakhstanThe Secretary of Commerce came.

President Nazarbayev certainly did travel to tmitétl Statesery frequently At that
time, he was getting tremendous recognition and supponttiie United Statesie still
was touting that it would all be a democratic governmBEms was before the frequent
changes to the constitution that would allow him to stay in power forever.

Q:Al so, the Pr esi de n tAlltoirfgs skegntg bhe mevingiimthewa s al s o ¢
right direction.

BOGUE: It was an exciting time to be there.

| have to say that for sheer fun, | left the department very discouraged about the whole
Bosnian mess, and came to Kazakhdtaithing could have reenergized me about
diplomatic work more than, first of all, the sheer fun of the place.

Chevron had come in to do oil deads part of being a good corporate citizen, they
started a little league for Kazakhstani orphaMs.all coached. coached for three years,
little league We just had a blastVe hiked.We snow shoed/Ne enjoyed local hospitality
everywhereWe had a wonderful timé&eople there were hugely excited about the future.
In many cases)ot all casesWe were excited about it.

| am always reluctant, | am suregple ask you all the timteo, A What was your f ;
postkey are all so different, it Forsheereal |l y h
fun and everything being very new and different, Kazakhstan was really up there.

Q: Thisissortofad@m j ob, isndét it?
BOGUE:Yes.

Q: Were there any reflections, as you followed events from Kazakhstan, about what was
happening in Yugoslavia?

BOGUE:I was foll owing that, although the fight
tour in Nepal This wasthe period in which Dayton was completed and the fighting had

very much quieted dowmwas following it from afar, insofar as | couldfelt glad to

have a break from the Balkargelt confident that the Balkans were not going to go

away as an issuend | would probably work on it again at some stdggeas a good

time to have a break, and especially a break that was so energizing and made me feel

againlike we were doing the right things out theflis work was funlt was important.

We really had aritical role to playOperation Sapphire, with the removal of the highly

enriched uranium, was such a gresample It was all diplomacy in action, and it

showed the work and value of the human contacts that were built up over time.
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Q: Was Ann Wrightn the area?
BOGUE:Ann was in Bishkek at the time.

Q: Later, she went tt)laanbaatarl have interviewedSheAnn, but |
resignedDid you get any feel for what went on there?

BOGUE:What was happening in Mongolia?
Q: Well, what was happemj with Ann?

BOGUE:While she was in Mongol®&Or while | was in Kazakhst&he was in
Bishkek while | was in Kazakhstan.

Q: Excuse me, we are talking about Ir&he resigned over Iraq and so this was not
during the period.

BOGUE:The time | met Ann ws while she was in BishkeRhe had also taken a job in
Central Asia for the fun of coming to Central Asfde became very good friend&/e are
still in touch.And whenever Ann is in town for one of her many political and antiwar
activities, | often seedr. In fact, when | was living in upstate New York, she would pass
through and we would offer her the hot shower, laundry and cold beer treatment when
she was on the roa8he became a very good friend while she was in Bishkek.

At the time, everyone in Bhkek, you may recall, had to come through Almaty because
there were no international flights.

Ql sl ept on the couch in the administrative

BOGUE:Exactly.A great many folks slept in my apartmelnust kept a key hidden.

They wouldarrive in the middle of the night and let themselve$ would wake up and

find colleagues from BishkekVe went there a lot for weekend&shkek was a much

smaller and more remote embassy because of the lack of fifghislevelop a lot of

friendly sprit between and among people there so that they would be a little less isolated.

We had things that tSoneyestaliamssiarted upanAlenatyat t he t
and a lot more shopping@hings like that came to Almaty before they came to Bishkek.

We started out with nothing to®he first winter | was there, you could not find fresh

fruits or vegetablesyou could not buy gasolin@here were tremendous shortages.

was freezing cold because the ciltwascoul dnoét
very, very coldBy the time | left two years later, it was like tifegse photography:

there were TesMex restaurants, bowling alleys, fancy Turkish hotels, and fancy German
supermarketdt all happened in an incredibly short span of time.

Q: Wha about the oil people”Rgain, onmyLufthansa flight to Almaty, it was full of oil
people.How did you find that cultureR is a whole different world.
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BOGUE:It is. The oil business, as they always calSib many of the Americans are

from LouisianaWe had huge contingent of Scots also who came from the North Sea
platforms. That was an entirely new world for me, the world of oil, and the world of oil
and geopoliticsAll the main American companies were thazé&evron, Texaco, Mobil,
which were stillseparate companies in those dayse French and Italians were there.
The Russians were there with Lukoil, Neftoil, and Gazprlinof those Russian
companies were ther&€here was enormous competition to win the ability and
opportunity to develop the dikelds in Kazakhstan and the other countries that bordered
that area.

All the oil politics, for reasons you mentioned in passing last time, were complicated by
geopolitics Kazakhstan is not only landlocked, but it is often described as the most
landlocked country in the world, because it is so far from any tesger port.The

nearest deewater port is Karachi, Pakistanhis means you would have to run a

pipeline across Afghanistafhe prospect of that, both in terms of the geography and in
terms of he warlords and everything else that would happen on the way, | used to always
say that by the time you turned the tap, you would be lucky if one drop came out.

There was of coursan existingpipeline network, and that all ranrbughRussiaRussia
someaimes demonstrated its authoritythe regiorby turning the tap on or off, or
changing how much Kazakhstani oil they would allow thro@fhcourse, they had their
own oil coming fromSiberia andhe Russian Far Eadthey would adjust things.
Thereforetheyreally hadkazakhstanto make a really bad puayer a barrel in this
regard.

The ambassador had a bumper sticker on her p
pi p e lThaeleited Shatesiew wasthatthere should be multiple pipeline ttes.

There should be routes that did not go to Russia so that there were lots of different routes

for getting extracted petroleum to markehat wasa source of huge controverdhe

Russians did not want multiple pipelin@$iey had a monopoly and thekdd it. They

fought very hard against any chanBering the period of RussiaBritish competition in

Central Asia in the T®century, if the greagamewere being repeated, it was the

competition between Russian and the West, essentially over pipelines.

Q: By the time you left, how did the pipeline business stand?

BOGUE:There was still only one pipelin€he route is only now, finally, getting
underway.The person who really knowiis backwards and forwards is Beth Jones.

Q: | talked to Beth, who lsaset up an appointment.

BOGUE:Great.l spoke to her last night and she said that she was very eager to get that
going again.
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The route that we were pushing hardi@sgoing through Bakin Azerbaijan, and
Ceyhan, pronounced chdnan in Turkey Thatwould link into either European pipelines
or could be shipped from Turkish port$iere was much back and forth about the
financing and the international politics of these dealse of the things | learned, that
made oil so interesting, was that it washsigely about politics in that context, and not
about what made sendghe various routes had to be driven by politidsere were all
sorts of questions about whether it would ever be secure to go through Georgia, or
whether it would be secure to go haral there and everywhere.

It is a complicated and fascinating problem, and still not solved.

Q: I guess you were blessed by, and correct me if | am wrong, by not having a bunch of
American oilmen in théeld drilling for you, or were they?

BOGUE:We dd have them, but they were in the far west of Kazakh3taey were not
around AlmatyThey would be flown irto their site and they would stay theféey

lived like people did in Alaska during the pipeline dalisey would work 30 days on, 30
days off; ke flown out and flown home.

| went out to the oilfields onc&eth made multiple trips, but | was only out there omhce.
stayed in a kind of prefab housing that they had brought in for the woltkees very
plain, but very nicelt was certainly cleaand decent housingit that time, a huge
number of the oil workers were Hungarians who were brougfihiere were also lots of
Americans and lots of Kazakhstanis.

Q: With no particular problems?

BOGUE:No, but | got a glimpse of what you are talking abbonce We had a reception

at the ambassador 0Ehis trewrof Ssottismeguywarrived and theyi | me n .
d i dleadethe house until there was no more alcohol in the hdrs they left on all

fours, lhavetosaylt hey di dndt rhhitasaywddy, auntlyey ere offthew

site and they were enjoying life to the fullest.

Q: Before we quit this session, could you talk a bit on social life there?

BOGUE:For us?

Q: Yes.

BOGUE:I found it was harder to get to know Kazakhs than it hazh lbe get to know

Serbs, Bosnians, Croats and Yugoslavians. cour se, they didndét hav
with foreignersThey di dnét have | i ke people from Yug

relative living in Canada or therlited States whbad emigratedndhadgenerally warm
feelingsthat way For the Kazakhstanis, it had been off limits for so many years, | think it
was hardAlso, a lot of people were going through straightened financial circumstances.
It would be kind of embarrassing sometimes if yapartment was tiny and cramped with
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a lot of people in itAs happens in cases like that, an awful lot of our window into society
was through our local staff who did take us to every celebration, every wedding, every
event They brought us home to meheir parents and their friendBhat was a lot of fun.

And we would go along on hiking trips on the weekends and sByotinen, they were
accustomed to us and comfortable withTtse began to see us as being somewhat like
them, in the sense of liking @dor pursuits, being sporty, liking barbecues and casual
entertainingSo there was a lot of back and forth there.

Like a lot of new posts and new adventures, there were a lot of, | would say, characters
who turn up, sometimes dubious character§. m tatkingtabout embassy people but
people who come out to make a quick buck, or because they have gaitsamtygehiry

they want to do, or whatever it iEhere were people who came in hopes of procuring
falcons thereFalconry is a traditional Kazakdnd Kygyz endeavorThere were people

who turned up with all kinds of weird stories and agefitiare was a bit of a Wild West
feel to it.

One of the things we were trying to do was, in a sense, domesticate the embassy, by
making it a place where people coalome with their families and their childrefhere
were some fantastic gpats and other diplomats theféere was also, a kind of group of
people.

Just last week, | was able to see the moMie, Last King of Scotlandbout Idi Amin.

There is a youngdtional character in it; a very young newly qualified Scottish doctor

who gets very caught up in the Amin government, partly because it is a huge ego rush, to

have this kind of power and accedg is 25 or 26 maybe, and suddenly he is making

decisions irthe government and has all this pov&fell, you saw thatl was watching

this with friends who had also been in Central Asia. s ai d, fAWe Weow t hese
have seen these guys. o0

They went out to Central Asia and found that they could, partly bechunséveté on the
part of their host, or partly because th
position that they would never have in the United Stdids.ey r eal |l y di dnd
experience or the capabilitieEhen they found that becauseyh@ad money and they

were Americans, they could have gorgeous women on each arm and they could live the
sort of life they could only have imagineédou did see a certain amount of thEhere

were some unsavory types for surbere were also some very wt@rful peopleAs

always, it was a miXxThat was part of what made it fun.

er e
t h a

| have a wonderful story.hated to leave Kazakhstdhwas such a great postwas then

DCM andBeth was thembassadolSh e sai d, dAWell, I want to or
lunch forswpod, oAl r eal Ihatetheofactihat | analeavingt o do t h
amindeniall dwamtdto doShéradaiod, fAWe h8&ylminggme do s o me
a guest list.o
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So | brought her a guest li8he looked at it and sheisd AWhat 1 n the worl

people doing on this |ist?06 because it was t
with. For instance, an American citizen who was there as an aid contractor had, right in

front of a big sign saying in about five languagei ncl udi ng Engl i sh, dAaDor
treeshereThi s i s a pr ot ede tuehdnseff a Christmasatie&hénar e st . 0

policeman had come to stop him, the American had robbed the policeman of his pistol,
pointed it at the policeman, and essalhtiheld the policeman hostage.

It was that kind of personontheliBtet h sai d, fAYou hsaatied, t hilelste ipse
only thing that is going to make me feel happy to leave is the knowledge | will never
have to see them again.o

Sowehadths uncheon that Beth came to Iramfer to as
sure they were al/l |l ooking at each other say
All these skuzzy characters who had made our lives miserable.

| am sure there are folksé this in Iraq now.

Q: While I was in Vietnam as Consul General, my God, we had all these feople.of

them at that point, they were civilians, but their records went back to siphoning gas off of
my troops when they were going across Europe towBeds . These guys were working

the black markefThen they went to Kore®Vherever the action is, these guys are there.

BOGUE:In every section of the embassy, there was fascination antiviamt to tell a
story from the Consular Sectidnwish we had hd the time to do what you are doing
now with these people.

In the 1930s, quite a few Americans moved to the Soviet Union to be part of building
socialism A lot of them were African Americanfthers were welders and ship fitters
who were white, or Afrian American, whatever color, and they were going to be part of
this great experiment.hey often married locallyOf course, when the Cold War came, it
was a very bad thing to be an American and they had to really lid lay. suffered a lot

in those year, and they concealed their children and their grandchildren.

Q: The kids were known as red diaper babies.

BOGUE:Exactly, the red diaper babiddow that theecountries were independent and
emigration was possible and everything, it dawned on sonte ahtldren and
grandchildren of these people that they might in fact be American citizens; that they
might qualify for American citizenship.

Some of theepeople started coming out of the woodwork who literally had not been in
the United States since 188r 1936.They were coming into see if either they could
make a claim to citizenship for a child or petition for an immigration visa for a child.
Often the children or the grandchildren wanted to emigrate to the Stalways wanted

to hear their stoes.Their stories were remarkable.
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| remember one fellow.was helping down in the Consular Sectidhey were swamped
and very understaffed had taken on the project of speaking with this AmeriGére
consular staff knew | was interested in thesesaand they would often call me and say,
AWebdbve ddt dome.6Gd happen that often.

He had brought a black and white picture with him for a new pas#pe#s entirely the
wrong sizelt was one of those great big old ones from our old passptatsaid he
guessed he would have to go back to the village and get a new picturd szadeno

there was a place right next to the embassy where he could have his passport photos
made; they knew the right sizes, and soHsaid he would have to waitaeek or

more while they developedit. sai d, ANo, actwually i1t is call
They will give it to you right there. o
|l remember he just | ooked at méletmhrd sai d, Al

idea.He was from Detroit.

Q: A lot of them came from the industrial placds. | ot of t hem had said,
futur e, aTnhdttypetof people west thére and they got caught.

BOGUE:Remarkable human stories théréith this fellow, we spoke in Russian all the

time. His English was stillthere. woul d switch to English somet
enough Russian, and he could understandHaevas much more comfortable in Russian

after all these yearsle would reach in English for wordde just could not summon

them up any mordde was an older gentleman at the time, but a fascinating man.

Just as | felt the highly enriched uranium was a huge highlight, wesessedhe first

ever adoption by an American family of a Kazakhstani clslte was a seveyear dd

girl of mixed ethnicity, which is what made her adoptabtemember when the parents

got the visa and everythingmbassador Jones had said she would like to meet them, the

parents and the chilfpr thisfirst-ever caseUp we wentAmbassador Jonesopped

down to her knees to be at the ¢trbmeimkds hei gh
the little girl saying that she had just one question about Amé¥aa:there chocolate

thered r emember Beth saying, indd&assian, AO0Oh s

That was also incredibly exciting and wonderfully gratifying.

Because we coached the kids at baseball, we had been in the orph@hegegere

clean.The people who cared for the children really did care for thiemwas not

Dickensianinanyway x cept t hat t hey Sjoudthedied mwétr emauv e a
exttasTher e werenot stuffed &othended tlzatsonerof book s,
these children, who otherwise would spend their whole life in an orphanage, could be

adopted, was really very exciting one for us.
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By the time that left, the whole embassy was in ta&liesswere so excited aboutfit.is a
wonderful storyl felt the same way about that that | felt about the uraniumonderful,
delightful story.

Q: Was there much in ¢hway of students from Kazakhstan going to the United States to
study?l am thinking of Georg8orosand his foundation.

BOGUE:Not yet.It has become much more so latébne of the problems was very few
of them had much English at that stage.

| will ju st digress for a minute, if | magne of the most interesting social changes in
Kazakhstan was in the financial status of women because of Ergiiglish was the

subject girls took, and they became interpre®oys took engineeringsirls took

Englishor French and became interpretdirsvas a low status, low paying profession.
Suddenly, when the oil companies and the embassies came in, they wanted people who
had good language skill.h ey di dn 6t oitmphnies md ther ewanr s :
engineersThey needed interprete’snd the people who weigetting those jobwere

women, and the pay was very, very goddddenly, the women who had always had the
low paying jobs were vaulted into a much higher income bracket.

| remember having a bunch of tleeal staff over to the house for dinner or something.

The women, sometimes talking a bit about how much strain it caused at home that

suddenly they were making a huge amountof mokley.y be t hei r husbandos
disappeared in all the restructuriignglish became the most sougtfter skill. Suddenly,

people were taking English a mile a mindtthink we will see more Kazakhstani

students, but it is hugely expensive to come to the Stdtdésnany had good English at

that point.

Q: This is probably a god place to stop.
You left when?

BOGUE:I left in 1997 to go to Nepal.
Q: Okay.We will pick it up then.

Today is August 20th, 20QFanet, you are off to Nepal in 199%hat is your job and
how did you get it?

BOGUE:| went off to be the Deputy CHief Mission in Nepall lobbied shamelessly, |
must say, for Nepalt is actually a smaller post than Kazakhsiamad, since childhood,
a really strong desire to go thevéhen | was eight years old, living in Gig Harbor,
Washingt on, oJlutelergadwal dne of thesAmsricams who summited
Everest in the 1963 American Everest Expeditiorthe days before guided climbs on
Mount Everest, this was a huge dddiere were newspaper headlines all over the
country every daylt was like the irst moon landing to know where the climbers were.
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This guy lived next doote was in his 20s then, but we had known him when he was in
college.His mom was my algebra teachaterin high schoolHis dad was the shop
teacherThis was a really small ten in those day3iVe were just ecstatic that our
neighbor, who used to play basketball with us, had climbed Mount Everest.

| developed this huge fascination about Nepaas reading from that time everything |
could about Nepao when the opportunitgame up to go to Nepal, | really jumped at it.
Like many things in the Foreign Service, it was a match made by friends.

The ambassador going out was someone | didnbo
common.l might add a Seattleite, born and raise&@attle.

Q: Who was this?

BOGUE:Ralph Frank was his namde completely beat the odddnlike so many
ambassadors, he had two first names instead of two last ndeness a University of
Washington graduate with a wonderful story, if you have a chanogerview him.

Q: Where is he, do you know?
BOGUE:He is actually retired and in Florida noke does come up regularly.
Q: If you have an address, let me know.

BOGUE:He has another story you would particularly apprectdie dad died when he
wasa babyHe and his mom were on welfare for many ye@hsough the opportunities
afforded by good public education in the public schools and at the University of
Washington, and the Gl Bill, he ends up twice being a U.S. Ambasstelt .a
wonderful guyjust a terrific guy.

People we knew in common thought that we would be a good balance for one another,
which turned out to be the case.

Q:In 1997, vihat was the situation in Nepal?t 6 s not a calm |l ittl e col

BOGUE:The great sort of Shanglta, hippie trail, Nepal was no more in a sense by
then.Although it was not severe yet, there was already an armed Maoist insurgency in
Nepal, which was cutting a path of destruction through a lot of central parts of Nepal.

This is not the part the tourists gg hot the mountainous pahh. the central and most
impoverished parts of Nepal, there was already an armed insurgency that was destructive
and got worse and worse and worse, until late last year when a peace dealllyas
concludedThere are still ot of bumps in the road, but there has been a lot of progress

in the last yearThings were getting worse then.

Q: What were the roots of this Maoist thing?
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BOGUE:I think a combination of thingg. dondét put a | ot of stress

The Chnese were, of course, neighbors of Nepal, and the first to disavow this movement,
which modeled itself on the Shining Path movement in Pewas sort of classic Nepal.
Nepal is sort of like stepping back in tinteis sort of ironic that in Nepathen
everyoneelsehad abandoned tlemmmunist and Maoist modeNepalwaspicking it up

40 years after everyone else had decided it was not such a goddvdakl say among

the leadership of the Maoist movement were ideologically committed Mabinsank

and file tended to be illiterate and impoverished people who would not, for the most part,
have been to explain Maoist doctrine, but they had a lot of grievances.

One of the newspapers published a list of the dead of the Maoislinsidiepal, you can
often tell what ethnic group @astesomeone is from from their surnanmgust went
through the listAt that time, it was maybe only 200 peodleoted that far and away one
ethnic group dominated the list of the de@lde group was calletthe Magars.lt is a

group that has been shut out of economic andiqall participation in Nepal for years.
They are terribly downtroddeiihey are not like th&lntouchablesn India. It is not that
sort of thing, but they are an ethnic group that is at the bottdhe dveap.

Interestingly, in talking with one of the American Jesuit priests who came to Nepal in the
1950sto start higher education there, he told me that almost all the converts to
Catholicism in Nepal since he had been there, were also Magarsnse, it is a group

of people for whom the system is not working in any v&gme chose a different

religious expressiorBome chose to join an insurgenan insurgency that promised all
sorts of things that, | used to saye could not disagree wittiree public education for
everyone, including girls; an end to bonded labor which is still very common in the
countryside, including the bonding of children; campaigns to promote literacy for adults;
clean drinking water; access to health, all those kindsitgs like that.

| suppose what made them Maoists was their insistence on single party government, that
the Maoists would take ovandinstitute single party government, and the fact that they
called for tremendous land reform and land redistribution.

Q: Where did the leadership come fromPeru, with the Shining Path, so many
intellectuals came out of the university.

BOGUE:That was the case in Nepal as well.
Q: Were they coming from India or Britain, or were they local?

BOGUE:They were NepalisThey were from th8rahmancaste; that is the highest
caste They were highly educate8everal of them had PhDdost had studied at Indian
universities, which | assumed accounted for their virulentladtannationalism
because¢hey had gone off tthdiaandhad been treated as the little brown brothispal
historically and for good reason, had a very strong chip on the shoulder about India,
which dominated it and condescended to it for generafidrey were absolutely from
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what would be considerdte upper class people in Nepahe of the interesting things

when the tactics used by both the Maoists and the police, and later the army in combating

the Maoists, were hugeflestructiveof their own rank and file. often wondered, it

would take anmthropologist or a sociologist to really look at this, but the leadership on

both sidesvere theseducatedrahmans, or Chhetrenother higlcastegroup then the

rank and filtendedo be fromcastes hat di dndét have those soci al
educatonal backgrounds.

| often wondered i f there wasndt a sense on
These folks were cannon fodder and not as imporféwatt is probably unfair to the

leadership on both sidds seemed to me that their approaehs awfully unconcerned

about preserving liveg:or instance, the United States donated body armor to the

Nepalese government for use of its solditrsat in warehouses for months and months

and monthslt was not distributedAt one point, when some walistributed, it was only

distributed to officers, not to enlisted personnel, until our folks raisedTtedl; said an

American army officer would not go out on patrol wearing body armor if his or her

sol di ers diadnotdlth etyay el shotleaydhlegn awoudl dndét say,
is more valuable thayours 0

Q: Can you talk about Ambassador Frank and how he used you as DG
relationship at ag embassynd always done differentlidiow did you find it worked?

BOGUE:Ralph had been in theavy.We divided things along sort of traditional navy
patternsThe Captain and the Executive Offic&éhat is, Ralph took on the traditional
duties of the ambassador, particularly being the public face of the embhisskeally
left me with a free hahto run the embassy, to make sure that was all taken cansax.
certainly included and acted in the policy side of thifigsas a very small post and |
had to be ready to step in whenever he was away.

Ralph had served in Nepal befokHe had beethe managemeumifficer there He was a
career management officéte had chosen me in part because | came out of the political
side and he felt that would be a good balafree of the things he could offer me, in a
sense, was some mentoring and guidanaaamagement, which he dide was a
marvelous manageaf human being and programgie taught me a tremendous amount.

He also did a wonderful thingdaving been the management officer there before, it

would have been very easy for himmeddlein the maagement side of things, but he

left both me and the management officer both a very free kamds funny sometimes

when we would find memos in the files, when we were looking for something, there
would be a memthat Ralph had writtefrom years before-de was an excellent

ambassador for all of us in the embas$y.was a very warm and caring person who

spent a lot of time with new employees, junior officers, communications people, office
management specialists, everyorde.devoted a lot of time to theamd a lot of time to
families.He really was terrificHe was the kind of person who, when one of our staff
member sd6 spouse wa s, leaviagchenwihwe ybung child®@rg n g k o k
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Ralph just sent his cook over to tata@e ofall the meals while thepouse was in
Bangkok.He worked really hard at makiniga great place to come to work.

Q: When you say Nepall have been doing these oral histories for a long filhe c an 6t

help but recall one political ambassador there, a lady, who was renownbdifg sort

of like Catherine the Greakt.am not sure if she reviewed the entire royal guard in her

bedroombut he point being | O6ve al ways rather admi
many of our political ambassadors, who were male, who changed sesetth over the

place, particularly in Scandinavia, that it was nice to have a lady. A sort of sauce for the

goose and sauce for the gander

BOGUE: Shedés still a |l egend in Nepal, I have
unhinged because when sireshed her tour she decided not to leave Nepal and pitched

a tent on the grounds of the ambassadoroés re
kitchen. The staff just fed her. For some ti
This is | egend, | wasn®tm tshoerrrey ftoor Thahvies ,milsasn
legend is, and t 6 swidedyttaldinINepal that she strolled nudie Lady Godiva, only

covered with her hair, do wlhwasithesstreetthatthe k nown a

American hippies went to for their drei@nd their souvenirs and things wh&thmandu

was sort of the end of the hippie trail; Celebrated in Janis Joplin songsirzgsllike
that.When she had done that for the second time or so, it was declared time that she go
home.Somehow, she was persiga to get on a plané/e actually had a lot of thaA lot

of Americans came to Nepalknow they go to India as welnd | know they go to
Jerusalem and try to walk across the Jordan River at Easter because they think they are
JesusThis is somethinghat you would have seen a lot of in your service as a Consular
Officer.

A lot of Americans sort of had a Nepstiaped hole in their heart, fett they did, and
came because it was regarded as a spiritual place to cure what aile@hbgraften
stoppedaking their medications before they even landgd.dealt with a lot of
Americans.

Q: You had to deal with yourself from a very early age about this Nepal thing.

BOGUE:Right, exactly. Although for different reaso8e did have people often.
Another hing was that it was cheap to live thénde sometimes had people with mental
health issues who would come to our attention eventually.

Q: While we are on the subject and as an old consular hand, beilvg-aonsul, | would
imagine you got involved tod?vouldn dmagine that there would be a very good
support system in Nepalow did you deal with problem cases, mental cases and drug
cases?
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BOGUE:If there were no other reason for having an embassy in Nepal, it would be there
for American Citizen Serees.That was the most important and, in many ways, the
biggest part of our job, for exactly the reasons you say.

First of all, because of mountain climbing and trekking, there are a lot of opportunities
for people to get sick and injured and de did®dt have so much the
embassy had in the 1960s and 1970s, when Nepal was a huge hippie destination and
people often sampled for the first time full strength heroin or something, and died of
overdoes in considerable numbéfge did have a loof deaths.

Embassy Nepal is famous as having what is always described as the only morgue of its
own in the Foreign Servicé.is not in fact a morgust is a refrigeration unitit is a two

drawer refrigeration unit, because it is hot in NeN&pals cremate their dead

i mmedi ately, so there are not facilities
for many yearsMore typically, Americans want remains returnedorder to provide a

way to store them until they could be returned, the esyactually built a refrigeration

unit with the two drawers thert.was in regular use.

We used it for American dead, but also other embassies would cébwsvould get this
call from some poor duty offi caseyoorn t he
refrigeratorHav e you g oWewouldygo cver thereeaPdhelp them with that.

When | first got there and when we did hdveow there are more senior consular
personnel theré but at the time | got there, we had very junior vice conguttbassador
Frank and | got very involved in consular cases, partly to just help the younger people
with a more senior handt.is not an easy thing to do, to call a family and make a death
notification. It helps to be a little older and to have been adaine world a few times to

do that.

One of our vice consuls, a delightful person who did a marvelous job, there was one
person who would embalm bodies, and she actually had to go for an American being
embalmedShe told me she had fainted when her caagghot at the vet.thought,

fWell, thisi s going to work very welb So | went with her to provide moral support
and help her outecausehis was something she was going to have to do subsequently.

|l am a doctor 6s da u gthmaehd carmcopm with ghis moreaeasilye r y
than she didShe turned into a terrific consular officer and did a greatSble. just
needed a little hand holding at the start.

When people were hospitalized, we brought them food and we helped them do all those
kinds of thingslt was the same with prisonei#/e took them food and medicinewas

not that the Nepalis were not eager to help, but as you say, the infrastructura jash 6 t
there.
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Q: What about prisonsWere Americans kept a long timé/as it oneof those things
where they were arrested, put in jail, and then try to get them the hell out as soon as they
could?

BOGUE:The Nepali approach tended Theymighe, fiLet 0s
stay in prison for a few days or weeks, but it was wenysual tdhavea longterm

prisonerThi s was a burden t hatTheyheally Meeepvaxyt i s r eal |
fearful that someone would fall ill or something because of water ofrlfootk ilinesses.

They had a lot of illnesses in the prisons juestduse of overcrowding, so they were very

anxious to be shed of these problebs.the old consular officer thinget them out of

here.Let them go and cause problems in Thailand or somewhere else.

During the time | was there, | can think of no letegmprisonersWe had shorterm.

Q: Just a technical thingvr. X dies there and is put in your refrigeration urihe
family says, Ho®ddydugbtiMmX fnrom yoer.redrigeration unit back
to the United States?

BOGUE:There were coffins ailable.We had body bags in our storeroom at the
embassy, and we had coffins, in order to do just that.

Q: You could put them on a plane?

BOGUE:We would put the body on a plane at that podnhumber of families chose,
which we frankly encouraged berse of the expense and the storage problems, to have
the person cremated locallywas much easier to return the ashes.

When | got there, my predecessor told me that in my loweh&aftl desk drawer were

the ashes of an American who had been cremdiaa gears beforeHis sister had said

she would come to Nepal and scatter his ashes up in the mountains, which is what he
wanted.She had to save some money for the trip and get time off, all that kind oflthing.

di dn 6 whaklwassupposed to do witDennis in a drawer in my desk, which turned

out to be quite funnyl.never got a security violation the whole timfidhe marines were

completely freaked out that | had ashes of a dead personinmydesk.di dndt bot her
at all. They had been there @longWhi | e | was t her e, Denni sdo si
and t ake DShetookthdém up enla &ek and scattered them in the mountains.

He was finally put to his proper rest.

He was my company on the weekends when | was working.
Q: Not to leae the consular side, because I find it interestigyou say, it was a major
job there.What was the community lik&hings had changed;he 1960s and 1970s was

full of the young people and the hippies, and that sort of ttHogt would you typify the
group of Americans who were there during your time?
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BOGUE:There were a lot of longme residents who had come in the 1960s and 1970s.
They had come as Peace Corps volunteers, working for NGOs, or come on a personal
trip. They fell in love with the placena stayed.

ot

The first day | was i n Nepal, I t hought ,
| i fTeereavere all these people, my age and older, who had come as hippies and stayed.
Again, Nepal was a very pleasant place to liveias inexpensi to live therelt is a

very laid back cultureThere was a lively epat community.

There were also large numbers ofgats who had come to study Tibetan Buddhism,
because there were large numbers of Tibetan Buddhist exiles in Nepal, and a lot of
monaseries and teaching centers théreere were American missionaries in Nepal.
There were lots of people working in NG@®ople fall in love with Nepal.

Did you ever go to Nepal?
Q: No.

BOGUE:People fall in love with it, and | understand why. | fellone with it too.
People always say they come for the mountains; they come back for the péeple.
Nepalis are extraordinarily gracious and generous, a wonderful pPeplgle just fall in
love with the place.

It is also, despite all these years ofrten, one of the most exotic places on the planet,
and still is.It has hung onto its own culturewould walk to work many mornings, and

all the housewives on the street would be taking their little plate of offerings of marigold
petals and things down the little shrine, and sprinkling the@uys who workedor

Barclays Bank, the Nepali men, wouldibe threepiece pinstripe suit, with marigold
petals in their hair.

My neighbors had a huge problefhey had a little fence around their compouFite

wall had a little vnotch in it.People had taken to dumping garbage thEnes was, the
way | though of it, a classic Nepali solutdnn st ead of putti ng u
dump your garbageo or having a mduhaypdt o
up a little statue of the god Ganesh.

p sign
r some

Q: This is the elephant god?

BOGUE:The elephant god who brings luck and happinEégsryone loves Ganesto
people stopped dumping their garbagstead, they would just leave a few flowerhis
was ®rt of the way Nepalis solved their problems, which | thought was just charming
and absolutely lovely.

There was a longstablished American gxat community theraVe also had the huge

waves of mountain climbers who came in from Seauiebrother was anountain
climber.I actually knew quite a few of them when they came througpent a lot of
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time with themOf course, that was a very high profile, that consular work was part of

our job.Whenever anyone disdained consular work, | used to point théme tlohn

Krakauer bookinto Thin Air, where the consular officers and the consular local staff are

thanked profusely for their efforts in the rescue, that great Everest actider.ai d, A Thi s
kind of publicity for t he&hatwas@biggpoof@eur nment yo
job.

Q: Again, still on the subject of mountain climbimgpw did that involve you all?

BOGUE:It did in a consular sense, when there was an accidalgh Frank was a very
proactive ambassaddiie wanted to get out and see Amans.One of the things he
actually liked was that he was a regular gdg.was not somebody with lots of last
names who went to all these exclusive schools, which ordinary Americans could not
relate toHe was this kid from Seattle who happened to liberForeign Servicdde
made a real effort to invite people over to the house&d to see a lot of the climbers.
We tried to stay in very close touch with the various groBpsause of the advent of
satellite technology, you could actually email peophile they were on the mountain.
We actually got consular notifications that wiye would get an email from base camp
from somebody with a laptop and a satellite upliftkey would send us an email and sail
that something had happened and could we \Wilpthis and that.

Q: Were you getting lots of inquiries from concerned parents and others?

BOGUE:Not so much with the mountain climbetssually, their families have learned

wily-ni I 'y over the years whaCerthityanittb s about wi f
trekkers.We got an awful lot of thémy son or daughter went to travel through Thailand,

Cambodia, Laos and Nepfle havendét heard f Caniyoufindem i n t h
themd It was the old needle in the haystack probl&hat was the more typal inquiry.

Q: Were thergroblems with the Nepalese governmanfar as climbing, or was that
pretty regulated?

BOGUE:It is a huge moneymaker for the government of Nepal, because there fees to
climb the big peaks, Everest, Makalu and Annapurnatfadther 8,000 meter peaks.
They were very helpful and cooperative about the climbing.

You might be interested as a consular officer that we also took care of Everest accidents
on the Tibet side of Evere§the consulate in Chengdu was eons away andnigtwere

we much closer, but we were very familiar with the drill about mountain climbing
accidentsWe had arrangements with the Chinese authorities so that they would permit
the bodies to be brought kmthmanduThat worked out very wellAlthough the otal

legal consent and knowledge was with Chengthis was something Consular Affairs in
Washington knew about as wdhformally, our consular district just bumped slightly

into Tibet.



Q: How about rescues®/as there a drill2Vas there an apparatudsr dealingwith
mountain accidents?

BOGUE:On the mountain, the mountaineers have to rescue themselves or each other.
There is nothing the embassy can do except organize, for instance, a helicopter to fly to
base camplhe helicopters, because of the atteu- in fact, therescue in thénto Thin

Air case in 1996 set a record for high altitude helicopter reStigeNepalese pilot was
doing things like taking a pen out of his pocket and throwing it out of the helicopter
before hdeft to reduce the weighlt was that desperat&hey were just shoveling
everything, flashlights, everything off to do that rescue above the base camp level.

Normally, the highest they could get to was base c&wen that is iffy, and of course
the weather plays a huge roléne altitude is very severe theihat we could do at our
end was engage the Nepalese Army and the private helicopter companies in getting
assistance upVhat commonly would happen was a trekker would break their leg
somewhere and would need a helicoptscue.Or a trekker would get appendicitis and
need a helicopter rescu&'e would organize that side of things and organize their
medical care.

We sometimes went along in the helicopter and sometimes | did that too, when we were
shorthanded. kept a litte bag with my hiking boots, a parka, and waork clothes in

the office and oce in a while would jump into a helicopter and would assist as well, if it
were low enough altitude that you could carry the extra passenger weight and it looked
like someone wagoing to need helther times, a doctor would fly up if somebody

was going to need medical care right on the ground.

It is tremendously exciting consular wotkis fantastic consular experiende.
encouraged lots of junior officers to go there beeaus see everythin.ou see every
possible permutatiori.had done my consular tour in London where you ring up the
British hospital. They were very well set up to handle accideftss was the complete
other extreme, where we did an awful lot of itselvesWe bought medicines at
pharmacies and took them to the hospitals for ped@péebought clean dressings, all
those thingsln Nepal, the part that tHamily was expected to do, we did for Americans.

Q: What about the Peace CorpkRave done orahistories with people who talk about

being pointed up the mountainside and tol d,
We were putting our people in very remote arébsy did you find the care and feeding

of our Peace Corps people there?

BOGUE:It really was the old Peace Corps in that sense that they would fly to a
provincial center, take a bus for a day and then start walking to their vilagsuld
often be t wo oThe bigdest eorcerd ambasadowrradnkand | had was
developingan evacuation plan to include how to communicate with them, how to get
them out if they needed to get @st he Maoist threat grew moréhe permanent threat

in Nepal is a devastating earthqualdew would you get people out and questions like
that
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ThePeace Corps volunteers either loved it or hated it from the first mitinien | was
in Nepal, of all the Peace Corps programs in the world, it had the highest finsbstk
attrition rate, but it also had the highest extension rate for a thirdSe#ryou liked it
and made it through the first six months, people tended to stay l&kgdrad fantastic
Peace Corps volunteeifhey were doing such terrific projects in the environment,
forestry, health, and all sorts of thing$ey really were out ithe boonies.

When | took vacation, | would go trekking and | often would arrange my trek to drop in

on some of themlo ensure my arrival was welcomegrrived bearing chips and salsa,

M&Ms. | once took a whole padill of M&Ms, which turn out to weigla lot.| was

greeted with raised arnasd loud shouts as you can imagifieere were two volunteers

there and they coul dndét meet me for breakfas
consumed M&Ms and they were so oglaysTkey t hey <co
were great people, just fantastic.

It was the oldest Peace Corps program in Asimemendous number of wekhown

U.S. diplomats are alumni of the Nepal Peace Corps, as you probablyRketawFurley,

Peter Thompson, ViEomseth There isa long line and | know | am leaving out some.

There is a long list of American ambassadors who were Peace Corps volunteers in Nepal
early on in the 1960s and early 1970s.

| cover this later, but | went back to Nepal for a brief period as Chargé fomtlorgtes

in 2004.Right after that, we unfortunately had to close the Peace Corps program because
of the Maoist problem and security problems for the volunt@éesy are just now

looking at the possibility of reopening it, which | think woulddveat

Q: At this point were the Maoists working in that area?

BOGUE:They were really in five central districts in the central part of Ndgey were
districts called Rukum, Rolpdajarkot, and they were very powerful but only in those
regionsWe d i d ndytPeabeaCorps vaunteers thaiée brought them out of those
regions because of the Maoist concénthe time | was in Nepal, the Maoist activities
were pretty much confined to that ar@mce in a while, they would try to light a stick of
dynamite in lhe capital to flex their muscles a bttwas later, after my time there, after
2000, that they really extended their activities across the whole country.

Q: You were there from 1997 to 20007
BOGUE:Right.

Q:Let 6 s | ook Whatwete hrelating vatlp thetgavernment and our interests in
Nepal?

BOGUE:When | was there, King Birendra was still livinthis was the one who was
murdered in 2001 by his own son, the Crown Prince, in a massacre of the royal family.



He was still living and | thing waa really constructive figuréde had been an absolute
monarch and in 1990, in the face of street protests and against the advice of his family
and courtiers who advised him that if he just shot enough people, this would all go away.
He instead chose towg up absolute power and create a constitutional monarchy and
democracy in Nepallhere was a sort of British system with a Prime Minister and
parliamentary party system with a constitutional monartle. king still did hold some
powers.He was still the smmandeiin-chief of the army, and so oking Birendra

exercised those with a very light hamhtk felt that he needed to give democracy a chance
to flourish.Particularly because he had been an absolute monarch that any indication of
heavyhandedness byirh would be misinterpreted as trying to regain his former powers.

| think personally he was quite devoted to the welfare of the people of Nepahot say
that about most of the rest of the royal famihcluding his successor

Q: What was the influare of the rest of the royal family?

BOGUE: There were some members who devoted themselves to good works, but they
were in the minority in the royal familfvost of them devoted themselves, the older
generationto enriching themselves, and the youngeregation to fast cars and hard

drink and drugsThey formed this group of swaggering young drunks who would barge
into bars and beat people dfge man who is today th@own prince Prince Paras, the

son of the present kingvas quite famous for vehiculaomicide while under the

influence of alcoholHe had, while drunk, ran down and killed the most popular pop
singer in NepalOn another occasion when a policeman tried to stop him, he actually
held a gun to the head of the policeman and threatenedehiBhi$ was the kind of
behavior thaté

King Birendra had done things like when he returned to Nepal from getting his education

abroad, he had walked the whole width of Nepal on his own two feet to better acquaint

himself withhis country.He was a much nme revered figureThe rest of the royal

family is not.It is unlikely the Crown Prince will ever becorkimg because | think the
monarchyoés powers will disappear and the mon

Q: What were you seeing in the politicdklihere at that time?

BOGUE:The parties were mostly scrapping among themselves internally for position
and splitting upHave you ever seen the meyThe Life of Briaf It is a Monty Python
movie set in the Middle East and Brian is a sort of J8kedigure, or is mistaken by the
people as Jestike figure. There is a great scene in there when all of these radical
political parties are splitting until finally, each is a party of ortee fellow is saying,
ANo,l noom t he Peopl &\d,3$amlihe Demoaatic Liberatidn Fronh t .
f or t heThd&®was goit @& happening in Nepahere would be the Communist
Party of Nepal Marxisteninist; the Communist Party of Nepal United Manrtishinist;
the Nepali Congress SuemdSuch BranchThey were splitting and fighting, mostly
about who would get to be the leader, the prime minigteras very unfortunate because
the parties were not addressing the real social problEmese are very genuine problems
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with poverty and development in Nep&hey were not answering the hopes of the
people that democracy would improve their lives.

Nepal is one of those places where you get inspired as an American, and embarrassed at

the same time, because people finally got the chance to choose their owmuate

They voter turnouts were immeng&eople would walk for three miles and stand for three

hours in the hot sun for the chance to choose who their leaders wollldaseobserving

an election in a village once and the mayor and his wife invited erefovtea in the
courseofthedayit he mayor 6s wife was apologizing pr o
only about 85 percent because people had to
She was so apologet.he sai d, fARemember Wewailldobeitera new d
|l am sure that Vot h aWwhgthnthe wedilgamad goimg tesay? O

Well, I am just going to say the truth, and say how embarrassed | am that our turnout is

nor mal | y un dTdey waredstuqmedr lceeyn t scaw 1o, s & Hd AWel l , p
take it forgrantedT hey don 6 tdvmd erdaraféew sights more

inspirational than seeing people line up like that to vote.

| remember the Election Commissioner, a wonderful guy, coming to us to say that
womenrorsoutu tended t oHeda surveywte find cubwdjhwasne n 6 s .

partly that women did not have the tinfdiey had so much work to do at home and with

kids, they could not stand around for three ho#ilso, sometimes standing in line, they

werebothered or groped or somethir@p he created separate lines for wortter would
thereforemove f aster and they wouldndt be harasse
turnoutHe came to tell us that because he didno:
lines for women meant somehow lessequdl. di d boost womends turno
like 15 percent at the next election.

People were so excited about votifigey were so eager to voiehe parties
disappointed them terribly.he parties were corrupt antich more interested in how
many Land Rovers they could get from the aid agencies than alleviating paveiniy.
perception of people, it was a huge disappointment.

Then the Maoists came along and were attractive to some people, but to other people,
they were murderers and extortionistéiey kidnapped children to serve the Maoists.

People were just seeing the government on the one hand not only unable to protect them,
let alone provide schools, health programs, and thifigen the Maoists on the other

hand were doing these thing3rdinary people were just whipsawed between all these
forces.They led very difficult lives in the village.

They started out with difficult liveS hey had the highest maternal mortality rate in the
world at the timeThey hal a very significant infant and child mortalifyhey did not

have long life spang.heir lives were very much already on the margin, even without the
Maoists and the failures of government.

Themarvelof all this is that you go to thesdlagesand peofe were enormously
hospitable and welcomingnever saw a child struck the whole time | was in Nepal
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would go to these very poor placé®r those who think that child abuse is purely a result
of poverty, in Nepal, you saw babies and children hafrded aunt to uncle, from

brother to mother to neighbor, and played with and fussed over all the time in situations
of really dire povertylt is not to say that child abuse did not exist, but it was not a
widespread problem despite the widespread poverty.

It was an amazing place in that regdrde poverty was so grinding, yet people did not
fall into a lot of the kind of social ills associated with poverty.

Q: Would you have squared this with the religion, or the Buddhist tradition?

BOGUE:Most Nepalisare Hindu, but a large porti@realso BuddhistT hey donét
really distinguish heavily between Hinduism and BuddhiShey see it all as part af
continuum After all, the Buddha was a Hindlihey see it as a very interconnected event.

| wondered abouhis a lot.I have talked to friends whareanthropologists about this a

lot, about how much you attribute to religious influence and how much there really is a
cultural character, and there is a cultural value, and people are raised to be kind and nice
to each othefThat that'snculcated as a value from early childhogdthe time | was

there, literally, a woman alone could walk acrsshmanduat 2:00 a.m. and not be
botheredThere was almost no violent crime against persohis. is one of the reass

that the Maoist insurgency was so stunning to Nepalis, bettamasso violent.This

was not the Nepali way.

| dondot real |l y hraustsaythaugh that samenot one of thosé people

who said, AKeep t hemrit Peoplchdeserve sthaofs png debeinti s s o f
health care and electricity to generate pumps that can pump clean water, and all those
things.Everyone should have th&ne of the great reasons Americans fall in love with

Nepal is thathe Nepaleseemind them ya can have a rich and full and satisfying life

without having a lot of stuffit is not about the stuffThat probably is a religious thing.

Q: What about the political branch of our embasgya&s there much you could do as far
as work with these splintedepolitical parties, or just report on the various doinds?
sounds like an impossible job.

BOGUE:We did our best to help work U.S. government funded programs through the
National Democratic Institute for instance, which tried to teach the politici¢paiow

to operate and how to focos their role as legislators and as administrators when in
power, to govern properly rather than just have their versitnsidethe Beltway

fights." We did a lot of this kind of encouragement of trying to supperinktitutions of
the young democracy, trying to support training for court officks.were the people
who computerized the election commission so that returns could come in more quickly
from this terrible terrain and difficult country to get aroundtsad people would have
confidence that returns were coming quickly and accurafééytried to work with the
institutions of governmen©Our whole goal was to try to institutionalize democratic
bodies.
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In Nepal, government had been and continued to beruhd political party, a very
personal affairOne of the things that diplomats do is try to make lemonade out of
lemons.We had the whole ClinteMonica Lewinsky impeachmenthis is a little
embarrassing when ywain the field.One of the things we k¢ emphasizing was that,
AOkay t he Pr e sThaRresidentis being impeachédiaiHrdsident is
distracted, but everyone is still getting their Social Security chdekembassy is still
open.We are still interviewing visa applicaniBhatis because the institutions of
government are not dependant upon one individual to op&tsg.keep runningfhey
are staffed by career government servants, public servidrgg.continue to ruri/A
(Department oVeteransAffairs) checks are still begqissuedAll those things are
happening that are supposed to be happening, even thoyglesideni s i n troubl e. C

In Nepal, if you had a situation like that, the government would be essentially paralyzed.
In Nepal t was a very complicated proceduredat helped to have friends in the right

pl aces just t o Aljteose kimds df narmvakfunéiens df goceenmente .
were the things that we tried to suppdittattherewould develop strong enough

institutions that they could survive wealkatership when it happenethat was our

focus.

Our real focus in Nepal was with development and poverty isg¢esad a very large
program through the Agency for International Developmfg.had the Peace Corps.
We had a lot of programs to combat treffing in women, which was a significant
problem in Nepal.

Ql was thinking of Ukrainian women being sel
Nepalese.

BOGUE:Nepalese girls, some boys, and young women, were traffickedito To
brothels in Bombaynow Mumbai.They tended to be lighter skinned and were
considered sort of exotically attractive in Indidat was a major, major problem.

Q: With this problem, what were you doing?

BOGUE:We had a threpronged approach to thi®ne was preventiorl| of our

poverty alleviation programs tended to be directed toward women in N'épah we did
surveys, we found that when men got money in the village, they spent it on gambling and
alcohol.When women got money, they spent it on their children, on eédadat their
children.They did not spend it on themselves; they focused on their chilfloeihe idea

was that you want to get money into the hands of women and do development that will
allow women to get monefso we did both the poverty alleviationyttalso we did comic
books and other forms ebnsciousneskaising.If someone comes to your town and
says, ATher e ar &athgnandwe only bidpen tb loertakinggids aged
13 t ®o2®d.t 0 b e lYouane being Ho@dwinked into hiOr if some man

comes to your village and says, fAYour daught
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Il ndia and | am gdomd@tt d afodiedmnianhwdsroreedidecof 0
it.

We also worked very hard to strengthen the cotiresprosecutors and the police on
looking at the traffickers and trying to bust the traffickers.

Then we had significant projects for rehabilitation of those who had retumeidally,

the girls would go to India but return within a few years becawsgwere HIVfpositive

by then.Because of their illness, they could not go back to their villagesy could not

marry. They were often shunned by their families and their villaGesye worked with

some local Nepalis and NGOS, which provided shelteoades for the women in

KathmanduFor t hose who werenét in the final st ac
training to be tailors and other jobs they couldfar. those who were very ill, they

provided medical support andkend of hospice surroundingf them.

So we kind of looked at it from trying to stop it to trying to help those who had been the
victims of trafficking.Again, doing the consciousness raising, trying to gain more public
acceptance for the returned victimifiat was a project thathti nk we al | é
nice things about being in Nepal was that we were really gmsgivethings. t wa s n
a policy to rack your conscience abdiMe were doing things that | think nobody ever
minded working extra hours on projects like titadir whole hearts were in that.

one o
ot

Q: What about the Western European powahdtat were they doing in Nepalr were
we pretty much a major presence?

BOGUE:We were certainly a major presence in assistedaavere otherghe Japanese,

the Scandinavians, the Gegins, the Indians, and the Chinese who built infrastructure

projects.Nepal is sandwiched between two huge powers of the former kings had not

so poetically said, fiWe Thewaytreyfgitavas bet ween t w
ultimately squishable.

The Irdians were looked on with deep suspicion by the Nepédipalis of all political
persuasions feel that India intends to make them another Sikkim or Bhutan, essentially
just a little province of IndiaThey are very suspicious of India.

We were generallgeen as good guys because it was clear we had no territorial, or those
kinds of interests, in the way that India or China might h@ws.motives were seen as
innocent ones.

The other huge players of course for historical reasons in Nepal are thelBiggla

Nepal was never a British colorritain was a very significant player and is still in part
because of the recruitment of the Chalsoldiers.

Q: Could you talk a bit about the Gurks and explain their role when you were there?
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BOGUE:The Gurhas ar e of Nepal Orbeyan@aahil peeglehani ¢ gr oup

mountain peopleThey are, because of growing up in the mountains, immensely
physically toughBack in the days of the British Empire, the British government began to
recruit Gurlhas to be sdaliers in their armyThey became quite famous for their
toughness, their ability to withstand the most terrible conditions, their bravery on the
field, and so onThey became and still play a significant role in the British army and the
Indian army.The Irdian army has Guha regiments recruited from Nepdhe British

army still has Gurka regimentsThey served in Kosovo, Bosnia, the Falkland Islands.
There are Guthas in Irag.

Q: There was something not too long ago about the k&asrgetting into Buckgham
Palace.

BOGUE:Right. The Gurkas are sort of a catdil phraseThey do serve on active duty
in the British army and in the Indian armfyhey typically retire quite yound.hey are
typically taken at the age of 17 of 18, and serve for 15 yé#ren they come out, they
are in their middle 30s, they speak English well, they have fantastic military training,
they have a pensidnnot a huge one but significant in Nepal teiinad one of several
things happens to therither they start a businesshiepal; many of them have been
very successful with tha®r they do things like the police force in Singapore, which is
largely Gurlha. The security force on lots of cruise lines is largely GarlAgain, they
speak English well; they are very presentabley do lots of work around the world.
Lots of Gurlhas are hiredAt our embassy, a lot of our security personnel are former
Gurkhas.

In fact, one of the problems we had with them was when we wanted some guy to mingle

with the crowd a bjtwe could not gt them to look scruffyThat British military training

with that haircut and pressed shirt, when
work. The coul dndot take it. AWhat? Not shave?

So they have a tremendous tradition.
Q: This is Tape 8Side 1 with Janet Bogue.

| was just saying that the former president of our organization wasBlayatt who was
ambassadoat a couple of placeF.om, as one of his opportunities after he retired from
the Foreign Service, was he essentially ran a Re@urkha service of security people
internationally If youhad some Ghurkas standing outside your bank or sometjong,
were in pretty good shape.

BOGUE:They do have a ferocious reputation on the battlefAetda consular thing,
interestingly, when & would process visas for those who were going to work for
Carnival Cruises or something, one of the things the consular officers would do to
establish that the person was truly Gwarkvas ask to look at their thunithe Gurlha
traditionis that youcannever take out your knife, thieukri, without drawing bloodlIt
can never go back in its scabbard without drawing blSodf you were dealing with
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your kit and just cleaning it, the tradition was that they would nick themsativke end

of their thumbto draw a fewdrops of bloodso they could maintain the traditiofll the

real Gurlhas had this tremendous callous of scar tisés®eme man presented himself as

a Gurkha and presented hands without that the consular officers woultiSzayy,

y 0 u 0 rthe real thingd The famous Gutha thumb.And it could only really be

developed overyearS o meone coul dndét really try to do

Q: I assume there was Nepalese Army and was this a significant factor in the political
mix?

BOGUE:Yes,the Nepalese Army really initially had two rol€3ne was ceremonial.

They guarded palace&nd the other was they were very good UN peacekeepleey.
served in Lebanon with the UNIFIL (United Nations Interim Forces in Lebanon) forces
there.They had beeon CyprusThey had been in various placégain, they were much
in demand as peacekeepers because Nepal is a country no one has a quarrel with.
Sometimes if you are peacekeeping in the Middle East, for instance, there are some
countries that are going tause sensitivities locally, but Nepal is not one of those
countriesIt was not going to cause local sensitiviti€eey were weHdisciplined
peacekeeper§.her e wereno6t horrible incidents that
peacekeeper3hey were very mch in demandt was something thdhey liked because

it prestigious and it was good publicity for them.

Q: And it was a source of income.

BOGUE:ANd it was a source of incomkwas good military trainingnd employment
for an army that otherwise theeally had no real rol&kealistically, the army was not
going to defend the country successfully against either India or China.

Q: They would be slightly outnumbered.

BOGUE:Right. The army, though, late in my time there, was drawn into the conflict
with the Maoists, which initially had beenmatter for the police and the army had stayed
out of it as a domestic issuene army did play a significant role politicallyartly

because it was that the king still had power, partly because he washeamerin-

chiefof the armed forceg.he army was the Royal Nepalese Army and loyal tdithg

not to the constitution, not to the parliamertat is something that has now changed.
Now the Nepalesarmyand theoathof allegiancas now to the Constitutioof Nepal,
rather than th&ing.

So the army was always seen as a very conservative amnaoparchy force, and
therefore potentially as an aemocratic forceThere were always fears on the part of
the partiesthat the army would engineer a coup omething like that to position
themselves with the King back in pow&he political parties definitely saw the army not
as the servarand protectoof the people, but as the servantl protectoof the
monarch.That was something that the army foundyMeard to overcome.
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On top of that, once it became involved in the Maoist thing, inevitably, if you throw a

bunch of 18year old ilkequipped, iltrained young fellows out there, bad things are

going to happermAmong the bad things that happened weréhtirean rights abuses.

Suspected Maoists were killethey were torturedVomen were rapedbirls were

rapedThe ar myods pr est iThetrus and donfideace pepplerhadiny | o w.
the army sank very low.

The army, of course, did whastitutionsdo in these cases, which was deny, cover up,

refuse to investigatd.hey did not handle these things in a proper Waiyvately, a lot of

officers were absolutely horrified at some of the things that happ&hey.tended to

say, fAWel |l , wordeeo Maaotihsetrs tahraen trying to come

You know,we see thign our own military; we see it in institutioradl over the worlgwe
see it inthe Catholic Church with the child abuse scasddie impulse to protect the
institutions is so greatamongpéop t hat t hey dondét necessarily

So the army was going through a very difficult tirf@sme of the things that will be very
interesting now is to see whether it can reshape itself as a modern and democratic army,
if it can bring in some athe former Maoist fighters and integrate them etouly

national armylt will be a very interesting development.

Q: Could you talk about the Indian Embassy and our relations witlgsume you were
watching what they were up then, we will talkabout the Chinese.

BOGUE:The Indians were huge players for lots of reasons in Nkl controls
Nepal 6s a c cledia sould and did Boenetisnesgust shut off its routes into
NepalThi s meant things |i ke petroleum didnot g

WhenRajeev Gandhi was Prime Minister at one time, the Indians said in a fit of pique
wi th Nepal , fAThatonsastthiitiNepal beally siféered for lack of
foodstuffs and oil, and things like thatepal was in a situation of tremendous
dependencyn India.

India also accounted for the vast majority of tourists in Nepal, far more than westerners.
It is close.lt is cheaplt is pretty.Lots of Indians came as tourisksdia was by far the
major source of goodmnd services

Q: How were they as twists?

BOGUE:Most of them came to shoplost of them weené trekking somewheréost
came just for one weekend to shop and enjoy the cool air, a relief from the heat in India,
things like that. They were findhey spent a lot of money in Nepal.

Therewas the resentment and fear that any small country has about a very large neighbor.
Even large countries like Canada and Mexittenfeel this way about the United States.
We certainly saw this in the reaction of Nepalis to India, the sense of culbnnaiation.



Their cultures were very similav.ou di dnodét f eel culture dominat
because their cultures are very differdrtey felt very much dominated by Indighe

Indians, | think, did meddle significantly in Nepali politics, and they tmauch more

reason to be concerned about Nepal s instabi
very happy border with China over the yedisere is a country falling apart that is part

of that border in a sense, that is the buffer in that bofthey had a lot of concernghey

dondt hav spotleshisterymwhenrit edmgs to meddling.

Q: What was your impression of the Indian Embassy while you were there?

BOGUE:This was an important post for India and they sent very sharp, very good
pele. In fact, the man who was ambassador when | went back in 2004 went from there
to being the Foreign Secretary, the highasiking career diplomat in Indi&his was a
critically important post for thenThey sent very senior peoplEney were smart,

cgpable, in the know, anpgluggedin in New Delhi, and very good

We had very good relationships with thefhere was a long tradition of the British,

American and Indian ambassadors having a regular breakfast, lunch or something

together, very frequentlyna talking.There was a sense that the three countries who were

al |l big players there for different reasons
Nepal 6s democratic devel opment .

Q: Did Pakistan play any role there at all?

BOGUE:Very little. It was a minor player in Nepalhey did have an embassy there, but
they were a really minor player.

Q: How about China?
BOGUE:China played a huge role in investment and inpaigects

Chinadid something we, alas, have stopped doing, which was infcasteuprojects.
They built roads, bridges, dams, which we had given up doing as aid projeets.

Nepalis were in need of and very grateful for those proj€ttsma also had a lot of

investment and business in Nepal.

The old trade routego through sevel passes in the mountains there and actually
Kathmanduyprobably got its start because traders from India had to cross the lowlands

between Nepal and Indiainthewinfewh en it wasn ®@utbeceadedr i a seas
was wintery o u ¢ o ul d n 6atovegteetpassesotthey h@dto hanker down

somewhereAnd people coming the other way, had to come across in the summer,

headed from Tibet to India to trade, had to cross the mountains in the summer but then sit

out the winter seasofo Kathmanduwlevebped as the place for all these merchants.

Q:This was part of or one of the Silk Roads,
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BOGUE: It was a little off the traditional Silk Roatt.runs a little further north through
Central Asialt is definitely one of the old Silk Roads.was one of the great trades in
salt:salt from Tibet in exchange for goods from India, went back and forth and still do,
on yak back. Still, sometimes in remote parts of Nepal, yousecaravansarrying

salt down and bringing back goods.

Q: Was Tibetlmost a separate entityPow did you view Tibet from Nepal?

BOGUE:Most American travelers to Tibet enter Tibet through Nepadt is the easiest
andhandiestway for trips thereThe Chinese government was very anxious about

American diplomats cominigp from Kathmandunto Tibet, because thessumed we

were only there to stir upouble.So weat the embassyi d n We @quoul dndét have
been granted visas by the Chinesketais to go in from ther&he Chinese, of course,

have a lot ofinxietiesabou Tibet and Nepal had to walk a very delicate path.

In the1950s when the Dalai Lama anther Tibetans began to flee, mantitlse in

Nepal, although morsettledin India where the Dalai Lama settled around Dharamsala.
There was still a steady streamTalbetan refugees walking across and coming into
Nepal. The deal was that Nepal would take them in temporavityle they got medical
care and were processed by the UN, but then they went on toThdiaew groups
coming through ¢ emiNépd.Nepal tried toavslk thasrtightropesof t | e
letting the refugees come oflfilling their responsibilitiesowardthe refugeesinder,

of coursepressure from us and other westerners and the UN andtsalorihe right

thing, but not having themast and build up a huge Tibetan community in Nephere
was a small one there, but have them go on to the large Tibetan community in India,
based around Dharamsala.

That was a constant source of some friction every year when the passes became passable

ard Tibetans would start coming ov@ihe Chinese side wanted the Nepali border guards

to kick them back into TibetWe wanted them to be admittdd.fact, theNepalese
government would come to and say, fAWe will |
deal of it. Do we have to talk about this public all the tim& It just makes the Chinese

mad at ugnd then they bully us and throw their weight around and it all getugly.

Q: | can see that being aware of the reputation that Ndgshg between Chanand
India, and both those areas are probably the greatest supplier of shopkeepers the world
knows.How were shopkeeping hours in Nepal?

BOGUE:Shopping in South Asia is a spdttreally is a sport and it is a sport for the

merchants as wellhis wasalwaysbecause to us the prices seemidiculously low.

And the merchant woul domawouif ldt Gedyrey NM& @y . OU
would becompletelydeflatedAnd t hen t hey woul d al most say,
teaandgu havewdlt hsaatendbot seen pi cYouareenst of your
playing your part here.Shopping is a complete spaxepal we would sometimes say

was for visitors kind of fAlndia Iihasghet , 0 beca
charm and fasoatiors but without the aggressiveness and the huge numbers of people.



Peopl e claustroghbbic bresamething as they would in visitimgja. A walk

down the tourist district of Nepal was just a treat for visitors, alwayss fun for those

of us who had reached middle age, because somebody was alwaystoftekgou

drugs, which made you feel young ag&@omebody would come out and try to sell you
somethingfiThank you for asking b t 6 sbeirlg cakdedh a bar,you know.fiThank

you forasking.No thanks to the drugs, but thanks for thinking | might still be interésted.
It was a lot of fun.

| am not a big shopper, but | just loved to walk through the marketslgust.liked the
sights, the smells, the sounds, and the brilliant so¥u see peoplearryingtoys on

their headsPuppeteers selling their wardtswas not something you would find at
Montgomery Mall.l just loved the vitality of it, and the constant moti®eople come to

the markets not just to do their shopping, &ab to see their neighbors and their friends.
The conversations that went on, the kind of lively life at the marketplace, is very much a
part of life there.

Q: Did you find a clash between Indian merchants and Chinese merchants, or did they
get much of #oothold there?

BOGUE: It was mostly Nepali merchants thefdey are some merchants from outside,
but it was mostly Nepaliun businesse3here were a few Chinese merchants and a few
Kashmiris from India and Pakistafhere were a few Indians.

Some Neali populations had a lock on certain thingse bead market, where you went

to have beaded things mad@u could have beaded necklaces or things made in

whatever color or pattern you wantddhis was typical if you were getting ready for a

wedding or smething, you could havygeadsmade All the bead makers were Muslims.

They were Nepali Muslimdhere was a small population of Nepali Muslimibey had a

compl ete |l ock on the bead ijosttursatdriyt ifoonralrleya sto
what they did.

Other groups had a lock on other items such as the pottery industry, the rug and carpet
industry. The carpets were mostly made by Tibetans.

Q: Did the outside world intrude muchVas there any interest in Bosnia or other areas?
In other words, wa the media a factor there?

BOGUE: It did much more than in the past because of satellite television and the internet.
When | came to Nepal in 1997, there were two internet providers and about 150
subscribersWhen | left three years later, there werewtt®0privateinternet providers

and there were well over 1,000 subscribers by tAad.it was boominglt was set to

take off.

Satellite television had com8tar TV from Hong Kong was theréou could get CNN

andBBC television and everythin@ne of he interesting things was that all the little
kids in Nepal who lived in town and had access to television could speak Hindi perfectly
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well because so many of the programs, especially the cartoons, were in Hindi, and they
just picked it up.

Thatsaid, mas Nepali s dondédt have access to televis
Nepalis donotl fhawa dliecetrriinciat w.i | Yauge, you d«
might have batterp per at ed transi stor radi oQnthbut you d
onehandyou haveKathmanduwhich is becomingery pluggedn with the world.On

other hand, you have the rest of Nepal.

a
0

One of the fascinating things we were involved in was some effantsetechnology to

bridge those gap&or instance, there are almast doctors in rural areaShe doctors all

practice inkathmanduT hey dondét want to raise their fam
terrible schools and things like th&o the doctors aflocked toKathmandult is very

hard to get medical care in thelages.A team from Yale was developing something

they called, fAtelemedicined where you could
like a travel hair dryeit was essentially a hartteld scanneit would be hooked up to

the medical school iKathmandy where specialists would sit there and look at it.

Theseguys from Yale went with a climbing group up to base camp and actwally

able to successfully demonstr#itéOne of theSherpasvas experiencing very severe

back and abdominal painSo trey had their laptop and a satellite upliAkbunch of us

were sitting inKathmanduand there was a bunch of people at Yale medical schbel.

Sherpgulled his shirt up and they ran the little scanner over him and three doctors

simultaneously said theyuld see the kidney stonehey sai d, fAdrink five
water and start walking to ANdmgyla, dh awhkindh ips
the stone by then, just get on a plane and corfattemanduand we will take care of

him. o

To be abled do diagnosis remotely for cases like that was one way that the Nepalis, with
some assistance from us, were lookingiaing technology to deal with the ruxaban
divide.

The Nepalis never had black and white televisiynthe time television came tdepal,

it was already coloMo st Nepal i s wil/l never have a | and]|
to put everything inFor most Nepalis, the first phone they will have will be a cell phone.

There is no point in running landlines over that terva@nyou can do it with cellular

technology instead.

|l tds a situation wher tapfrdygingovgreevdral om no t ec hn
generations of it.

Q: The great example of course is India where they jumped into the IT (information

technology) age with gustat least with a certain group in Bangalore and all th&fere
you seeing any reflection of that when you were there in Nepal?
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BOGUE: There were some efforts to get that kind of thing stafigdin, you had a
population where those people who were ethectended to be the good English
speakers and they could do things like the medical transcriptinantime difference
works in their favorThey can do it while they are awake and thetéd Statess asleep.
Theyd i daatéhtthe front of that wave ihé way that India did with the 800 numbers
and all those kinds of things.

In fact, many of the young Nepalis who went to the States and got degrees in information
technology were very frustrated when they came bHa&re were very few opportunities

for them in NepalThings had not developed economicaliize economy was still very
backwards therévlost people still stick tsubsistencagriculture.

Ther e was nKathmandud all,detralonenn high tecin a way,i t tlie kind of

development soe people were really seeking because it tends to be environmentally

clean, doesnodt destroy the natur al resources
populationl t di dnét take off i n |thilké¢he lmdanseveraay t hat
much savvierpartly because they had the whole generation that went to Silicone Valley

and came back to India and established that whole tNigygal did not have that sort of

generation that created a new Palo Alto in Bangalboeuld be donePeople did see

thatas a possibility, again because of the English language #4dls,.for things like

800 numbersthe immense kindness and courtesy of the Nepalis lends itself to customer

service kinds of professions.

Q: Was there any Nepade immigrancommunity in théJnited States?

BOGUE:It is very tiny.lt is really almost statistically insignificaritlepal is a small

country to begin with and its immigrant community is very, very firhe interesting

thing is that Nepalis do extremely well when they come to thieed StatesThey

attribute it to the fact that they are not held backdste barriersr traditional barriers.
Americans dondét know the differenceltishet ween
meaninglesstoudlo one i s goi dgn 6 ohimmamycompawe | | | |
because he i s n6tThely dospectacliady welihgyhwork hardThdye . 0

do the classic immigrant thing of the parents work multiple jobs and live very frugally to

provide everything for their children, to magere they gegood educationd here just

arenodt very many of them.

Nepalis are crazy about Nep@hey would rather be in Nepdirst of all, their family is
very close knitAll my Nepali friends said the thing that astonished them the most about
us atthe embassy was that we were willing to live away from hdwematter how nice
Nepal wasWe w e whenedrtparents and siblings werdepalisgethomesick a lot
when they are abroadihey really miss Nepal.

Some Nepalis tgd want to give immenseredit tosome very talented peoplEhere
were two brothersknew well who were journalist©ne working for the UN in New
York, and one was working for the Asian Development Bank in Mahilay had very
good careers, very good incomes, but they saidAcimally Nepal needs people like
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them not to leave, but to come back and start making it better Therg have come

back and they have started a schdbky have started very good independent
newspapers in Nepali and Englidiney have started a whdbeinch of really fantastic
projects thereSacrificing lots of income and comfortable lives outside in order to do that.
| really give people like that huge credit.

Q: How did you find the social life there?

BOGUE:ExhaustingLiterally, the day | arrivd, after the embassy people dropped me
off at home, there was a knock on the door five minutes latexs just getting ready to
showerl t 6 s t he nei glHéwelcgmesaniewarmlsand\sayp thdt their son
is getting married in about two days)d probably | have never been to a Nepali
wedding, and would | like to comé®as not to worry, that the niece who has been
studying at MIT will be there and can explain everything that is happening {bhiseas
atwodayeventt di dndt lordhe hole wo days;raeay find a half or so
would be just fine.

And it was like that until the day | lefNepalis scoop you up, take you into their family

and their hearts, and it is exhaustifgu spend all your timéhere.The diplomatic
communitythere was smalind very friendly and tighChey entertaiadeach other a lot.
There is an American community that is very active, plus the normal obligations of
embassy lifethe things we didhostingand having visitorand all those kinds of things.

If | saw an open evening on my calendar, the idea that | could go home just read a book
for the evening was really kind of a precious nidfnivas all immensely fun.

Al so, you di dnot Lowastaff wauldnvite yos ® aestival in thei n g .

village and they want you to come and enjogetit. Every local national who got

married while | was there, | went to their weddimgeyd thvite you and they really

want you to comeAnd itwas fud Al so, you didndét wawot to hurt
coming to their weddindt was a big event for them.

SoRalphFrank and | used to sit down with a calendar every week and figure out if there

were things that whaybbdtbetelwerelsorderareptionsaone®fus o do .
could coversobothafs di dndét h adusto give eaghoothér a littke breakn .

Also, | turned down probably 100 invitations a week from the second grade class of some
school who would write and say,OféoMseull dnét vVyo
would, actially, and | did as much of that kind of thing that | cowlée also just took our

junior officers and junior staff and shoved them out tahda It was great experience

with friendly audiences and to get some practice irpti#ic sideof diplomacy.All built

upimmense good wilfor theUnited StatesWe just turned them loose on as much as

they could takewh at 6 s not tAlbtheseilitkeeutemdomhiesecond gPaders
who were all wanting to practice their Englishyau. i Wh at ceupbu9oar

Q: Did you have many higlevel visits?
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BOGUE:WedidWe di dndét have the visits the Nepali:
national prestigelhe last cabinet officer who had visited was Spiro Agriethad been a
longtime.,Ther e wa s méuntil @hndowelevisiteda couple of years after |

was there.

In the three years | was there, | think something like 17 members of the U.S. Senate

cameWe had a lot of congressmént was a popul ar place to com
Nepal.Everybaly wants to go to Nepal, as you knaWso, the Tibetan refugeagere

thereThat 6s an i ssue that there i swoaddnmaket of <co
a point ofstopping there.

We gota lot ofhightlevel military visits becausef the peace&eping For reasons
mysterious to me, because it is a landlocked couNg&pal is in the Pacific Commadds
theatre of interest, CINCPAChe admiral who was the commander of CINCPAC came
outregularly At the time, we were really working hard to develbp Nepalis as a
peacekeeping force that could be deployed around the Waedvere working on
improving their English skills and things like that, so they could be more deployable.

We did have a lot of visits and that kept us incredibly busy at the egnaasvell.

Q: I think this is kind of a good place to stop, unless there are some aspects of Nepal you
want to put in here.

BOGUE:!I dondét think so.
Q: If you remember something next time, we will do that.
Where did you do in the year 2000?

BOGUE: After surviving the famous Y2KVhen the year rolled over to 2000, there was
a great worldwide panic that computers were not properly programmed for that year

change, and so all infrastructure around the world would collapse. t he event , it
happen.

I n Nepal, there wasndét any great computer in
every embassy in the world hadtodon f act |, |l hosted a big New

office because | had to be there in case anything went widintgese kinds othings

they were worried about were things like the nuclear power plants shutting \d@Nn.

not applicableOr the traffic lights not workingNot applicablewWe dondét Styave any.
we had a very easy time of it the@f. course, wavere already set ugs an embassy to

supplyour own power and water anyway.

| came back from that and entered the Senior Septimayeailong training program.
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Q: Okay, so we will pick this up the next time in the year 2960Q.go to the Senior
Seminar.That was2000-2001L in which you were able to realize how well the United
States could run an election too.

BOGUE: That was that yeal.ou are exactly right.
Q: Today is the September 27th, 2007.

Letdos talk a bit laidbnowdefuricthbet it ®as geao instit@ienmi nar .
| was Class of 17 in the Senior Seminar.

What was its program and what was your impression of it?

BOGUE:The program was meant to bring together about 30 people, halhewre
seniors in the Foreign Service or the Senior Executiveic@eat the State Department,
and the other half drawn from all the uniformed services, plus the Coast Ggaeds
thatis a uniformed service, but not one of the armed sen#dss.included were the

CIA, National Security Administration, Federal Bateof Investigation, the Commerce
Department, USAID, Agriculture, and all the federal agencies that had a foreign policy
involvement or interest essentially.

They brought those people together right at the start of their step into senior executive
managerant. The military officers tended to be full colonels who were likely to end up in
the general rank3.hey would spend a school year, ten months, together looking at not so
much foreign policy issues, but American domestic issues and how they affecigd fore

policy.

The theory was that most of us, certainly most of us in the Foreign Service but also the
military officers, had spent many years overs&agact, we were not as well versed in

what was going on in America as we might Bleat was certainlyrtie in my casd. had

been overseas a lot and had spent very little time in the States during my Foreign Service
careerWhat time you do spend in the States is spent in this odd place, Washington,
which is not necessarily reflective of the views of Omah&l Paso or Sacramemno

many other places.

We traveled a lot around the country togetRert of it was to look at American

domestic issues and part was to develop a kind of understandingadnfidence in our
colleagues from other services anbdastagencies; to overcome preconceptions and
barriers there as a way to help us work as senior people in our own services, where you
had to do a lot more intexgency activity.

Q: What things struck you?ou were exposed to a lot of different places amdys.Did
any one stick in your mind?

BOGUE:I think the thing that most impressed me, again having been overseas for a long
timeil donét know i fi byteametimes|you ldokai tee Unitedy t o0 o
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States and say, what is this country | apresenting? ou start to feel sometimes that if
you have been overseas for a while, like Philip Natkahhe Man Without a Country.

You are very American overseg®u are seen as #merican,and respond to arfdel

very AmericanYou can come home anddl a little dislocated from America sometimes.

| think the thing that impressed me the most were the numbers of people we met out there

in little towns and big cities all across the country who were really doing fabulous things.
Teachers, pastors, yougnhoup coordinators, and all sorts of people who were working so
hard on the most difficult issues in Amerigaverty, race relations, working with new
immigrants. All these kinds of thingghey were devoting their whole selves to this with
almost no payno recognition, and none of the kind of perks we had in our job or the fun
of being overseadt was very inspiring to me.

We spent a couple of days on an aircraft carrier off the coast of California doing some
work. We ate breakfast with the sailors divéd as the sailors did’he sailors we ate
breakfast with were not hand selected foAMs. would justyo down and plop ourselves

at atablestart chattingl j ust candét tell you how many

you

year olds with a high school edica on, we asked, HAWNpatdi d you |

made you do that?o

Some of them sfaTiad, g eitA dovuetit t dufr eroyd ktso wn .kée f

A huge number of them would shuffle thei
ma 6 am, vy o uywamen % dd somethiag bigger than mysketeally wanted to

do something for my country, for Ameritea ®here was a tremendous sense of service
that was running through these people.

| think all of us in the Senior Seminar felt that wagemembeione of my colleagues, an
air force officer who has now become a general, a very wonderful guy, who came from
an air force family, his father was in the air force, and all of his brothers were in the air
force.He said one of the great things he had leédthat there were lots more ways to
serve than putting on a uniform.

It was tremendously inspiring and reinvigorating to be in the Senior Seminar.

Q: During the 1970s when | was doing this, we went up to Detroit and it reminded me of
the aftermath of Wdat War Il with burned out places and dlh talking with mayors and
people, you realized the excitement of local government, which we tend to disdain.
Foreign Service officers tend to think in megatershe.u f eel a sort of
t hi nk, 0 wlenweitatkabdowt theé gpvernment and all these people shuffling

un. 0

r f e

i Wa s

papers, or passing laws, or somethingr eal | y ar endt caoymoftthei but i ng

civil servantsand others whavere working on real problems on a day-day basis,
rather than intekectually or at a great distance.

BOGUE:Yes, | have to say inspired is the best woreéally felt that no matter how
much you have read abauth kleo §eneratiorand very distressing things in America, a
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growing gulf between the haves and the hawts,income disparities, and so on, there
were fantastic people at every leu&t.the most local in small towns and in big cities,
they were really doing great thingsomehow, there was this network of people who

didndét know each ot ¢rthe comnoo goadeeally enpyed thavor ki n g

| also enjoyed my colleagues immenselthink we developed a real rapport with people
from other agencies$ think they earned a newfoumespect for th&tate DepartmenEor
instance, one of my colleagues hmkn in the embassy of Phnom Penh and was
describing what happened when some asylum seekers came into the eifiiassyere
protecting human rights activists who came in from the governi8enteone just said

casual l vy, nWel | w h \e atahightito prateat thndow enusthave st ay t he

had marines there. oo

My coll eague, a female who was there with he

di dndt h atwas tomdangenows a poshe marines could not be allowed to be
posted therebecaue of f orce protection issues. O

The idea that we would go in and serve unarmed in places where the marines were
reluctant to put a detachment, and have our kids there, was so stunning tolgkmie.
the image of us in Paris passinghe champagne aund was well erased in the course
of that.

Q: I made a slighting remark about the election of 20@0st of us spent time trying to
explain to other countries how you can have a good election systenowanllis works.
All of a sudden to have somethingigh amounted to something like the World Cup,
where you have thtremendouspparatus of competingams and it ends up with one
penalty kick to decide itt ended up in the Supreme Court.

BOGUE:It was really fascinating from a professional point iefw. There we were
studying all these thing8Ve had a chance to bring in people who were working on both
sides of that at the time and hear them talk about hawutd be resolved

Because of the places | had served in | was just completely horrifiad.deen through

the horror of Americads | ow voter turnouts b
where people generally hadndét haddwhedme opport

they did, they turned out in fantastic numbers to do so.

Had thisbeen in a foreign country we would have been extremely critical of its handling.

Personally | already found myself quite critical. | normally, like most Foreign Service
Officers, vote by absentee ballbhad found myself in Seattle for a local electard
thought | would go in person to vote at my voting district in Seattle, just foWfhen |

got there, mind you | had never voted at thic@le person, only by absentee, and they
di dndot ask me flaovas harrifigd and deptnnsisigfthatchaytraalty n .
needed to ask me for my pass ploaykeptsayingmy
ANo, Yomroameishero one el se has come in and

dri ve
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This was very disturbing to mAgain, we would have been hightyitical of such a

sloppy practiceelsewherel think that it bothered me immensely that people around the
world were still looking to us as an example of democracy and as their lodestar dn that.
found it really painful that we were having these prolsldrfind it still painful that this

many years aftetheseproblems have not been fixeifter the commission that Jimmy
Carter and others were on to make recommendations about changes to our election
system and it stildl hasndét been fixed.

| think anotter thing about the senior seminar that you mentioned is that usually we are

so busy putting out fires and dealing with w
much time to sit back and think about what we do and why we dihihk that was a

realblessing of the senior seminar too, with the luxury of having time to treakl, and

talk about why we do what we do, instead of just doing it as fast and furiously as we can.

Q: In a way, this is what we are doing right now is all ab&ia the profesional to at

least develop a resource where they can go and find out what other people dal

say, it is pretty much a fireman operati®ide pick up the paper and open it to see what

the headline is today, or what is on the ticker tape or what havelyp at 6 s our pr obl
as opposed to picking out where we are going to go.

BOGUE:Exactly.It was a reallypositiveexperience for me.

Q: What did you want to dd?id you have anything in mind or did anybody have
anything in mind for you?

BOGUE:| wantal to stay in the United States, partly because | had been overseas so
long, and | thought it was a good time after the senior seminar to reacquaint myself a bit
with working and living hereAlso, my mother was already beginning a long illness that
sheis unfortunately still in the grip ol.did not want to be in Fiin-the-Blank-istan, a

long way away and very get homevanted to be closer b$o, | was looking at

Washington opportunitiest happened that an old boss and colleague of mine, Beth
Joneswas chosen by Secretary Powell, after the election was finally settled and
President Bush was sworn in, to be Assistant Secretary for Europe and Bhasagked

me if | would come and be one of the Deputy Assistant Secretaries, the one who covered
theBalkans.

| reminded Beth that the last time | had worked on the Bajkdrike time of dissent on
Bosnia it had all ended in tearShe said that was one of the reasons she wanted me in

the office, because she acti webtgammgant ed s ome
toward an iceberg, o0 rather thamothemssites seei ng
(as happens in Washington sometipfieéVhen we hit i1 t, it is real!/l

wanting to say that there is an iceberg in our path.

Beth s one of those people who has the-selifidence to surround herself with people
who will disagree with her or who will say,
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i c e b kis ane di the things | admire very much about Bée asked me if | would do
tha.

It seemed to me a wonderful opportunity to come back and work on the Balkans again in
a situatonnwhi ch even i f there wasnodét a | ot of
| could make it a more positive experience for people workindpeissuethan it had

been when | had been thes@meyears beforel. could make sure their voices were heard.

| could make sure that they were able to work in a collegial and positive atmosphere, and
bring those leadership lessons from the senior seminar to there.

So, | came on board just in time for the war in Maceddrdal miss the Kosovo War
completely; | was overseas for thiaty first day as the Deputy Assistant Secretary, |
spent the day evacuating our embassy in Skopje.

Q: You were doing this from whemwhen?

BOGUE:| started in June 2001, and | did that job for two years, until June 2003.

Q:Before we move to specifics, |l etds do a

What were the Balkand2efinitions varyl got into trouble when | was in Greece by
calling the Greeks Balkans.

BOGUE:You get even more trouble in Croatia for referring to Croatia as part of the
Balkansl 6 m usi ng i teactuallysaid Southebstem &yropaenin the State

pr

Department at this point because of all the sensitivitiessuwdroung t he wobr d #ABal |

was actually Deputy Assistant Secretary of State for Southeastern Ebonpleeastern
Europe in this definition includes Serbia, Croatia, Bosnia, Macedonia, Albania, Bulgaria
and, who am | leaving out@ontenegro was still partf Gerbia.Romania had been
promoted to the Office of Central European Affairs, as has now Bulgaria been moved to
that office.They are NATO member3hey are on the way to European Union
membershipThey now have more in common with those countries, agdthve been

moved to a differentoffice(l hey havendt moved geographicall

handled by a different office.

Bulgaria | used to say was the star of my portfolio, which tells you something about the
portfolio. Kosovo, as it remain®tiay, was in a state of limbdust two days before |
started to work, Milosevic was taken to The Hadd#osevic is now in The Hague
preparing for trialHe is out of the picturé here has already been the soft revolution in
Serbia, which has broughteeformers into officeCroatia is still vacillating between
governments that are quite right wing and centetnia is locked in its state of
tremendous governmental gridlock, and that continues to thi\ttania, chopping
along, changing governmisnevery few months, but managing in a funny viglgaria

is trying to shed itself of its past, as much as possilhle.pasof poison tipped

umbrellas and attempts to murder the Pdpe worst of the heavies of the Warsaw Pact
days, and is trying to ke much more modern westdooking state.



The big crisis was in Macedonia when | first started.

Q:Let 6s t al k awhatwas thdsiteatod in Rlacedonia as you saw it at
that time?

BOGUE:Macedonia had become independent when the old Yugadieake up.
Q: Was it a reluctant independence?

BOGUE:Yes, in a sense it was the ldsthad not been trying in the way that Croatia and
Slovenia had been trying to break awalgere was a certain reluctance taMacedonia

had been, along with Kosoythe poorest pabf Yugoslavia and had relied heavily on
economic subsidies from the richer parts, namely Croatia, Slovenia and Stvibia.

there was reasonable concern, which remains a concern to this day, on how Macedonia
would support itself aa nation.This whole country, | used to remind people during the
war, when we moved NATO forces in managing this, had fewer people that my
hometown in Seattlé he whole country had fewer than 3 million peoflee insurgency

or the conflict there was thdte majority population in Macedonia is Slavic speaking,

but there is a very large minority of ethnic Albaniahise ethnic Albanians have
traditionally not been included to a great degree in the economic and political life of the
country, nor had they smany opportunities to do their advanced schooling and the like
in the Albanian languag®robably helped along by the events in Kosovo, there was a lot
of agitation among ethnic Albanians in Macedonia for greater participation and greater
rights.

In fact, | saw this a little bit differently than a lot of my colleagu&sot of my

colleagues saw this as a kindfofmentingof discontent by people in KosovBertainly,
there was a lot of help in the way of monayms,materielandpeople coming over from
Kosovo.l tended to see it as much more of a civil rights strudglabsolute fairness, the
Albanians had been shut out routinely of all sorts of opportunities and even things like
government serviceff. you were an 84year old Albanian woman, it wasagust to go

to a government office and get something ddfeeone would speak to you in your
languagelt seemed to me to be not at all unreasonable that if you went to the post office,
and you were 84, there might be somebody therewhad speak youtanguage,
particularly because this was such a large grtitip.not just a handful of peopli.is a

very significant part of the population.

One of the things that | was pushing for in terms of resolution of this was to look at
language issues in othstates of Europé:or instance, Finland has a large Swedish
speaking minority, and how they have worked out those language arrangdseégitsn
has multiple languages and has worked out ways of handlingithatof countries in
Europe have dealt wittmultiple languages.

Q: Belgium might be a bad example, the way it is split.
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BOGUE:Finland is a much happier example of having successfully worked with the
Swedishspeaking population in a way that has not resulted in walfdras allowed

people to peserve their own language and culture, but also to integrate nicely into the

larger Finniskspeaking populationaswell. s houl dnét say i ntegrate,
comfortably and harmoniously with one another.

We were trying to do a number of things to keap ftom being another Balkan
conflagration We were trying to frame this in terms of a small armed insurgency

occurring not as an attempt to create a new state or something, but as an attempt in a way
to force change on the civil rights front.

With immeng help fromNATO and the European Unién | 1o sagtlthtwith every
Balkan war, we got better at handling théke did a miserable job on Bosnia, a better
job on Kosovo, and a much better job on Maceddritank people have come to realize
that earlyintervention is really importanGo ahead and put troops on the ground.
creates confidence on all sidésallows you to do things.

We had a program where the insurgents could turn in their weapdnge.y wer endt goi
to turn in their weapons to tlggvernment because they were fearful that they would be
massacredl'hey were very willing to turn in their weapons to NATWe worked out a

whole wonderful program where NATOIt actually turned out to be Hungarian trodps

would take these arms and duen up on televisiorhere would be confidence on all
sidesThere werendét just weapons being handed i
are just goi ndheywouldastuallytbdésawn up an dive telévision.

Now, this is the Balkang ha is not to say that somebody cannot go and get more
weaponsThe fact is there is a statement of confidewben people arkanding in
weaponsindroves.t i s not just Uhisacwalmodemgmorkieg ol d s ho
weaponsA lot of things likethat early on with positive intervention by NATO, positive
intervention by the European Union on economic and social issues, all those kinds of
things.Getting the carrots for the governmebome members of the government were
very reluctant to compromesbutthe carrots were always European Union membership,
NATO membershiplf you get yourself out of the traps, that walsat awaited you at the
end But if you screw itup andd o ralfotv participationandtreat this as terrorism that
must be crushed tfzer thanaspeople who have been shut out, you are not going to end
up on that path to prosperity.

| think the other thing that people did really well was that the Albanians had no university

in Albanim.Agai n, you ask your sgtble,tobé eharmngout e f ul IS
Albanians peaki ng uni vAt sbtyyguadoabes®dant a situ
Slavicspeaking students go to one collegelall the Albaniarspeaking students go to

anotherlt would promote further separation and igggation, and so oiThe brilliant

solution to all of this was that there would be a new university teaching only in English

that would attract the top students from both sitfggu are going to work outside of

Macedonia where the opportunities are anyted, if you are going to work in the

modern world, using computers, working internationally, you are going to have to have
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really good EnglishYou would draw the best students from all ethnic groups to the
Englishspeaking universityl.thought thaiwvas a stroke of genius.

Q: I have been away from it for a while, but English is becoming more the lingua franca
in a way because it is spoken by two major countries, besides science and everything
else.

BOGUE:Right. And computersEvery kid who can usa computer now in the Balkans
can speak English to a limited degree, not fluently, but they can manage.

Q: You were saying to get the Hungarians to come in as part of the solutvnyere
these things arrived at3omebody gets a bright idea, ok@g.ge NATO in and all this,
was there a think tank within the various foreign ministries?

BOGUE:I think again there had been a lot of experience on the Balkans imitesl U
Statesthe European Union, and NATO, with efforts that had been made bieffioirek

there was a lot more willingness to deal with things earlyfbere were regular and
constant consultation¥here waghis thing with a funny namehe Contact Grouprou

may remember the Contact Group from the Bosnia days and the Kosovit days.
existed.It was a consultative mechanism that included Russian, France, Italypited U
Statesthe UN, the European Union, Germany, Britain; the big players on the European
front plus Russia. Also the big international play#éns: European Union, NATO hey

met regularly to work on Balkan issues.

So when this issue came up in Macedonia, people in Washington and the European

capitals, in Brussels as European Union and as NATO headquarters, moved very quickly

to take action to get involved to try to peat this from becoming another Bosmdso

to make sure there wasnotthinkthdtallwarked reaflyr i an cr i
well.

The reason you now have these interesting things, we tend to consider one NATO soldier
as replaceable with ari@r. In fact, the realities are that that is notNot only do

different nations bring different capabilities, but also there are sensitivitiesn NATO

was involved in Kosovo and started bombing, NATO decided that Turkey would not be
included in thabecause the memories in Serbia went back generatidoesng occupied

Q: Five hundred years under the Turkish yoke.

BOGUE: So having Turkish fighter pilots bomb yotity was not going to be a good

thing. The same with the Hungarians who had devel@ppdrticular expertise in
destruction of these weaposl so, they didndét have baggage i

Q: In Serbia they might, but not Macedonia.

BOGUE:Exactly.So you can bring in the Danes, all s
baggage in that particulanvironmentThere was a mixturé.happen to remember the
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Hungarian unit that was doing a lot of the weapons destrudti@re were lots of
different units involved ther&he NATO presence was very reassuring for all sides.

It came about with very lig¢ debate or controversy, both in the United States and Europe.
Nobody wanted to see another BosiNabody wanted to see refugee flows and ethnic
cleansingNobody wanted to see the kind of humanitarian horrors and fleosenent
political problemsNobady wanted Bosnia ten years later with troops still in place, all

that kind of thing.

Q: In Macedonia itself there are only 3 million peopl¢as there a hard core of Serbian
nationalists or Macedonian nationalists?

BOGUE:Yes, there is a hard core of Maionian nationalist ar t of Macedoni ao:s
problem was a very deegeated insecurity about its identity asanatioh. coul dndét use
the name Macedonia because the Greeks said that name belonged to them and had

blocked for years the use of the name Macea@u, this country still went by the most

appalling acronym, FYRoM, theormerYugoslav Republic of Macedonia, because the

Greeks said, ANo, t he (PHllipef MMadorgichcantibéas toeaulron gs
nameY o u ¢ a n 6 Theré lead eeninggdi@ns for years and years over various

formulations that might be used, but had not come to fruition.

The Bulgarians claimed that Macedonia is really part of Bulgaria and that the
Macedonian language is no different from Bulgarian, and that these dyeBrdghrians.

Macedonia does not have its own Patriarch of the Orthodox CHuiglunder the

Serbian Patriarcidier e i s | ittl e Macedonia, already f e
an identity.Other people keeglaimingthat they are really GreekBhey are really

BulgariansThey are really thisThey are really thatt is a very tiny country with little in

the way of an economy.

| think it saw itself potentially just disappearing unless it could somehow establish itself.
Part of the reason thttere was resistance to the Albanian demands wadiloegeal
prejudice in the Slavic Balkans against Albanidtert of it was also the fear that the
Macedonian identity, which was very fragile, would disapple@member that, as part

of this, at ongoint one of the things that the Macedonians asked was to include some
kind of a statement in the peace agreement that titedUState®rokered recognizing

the historical importance of the Macedonian people.

For Americans, this all seems kind of nonseals but they did not have a strong sense of

their identity as a natio’\ nation like ours has quite a strong sense of its own history, its

identity. Of course, we are physically very lar§®e are a power in a lot of different

ways.We needtoallappeei at e that a | ot of tiny countrie

Q: You have got Serbia right up there; the Serbs, Bulgarians and Giak&eep using
t he t er m fADibhyoueusedhatingourjob?
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BOGUE:Do you mean visxvis the Greeks?
Q: No, | mean just in nonal talk.

BOGUE:I did, all the timelt certainly drove my Greek colleagues craathat do you

call people who are from the Former Yugoslav Republic of Maced®@ua/u call them
FYRoMians?t sounds like Star TrelSo, | referred to them as Macedonidhsvas after

my time as theleputy assistant secretarh at we di d a huge reorgani
forget it. The United Statess going to recognize them under the name Republic of

Macedonial f t he Gr eeks &en db nlditakes aniayrakallrolmo b ad.
Greece to have somebody use the name Republic of Macedonia.

We do recognize them as sudlhe European Union still does not because Greece is a
member and can veto th&tobably in the UN, they are called FYRoMalled them
Macealonians.

Again, you have this constant problem in these places where a country is identified with a

single ethnicitylf you say you are Macedonian, to us it means you are a citizen of

MacedoniaTo them, it means you are an ethnic Macedonian, which ntlieangou are

an ethnic Albanian and you are otihat is something that we, Canada or Australia, you

can be American, Canadian or Australian, and have come from all sorts of different

placesYou mi ght hyphenate-Aimeracadadaml@hjmwriaflam Afr
American, 0 Amefili cam, 6r @AkmdlF i amn Cbi baseyou ar
AmericanThat i s something that c¢dhemtwashnota i n t he
sense of citizenship in the country apart from ethnicity, ethnic idetigficd hat was

something that | found very difficult, especially when the country is struggling with

establishing an identity for itself.

Q: At the time, was there a push on the part of the Kosovars to take over a hunk of
Macedonia?r were the AlbaniansBefore the civil rights thing, did the Albanian
Macedonians want to stay in Macedonia and not get involved in the whole Kosovar
business®hat were the dynamics?

BOGUE:There was a little of each of thdthe leadership of the main insurgent group,

whichwas called the NLA (National Liberation Army)l dondét r emember what
initials stood for in the Albaniahe group was led a man named Ali AhmElg was

very firm that he was not seeking to attach the mostly Albanian northwestern corner of
MacedoniaThere was a geographical area where most of the Albanians were

concentratedde was not seeking to attach that to Kosovo, nor to Albahia.was not

an attempt to create Greater Albania, but he was seeking more rights, more local

autonomy within the teitorial boundaries and integrity of Macedonia.

Incidentally, you will remember that the way the old Yugoslavia was governed was

hugely centralizedA mayor there had no control over his or her own budget, police
force, fire department, etceteiithe mayrs were always stunned when came to the
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United Statesind saw how powerful a mayor ey have their own budget, their own
employees, and so ohhere, they were essentially federal officials.

The Albanians said you could break down a little bit ofcietral authority and let local
communities have a little more sdor instance, there is a national police force, as there
is in most European countrigswas largely ethnically Slav, so the policing in the
Albanian community was being done almosireht by Slavic policemen, many of

whom had deepeated prejudices about ethnic Albanialie. have seen this problem in

the United States with alhite police forces in Africashmerican communitiesSo, the
Albanians were saying they needed to recruiafllns into the police forckocal
communities should be able to have a police chief who speaks the language of the local
community, as well as the language spoken at police headquatters.should be
community policing, done by peoplého can communiate, and so on.

All this seems perfectly reasonable to Americdindid not necessarily seem reasonable
to ethnic nationalists in the governmdrthink many people did understand that this was
a reasonable solution.

To be able to show models from ppesous, progressive European countries like Finland

was very helpfuHer e 6s what t he Hheynhaw beeraworkinglverye n d o i n ¢
well with their Swedish populatioiThis is a norBalkan countryThis is a wealthy

country.This is a happy country geaceThis is what your country could look like as

well.

There were, of course, some people who did see this as a Greater Albania opportunity.

There were some people who would see this as a way to annex this part of Macedonia to
Kosovo.The Kosovar leaership was very careful to disavow thahe last thing they

needed going into negotiations on their status was to be seen to be aggressively causing

wars i n other countries and Thatushwasgoglg ont o ot
to be a norstater for them Officially, they had to disown it.

The Albanian government was not involved withtdsm e of t he things peop
realize when they expressed fears of a Greater Albania, was the deep cultural divide

between Albanians and Albania, andahians and Kosovo and Northern Macedonia.

Albanians in Kosovo and Northern Macedonia, poor as they were, were not only much

more prosperous but much better educated in general than those in Allbayidended

to view the Albanians as country bumpkirgit cousins from the backwoods.

Q: The hillbillies?

BOGUE:Right. They were not interested in affiliating with that stateey were quite
disdainful of them.

Q: The Balkan mix is a study unto itsélfemember trying to explain to@reek movie

aboutwar in Yugoslavia, the partisan ethid&u had every different nationality fighting
in there.It was very difficult to understantiVere the Bulgarians or Greeks mucking
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around in Macedonia at the time, trying to destabilize it, with the idea of gralbing
hunk?

BOGUE:The Bulgarians, not at allhe Bulgarians had been on their best behavier vis

&Vvis MacedoniaThey were working really hard to shed their old image as the kind of

heavy or the thug of the Warsaw Padiey were very carefulhere were alays a few
looniesinBulgariaT hey sai d, Al tlds bped rotihpgbvdrinentiga roi a .
was always very careful to keep its hands Biflgaria had enough issues of its own

without mucking around in Balkan Wars at that poliftey were realljrands off.

The Greeks did not have a distinguished record in the Balkan Warg.backed
Slobodan MilosevicThey really backed the wrong horges a result, they were deeply
mistrusted in the Balkan$hey had used their economic power in disastrousway
cutting off supplies, turning on or off the tapisgas, convoys of foodveryone

distrusted Greek behavior and intentidNsw again, the Greeks were at this point trying
to clean up their acOne of the very positive things was that in recent yelaesGGreeks,
realizing they had put themselves on the outside of the European Union and others with
bad behavior in the Balkans, decided they needed to play a more positivewakehard
for them to play that positive role because there is a lot thidtouilt up.l think they

have made a very honest effort to do things like prokideanitariaraid, economic
investment, that sort of thing, and play a positive role, instead of a negativEhaile.
continued intransigence on the name issue madgstiery difficult in Macedonia.

It is one of those big countigmall country thingsBig countries need to relax and let

small countries have somet hi ngGréceeteedes e t he D
to be secure enough in its own identity anasperity and thingd. t di dndét need to
that no one in the world could ever use the name Macedonia excepftheymeed to

move on from thafThey realized that one way they could promote stability among their

neighbors was to grant this kind of cassion.

Again, there were a lot of internal Greek politics going on aboutThis.becomes one
of those kinds of issues that you can beat your political opponent over the head with
internally. So there were dynamics.

Q: I served five years in Yugoslawand four years in Greec&alk about touchly

From your position in the State Department, were you able to deal with a sort of
Macedonian working group of other embassies and all on this?how did our embassy
work within this?

BOGUE:The Contact Gnap | mentioned, which met regularly in various places, was

mirroredin Washington among the participant embassies and in Balkan capitals among

the participant embassidsn ot her words, the Contact Group
London.l would fly out toLondon and people would come in from Russia and so on, and

we would meetThen to follow up, the same embassies would have representatives here

and we would all meet in Washington, and their representatives would all meet in
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Belgrade, to try to ensure thahatever the Contact Group had decided was followed up
on thegroundin the respective placeActually, the international coordination was quite
smooth.t was in fact, in my opinion, smoother than the U.S. iaggncy coordination,
which was far lessmooth.

Q: How about the Russian3heir main card is the Slavic card in the BalkaiisWe ar e
the pr ot ect oThisgoesfvaytdclein hSlomid tkey get caught up in the
Slavic nationalism?

BOGUE:l n Macedoni a, t he yhisdReatlyntidetcougtrg thejada ught up
run their lot in, | am sad to say, at the time was Seiltiay were not really interested in
MacedoniaThey did not present any kind of an obstacle or difficdityey did not feel

that they were somehow protecting Mdonia from the West or Albanibthink their

position with Serbid first of all, if you arein Russia, Serbia is much more important in

the regionAlso, they felt that it was the West picking on Serbia, not just the issue of

internal thingsOf coursethe Russians have a particular concern about Kosovo because

of Chechnya, Dagestaimgushetiaand so onThe idea that pieces might be broken off is
worrisome to Russia in a waySothéyaverendtaac edo ni a
impediment.

| found my Russian colleagues for the most part extremely easy to work with on Balkan
issues, not obstructionidWe wer e not negotiatinOp Kosovods
Bosnian issues and Macedonian issues, they were very easy to workwatked a lot

with the embassy here and they were cooperative and helpful on the issues.

Q: During your time, were many thingssolvedDid you see progress?

BOGUE:We really did see progress.really gratifying thing for me was to complete a
bit of a circle on the forer YugoslaviaWe really did see progress.

To go back to Macedonia, a peace deal was agreed and has held reasonabihereell.

were a few fits and starts at implementatibhe kind of money that implementation

takes hasnodt nec e sdonorstateybedagse very tapiddy ateentibnr om t h
was diverted elsewhere.

There has been progress in the BalkdMwre people die in the Balkans now of car
accidents, smoking, than die in ethnic violer@ee of these days, we will get on to that
whole seatbé# thing. | saythis causétu, someone who has also served in the Balkans,
the driving is unbelievable.

In general, the countries were starting to make progress toward integration with Europe,
integration with the European Union, integration with NATGstead of being this little

area of constant conflict, they were starting to catch up and make the kind of political,
economic and social reforms thetdreally been seback.



You and | remember when Yugoslavia was way ahead of Poland, the Czech Retlublic
those places, in its economic policy and its social polibgy lost a decade or more
because of the conflictslow, they are way behind Poland, Hungary, and sd@ bey

were turning that corner away from violeng@ings like elections were gettifgptter

and betterThe OSCEhad stopped even monitoring the elections in Bulgaria because
they were being done completely to Western standards.

The elections in Albania got cleaner every tiffileey had a lot of thenThe government
was falling about evgrfew months in Albania at this tim&hey have a parliamentary
type government, so it would faltlhe man who was then prime minister was an
extremely funny fellowl had gone to Albania and was visiting with him one disy.
sai d, AYou k mMastol|dokat Western manelsnfartoniately, we picked
Italy. Of course the Italiagovernment also falls every few montB& our government

|l i ke themustafabhhséyery few mont hs. o

In general, things were getting bett&H. across, there wasrogress being made on
human rights, on minority rightSerbia now has probably, ironically enough, the model
minority rights statute in all of the former Yugoslavianay end up being the only truly
multiethnic, multicultural societylhere was definely progress on all fronts.

Another thing that intervened very early in my teriutestarted in June 2001 and, of
course, 911 happenedOne of things that meant was that we went from having immense
U.S.focus on the Balkans and immens&Uesources o the Balkans, to very little U.S.
focus and very little U.S. resources on the Balkd@hat was good in some ways because
it gave the occasion for the European Union to stefpaipinstance, the European Union
now provides the peacekeeping troops in Basather than the old U-fd 4 and 3.

The Uhited Statestill has some small involvement in Bosnia in the military sense, but
very little.

When NATO went into Afghanistan, the European Union took over the Macedonia effort
from NATO. | think that haseen a very positive development for the European Union to
start taking those kinds of responsibilities in Europe.

My staff was very downhearted andlsadai d, A Wel
AActually, this i s go astocomeupwaiththepolicigsw 0ist me an
not being decided at the White House n@ve are not just the implementers of what

everybody is focused okverybody is now focused on Afghanistan and then focused on

rag.| t 6s up to us to keepuworikibrsg gon ntgh & oB alek ¢
the ideas and the proposal¢e need to see this as a huge responsibility, but a huge

liberation at the same tim&he President is not our desk officer any méiris on us to

do this, and to do it withouttfeun of bei ng dn statye Affrummt i ppa ges
sense.

Q: This is Tape 9, Side 1 with Janet Bogue.
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BOGUE:I remember having a conversation with Richard Armitage, who was then

Deputy Secretary. dondét know i f vy blalodas likewhbthewas, @ ar wi t
wrestler at the Naval Academy, a huge guth noneck.A wonderful guy.l admire him

immensely.

He talks like thigwith a deep, commanding militarytone) A’ You know your j ob
you?o

| sai d, Myijol s © keesthie®] kans out of your office. o
AYeTshhat 6 ¥omuwibyket got it. o

Obviously, they were completely overwhelmed, as everybody was, in the wakel pf 9

and then Afghanistan, and then Ir&dforts and esources were all in that directidvly

only concern waghat we not have a situation we did in Afghanistan after the Soviets left.
We lostinterest The resources dwindled and we created an opportunity for the Taliban
by doing thatl did not want that to happen in the Balkans as welitunately, there is

also Europe and Europe has an ongoing concern and interest in the Balkans for all sorts
of reasonsEuropean Union membership is the big prize for countries in Eurtipak

that helped keep a steady flow of resources, although certainly not at thédésvelktre

going into southeastern Europe.

Q:Let 6 s t ur Whattwas the sitsation when you got there and what were our
concernsAVhat were you doing?

BOGUE:In Kosovo, it was under UN mandaliéhere was a limited sefovernment.

The rest of Kosow was run by the UNt technically remains to this day part of Serbia,

but administered under UN Security Council resolutions by the United Nailbtisthe

status left deliberately vaguat the time, | was working on it, what we had done was

createl it was clear there had to be some sortofendinsightu coul dndét just s
is going to be vague forevérhere was the resource issilibere was also the demand on

the part of Kosovars fandependencgeand so on.

There needed to be some bundteaisense, of carrots and sticks, to try to move progress
along.It was a very complicated thing to do because anything we did could be perceived
and used by Kosovars and Serbs to claim that either this showed they were still part of
Serbia, or it showedhey were becoming independenhis all had to be done very
delicately.We tended to just focus initially on almdsthnicalkinds of thingsreforming
things like the power structure, power in terms of electricity, water, utilities, things like
that, crating a situation in which the local sgfovernment could be done.

But also, thigs all going to start sounding awfully familiar to people who have been
following Iraq, laying out benchmarks, saying that certain benchmarks would have to be
reviewed.There would have to be adequate progress on the benchmarks before
discussions of the final status of Kosovo could be achiédease benchmarks inclad

all sorts of things about goveance human rightsminority rights, progress on



establishing institutionsf democracy, working judiciaryvorkinglegislature and so on.
We needed aituation in which there would be a working governmbat,also it would
bea government that would work for everybody and not just for one ethnic group.

There was a lot of ezern that if Kosovo became independent, those Serbs remaining
who di dn 6dbe Kilbddtevas sti theidase when | took over Kosovo that an 80
year old Serb ladgoingto the grocery store required a NATO escaht$ot of nice,

young Norwegiaawould take her to the grocery store so that she would come back alive.
One of the benchmarks had to be a level of security that would permit people to move
about freely, to go about their business and sd@ bat was also very much a work in
progress atrte time.

Many Kosovar Albanians were working very hard to try to establish those institutions.
Extreme Kosovar nationalists were working hard to try taog@®@iainingSerbs outThen,
the Serbian population for the most part, was very intransigent abEnaaepting the
idea that they would be in a separate Kosauarstate.

Q: Were we seeingt the time, looking ahead, this northern hunk of Kosovo would
eventually move with Serbid¥ere we trying to cram down their throats?

BOGUE:I think thatinevey oneds minds in the United State:
that Kosovo could not and would not ever go back to being a part of SEnbia.

Kosovars would not accept thdtere would be more bloodshed and more fighting.

Serbia had, through its own behavilst the right to govern Kosovbthink there was a

view that it shoulltdnsSho thladghmpétn hra mghd n auwmtyi. | m
government changein Serbiat s houl dndét happen until some
if they ever dpinthe Bakans.l t shoul dndét happen unihi | some

place br minorities in Kosovo, and thelike.n ot her words, it shoul dn

that would create further conflict and destabilization.

We were not looking at territorial partitiowe were not looking at kind of leopard spots,
the old VanceODwenPlan for Bosnia, because there were towns that were Serbian, even
though the surrounding area was largely Kosow#e .were looking at trying to create a
better circumstance for human righfts, minority rights, for security overalhgain, like

in Macedonia, more devolved government, more autonomy at local municipal levels
rather than being centralized.

Added to this, and I thinthis isthe thing that we always have to remind ourselves of,
were all the reforms that needed to be made to get out of a communist command state
economy and into a modern markkiven, Western style econonilhat was overlaying

all this.

Q: Was there angconomyto work with?

BOGUE:That is one of the problems Kosovo.An awful lot ofthe economyfor
reasons of historical necessity in many ways, was a grey economy or an economy based
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on smuggling and things like th&tosovo had very littlelt had been terribly poor,

terribly overpopulatedi facedimmensedestruction by Serbia of what little was left of

its economylt was really going to have to start from scratch, in many ways, to build an
economyln the meantime, as happens in these circumstances especially in the chaotic
conditions of the conflict, idat thugs move in and they stathageconomy.That has

to be overcome as wedba legitimate economig able to grow up where people have
opportuniti esjustsmaglieg. t hey arenot

One of the reasons that there was reluctance on the part afrthygeBns to move to
independence for Kosovo was that they perceived that either Kosovo would be essentially
a welfare state of Europe for a very long time, because of their economic situation; or, it
would be a criminal enterprise in Europdave to sayhat the Europeans share the
prejudices about Albanians that Serbs and stha&ve, and so they were convinced that

this would be a little mafia state in Eurof@a that was the reluctance on the part of the
Europeans to move too quicklyoth forfear ofdestabilizing things in the Balkans, but

also the fear that if you give independence before a legitimate economy could be
established in Kosovo, then there would be ongoing problems.

Kosovar leadership was very interested in getimggitimateeconomy ging. They have

a highly educated populatiohhey wanted the clean sort of industries like software.

They dondét have a Thepwanten things Bkésoftwaee ldevelopmseatu r c e s .
where they can put a lot ofell-educated people toworkinsomet ng t hat doesnoét
on natural resources.

Investors wereeluctantto invest, partly because the status of Kosovo was uncertain and
partly becausef the security situatigrthe human rights situatioand the corruption
situation were very bad.

Q: Was there a problem of you started @usiness you had to pagopleoff, and that
sort of thing?

BOGUE:Yes, but becauseast of that was still under the control ofthe N wa s ndét s o
much that as it was that there were protection rackets and $beva.were a lot of
additional taxes and levies, shall we say, to be paid on any business.

Q: Looking at thisas a sort of embryonic stateas there a nerve structure beginning to
develop there®ere municipalities able to become real municipalitid&s ths
happening or not?

BOGUE: It was just getting startett.is an interesting human problem because right at

the time when people are for the first time able to take the reins of some central
government, you are tell i topeonh&legrhordehat t hose
anymore; they are on a little pony noviou think, finally someone hame in toa

position of authority that has been denied for 40, 50, 60 or more petuslly you are

saying, fAWe are going to dmoepswerzziethecent r al go
municipalities. o0
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Of course, the people coming into power in t
appreciate that.

One of the interesting developments, and | thought a very positive development for the
future in the Balkans was that thrayors started to make common cause with one
another across ethnic linéhe mayors all had the same interest, for whatever ethnicity
they might bel have beersimplifying things byreferring toonly two ethnicities in

Kosovo, because of course, theyalsoa significant Roma population theféhere are

some Bosnians ther&here are other ethnicities there as well.

The mayors, no matter what ethnicity they were, wanted some local caimeglwanted

a budgetThey wanted the ability to have munidipaxes so that they could have their
own fire department, police force, and water compahgy wanted to do the king of
things mayors are supposed to patchthe street, police the street, do all those things.
So they were starting to work with eachet across ethnic lines, because they had a
common interest in empowering municipal government and reducing the control at the
central level.

We alsosaw thatas a positive change for ethnic relations, becdyseople in the
municipalities had a bit mercontrol over their own liveshey would feel lesthatthey
were just at the whim of the majority ethnic group governing from the capdale
were very much supporting a stronger local government.

It was very interesting to see sometimes an ethtbafian mayor resisting the ethnic

Albanian central government, and making common cause with his neighbor, the Serbian

mayor, because they both wanted more local autondmgome extent, it is a power
struggle, but itds o méreakimgadme bofthebamiersc er t ai n us

We brought a whole group of mayors over here at one time for a confeféeckrst

day, all the Serbs were sitting over here and all the Kosovars were sitting over there in the
one roomBY the end of the week, they aljreed that their problem was not each other;

their problem was the central governméiihat they needed to do was speak with one

voice togetherThat was a vergncouraginglevelopment.

| think the wave of the future in Eurofsgcause othe European Uan, is very much for

a strengthening of regional areas anywidhat is the way Europe is goinghe regions

are developing their own kind of voice and power economically, culturally, and so on.
There is the European Union and the central governmente obtintries and the
regions.In a way, the balance of power shifts a little bit both to the European Union and
to the regions, and a little bit away from central governmdimiat, in some ways, will be

a positive development in the Balkans as well.

Q: Moving along, we will come back to Serbvahat about Albania at the time?
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BOGUE:Al bani a hadndot had the ethnic lowanfl i ct t
coming out of the generatidong Enver Hoxha dictatorshifi.was trying to establish

itself as a modern state, and was having tremendous growing Y4ioswvould have

thought that a pyramid scheme gone bad would plunge the country intosrdihat

lasted for months?

People had very odd ideas all through Eastern Europe and the formeucizinworld
about capitalisnand what it was going to do for thekvhen things like ponzi schemes
and chain letters canasong they thought this was all re&eople threw what savings
they had at it and were bilked or went broke as a reRudtre was aimmense amount of
civic instability and problems in Albania as a result of that.

That was starting to be sorted olihings were getting much better in Albamdbania

had become a huge problem for Europe and for itself because okirafficafficking

people, trafficking of narcotics, trafficking of smuggled cigarettes and other stolen goods.
The Albanians themselves used to joke that there were so many MeBestesn the

streets of Tirana that you could not believéVibst of them were stolemn fact, a group

from Europe had done a little studyheyhad run the serial numbers of 100 Mercedes
Benz with the help of the policEhey ran through the numbe#d| but one were stolen
carsfrom Europe

They joked that their new tourism promotion waéng to be to blanket Western Europe,
and especially Germany, withVYduichrivwblear ds t hat
wai t i ng THepwouldstall this okeThe problem was so outrageously bad.

It had also become a huge transit point for sringgersons into Italy.

Q: I want you to talk about this because recently it seems to have become quite a focal
point of our foreign policy and concernéet when one looks at it, there are very few
arrests madels it exaggeratedPlow did you view this?

BOGUE:There was no question that there was a lot of movement of people between
Albania and Italy by small speedboat, Zodiac boat, that kind of thing, at mightoasts
are rugged and long on both sidiésvas an easy enough thing to dolot of it was
simplyillegal migration into Europe, moving people from wherever who had gotten this
far as Albania, and moving them into European states.

Q: How did they get into Albania®/ere they going by ship? candt i magi ne goi
the mountains into Allraa.

BOGUE:No, it was much more common to come up through Greece, or come through a
route like thatSometimes by seanore typically by roadt was not hard to get into
Albania.Their visa requirements were minimal, and sometimes could be substiithed w
cash.lt was not a hard thing to do, to getrhen there was quite an extensive network of
traffickers and they carried whatevé&hey carried peopl&.hey carried cigaretteShey
carried whatever needed to be carriedact, the problem was sow&e that the Italian
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tax police, which is sort of their customs, they actually had officers and uniformed troops
stationed in Albanian port$he port ofDurreshad a huge detachment of the Italian tax
police there in order to try to prevent smuggling &rafficking of personsit was always
arealprobleml t 6s very hard to get the numbers.

Q: When we are talking about trafficking in people, we are talking mainly about young
women who are lured into Western Europe to be prostitutes, although oftexdaither
jobs.Were we able to do anythin@* were there sort of holding pens in Albania.

BOGUE:I would say in Albania that there was more of an issue with illegal migration,
not necessarily trafficked women, but migrants trying to get into Europelvanita. The

place where we have a more serious problem with trafficked women was Kdbkavo.

is, women were being trafficked to Kosovo because of the large presence there of foreign
troopsand administratorsand Bosnia todso you had women from Moldoviipm

Ukraine, and from places like that, who were actually trafficked to Kosovo and Bosnia
because of the large presence of foreign troops therme, one of the great horrors, and
this has happened elsewhere too, is that when the UN or NATO goes pnaiective

force, sometimes because of the presence of the troops, it creates situations that did not
exist, or only existed in a minor wapgfore.One of those is this presence of a large
population of foreign, unattached mé&ften what results fromhat is trafficking in

women to provide brothels.

Q: I was a Gl in Korea and Japan.

BOGUE:It is one of those frustrating things when you are sending U.S. police over to

run the international police force in KosoWe send Americans over often, recently

retired police officersThey go over to become police officers in Kosovo so that there

will be an international police force that the local population can have confiderices in.

not on one side or the other in Kosoimmety-nine percent of them wereeat guys and

great women who did fantastic jobs thérken there is the one percénat end up

keepng trafficked women or abusing the population in some Whg.find themselves in

the role of being a very rich and powerful foreigner in a very poodasgerate place.
Some people dondét respond appropriately.

Q: 1 havendét gotten to that point, but Larry |
was saying that he was told, APl ease dondt s
American plbehyvecemessentially saying, fAYou ar e

policemen who are no longer with 8end us some real policemen, instead of has
beens. 0

BOGUE:One of the Kosovars who | worked with a lot was actually a senior officer in
the former Yugoslav armyvhich was unusual, agtwas an ethnic Albaniakle was
tremendously fit and one of these military officers who in his 50s has zero percent body
fat. He kept himself incredibly fitHis Englishwas spectaculaHe had been to Fort
Leavenworth dr trainingHe s a i dypukédep semdi@g us the overfed andiearly
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d e alde said they just wend physically upto the demands of thejob.h ey coul dndt
chase the bunch of 2@ar old Kosovar guys who had recently beecombat

Q: Going back quickly to &sovo, were we able to meld this Englégieaking university
in Macedonia into the Kosovar equatioli3zeemed to make sense.

BOGUE:There always was one in Kosovithere was an American university in Kosovo
already.There was a whole string of thefirhere was one in Bulgaria, one in Macedonia,
one in Hungary, one in Kyrgyzstahhey teach in EnglisiThey offer a fairly broad
curriculum, but theyareespecially strong in international business, computer science, and
engineeringThose kinds of skills areery needed by the country and are very
transferable.

Q: Is there some central control over these universities?

BOGUE:I think they are independent of each other but in a loose affilidtmould be
wrong about thafThey do each have a board that iged of Americans and whatever
the local isThey are certainly sought aft@here is a lot of demand@he American
University in Sofia attracts significant numbers of very good Bulgarian studieists.
much cheaper than going to the States to stddy.still get an American education
taught in EnglishYou emerge with very good English skills and a degree that carries
with it some clout.

Q: On that subject, did you notice the internet, the computer, having a major impact
throughout the regidh

BOGUE:Very much solt is one of these bizarre thingchere is a huge generational

divide between those who were computer savvy, those who were in the digital age, and
those who were notkeep hoping that will be one of the things that will make a positive
change in the Balkans.

Of course, it is used for the wrong things tdbe internet is where one nut case

extremist finds friends with other nut case extremistsan work against things todhe

thing that has been unparalleled, and | think we are s@@mBurma now, is that it is no

longer possible for a ruling party of the state to shut down information because of

satellite television, satellite telephones, and the inte¥fuet.cannot blockade

information any more in a way that you used to be @blethink the fact that

information can now reach and be circulated among people because of the internet makes
that an immensely powerful tool for people.

Again, my concern about the Bal kans i s much
Youngpeoplegwi ng up in the Bal kans donét necessart
Politically, economically, they see these places mired in the old strugblegare in

some ways relics of the past for a lot of young people, not moving forivaeg.see

their futureelsewherel think in Bosnia in the year 2000, there was a survey of everyone

under 30, very extensive gquestionnaires followed up with interviews with many of them.
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Something like 98% of people under 30 in Bosnia expresseththegireatest desire was
to leave Bosnia and settle somewhere digat is not a future for a countryhat is
absolutely a place that has no future.

The reasons they gave were there are no jobs; the economy is bad; the country is stuck in
this ethnic gridlock that is never goitmgo away, they are not going to get out of it.
There is no hope for us hel®e should just go somewhere else and live our lives.

In a place like Bosnia, because of the arrangements, there is no place for a lot of people.
You have to be Bosnian, Serb@roat to hold elective office, to participato if you are

a Jewa Ruthenian, a Vlacla Romagpr if you are the result of a mixed marriage which

was not uncommon in Bosnia, there was no place for you in that envirorBoeydu are
going to have to mae on and go somewhere else.

| think that is more my worry about the Balkaiibesecountriesin a sense bisisting

in many cases on staying mired in the problems of the past, they are creating a situation
whichi and you know people in the Balkans aeey good at shooting themselves in the
footT by constantly focusing on the past, ytlaee ruining theirfuture, by not offering the
children something to look forward to, or something to feel that they have.

Q: Right now, the Middle East is aflame ahdt is probably a danger problem too.
Elders are forcing extreme religion and ethnic divides on the kids, and offering them no
place to go.

BOGUE:I remember BilBurns when he wasssistansecretary for théNear Easbne

time when he was giving a talgaying that in Algeria, for instance, the unemployment
rate among men under 45 was over 80%at 80% were now facing the fact as they
approached the age of 45 that they would never in their lives haveThgrefore, in the
Algerian environment, theyould never marry and have a familiywas no wonder that
there were a lot of recruits to radicalis&ven if you told them when they were 20 that

the job market was tighbut by the time they were 30, they could have a job and settle
down and have a faihg. But whatthey were telling80% of the menvas that theyvere

never going to have a job, were never going to be able to support a family, ever, in their
wholelivesHe sai d that they dondét Thhey domett hh aawge
future.When you have a circumstance like that, there are bound to be some political
repercussions.

Q: This European Union business, was it the pot at the end of the rainbow, or something
like that?

BOGUE: Everybody wanted to be in the European Unidie. wantedhliem in the
European Union tod.used to try to soften expectations a little bit because people
thought that if you joined the European Union suddenly you were rich, like those
Germans and those Danégied to explain that actually first you got richen you
joined the European Union; it was sort of a rich countslub. They were going at this a
little bit backwards.
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Integrating themselvaato thoseeconomies was the first stefdl the kinds of things
they needed to do in the way of restoringitioein economy were the things they needed
to do to come into the European Union.

The European Union publishes a book of what you have to do, everything from weights

and measures to the width of your railroad track, in order to inte@ifaeebookis about

18 inches thicland it is called thé&quis,the FrenchwordSo t hey come and say
hereiswhayouneed t o do. O

Those were all things that the countries needed to do anyilvay.needed to rationalize

their banking systenThey needed to rationaé their commercial structureBhere are

also a few things that are politicas well. They had to have certain human rights

guarantees n pl ace or you c anldisthesame withiNATOYoOEUTr op e an
have to have certain democratic and humgints guarantees place to become a

member of NATOl t i s not enough to say, AWe have an
commondeense . YOu have to meet other criteria as wé&lhose were very positive

things.It gave people an incentivit.gave badership some cover to do unpopular things.

Someti mes economic reforms are not going to
have got to do it t o Thatastwharerybuaould foasoBthe o pean L

next generation, because youcould $aj, o ok, you want your Kkids t ¢
opportunities to study in Europe, to work in Europe, to éimgwheran Europe.The way
to do that is for us to join the European Un

| think that did work in fits and start¥he odd thing was that at the moment when other

countries argwith more or lesgood cheergiving up aspects of their sovereignty to

participate in the European Unidn the Balkans, they kind of missed the nineteenth

centuryi g et t i n gown oatomd periog.&verybody wants thafi We want our
own countryWe want all the symbols and trappings

In a way, they werewimmingagainst the tide of Europe a little bit, in wanting to have

all these things that in a wayeagoing to become unimportaonce they argart of the

larger European communitin a way, you could even say the difference between

Albania and Macedonia, in a sense none of this matters once you are part of the European
community because you can warkerever you want, you can live wherever you want.

There was still this level of high nationalism that for historical reasons had not had its
evolution in the Balkansso they were trying to do that simultaneously by participating

in this kind of supernatinal, extranational activity.

It was a difficult mental and psychologidednsition
Q: Like watching an organism develop or something like that?
BOGUE:Yes.| 6 m an opti mi st and you have to be an

year in and year out.lB| was seeing a lot of positive tren@snig in some ways, &as
the county | wasmost worried about because the countries that tried to carve it up were



actually getting themselves together and heading toward European Union and NATO
membershipBosniareally remained mired in the conflict and in many ways unable to
get out of it.l think that at some stage, the Dayton Accords were immensely useful and
stopped the fightindt created a situation in which there could be stability and security.
But in many ways, they are going to have to outgrovittvas meant to be a floor, but it
has become a ceiling in a wadlyhas created a very rigid situation that is hard to get past.
At some stage, Bosnia is going to have to relodieatton

Q: What were we dog in Bosnia at the time?

BOGUE:We were very focused on trying to create institutions, both economic and

political, that would allow Bosnians to run their own governmieat.instance, there was

an international police force and an international sectoice.The idea was to have a

police force; a police force that was Bosnian that people could trust; a police force you

could call and not have to think that the ethnicity of the officer who answered your call

woul d determine t heprabfehi cerds response to yo

It was the same with the militaryhe Bosnian Serbs had been allowed to keep their
separate military units, insignia and uniformbere were essentially two militaries in
Bosnia, and they had two armidfiey had the Bosnian Serb army angiythad the
federationarmy.They had two ministries of defendéhis was totally untenable for a
county to have two separate armies, distrusting each other.

One of the things we tried to do with defense reform was again offer carrots and sticks.
The kindsof things that army officers wanted to,doich as participating in peacekeeping
operations, going to therited Stategor training at Fort Benning or Fort Leavenworth or
the War CollegeAll those things became available only to people who served in
integrated units in Bosnia.

So,whereaghe older fellows who fought in the confliahd werghencolonelswere

determined to keep things as they wédrevas the young captains and such who really

wanted to make a future as a military officer clearlywéren goi ng t o go anywh
they participated in a joint unit.

We tried to have these kinds of carrots and stiekst of defense reform was you

coul dnét get promoted to col onAell youwaodlde ss you
only check thosedxes in an integrated ungo, if you are a young captain, what are you

going to do?f you are not willing to join an integrated unit, you had better give up on the

army as a career.

So again, they are trying to use incentives and disincentives tqpé@ie into the army
who were interested in it being a single Bosnian aifhgre is still a long way to go.
There are a lot of very intransigent tough people who are willing to sit there and not
enjoy the carrots, suffer the sticks, rather than chagehere were also people who
really did want change to come and wanted there to be a future for their kids, or
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themselves if they were young&o we tried to do things like that.was very, very
slow.

It is interestingYou may remember the City of Be. Brcko could not be settled in the
DaytonagreementsSo, a separate arrangement was made for BRrk&o became
almost an independent city in the way of the old independent citieBdikeig the free
cities of Europe that were independent entidg¥sko had an administrator from the
West, who happened to be Americkie ran BrckoBrcko had all three ethnicities there.

What they did in Brcko was absolutely fascinatifg. r st , t he parents said
have to go to separate scho@<Croatia school, a Serbian school and a Bosnian school.
A kid wildl not go tdhan$esbhanl|l abdmiNot 8er at owm

p r o b [Aedrtherhebuilt a fantastic school for childremho were willing togo toan
integratedschool.The teachkrs were paid very wellhey had modern textbookBhey
had lab equipmenthey had all this great stuff.

Essentially, what this administrator did was
your kids?Do you want a good educatio@®? do you want thatild never to sit next to
someone who isndét their ethnicity?0o

Some parentsvotedférl onl y want my kid to sit next to
means they get a terrible education. o

But, woul dn®t0 % od kmmaow nitts? s aisniykidtdyghaat | r e al
good education. o

In Brcko, over and over, people did things like when the City Council became

deadl ocked over ethnic i ssuldesadmirasttaior t hen gar b
essentially said, 0 D®rdp wwwant this persandorrdprasgre c ol | e
an ideologicalhard i ne posi ti on?o

People said, AwWell, what we want is garbage
Over and over, Brcko moved ahead because people started putting people in place who

would provide technocrats essentially, whawdoprovide services instead of ideology.

They started electing city council members who would pick up the trash, have good

schools regardless of their ethnic backgrounds instead of ethnic zealots who would let the

trash pile up rather than ever let a gay man from the other ethnicity havpla.

So, you could see that carrots and sticks could work, but it was very hard to apply them
countrywide.That was just a very difficult thing to do and it was a very slow process.

Bosnia maystill come outof this butit is not clear how that is going to happen.

Q: What about the problem of corruption?



BOGUE:Again, it was a very big problerit.was a problem in communist times, as you
know from your time theréAll the communist econoies have gone througtspasns of
corruptionas they haveonverted to western economiéslded to that was the vacuum
created during the war when criminal gangs were able to get tremendous f®othold
because thelgad gunsBut theyalsowere doing things that people needed. You know,
when Sarajevavas strangled, criminal gangs were able to get food through, and things
like that. They were able to get rich because they were actually providing a service that
people neededt has been difficult to dislodge them from their positidbEcourse there
are groups of people who profit from these kinds of circumstances and they hate it when
the war ends, because their position of power and influence and wealth is jeopardized.
They do everything they can to hang onto that.

Q:Didyouhaveam bl em of wvarious tohthesspeaplear®@asr er si ght
bunch of c¢crooks and we c dnnwedtigatiech® t hat . wo ©OF d fit
stop progress.

B O G U E :No, &e actually would have welcomed a little more of that interest,

particulaly locally. We would have welcomed a little more press activism on

investigative journalismiT hat 6 s a s c ar Iyyouareinnegtigating crimmad o p | e .
gangs, you might wind up in a gutter yoursketiok what has happened to journalists in

Russiaand other placesho have donethat t 6 s never a situation whe
in the Lhited Statey o u s ay, AYou go out t hTeatis and put vy
exactly the kind of thing these societies nédtky need to develop those kinds of

ingtitutions. They need crusading journalisish ey need Ral ph Naders to
These car sTheymeed dl the gadflieseahddhe consumer advocetey.

need Mothers Against Drunk Drivinhey need the kind of things, what we lump under

theer m, fAci viihleys meiedat \.iThey reedrwatéchdog graupey .

need all that stuff.

That did not exist under Communisirhat is a long, hard, slow process to develop that
in people who are accustomed tanggfearful of their governmen®hey are accustomed
to being way to busy just trying to get by and make a living, to have the kind of time
they need to devote to that.

Things in the Wited Statesun on volunteers and that requires a certain level of
prosperityto be able to do that

Q: You go to a country such as France and the volunteer situation is still prettylwead. s
a centralized governmers you say, things are breaking down in Europe into localities
where volunteers can flouris@ur oral history program is done essefigiahrough
volunteers and getting money from individuals rather than government suippottard

to get somethingke thatgoing in most European countries.

Were there indicators in Bosnia that things were beginning to break didwrese

peopleundr 30 are saying, fAScrew thiBdyeu hnic st
see this beginning to break down the system or not?
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BOGUE:I saw more of that in Serbia, interestingly enouytot of young people who
had | eft duri ng bebkA lotofehem cadesback withn excetleatm e
educations and experience that they had gotten outside the céusirthere were

some leaders coming up, not that all of them were perfect or perfectly pure themselves.
Many of them had had to make their Ideaith the devil.

For instance, Zoran Djindjic, who had become the Prime Minister, was assassinated
while | was working therd.went to his funerall was at ground level with the funeral
party, so ]butevenllsaivrodthe news katerierial photographs, they
thought there were a million people on the streets of Belgrade following the funeral
processionThis was a kind of Kennedgsque figureHe was young, dynamic,
charismatic, and terribly goddoking. He had a young wife and twery young

children, a boy and a girl, who were there at the gravesite.

This was the moment when he was killed by theRed Beretsthe most extreme
nationalist part of the army that had served Milosedewas probably killed because he
had agreed taitn over some of the Serbian wanted war criminals to The Halgueras
shot to death.

Hi s funer al became one of those Hereiment s when
finally a leader, for all his faults, he has been focused on the fittareas beendiding

out the idea of a European future for us, instead of just talking about how the Serbs are

being oppressed arnastead obeingan ardent Serbiamationalist about past injurielde

is actwually looking to the future. o

| think you did see intimesdie t hat, people actively saying,

corner . o0

Serbia has not done that all the way, stithu still have the problem of the war criminals.
You still have a problem with people electing very radical, sort of nationadisple

Kosovo has become a flashpoint now that the negotiations are underway.

You did see some potential for more positive leadership in the flitet. some very
dynamic young Bosniansmet very dynamic young people in all parts of thidte

guestion wagust whether in fact they would be able to carry forward with these policies.
Q: Looking at the time, this is a good place to stop now.

We are still talking about your time from 2001 to 2003, when you were Deputy Assistant
Secretary for Balkan Affairs.

BOGUE: Southeastern Europe.

Q: Southeastern European Affairs.
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We really havenodot tal ked Itwouldlikmtotatkabauh out Ser b
developments there, and the role of young people who have left and come back or stayed
away.What is themportance of this?

Also the war criminal business and how Milosevic during your time was inAkEt,
other war criminals.

Also, what was the role in both Croatia and Serbia of the churctieshave got two
churchesWas it in 808 AD when they divdiep the place between the Orthodox and the
Catholic?And Montenegro, what was that up to?

What about the role of politics in the United States of ethnic groups to get you involved
with CongressDid the academic world have any role in thAfd is thereanything else
you can provide

BOGUE:I have got to do that.

| went out to Cleveland to give a talk about NATO and the néwdgpendent states at a
Lithuanian American catholic church one even
of Perpetual NATO M b e r slhwaga.lod of fun.

Q: I just wanted to add that | would also want to coverl9You have already mentioned
some of what happened in Macedomaw did this affect us in other places®w have

we used what we have learned out of the Balkahigh was a long learning experience
in different phasesWere we trying to pass that on to our masters who are dealing with
Afghanistan and Iraq?

Q: Today is October 15th, 2007%he Ides of October.
We were doing a tour of the horizon at this point.

Montenegro at that point was partof Setdiu g o s | av i avhatwesesvaedoing i t ?
about Montenegro at the tim&WVas it a separate entity, or what?

BOGUE:To some exteniThere came a point during the Milosevic years when

Montenegro staked out a positiin opposition to MilosevicThe Unhited States

supported and encouraged tt&erbia and Montenegro were in fact still a uAttsome

point along here, | dondt remember exactly w
Yugoslavia to Serbia and Montenegftis became the name of the country, as those

were the two republics left from the original Yugoslavia formed after the Second World

War.

The U.S. position about Montenegrods indepen

MontenegroEvery time there waa poll taken in Montenegro, the Montenegrins were
divided just about 560 on the subject of independendéout 50% wanted to be an
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independent countrAbout 50% saw this &s first of all they had a lot of ties to Serbia
and they saw themselves as ihgsa lot.Losing the strength of the Serbian economy,
Montenegro didnot losingthe avaess to tha umivessties witcmy .
were considered quite good in Serbia, considered quite poor in MonteAegro.
Montenegrin student could freely go a®eal studento anyuniversity in SerbiaThey

were all in the same countiylany Montenegrins saw themselves as having more to lose
than they had to gain by this.

Serbia was quite anxious to hold onto Montenegiat of all, pieces of Serbia had been

breaking off:pieces of greater Serbia and pieces of Yugoslavia had been breaking off for

some years, and they were getting smaller and smalksr, a lot of Serbs had property

in MontenegroThey had relatives there, and so Bmally, Serbia without Mntenegro

is landlockedSer bi a6s continued access to Tdhe seaport
other ports that had served the old Yugoslavia were in Croatia, Slovenia and Bosnia,
although Bosnia doesnodot really have a port,

The Serbs were anxious to hang on to Monten&pme Montenegrins, about one half at
the time, were anxious to hang on, the other half anxious to break away.

| would say that we and the Europeans were all ambivalent about it for a couple of
reasons.

Onewas that Montenegro did not have much of an econttirg/a very tiny place. It is

mostlyrocks It has almost no industrin fact, there used to be a proud boast in
Montenegro that said, YoGwmayreraegeerthasphraser onl y i
from your time therelt was their great boast because they historically regarded
themselves as ferocious fighters, but they h

Agriculture is poorAn awful lot of the economy that existed was, like the economy in
Albania, based on smuggling things into Italy across thesgaaggling cigarettes
without taxes, and so on.

The Europeans were concerned that what they would get is a little criminal enterprise,
rather than a state in Eurogiewould be more of a crimin@&nterprise than a state.

think the Uhited Statesvas worried not so much about a criminal enterprise, but about a
welfare stateThis would be a state with essentially an unviable economy which would
be dependant upon Europe and the United Stategdfasdar as the eye could see into
the future.

Q: Was there any sort of feeling with any of the people you deakngwith in the
UnitedStates i n t he nAdepatrhitante,nth Tofe rSerelnsgegave us
Letds stick it to them here. o

BOGUE There were more voices like that; | have to say, in Congress and among some

interest groups saying, fALetds take everythi
Mont enegro. 0
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My view was more, AMdhowa ohwret ihug tolhres el?ves ?0

My job was to lookafter U.S. interests.said if the Montenegrins want to become

independent, that is finewithme. dondt have anyWeneatoon t o opp
make it clear to them that we would not pay for them, subsidize them, fof&eaway |
usedtoputthis o ot her Americans was, Alf you want |
Serbia because you want to punish Serbia, are you prepared to make Montenegro the

fifty-f i rstThatatw®® the expectation, tTheira gr eat
reward for braking off from Serbia would in fact be that they would not become a state,

but they would be supported by the United States.

Even when we are highly disposed to provide that kind of funding, other things happen

like IraqgandAfghanistarthatdrain off allthe resourceSso, you coul dnét say
Montenegrins, fAGo ah e ¥daregniuay tolsepoa yoa forithe d e p e n d e
next 25 years, un¥Yolu had getsont youurséagetiiBGe
and then become independent . 0

Q: Wae you able to communicate this to the Montenegrins?

BOGUE:Yes, we had a lot of long chats with the Montenegiiig government of
Montenegro was very pfmdependence at the tim&gain, it was absolutely fine with
me if they became independenhis was not going to cause a wlrwas going to be
more of a velvet divorce, like in Czechoslovakihat mattered to me was that the
Montenegrins go into it with their eyes wide op&hey were not going to be financially
supported by the United States iéyhbecame independeithey needed to understand
that our aid programs would continue, such as they were, but they were not going to
suddenly get bigger.

The Europeans felt the same wHySerbia and Montenegro came into the European

Union, Montenegrinsvould enjoy all the benefits of European Union membership.

Montenegro on its own was a long way away from entering the European Union.
Therefore, it was to Montenegrodbs advantage
So the Europeans tended to be cautious abmatueaging independence as well.

Q: canb6t remember his name, the | eader of M
BOGUE:Right, a tall fellow, but they are all tall.

Q:Wasnodét he a darling of the press, the medi
BOGUE:For a while.You know, a little country, a little tiny place standing up to

Mi |l osevic and disagreei ngManieiepohsllsahosevi cds v

impossibly cutecomic operajuality to it, a little tiny place stuck up in the mountains.
fact, there have been canoperas about Montenegro.
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Q: Certainly, the Merry Widow!

BOGUE:Prince Danilo is from Montenegrélthough | think it is called Pontenegno
the operabut it is clearly Montenegro.

So there was this kind of interekthink that started to decaybé when thepresidenof

Montenegro was linked to some of the criminal enterprldeswyas linked to a cigarette

smuggling operatiorke was linked to some other criminal activitts. d on 6t know hov
t hat 6 s a There wecenmeestigalidns begungdaso onHe lost some of his luster

at that point.

Also, at the time they were standing up to Milosevic, they looked more progressive in a
way than they weréfterward, in fact they were not making the kind of economic and
political reforms that they wdd have had to make to join the European Union and so on.
In fact, one of these odd circumstances is that after Milosevic fell and a new government
took over in Serbia, Serbia got quite a bit ahead of Montenegro in refdiongenegro

fell behind and ceasl to be the darling of the press at that point | think.

Q: It sort of disappeared from the media.

BOGUE:Well, it has become independent ndontenegro is an independent country
now.

Actually, on the Fourth of July, | opened our Consulate in Monten®¥de hadhada
diplomaticmission there when Montenegro was briefly independent for six or seven
years in the early years of the"™0entury.We had a mission there, just rooms in a hotel.
't wasnoét elwasnstaffed byma Bnebassy.in Greddke opened a
consulate there before it was independent to cover Montenegro.

| had the fun of opening that consulate on tA@#July. It must have been in 2002he
people of Montenegro very much took that as a sign that their independence was coming.
It wasndét meant to be a sign of that.

It was kind of fun having had a diplomatic mission there before, to ope®boeurse,
now it is our embassy in Montenegro.

Q: Isit in Podgorica?
BOGUE:Yes, which used to be Titograéifter the communist periodgk, resumed its
former name of Podgorica, which meditise bottom of the mountador fiunder the little

mountain 6 | i terally.

It has become independelttis its own country now, which | think is fineam not
foll owing it now, aedxoirgwith@coromicskamdicoon.how t hey
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Q: When | was the Consul General in Naples, | used to watch the unmarked motorboats
come in with packs of cigarettes.

BOGUE:Mont enegrods economy will fall when I1tal
Q:OK.Let 6s keep going.

L e t @up to BosniaAgain, you were doing this from when to when?

BOGUE: From 2001 to 2003.

Q: Obviously, Bosnia was at the very center of all our concétas: was it going at this
particular time?

BOGUE: That was the country in the former Yugoslavia thatmany ways worry most
about.l think that one of the great sad stories of the former Yugoslavia is that the two
countries that tried to carve Bosnia up, Croatia and Serbia, are both doing much better.
Economically, they are doing bettdhey are makig a lot more progress towards
membership in the European Union and NATO than Bosnia.

Bosnia has a very sad situati®dhile | was doing this job, there was a poll taken of
Bosnians under the age of 30, and 95% of them wanted to leave Bosnia permanently to
settle somewhere elséou are not a countrnyith afuture, when almost every young
person wants to leave.

|l tds nor mal anywhere for a certain number of
else.lt is just normalBut 95% said if they had the chandsey would move to Canada,

theUnited StatesAustralia, somewhere else in Europe, anywhere to get out of Bosnia.

And remember thahere was no real violence in Bosnia at this tifrtee war was over.

Refugees have largely returned homdot of the basidgnfrastructure damage has been
repairedBosnia was stuck in the ethnic stalemate.

| dondt want to say anything bad about the L
Accords were nothing short of a miracle to get the fighting stoppegs absolutelyhe

best that could have been gotten, and better than many thought could be attained under

the circumstances.

They created this kind of frozen situation in which there is really no way to get past the

ethnic divisions because everything e opl epspeopghéé&s political p
everythingi is based on your ethnicity.ou have to be one of three grouphere is no

room for you if you are a Jew\ach, a Macedonian who lives there, a Rofibere is

no space for you politically because thetegsis set up that you are either Bosniak

which means a Bosnian Muslim, or a Croat, or a Serb.

o}

Q: There are a significant number of mixed marriages.
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BOGUE:Right. People like that saw the writing on the wall early on in the conHict.

you had a mixed arriage, which was very common in Bosnia, you needed to leave,

because your children were going to be forced to choose one ethnicity over another.

Everything is done this way.ou cannot just vote for whomever you want, because it is

not thatuetdndsi $gYPsyou hadvésangtebahecandnda
ethnicity] t 6s somebody el seds ethnicityds turn to
Minister. So the system is very inflexible.t doesnot offer a [ ot of h
becaise any group can veto any law if they feel it is going to hurt tfiéere is still a lot

of bitterness in the political clasBhis may change with generations but there is a lot of

bitterness in the political clasé/hat ends up happening is that sontgbputs forward a

law that might be good for everybody.

Letds just take a consumer protection | aw th
coughsyrupl t 6 s g o i n tp sdll adulteratedicdughes\gughht would be good

for everyoneBut because Ethnic Group A has put it forward, just on principal Ethnic

Groups B and C vote against®o there goes the lawhere was no rising above that.

Plus, the system that Dayton set up alloWedain, no criticism of Dayton or

Ambassador Holbrooke heat alli this made it possible to win the peace at the time.

Bosnia has two armieblow can a country have two armid@@2 n mar Kk doesndt hav

armies, right?t has one, of coursé.t doesné6t have an army for ol
and an army for atber partBosnia hastwo armies.hey dondét cooperate w

other.One is the Bosnian Serb Army and the other is the Federation Army, which are the

Croats and the Bosnian Muslims togetfidrey do not cooperate with each other and so

on.

What we trigl to do was move beyond that and offer both carrots and sticks to get people

to move beyond thaEor instance, one thing officers in the armies of smaller countries

want to do is go to professional military schools in the Widsty want to go to study at

Fort Leavenworth or Carlisle Barracks in the United St&deshey want to go study at

Sandhurst in England, or something liketfah at 6 s a bi g prestigi ous

So what we started doing was we started forming a joint aeywould only pick

people to go for that prestigious training if they were part of the Joint Afrney were

part of just one or the other, they could not$o.in other words, if you are a young

captain and you want to make a military career, clearly you are not tgdivaye a future

unless you go into the Joint Armigosnia offered to do some peacekeeping in Africa.

We said, AGreat, but we Weasenatakingtwa aki ng | oi n
separate armies from Bosnia to do peacekeepimaf. is no way to do peakeeping.

What a terrible example for the country you are goini\e.will only take people who

are in the joint system.o

Q: Well, that means you have got three armies.



BOGUE:Actually, the Federation Army became the Joint AritWhat we were trying to
do was bring the Bosnian Serb Army into it, with the idea that this would work gradually
over time.

There was two of everythinghere were two federal police forcd$ere were two
separate court systenfd! of this was set up so that there were in dfte® independent
units.

Q: Universities?

BOGUE:The universities are ethnically completely segregaftedse kinds of things
could work.You will remember the town of Brck&rcko was one of the areas that
coul dndét r e Jhelewas hume dig@emerit aver which side Brcko should
belong to.So there was an agreement at Dayton that there would be a separate
arrangement for Brcko.

There was a special arbitration panel that set up Brcko as a kind of independstattejty

the way Danzig used toe in Europe, before the wdthere used to be these kinds of free
cities, independent cities, thaBrckowerenodt r ea
became like that, administered by an AmeridarBrcko, what started to happen was that
all the parentsvere sending their children to single ethnic schodllsthe Croat kids go
here; all the Serb kids go here; all the Bosniak Muslim kids go Tikeze were no joint
schoolsSo t he American admi ni sYoucantsendyosrai d, i n
childrento segregated schooldle dondt have aWemmregomdtebnildwi t h t h
one really nice school that is going to have really nice lab equipment and modern

textbookslt is going to teach English, which for European Union purposes, everyone

wants toknow now.lIt is going to have computers and computer labs, and all that great

stuff. Anybody who wants to send their kids here can, but they have to understand that

kids from the other ethnicities will also be hdtewill be a mixed schoolSo each pard

can make their own choic&hey can send their child to a terrible school with only kids

from the same ethnic group; or they can send their child to a really good school that has
numbers of different ethnicities there.o

And guess what parents decidddfey voted with their children for the good education.

They started bringing their childreB.x c e pt f or some parents, who
care if their children had a bad education, as long as they never had to mingle with any

other groupMost paents, by far, wanted a better future for their childiidrey knew

that getting a good education was part of tBatthey started coming to the mixed

school.

In places, you can break this down with incentives and sBasnia is sort of trapped in

this. At some point, | think Dayton is going to have to be revisited and reopened because

what was meant to be a floor to ensure everybody having a voice has become a ceiling.

You cannot get out of itYou cannot get beyond thatheir economic problems are yer

severe, but part of the reason is that peopl
situation.
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Q: As the Deputy Assistant Secretary with this responsibility, what were our efforts or
what were we doing about Bosnia in the time you were doing tha

BOGUE:We had a whole range of different things.

One was that we were definitely trying to begin the transfer of security to, on the one
hand, the Bosnians themselves by creating a more professional local police force that
would respond professionall@n the other hand, by having the Europeans take up a
greater responsibility for the peacekeeping in Bosnia, which they Tiagg.actually run
the peacekeeping nowhat was vastly spurred on by Afghanistan and terrifically by
Iraqg.

The State Departmentas very much in favor of the European Union takingdipias a

trialrunoft he Eur opean Uni olhsorsof commeks out ocANAYO,bup er at i on
consists of European Union countriége were very eager to have them try tBssnia

was quite stalel and we thought this was greBihe Europeans were already there in great
numbersWe thought this was a great opportunity.

Initially, there was a lot of opposition from the White House and the Pentalgen.as
our army was drawn thinner and thinnerdnese of Iraq and Afghanistan, then they
couldnét wait to get out of the Bal kans and

Q: You were there basically when the Bush Il Administration took over.
BOGUE:Right.

Q: If I recall, one of the things that Bush and bidleagues were saying was that they

di dndot want to have anything to doSowith this
there you were, nation buildingvhat did you doTake your Lego blocks and go home

and build a little nation?

BOGUE:This is oneof the very interesting thing&eorge Bush ran in his first campaign

on a platform that we were way too involved in the world; that we should not be doing

nation buildingWe should get out of the Balkarwe needed to get out of Bosnide

needed to getut of Kosovo.This was not our businesbhis was not our problenwe

should not be having t rWeashosldnotibe tryihghoebuild pe op | e 0
ot her pe o prhiswasridiculmuslitoneas not part of Ameri ca
world.

When he came in, a lot of the things we argued abéutinstance, the White House
wanted to set a datertainby which time every U.S. troop would be out of Bosnia.
There were still war criminals at largehere was not active fighting, but thererevstill
war criminals that NATO was looking for, and so on.



We were arguing that if you give a date certain, everybody could just wait yoYioout.
can say, fAWell , t he\yowhat®dVe Wilkjasswiainttemouh a year o
Why should we coopate because they are leaving in a year?"

The White House 3hede ni®Wegdongttoabe. a dat e

It is rather ironic now of course, because what you are hearing is the opposite of what the
White House is saying about Iratheyareayi ng t o Congress, fiNo, yo
date certain because then the insurgents jus

They took exactly the opposite position on t
there.

Fortunately, the Europeans were there withTh& Europeasmwere just starting to stand

up their own military capability for the first time, from the European Unitrey were

willing to take thisonCl ear |l y, George Bush is no | onger
nation building pl at f ofipped arduredcadicabyéinthedasei r vi e w
of Afghanistan and Iraq.

Afghanistan and Iraq had a couple of profound effects on the BalRaeswas to drain
away a lot of American resources and interest from the Balk&as.may come back to
haunt us as it dith a previous Afghanistan adventure when we took a lot of our
resources out of Afghanistan after the Soviet Union left, creating a space in which the
Taliban could flourishSo it may very well come back to haunt us in the Balkans,
although the Balkans amnot without the resources because of the European Union which
is very interested and has stayed active and conceFhetk are still U.S. programs

there.

The other way in which it affected us is that everything is somewhat seen through the
prism now ofterrorism, Iraq, and these strugglesfact, | found that some embassies of
ours and some foreign governments deduced that the way to get resources was to try to
show that you were part of the War on Terrorism.

Q: Oh yes.

BOGUE:If you could show thatno matter how much of a stretch it was, that somehow it
would draw in resource®eople were in a way trying to fit their country into tAike
Macedonians tried to make an argument that when the ethnic Albanians were protesting
and had an armed insurgyy and were seeking greater civil rigtitss Macedonian
government saithat they were victims of terrorism no different frord®. When | think

the real parallel to an event in America was the Civil Rights Movement of the 1960s, of a
group that had beesxcluded from patrticipation, seeking greater involvement and
participation and greater rights, rather than an outside terrorist coming in.

So a |l ot of this was now seen é for some of
Albania, for instance, decd to go gundno in support of the hited Statesnd the War
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on Terror.They contributed troop3.here are still about 100 Albanian commandos who
serve with, is it the First Division that is tBégg RedOne?The First Infantry Division in

Iraq has 100 Albaians in it.They have been there since the beginning; not the same 100
guys, but they have had a unit there since the beginning.

Some really saw this as a way to fast track themselves into NATO, or to fast track their
relationship with the United Statédany of the countries in the Balkans that were
seeking NATO membership were ones that offered troidps Macedonians offered not
troops but medical personndbctors, nurses, and techniciafibe Bulgarians had
troopsThey dondét any trooppsindraqamdsdon.t hey had

So all of our policy came to be looked at, as everything we do now, through the prism of
Iraq and Afghanistan.

Q: Did you get any feel initially of how Colin Powell, our Secretary of State, felt about
this?Hi s policy wast, i AfDoh e didygpon getvanyefeeldodo r eal | y .
that?

BOGUE:I di dnét get any feel about the I raq pol
Q: No, | am talking about Bosnia.

BOGUE:I think he was wearing a different h&¢hen | was working on Bosnia during
the Bosnian War, heas the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of StHiif. was adamant that
U.S. troops not be involved.

Ironically later, when troops were there and he was Secretary of State, he thought that
they should leave but in an orderly wile was not in favor of pullingverybody out.
He wanted to see a proper process in the Balkans and was very supportive of that.

What happened with us, and the person | talked to more directly about this aside from my

boss Beth Jones, was the Deputy Secretary, Richard Armitageasnot a man of a lot

of words, as you probably knowe is kind of gruff spokel. dondét know i f you
ever seen hintle is a body builder, massive, with no neck and no hair.

He would say, fAJanet, you know what your | ob
|  woul d jobiatp keepithd Balkans off yourdeBki g ht ? 0

And he woul dustkeapyitoff myResBditt Fix it. Make it betterKeep

them going in the right dbDore&tt i maake bme tdloinok
tDono6t make tmeondtpezausk waareyso completely busy with Iraq and

Af ghanistano and so on.

On the one hand, we lost a lot of hilgivel attention obviouslyOn the other hand, | have
to say it is remarkably liberating to be running your own show without theBrés
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being your desk officer making every decisitirwas really up to us to make that all
happen and keep it off other peoplesd pl at es

Q:Letds talk a Ilittle bit about the | eader shi
Every once in a whilthe Wasington Posbr theNew York Timewill come up with an

exposeé of horrendous corruption in the governméotusing on the time you were
dealing with, what was the government like?

BOGUE:The government was the most amazing and rather dysfunctionaluspexdtr

people.lt was dysfunctional partly because they represented such a spetens.some

immensely talented people who really wanted to bring Bosnia into modern contemporary
EuropeTher e were people who used t Hibeyweoer d Adi g
really focused on the future.

Then there were all the guys who you would recognize from all the Politburo meetings,
who were essentially old communists who had reinvented themselves as radical
nationalists whose only interest was hanging @owwer through radical nationalism.

| remember having extraordinary conversations with pebpéenember on the one hand

you would have these fantastic conversations with really forward thinking, bright,

talented peoplelhey always thought we had a commdaconomy like in the old days

and the State Department could just tell GBda to build a bottling plant in their

countryThen someone woul d sG@ol a& ot oyoluyi IAd uas tb atetl |

AWel |l , actually thaGocaCsl aowi hbwdeti der ks her
AWel |l , whyCwloabto@B®ctao us?0
| said, AWel | ,-ColaoriPepsi oranydnddlse, goes nGtovanagphagde

ad in TheNew York Timesthat says Coc&ola supports war criminals because the

Bosnian Serb governent was protecting war criminals, was not pursuing them, was

refusing to turn them over to The Hag@acaCola comes in and they are going to be

part of that problemThis is a public relations nightmare for Ce€ala.Why should they

do it?They could gdo any number of countries around the world and put a bottling plant

in. People are trying to attract them with tax benefits and things because they will employ
people.They will provide benefits for the workforce thew®hy should they come to

you?Whyshoul d they help you protect war c¢cri mina

They just wanted to have the investmd@iitey knew they had horrible economic
problemsThey were not willing to take the political steps they needed that would
actually attract Westelinvestors at that time.

Q: What was the situation v&svis war criminals at the time you were there?
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BOGUE:At the time | was there, there were still a huge number of outstanding fugitives,
and there still arezvery year, a few fugitives would eitheg baught, die, or turn
themselves inThe two who were most sought, after Milosevic who was already in The
Hague, are still at largéhat is Ratko Mladic, who was the Bosnian Serb general
responsible for the massacre at Srebrenica and many other smtidRsidovan

Karadzic, the psychiatrist/poet/radical nationalist Bosnian Serb who has also been in
hiding.

Q: This is Tape 10, Side 1 with Janet Bogue.

BOGUE:Just to make the point about a lot of these people who | thought were really
only interested ipower:Radovan Karadzic who became the leader of the Bosnian Serbs
politically was very radical and threatened to annihilate every Muslim in Badmeabest
man at his wedding 35 years befosasa Muslim, was his best friend in colledenis

had all cone out of political struggleThis was his way to the top, just as it had been

Mi |l osevicds way to the top.

Q: I am told that what was good for Milosevic was nothing to do with ideology.

BOGUE:Exactly]l dondét think Karadzi vetwuwldsgaboutad any
Muslims growing upHe had a lot of Muslim friends and neighbdFhis was his ticket

to power.This is not the only place in the world where people have donéerihissee

this all the time, politicians riding a tide of nationalistheymay not personally endorse

it that much, but it is their route to powéthink it is very cynical and very horrible, but

it does happen a lot.

They were still at large, and they are still, to this day, at laridnk that is a great
continuing festeng wound in the Balkans.

Q: What was the problenl®®h'y coul dnét we get these peopl e?
BOGUE:I think the problem was thé&t We theke ,were multiple problems.

One was that we did not devote enough resources to the @ffodnd NATO did not

pour a lotof resources into this effoRartly, ®me members of NAT@ere not very

keen on doing this. Thehought it would cause a backlash against the peacekeepers.

Q: The French actually did haepiece of territory.

BOGUE:RIight, it was in French territory.here had been rumors for years that the

French were somehow warning the fugitiviethink a lot of that isoverblown A lot of

this came because a French military officer who was stationed at NATO in Brussels was

in fact convicted of passing intelligemanformation orto Serbia.

That was an individual act, not a corporate act on the part of Freimee was a lot of
suspicion among other NATO allies that somehow the French were not hé&lparg.
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was a lot of concern among other allies that their gesepers would be in jeopardiyis
one thing to keep the peace, but if you aggressively looking for these folk heroes who are
fugitives, then people are going to start shooting at you.

They had, as you have to have in the circumstance to be sudgdsisfuén a very good

network of protectors and supporters inchgdamong the Serbian army, which we know

now for a fact hid Mladic, who had been one of their generals, on their military bases in

Serbia for many year#t. was to the point where Mladic wasen dining out in Belgrade
atrestaurants in publiele went t o hi s Hé&lboprhfortable@mwugive ddi ng.
to actually appear in publi€aradzic did notMladic had theédeling that no one would

touch him.

| think if you have the support of tip@pulation and if NATO or NATO members are
reluctant tareally engage fully, then it makesgénuinely harder to catch peopléey
will be caught eventually or they will die.

Q: Were you involved, as part of your responsibilities, in pusfunthese gys?

BOGUE:Absolutely.We had an inteagency working group on thik.was meant to

share intelligence, work up some operational programs and do the other side of it, which
was the PR (public relations) campagiout this, and work the diplomacy witie
governments involvedAlso, we had reward®ewards have been immensely helpful.

turns out that for a couple of million dollars, there are people who are willing to turn
people in.

We did all these things at one timMy part of it was talking tolte governmentdVe had

economic sanctions on them if they did not comply With e  H arequirentestsWe

made it very c¢l ear t hw@wardthaErppeandoidndnmddét get an
things like that, unless the right things happe@datia is a viey good example of this.

They had one outstanding fugitive, outstandi
and he was the most famodfat was General Gotovinde had immenspopular

support] dondét know h bawesandto mg @ \ie B dur George
Washington. o

Again, we were trying tolsagoesiMOtwamatct e mei f
attacked firstlt is the actlt is perfectly legal to defend yourself from attattks the act
of summary executions of civiliansidluding elderly people in hospitghat is the war
crime That is always wrongNotthe actod e f endi ng your sel f agai nst

They kept saying, ABut the Serbs attacked us
crimeso There was immense resistance.

Finally, the day came that the European Union was about ready to start negotiating with

Croatia on the process that lead&tmopeartnion membershipCroatia got it together,
found him, and sent him to The Hague.
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Again, there was a big enough carrot artlulg enough stick that Croatia and the Croatian
governmentacceptedhat its best interest was in fact not to protect a war criminal, but to
let him go and havatrial in The Hague.

There were a couple of other things that helped, | musCssywashat two major Serb
fugitives had beenturnedov&.o Cr oati a coul dndét just say, A
tur ned an \Buthlsopagouplesoépeaoplé had been tried and released, having

been foundinnocent. t hi nk t hey f el anautomatieguittylverdict t her e w
at The Hagudn fact, there would be a trial, and in some cases, there was mistaken

identity; in some cases, there was fddtere was a case where of two Kosovar brothers,

identical twins, the wrong one was arrested and seftteédHagueShortly afterwards,

they realized they got the wrobgother

| think all of those things acted as incentif@sCroatia

Q: Did you find within Bosnia the seedlings of a modern nat@n®ere they so
squished by the nationalists?

BOGUE:I think they were squelched by the nationalists and ntfagrydeveloped a new
nationalismPeople began to identify with more traditionslam among the Muslim

popul ation, whi ch hAgan, 6think forese manyt ohtlee yauagere bef or
peoplewho would have been that seed of a more modern Bosnia were just trying to get

out. They were looking for any way outhey were bright, weleducated people who can

get jobs elsewhere and make a life elsewhEntesewho had the opportunity did so.

One ofthe interesting things we saw was with refugéesn extended refugee family,
the grandparents came back to reclaim propé&tigy were the people in the family for
whom it was hardest to make a new beginning elsewhevas really hard to learn the
language when you are 70 and have lived on your little farm all youit lisehard to
move to Washington, DC, and lednglishand try to adapt to life her&he
grandparents would come back and reclaim the propHEmg/next generatioandthe
grandchidren would visit but not stafven when refugees were returning, the
demographics of the refugesturnwere skewed to an older population.

One of the many economic challenges facing Bosnia is that they are going to have the
kind of thing AmericangandEuropeansvorry about with social security and old age
pensions of a population thatdelot more older people than young people of working
age.Bosnia is going to have that probleimnever used to because it historically had a
very youthful populationin the war, a lot of younger people were killédot of young
peopl e | eft anNbwgaungerpeoplecvante ledvea ¢ k .

So what you have is a population is a population more and more skewed toward the
elderly, with more and more questiorimat who will be able to pay for their health care
and housing as the years go on if there is not a younger popudgmans are not
repopulating in great numbers eithéaung people are trying to leavajt more because
of the dire economic situatidhey tend to limit their family size.
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Q: How were things working between the Bosniaks and the Crb#isik of people
firing across the Mostarthat beautiful bridgeT hat 6 s sort of embl emati c
What was developing there?

BOGUE:Wellthe bri dge i s back. |l t6s beehat rebui |t
Sshoul dndét be r 8esdakG@Gatiaa hameny.thipkthe Croatsffelt they

had been shoved intdarcedshotgun marriage with the Bosniaks in creating the

federation There are still Bosnia@roats who feel, and this is one of the reasons Bosnia

cannot move ahead, because they would like to rewrite Dayton too, but not to eliminate

all these provisions that create athirdentityy ot her wor ds, ithhey dondt
the Bosnian MuslimsThey would like three separate entities, with three separate armies,

three separate police forces, and the Croats would have their own Tdregdeel they

got a bad deal at Daytomhey got a bad deal because they got stuckmiaiage with

the Bosniaks rather than having their oslice When | went there to talk to politicians

about the future, that is what they wanted to talk abolt.e y di dnét want t o t «
membership in the European Communitiiey wanted to talk abowewriting Dayton so

they could have their completely independent portion of Bosnia as well.

There were a few individuals who werendt | iKk
Croatian politicians were very retrogressive, as were most of the paoliciaheir
approach.

That is why | thinkit is sad to saythat the two countries that we will see in the halls of
NATO and the halls of Brussedsd the EUwill be Croatia and Serbjdong before
Bosnia, sadly, because they were the ones that trigahte Bosnia up.

Q: How did you evaluate the role of the church, particularly the Serbian Orthodox and
the Croatian Catholic™ many ways, they were responsible for the building up of the
hatred.What was that like at this point?

BOGUE:The Serbian cheh underwent a considerable and positive change at various
points.The Serbian church, which had been ultranationalist in supporting the Serbian
point of view, at some point woke up to its responsibilitiea @surch.It began to
condemn those who werdling in its name.t began to condemn the war crimindter
instance, the Serbian church called for those indictdtdotribunal inThe Hague to turn
themselves in, to voluntarily submit themselves to the colines Serbian church moved
quite a bit n its position over time and started to play a more helpful role.

The Croatian church, | understand, has gone throdnghnaore of that evolution lately
too, but that was certainly not the case when | was in that job.

Q: C o u It sbmebne have leaned the Vaticar?

BOGUE:This is part of theoroblem Even among the Croatian bishops, there were
differencesThe Serbian church has a head, the Patriditod.Croatians have bishops of
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the Catholic Churcl And yes, Mndoes tNodDidPlepope sugpdkte ki | | i n
war criminals® No. There was always the awkwardness that people were misldng

claim, AThey are per secut ilthigk PopsJohnlPautll because
did take quite a strong positidrequentlyon thisBut |  wo bat ahywobthe s ay t

bishops or the priests were necessarily tossed out of the church.

Q: TheCatholic Ch u r adkednsNorld War llwas not very good, but you also had the
Pope Pius XI 1, whatrongistdnaloht e rQaatl H oyl itcak@Gdh ur c hods
pretty nasty.

BOGUE:AIl the ambiguity in that situation has never been resolVedre has never
been a cleacut or forceful position from the Vatican amy of that past or present.
think that issue is still in evolution nowWhenGotovnawastuned over to The Ha

Q: The general?

BOGUE:Yes, he was a generalou will recall this was actually after my time in the job.
He was turned ovemhe church did natake a protestThey did not defend hinThey
did not claim that he wgastbeing pesecuted because he was Catholic.

There are some bishops who are way out there on the rigipt here are some bishops
who are not.

The Patriarch of the Serbian Orthodox Church when | was in Belgrade in the 1980s was

named GermarHis vicar bishop, whas like an executive officer in the church, said to

me once, fiYou know Janet, all the®oneDer bi an bi
theotherMost | y br i ganddusedrnodemamberéhat wisen thenbistsopso

were fulminating Still mostly brigands and only a few saints.

Q: In Bosnia, how would you describe our embassy there and dealing withet was
alittle bitofprcc onsul , wasndét there?

BOGUE:Not our embassy so muchhere was a High Commissioner for Bosnia who
was a Europeaffirst anAustrian name, Wolfgang Petrich, then British Paddy Ashdown
was the High Commissionéerhat person did have the powers of the viceroy essentially.
They had the power to make laws, cancel laMreywasthe local parliament, prime
minister, presidnt. The High Commissioner could in fact strike down any law that
violated Dayton or violated international standards of human rights, and e could
also impose lawdde could fire people in the governmefnd he did.He fired people

who he thoughtefused to arrest war criminalsuch as police officers

So, i t wa s nldwas ail the Eumpeénghe Bligh.Commission was run by a

consortium essentially of the European Union, the United Nations, and a group of

interested countries calledetiContact Groupof which the United States was okiée

were not the sole power in Bosnia, by any me#eshad a lot of sajgpecause most of

the troops were American (perhaps only by a



commander in Bosnia was an Americ8o.we had alotofsdyut we wer endt r un
the place.

Lord Ashdown really did runthe pladd.e wasné6t act isnggy.Hes t he Amer
really did run it on behalf of the European Union, with a lot efstdtation with usHis
deputy was an American.

Q: Think about it:as a tour of the horizon, the Balkans are as bad as they have ever been
in history practically, as far as how it has brokenBput now, it 6WhatCr oati ab
was the situation in Croatia?

BOGUE:Croatia wawacillatingback and fah between electing ultranationalist
governmerg and much more moderate governnse8bmetimes the president was on

one side of that and the prime minister was on another side, which created tremendous
gridlock in their own governmenthe Croatians liketb present themselves as having

left the Balkans and being way beyond tAdlis was all ancient historfaut they had

several outstanding issues.

One was about war criminaléke we talked about

The other was the return of refugees,«@nats; speéically Serbs but not only Serbs.

Also Roma and other ethnic populatidhathad been driven out of Croatia in ethnic

cleansing in Croatia, not just in Bosnia, but also in Croatia itBe#.Croats were

resisting mightily the return of those refugeBlse y d i d nod+€Croats & their

country.Croatia is quite single ethnic noWwhere are few noroats in CroatiaA lot of

the refugees didnét have a house or an apart
Croatians from Bosnia and other places thimse vacant buildings household would

be driven out andnother putnto it. There were a lot of problems.

Again, we tried to deal with this witincentives.

There was an American manufacturer who wanted to open a plant in Croatia because he

wanted o start selling whatever widgets hemade. cand6t r emember what he
He made some sort of widgéte wantedo sell itin Europe and he thought Croatia

would be perfect because their wages were low, and the population was well educated.

was veryclose to everythinglThere were rail linksThere were water links.

Transportation was goo#ie could never afford to put this plant in Denmark or France or

Germany because the cost of living, property, and everything was too high.

He di dn 6t l-page adtin thdlbweYork Tithess ayi ng, @A Mr . Wi dget M
supportsvar criminal® o r s oSmketaskedrugto introduce him to three or four

mayors who were actually welcoming refugees back to their &mamaking things

work well for the refugees,yting to restore thaiVe did.We introduced him to three or

four mayors who did thaHe talked to them alHe explained that if he put his widget

plant there, he would be hiring people of multiple nationalides.y one who di dnot
that could not com# work for him.That would be the way it was.
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And he would build a basketball court next to his factbigywould have day carele
would have a clinicHe would have this and he would have all these thiagstybody
was going to come.

He did pick ongdown. He employed about 600 people, plus the basketball court and the
day careand whatnckl | t he ot her towns in the area cafl
too. O

We s a i dDo whatRhisriogvn is doinddring back your refugee®Velcome them

back.Fix their housesMake them welcomédon 6t burn down their hous:t
backDonét attack them i n DoWwmettheytarea@ng,sandi f t hey
then we will be able to recommend to an American company that this is a good place to

dobssi ness. 0

This man was actually very happy to help in the restoration and recovery of the Balkans.
He didndét want to be part of the problem at

Then,again,we tried incentived. r eme mber tal king to one mayol
rather everyone in towgo broke than to have refugees back.

And | s a&nhjadyyourBefEmjeoy being broke. o

Some people did have whaheadedonEgpbeadbéscri
would rather go broke than have somebody from a different ethnic group livéaoex
to them.

Ot her t o wn ¥ouknaw, aterribfé thiagyhappened haiée are all kind of
ashamed and unhappy aboui¥e need to fix itAlso, we all just need to get on our feet
again. o

| remember this guy telling me that when he builtlibsketball court, the first thing that
happened was some empl oyees camdactoro hi m and
team and the Seffactoryteam.T hat 6 s how we wi | | decide on th

He said, ANo, I think anymaminahahandIwii nt s t o p
pick six captains and draw names out of the Haat is who is going to be on the teams.

Or you dlbyaubmant tp hageyteams, | will buy the shoes, uniforms, and

basketballsl will do all that stuff.Or, youcanjustnad o i t . O

They thought about it forawhil@he ones who coul dndét stand th
with anybody else but their own ethnic group droppedMuost Yugoslavsare crazy

about basketball he ones who want ed t oFregshasyfrebasket bal
uniforms, and a free coudignmeupl dondét care who is playing
t hey ar e t alThey#fgoreditouhthatveajpoot . 0



But those success stories are so few and far between.
Q: How about the European UnioWhat rolewere they playing in Croatia?

BOGUE:What the European Union did everywhere was its program of assistance based
on what was required to get into the European Uniibere is a book, maybe ten to

twelve inches thick, called th&quis It has everything thas required politically,
economically, socially, in order to join the European Unkwou have tcharmonize
everything from weights and measuréke Brits have an exemptiotitey can still use

miles instead of kilometers, and pounds instead of Kiesryone else has to get with the
program and use the same weights and measamds/ou can see whyhe railroads

have to be the same width everywhere so that
put a different carriagehassion the railcarAll those kinds of things'hat is the kind of
micro endand the macrend is ya have to have a democratically functioning
governmentYou have to have not only laws but implementation of laws and human
rights so everyone in your country has religious freedoeedom of the press, all that

kind of thing.

So European programs were based on that which was gheat were all things these

countries neededtodoanywdyhe economi ¢ and soci al ref or ms
been conflict in the Balkans, becaitisey were coming out of a communist government,

they needed to go through this series of reforms, just as Poland and Hunghryrier

not only to harmonize themselves with the practices of the European Union, but just to be

a modern functioning Europa economy.

That was kind of how the EU approached these progr@fsourse, the European Union

had some other strong interests in the Balk8treng economic recovery was number

one, but also return of the refugees who had come to other parts of Ethvepeewere
substantial refugee populations from the Balkans all scattered through Europe, especially
Germany and Austridther countries that were closest to the Balk&hsre was great
interest in creating a situation in which those refugees coufmige.

Q: Were European companies looking into Croatia, as had the United Statagqlace
to invest in because of the cheap labor and good workfaitex® they paying the same
gamewe were or not?

BOGUE:I think yes, their companies were interestedhuresting in Croatialhey were
also very interested in Croatia as a market for European gobdsurse, in the
European market, you have to be prosperous enough to buy Europearifgemdare
going to buy Italian shoes, you have got to have enougieyio do it.

| know in the cases of a number of individual countiié¢s canét speak for EU
thisi but | know in the case of individual countries they were working with some of their
companies to encourage the companies to be socially resigandihat regard as well.

When you are looking for a place to put your factory, you look to a place that is
progressive on humanrigh&gai n, the European companies do
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being painted as part of the problemh e y d o n 0 in thevmiddte of & politibaé
problemThey dondédt want a blow up to occur in so
themselves embroiled.

Q: At the time, did you feel that Croatia was moving along?

BOGUE:Yes.For a long time, | thought they would/ to justwait the West out and try

to convince the West that they were so advanced economicalbvérgone could

ignore the political issueBke the refugees and the war criminalsh at di dndot wor Kk
end.They finally wolke up to the fact that economicqgress without political progress

was not going to worl.think they were moving on it.

| actually thought every place was moving aloBgme at higher speeds than others.

Some were doing two steps forward and one step back; sometimes one step faidward an
two steps backevery place was mang forward. That was the beauty for me of working

on the Balkans again, because with my previous stints in the Balkans, everything was
going backwards.

My great joy was to be abl eplededistafic AThi s ye
accidents than died of ethnic violen@éey need to wear seatbelthiey need to work on
that someday too. 0

The fact is that the actual ethnic violence bpped, except for very occasional, almost
individual actions, likearfights. Ther e wasnoét et hmiherel avarsnidn g
slaughter going on.

Q: What about these righwing nationalist people who got electéd/zre they a
problem?

BOGUE:They werelt has always been interesting to see how they operate once they are
in office, whether they moderate the rhetoric that they used to get themselves elected, and
start governing in a more moderate way that will give them the benefits of European
Union membership, NATO membership, and the lBewhether they will be like that

mayor who would rather go broke than compromise his principles, seshi¢

| think we are seeing a little of each in various parts of the Ballkeaes the most
nationalist governments have had to back off from some of the extreme nationalism if
theywant to pursue NATO and European Union memberafop. cannot have it both
ways.l think they begin to realize that and sort of paint themselves as more moderate.

One of the things that has fascinated me over the years in the Foreign Service, is the
ability of an individual politician to reinvent themselves every ten years or so into
something completely different than they were before.

Q: You mean like someone who was opposed to nation building becomes a nation
builder?
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BOGUE:It could happenl  d onowdiftit ddes, but it could.

If you take someone who went from being a communist leader to being an ultra

nationalist leader to now being the great proponent of integration with the European

Union, all in the space of a 3f@ar periodlt is remarkabled see, is all | can saj\nd |

woul dndot | eave my wallet | ying around near

Q: Slovenia seems to be a new success story, almost not a prblolens that?

BOGUE:Slovenia was not in my area, even though it was part of the former Yugoslavia.
Slovenia got away cleafhere was no figlrg, really,in SloveniaSlovenia slipped

away early and never looked batikdid not have the destruction, the killings, the

refugee flows, all the other things the other countries experieStmdnia went ofits

merry way.In fact, in recognition of that, it was not going through the same issues and
problems as the rest of the former Yugoslakiaas handled by the office that handled
Slovakia, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, and so on.

Q: So, it was dBalkanized?

BOGUE:Yes,it was We deBalkanized themAfter I left the job, Bulgaria was also
moved.Bulgaria became a NATO member and was moved from the Balkan office to the
office for North-Central EuropeMy replacement was Cathy Stevens, and theuDe

Assistant Secretary for North Central Europe wasatHerConnelly.A friend called me

to Il et me know what had happened because |
tell you that today Bulgaria went fromMs .  C &indargades tdvs. Heah e ffiréts

g r a dee big graduation into the next group of countries.

Q: Could you talk about when you were doing this, all of a sudtierworld discovered
Googleandthe internetand it washaving a tremendous influence on how interest groups
get tgyether.l would imagine that this would have quite an impact on your area.

BOGUE:l t di d aThdre wete fascinatimg dvébsitdhere were websites to
defending Slobodan Milosevithere were websites devoted to all sorts of thifgs.
main waythat it fed into our work was that everybody had information immediately.

| will give you an example of thathere was a website called Serbia News Net, which is
available in English and is continually updatéthen we get up in the morning, it is
alread lunchtime there, so things have already happdrmdthis job, | used to get up at
about 5:00 a.m.would get on the internet first thinpwould read through all the news
things while | was still in my jammieswould talk with all of my posts on éhphone

briefly, just to check in with everybody to see what was goindban | would go into

the office and read all mymails and the cable traffic.
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At 8:00 a.m., all the Deputy Assistant Secretaries gathered with our Assistant Secretary to
brief heron what was happening in our parts of the world before she went up for the
meeting.

Secretary Powell, as you may know, is technolgggk He loves to have his cars and his
new gadgetd-e is very computer adept.

One morning, | am there in my jammiesddrathrobe at my computer at 5:00 alihere
is an email from the Secretary to my homerail that saidiiHey Janet! just read this
on Ser biHaseM metbe:mail at about 4:45 a.m.

| read it.First of all, | kind of sat up and tightened mytbat o be and t hen t hough
candt bBeesemeond thought was, AMr. Secretary,
you shouldnét be readda.ng.hdae dlsi avifheNexthe® MNetd. at
day it might be somebody else.

Also, normallythere s a whole chain you go through to respond to the Secrétargent
it to me on his home emailthoughti t an 6t send Mybosbmeedstodi rect | y.
know we talkedHis aide needstoknow. candét just firo&lback an a
caledmyboss nd sai d, A Helgatthisemailyfronptiie Sectetarynand |
knowtheanswel. f | answer him back, it cuts out eV«

She said, fCal |theltamswerThen goeaheadradd séne hinh thetaii rh . 0

So there | am sendirtge Secretary anmail, making sure | had all the capital letters in
the right placelt was really weirdHe knew the news from Serbia 15 minutes before |
did because he gets up 15 minutes before | did, or more.

That is what changed ithere was so miicinformation available, so quickly
everywhereQur job was not necessarily to convey informatiomas often to check on
the veracity of information or confirm it, and to figure out what does it mean for them
and what does it mean for us and what shaddio about it?

We were much less information gatherers than we were previously.

Q: So the old days of when everyone would sit down and read the paper aPe gone

BOGUE:I used to read the paper if | had time for lurithe paper was too sloW.was a

nice thing to do during lunchizverything that landed on your doorstep in the newspaper

was already outdated since it was printed the night befbreweb had updates.

Q:Let 6s tal k about PReoplecantwhipmolf anmailrwghoutdnangi ng.

awful lot of thought behind it nowt gets you thinking and it allows a convergence of
ideas and all thatAt the same time, do you act on these?
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BOGUE:First of all, I will tell you a little storyMaura Harty, who is now the Assistant

Secretary for Condar Affairs, was then the executive secretary of the departrSéet

and | were meeting for lunch in the cafeteria one tasas a few minutes late and she

was already sittingdowwh en | joined her, she said, @Al h

There werdwo interns at the nexttable agdec o ul dn o6t hel p overheari ni
were saying while she was sitting theFae tables were very clos@ne of the interns

was brand newlhe other intern had been there for a month ofBe.new intern said,

fWhatare these things peogteep talking abo@Cable£0

The other intern sai-thai Al ©6s what ol d peopl e

We still had very strict rules abowhat had to be in a cablestructions to a post had to
be in a cableConveying policydecisions had tbe in a cableThe reason for that was to

make sure that all the right people saw it ©b
e-mail. You can just send itf | or anyone else just whipped off afmail, you have to
think if the lawyers have lookeatitWh at i f we said, fAThe Pentagc

t h iHad tile Pentagon looked at@» , [reBidleeiva nt s Hadtheps .eGsi dent & s
office or the NSC looked at it?

So we still insisted that there be a cable process forlthezms of my dg-to-day

contacts with posts on just exchanging information, thoughts and ideas, it was 100%
e-mail or phonebecause the cable process was too slow and too cumbersome fSothat.
we sent out far fewer cables than we used to.

Some posts started doing venyeresting and imaginative reportinthey were reporting
on classified websites that could include photographs and things lik& hiea¢. was
some very wonderful reporting.

But again, when you are seeking instructions or giving instructions, wagtédt had
to go through the cable process.

| am out of it now, but | understand there is now an effort underway to creat@aih e
system that will havéhosekind of clearances so that you can do it byal which is so
much easier, faster and cpeg, but it will not have the faults ofreail. That is to say
that anybody can send amsil.

Part of the thing with cables is that only certain people can sign theiaiwtnybody, a

brand new junior officer who has just been on duty in my offica feeekdid nothave

the authority to sign his or her signature across it and sédontebody a little more

senior to see that cable before itwentduh at wa s n énail, because anybodyh e
could send an-eail saying anything.

One of my firstdays agshe DAS, a very junior person working for me decided to drop
my name to get something he wanted done that | knew nothing &beut.s ai d, A DAS
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Bogue real |l y wa hknew ndthing aboutitighere wetvay . 0
problems.

One was that hevas sending it to an officer who used to work with me and knew me
very well. The other was that he spelt my name wrditge woman at the other end who
had been a junior officer of mine at a previous post got tmaieand forwarded it to me
s ayi n gDASBddweespelled wrong)One:do you really need this todayhd two:
when did you change the spelling of your naBBe® s t r ©fgaurse] the gay was
busted.

That the kind of thing could happanf she hadndot sent i & back to
known that he was wusing my name to demand th
aboutHe was trying to increase his ®Nehadl everag
a little chat.

Q: When Kennedy wasesident he would sometimes call a desk offjaarsomeone
wouldsay A This i s t he Thbdirdated aldertairsaenouataflheélli ng . o
because you thought, who in the White Housetay have been a very junior person.

| am looking at the time and | think this might be a good place to\&tepvill pick up
the minor problem of Serbia the next time.

There is one thing | would like to comment locame into the Foreign Service in 1955.
retired in 18B5. You have mentioned, she, she, she, of all the people you are dealing with
andtwo of the &st three secretaries of state have been women and you were deputy
assistant secretary and assistant secretary Beth Janwese point, after | started this

or al hi story program, there has been quite a
Q: We were makingabigoi nt of dAwell, as soon as women
affairs webre going to have a gentler, nicer

BOGUE: Like MagaretThatcher.

Q: Right, and Indira Gandhi and Golda MeBut anyway, this is the thrugthave to

say, | was somdvat skeptical, but there was a very bigpuske t 6 s woeéninino r e

was working very hard to find women who had positions of responsibhigy. were few

and far betweerNow, the State Department is much more one genderized than it used to
be,buticanét say that | have not Toomedtisalitet hi ng w

bit amusing.

BOGUE:l di dnoét s ee Idghalfethaebosdes antl femake subednates
who were fantastic and who were terridlead male bosses and male cuinates who
were fantastic, and | had those who were terribdiel | had everything in betweemho

me, it was individual difference rather than a gender based difference.
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| would say that when | was serving in the Islamic world in Pakistan and sbamh an
enormous advantage being fem#&eople never think it is going to be that wakey
think, what a terrible difference disadvantage.

The male diplomats could not talk to women atHfley could not ganto the part of

houses where women liviewas allowed to talk to the men because | was a diplomat and
was treated sort of as an honorary man and was allowed to socialize and talkIto men.
could also go into the womnmdadaktouarters
opportunities to hear from, fonstance the Afghan refugees in Pakist@re male

officers could only talk to the mefhe female officers could talk to both the men and the
women.

| spent many hours in peopleds kitchens
children.Of course] heard their concerns, which were often differdnh e me n 6 s
concerns were all about overthrowing the government, this Mujahedeen faction or that.
The women were interested in healthcare for their children, education for the children,
safety for themsebks.They were very concerned about sexual assaults in the camps and
things like thatlt was a completely different universe thdtavas one | had access to
and the men didnodt.

Oddly enough, people always think coming back from Pakistan that it mastfok
there.From a professional point of view, | had tremendous advantages over the men,
because | had access to all parts of the population.

From a personal point of view, it could be aggravating asPetiple bother you on the
street.lt is so hot tlere and you have to wear long sleeves and long clothing all the time,
even when it is 120 degrees, you cannot put on short sl@éadss just annoying but

that is something you can live with easily.

Q: Anyway, we all feel better because of this gemtigroach to foreign policy.
BOGUE:Right. No more use of the military now that there are women in charge.

Q: We will pick this up next tim&/e have been going around and we have finally come
square to the circleVe are coming back to Serbi&/e will alk about Serbia and then

move on.

BOGUE:Okay, great.

Q: Today is October 22nd, 2007.

Serbia:What was upMow did you view Serbia?
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BOGUE: Serbia was in a tremendous tangle with it$@ti.the one hand, Milosevic left
for The Hague the day beforsthrted working as a Deputy Assistant Secretary in the
Bureau for European and Eurasian Affaireat was a sea change in Serbia and rdtief.
offered an opportunity for positive change.

On the one hand, there was a real streak of refeaople were vgrmuch fed up with

the Milosevic era in every way; not only the wars, but also the corruption, the loss of civil

liberties at home, and the destruction of the econ@nythe other hand, there was a still

huge amount of the ol dreicemsinialbohthisEvenyaneisnent t h a
againstusWe ar e not going to send people to The

Serbia was mired in any number of proble@ee was getting out from under the
shadow of the Milosevic regim@nother was getting out from the shadow of
communism.They had not gone through the reform process that the other former
communist states had gone through.

On the one hand, you had some really terrific dynamic lea@erthe other hand, you
had a lot of the retrogressive forcébe only way you cold get elected was to try to
walk a fine line among all the competing interelitaias a very tough situation for Serbs
and Serbian leader$.was a very schizophrenic time in Serbia.

| remember having a finance minister from Serbia, a young guy whbéden educated
and worked in the West through the Milosevic yelshad come back, completely on
fire, to reform the stubborn old communist econohg.and | sat down with the Under
Secretary for Economic Affairs, All have forgotten the name nawawonderful guy
who has now retired‘ou could tell they were two kindred spirits, two economists who
understood each othdrhey would just take off and talk about all these things that
needed to happen.

Then you would go out to Serbia and you would meatt people who the minute you
mentioned any subject like the war criminals or Kosovo, they would launch into the long
story of Serbian victimization which | know you have heard a hundred times yourself.
There were some new chapters added in recent yedw &I O replacing the Turks as

the most recent victimizelt was a complicated situation.

| personally think that in the end, twenty years from now, you might very well have
Serbia being the most cosmopolitan and the most +athltiic of any state thaame out

of the former Yugoslavia, odd as that seeimsny mind, it is kind of the ultimate

revenge on Milosevic because Serbia still has other ethnicMiesnians, Hungarians,
Roma, and other ethnicities inlithas the most forwartboking law on n&onal

minorities of any country in the former Yugoslavia, developed with the help of the OSCE
and otherslt has the only largeosmopolitarcity and university still, although Zagreb

may take off in that regard.

| often thought that it was going to beitg ironic that having started all this mess that
Serbia might end up being much more mattinic, much more prosperous and a much



more vital kind of hip place in Europe in terms of offering something for the future of
young people than others plac&kat still might come true.

The thing Serbia has to get ovethis is a syndrome you will also recognize 5ig
Serbia always this that Europe cannot manage withoulnttact, from a European
view, Serbia is nabecessarilya positive, but potentialla negativeSerbia can start wars.
Serbia can cause problenserbia can do thiSerbia can do that.

But the Serbs tend to think they are such an important country politically in the region,

such a important country economically in the region, th&th dondét have to ma
kind of changes to get into NATO or the European Union that others do because they are

SO important, no one can manage without theamehow, they need to get past that.

Yes, in their region, they are a big power, for good oilfom Europe itself, they are not

a big powerThey are not any more of a power certainly than Hungary, or the Czech

Republic less so, because their economy and political situation areTo®y.are in fact

going to have to go through with the reforfibe Serbs felt strongly that they could just
sitbackandwatEvent ual | y, Europe would say, fAWe | u:
Serbs, so we have to invite them in.o

In a way, as so often happened in the past, Serbia is being held back by its own
psychdogy, rather than anything else.

Q: What did you see showing promisé®u havecases such as Ireland, which wsast

of the armpit of European Union for a long tinstuck way backAll of a sudden, now it

is really jumpi ng a swhidh&somathing poa arergferrindite i t 0 p
in the possibility that Serbia could becori¢hat is there?

BOGUE:What | saw is that Serbia had many of its young people started returning after
Milosevic fell. That is in very stark contrast to young people fi®osnia, for instance.
People started coming badkell-educated young people were interested in making a
future, and saw a future for themselves in Seiffiat was very different from what we
were seeing elsewhere.

Serbia has a real econonttyis old fashioned in a lot of ways, but it has manufacturing,
agriculture, natural resources, and the likeere are things that an economy can be built
on.

They still have, despite everything, a reasonably good system of edu¥atiomg people

who go through th&erbian school system still come out with what amounts to a

European education that is strong in math, science, and computing, and all those kinds of
things that are heavily valued.

They were beginning to solve problems in a better Wwhgy were beginmig to deal in a
much better way with the Albanians who lived in southern Serbia, in terms of
establishing a much better regime of rights and economic participation, political
participation, for them.
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They were dealing with the Hungarians of Vojvodina iresy positive way, not the way
they had dealt with other ethnic groups in the past.

They were beginning to make the kind of political and economic reforms thadteed

come aboutThat was really exemplified by the group theslly helped to bring

Mil osevic downThis was a group of Serbian young people who called themselves
Otpot.Otporwas a young peopleds movemehdgot t hat di c
support from the Americani.got support from the Europeariswas thought up and
directedby young Serbd.t was not a case of Americans <cCr ¢
are going to be the opposition. o

They are the ones who organized the street demonstrations against Milbseyiare
the ones who really did thi$hey had a tremendous commént to Serbia and its future.
Theyweredynamic young people.

The people they got to organize with them really came from all sorts of ghtapsad
marching and these wonderful prote3tsu had artists and writers, which you expected,
from Yugoslaviatheater peopléerou also had the steel manufacturerdle, and the

coal miners of suchndsuch a placeThe kind of people who in general had brought
Milosevic to the forefront, but now were feeling a lot of the pdithe economic
policies,of thecorruption, of all the problems that Serbia had, the pain of their children
going off to serve in these wars.

Otport did a very good job of thalt was an indigenous movemetfrt.fact,
representatives fro@tport have been invited to other countries tk @bout how they
did it. They were invited to Georgia before the Rose Revolulibry were invited to
Ukraine and various other places to consult on how this was done.

One of the things they did, and one of the things that people like Zoran Djindjic who
emerged from this in a leadership position, was to reach out to the police who had been
seen very much as the enemy, and reasonably so under Mil&awviething happened
again from the years of warhis is a fascinating phenomenon that you see over\ard o
again.

There comes a moment in revolutamhen the police decline to shoot their own people.

| think one of the beauties of tiidpormovement was that they went to the police, not
screaming at them t hat Theyls@adtotavra,r el Me | ase vy cabrs
neighborsWe are your nephewgVe are your sister§Ve are your kidsWe are your

br ot Hhey ought them roseShey brought them gifts of foo@ame the day when

Otportd group decided to go into the parliament and take over titairigy The police

had to decide whether to shoot them or stand aShky stood aside.

A considerable amount of negotiations and prearrangement had gdrteedact was the
police were no longer willingThey were &ced with not just a fewdilosevic would
have called them just a few people who were out to destroy S€haa.were faced with



a crosssection of their neighbors, people who were legitimately the nephews and the
sisters and the children of the polidé&ey declined to fire on therthe prdesters
embraced them.

There is a beautiful film that shows the protesters and the police hugging, a great
lovefest, on the steps of the parliamdittat is the kind of thing that gave us all hope.

There has been a lot of backsliding sineere has beea lot of discomfort in Serbia
abouthowtogoforward. t hi nk that young people were so

saying, as they were sayilmwgnttomovlBoGnadaa, Al | u
ortheUnitedSt at es aitdegygetve o disdlyhenm,duytthidis my
homeWe need to stay here and fix it.o

Q: While you were dealing with this, was there any movement towards the Serbs and the
Croats opening up and getting things going again?

BOGUE:No. The problems between Serbia and&ia remain very severéhere was

no opening of highway%¥ ou coul dnét f |l y fYouhadtoHlgtbgr ade t o
Vienna or Frankfurt and then come badkhat was a half hour flight you had to make

into a haltday or more journey to fly all the wayibto one of the hubs in Europe and

come backThat problem continued to rankle, much more so than other relationiships.

am excepting Kosovo from this.

Bosnia and Serbia still had a difficult relationsierbia and Croatia had a very difficult
relatiorship still. That problem was not getting any bettewas a typical Balkan thing.
fWe will consider than when you apologize for X, Y and\& will consider this, but
only if you admit that everything was your fadlthere was a lot of that going on.

One of the problems in Serbia today is that you do have a large group of Serbs who were
refugees or displaced persons from Croatia, from Bosnia, from KoEbeg.tend to be
unemployedThey tend to live in terrible housin@hey tend to be quite rabid iheir

political views.They present a real challenge to the government as well, in that you have

this | arge group of discontented angry peopl
chosen to go back depending on circumstances, but who also have notlgsgentian
in the towel and said, AdAWe wil/| make a |ife

That problem isndt going to go away for a wh

Qltods just ond 6cf at HtbeSaddiealDentschswhich toek a
couple of generations for thetm die out.

Were we trying to do anything for resettlement, trying to help the situation?
BOGUE:We were trying to make sure that refugees, people who needed to cross the

border who wanted to go home, could go ho@ee of great problems was Croatia not
welcoming home nofCroat ethnic refugeem other cases, we did have some programs

23C



of economic development that were meant to try to help Serbia get on its feet, including
everyone then in Serbia.

Of course, there was some resistance to thattta@sin the interests of some

politicians, the mor@ationalist onesto keep these people in a state of permanent refugee

statuslIt doesndét do t hem -wingyatianalist,do,havée deopppou ar e a
assimilate and get back to work.

Q: We have thiproblemwith the Palestinian refugees that has gone on for over 60 years
now. The policy of some Arab powers could keep them in camps.

BOGUE:Exactly.For internal as well as external policy reasdnlink you see some of
that too.

In Serbia, there igoing to be a lot of backslidingthink again if you put it in the

context, not just of what happened in the Balkans, but what happened in the larger

Europe and you look at election results elsewhere, you see how Poland and other places

have gone througa period of looking back with tremendous nostalgia for the communist
period.The transition has been very harsh on people economically, andI§gantake

that and overlay it with all the other problems of the wars, the refugees, the war

criminals, ad so on, it shouldndét be a surprise to
what we would consider extreme nationalist politics.

Countries going through a transition out of communism that had no war voted fer right
wing extremenationalistpoliticians,or voted to return to the old communist thing as
well. This is all part of a sorting out of life.

| actually had a Serbian politician say to me once after he had several-amaksould
have denied ever saying it if | repeated it using his rdha dfficult as it was for the
Serbs to accept the hiding off great pieces of its territory, in a sense they were like the
Czech Republic after the split up of Czechoslovakebia was left with the natural
resources, the factories, the highly educated poipul, and in many ways, the parts that
had been the greatest economic drain had gone &amgenegro was going to probably
go awayMacedonia had already gone awkKgsovo probably would go away at some
point. In fact, that would leave the heart of Serhbwhich was economically quite
prosperous, relatively speaking in the part of Eurtipgould leave a reasonably highly
educated population and so on.

Q: How about the Republic of Sirtzka, a little bit of land off Boskiat was happening
to it?

BOGUE: It was refusing to witheiAs time goes by, it becomes increasingly less
relevant At those times that the Serbs elected reformist governments, the Republic of
Sirtzka was completely out of step with theifthough it considered itself close to

Belgrade it was really terribly out of step with those policitésvas very retrogressive

on everything, not just the war criminals in Bosnia, but on economic policy, social policy,
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and so onThey were not doing wellhey lived off huge subsidies from the gavaent
in Belgrade.

| must say that a huge mistake that I think the international community made, all of us

collectively, was allowing these kinds fofrmal relationships to flourisht is one thing to

say, AOur identity i smeeroviWésaamehelptoudime Ser bi a
cul tur al materials and things | i ke that to n

You had situations where parts of these places that were under internationalicthrigrol
is true in both Bosnia and Kosovactuallyhad people working in them who were paid
by thegovernmenbf Serbial just thought it was nuts.

For instancein the townof Mitrovica, the divided town in Kosoveéhe north sidevas
Serbianand he south side was Albania@n the north side, the doc$) nurses and
teachers wernot paid by the UN, but by the government budget of Serbia, even though
the UN controlled this territorylo me, this was just outrageous.

Even more outrageous is that it happened in a place like Bédnéast in Kosovo, it

was a temporary protectorate with the final status uncertain, and still officially part of
Serbia.Bosnia was now a fully independent state with a seat in the UN recognized by
other countriesYet, you had a foreign government essentially paying teachers,
administrators and soldierSoldiers in the Bosnian Serb Army could hold a dual
commission in the Serbian Army and were paid pessdonvere paidsalariefrom the
budget of Serbialo me, this is completely ineffectual.

Imagine if United States Armyepple who were of Portuguese descent were suddenly

being paid by Portugal rather than by the United StHtesms completely unacceptable

and created a situation in which peoplebs | o
Belgrade instead of toaBajevo.l really thought that the local government and the

international community should have rejected these arrangements.

Q: During the time you were there, was there any thonghtovetowards straightening
out this problem?

BOGUE:Every now and thein Kosovo, the UN tried ttell the local Kosovar Albanian
elected officials that one way out of this was for them to start paying these people a
salary.There were two problem&ne was that the Serbs would not accefthe second
was that the Kosovaklbanians did not want to pay ithis was understandable on both

sides.These people were veryduginh e Ser bs were saying, fAdAWe at
your mbhme yAlobani ans were saying, AWhy shoul d
want to cooperatewih our government at all ?0

For the UN, the alternatiwgast o s a y No niof@ kiagtgrs and nurs@&s more
teachers. o
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Then, what have you gofhd you have gohorthMitrovica in an even worse situation
with no medical care and no schooling forthdskil hat 6 s a huge probl em o

Once they were in this mess, there was not an easy way out of it.
Q: How did you find the Orthodox Church during your time?

BOGUE:Again, | think the Serbian Orthodox Church had a spasm of conscience
following its enthusiastic support of greater Serbian nationalism during the wars, and was
now much more focused on the victims of the war, the wrongness of human rights
abuses, and so olthink it realized that it had been, like so many people, conned and
used by Mosevic to a great extenthey never should have allowed themselves to be
conned and use@hey had been around for centuries and they should know betted s a
pretty canny group, you know?

Q: Milosevic was playing to their basic stand for centuries.

BOGUE:Exactly.But they did take a stronger line on things like human righte of

the things that really changed peopleds opin
started murdering a lot of prominent Sefds.had a lot of the great heroes, andyl that

in an ironic way, of Serbia during the campaign, like the commander called Arkan who

was murdered in a Belgrade hofEhe assumption supported by a lot of evidence is that

Milosevic had him murdered because Arkan was the kind of person who estiig t

against himThen Ivan Stanbolic, who was a letimme Serbian leader and a leader of the

Communist Party who had been pretty critical of Milosevic, was also murdered in

Belgrade.

| think for Serbs it was one thing when they could perceive Milosapporting greater

Serbia by fistandi ng up ®Againtpgueghatanquotee of Ser bs
When he was starting to wipe out other Serbs in what was clearly a power struggle

megalomania, | think there was some change in public opinion.

Another thingstarted to happen.am not saying Milosevic had a tremendous monopoly
on information.You would think that is not possible any more in this age of the internet.
There were some places people could go for other information, the nightly neas and
on. You would see the same little film clip on the nightly neWsen | was traveling, |
would switch on the television and see the same clip in Croatia as in Serbia, the same
dead body on the ground, with the Croatian television saying that thisQrasia
murdered in Bosnia by the horrible Serbsen the same dead body was a poor Serb
farmer murdered by the evil whomever.

One of the things that did start to change p
homemade videos starting coming othe hanemade videos started to be shown after

Mi |l osevicds fal/l What theg shewed veelie aobheroioSelb® | gr ad e .
defending Serbs agairtste horrible attacks of Croats and Muslinvghat they showed
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were a bunch of drunken guys taking great delighorturing and shooting unarmed
people, including children.

The Serbs who had claimed all along that this was just Western propaganda, another case
of the world lining up against them, and had this belief that their warriors were these

noble creatured o see these people acting the way the West had seen them acting, |

think was very shattering for a lot of Serbs psychologicligll contributed to an

environment in which it was possible to move forward a bit, although not in a smooth and
steady way

Q: Did you see the whole communications system, particularly the internet, every year it
is more sophisticated than the | asté

What period are we talking about?
BOGUE:This is 2001 to 2003.

Q: So, we are well into iCan you comment on the impactiué fact you can get any
idea or pictures out to people on the internet?

BOGUE: It worked both ways, of cours¥ou can also get bad information and
propaganda pictureBor all the websites that purported to give people good information,
there were otherpurporting to give equally good informatiorhere weréidefend

Slobodan MiloseviewebsitesThere were Serbian chauvinist websites.

Another problem, not exclusive to the Balkans but a common problem I find, many of the
NGOs or the think tanks, incluay the West, that were set up specifically to deal with
Balkan problems, had very heavy political agenttasther words, there were groups

that would set themselves up as iakitank or an NGO, but they really only had the one
agendaThe one agenda nhitjbe to bomb Belgrade into tiny little piec&.their one

agenda might be to protect Serbia against the horrible people who are trying to smash it.

They would put out information that looked impressive because they had a think tank
name, nice stationgrnice website, and all thaks you know, the problem with the
internet is sorting the wheat from the chéfis very difficult on the internet.

Q: Couldwe do anything in that regard?

BOGUE:We had very little power to do that because we had betioenrenemyThe

United Statesiad been the one that had, in the end, pressed for the Dayton Adicords.
was the Wited Stateshat wanted to go ahead in Kosovo without any UN security
resolutionslt organized NATO into that.think the Lhited Statesvas rot seen as any

kind of an honest broker by the Sefd& were seen as putting out propaganda that was
not generally friendly to Serbia in the mind of the public.
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That said, | have to say | was in Belgrade about five or six days after 9/11 off2@01.

emlassy was covered with floweid/e had been bombing Belgrade ourselves not too

long beforeln fact, right across from the embassy were still charred ruins of the Ministry

of DefenseThe embassy did get a couple of phone ¢
know howitfeelsGood f or those guys wtwasnmaybetweeup your
or four.

Compared to that were these acres of flowers covering the embhesyerbs really saw
this as a human tragedylost of themas you knowStu,have relativesn theUnited
States or Canada.

Q: Thanks to my woreis a consular officer.

BOGUE:Right Ther e is hardly a Serbian family that
the visas you handed out.

Q: There were a lot of people.

BOGUE:There was lots of imigration from Serbia to therited Statesind Canada
over many, many yearsinceWorld War | really.

There was a lot of human feeling theBeit we were not seen as sources of good

information.l remember talking to human rights advocates in Serbiawhod , A Th e

worst thing for our credibility is to be supportedbyydde dondét wanlt your mo
hurts us to have money from thaiteéd StatesThen, we are just a tool of Washington,

rather than Serbs who are concerned about hu

Q:Wasthisae of those things wheWolditve@ewtlel | 'y cou
works?

BOGUE:I think our programs in Serbia were good ones because they were focused on
almost technical matter$hey were focused on reforming the electricity sector,
reformingthe banking sectoihose are areas where our aid money and our expertise can
do a lot of good, without it being heavily politicized; without it being seen as somehow
our trying to manipulate the political procekthink that was an appropriate role fos

to take.

Q: What about exchange€® students going to the United Stat&§as there much of
that?| would think that could be a little bit tricky because the Serbs are getting such a
bad namefi Oh, s o y o %o yaukiked Bosniares inisrebremi® ldow did this
work?

BOGUE: I would have to look up the numbers in terms of student visas idsexqukct,

as you say, it 0¥eddrspobserla lotyfegchangesin tsemast |
Milosevic period for mayors, parliamentarians, NGO and deaclers of various kinds,
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bankers, and all sorts of people to come tdthied Stateslt worked very welll think

t hat helped to break down a | ot of peopl ebs

| do know a Serbian kid who went to college in upstater Nerk. He felt himself a bit
beleaguered by classmates and so on, who perceived Serbs as warmengéegppens,
he is from a very liberal, anllilosevic kind of family.l think he spent a lot of time
doing what a lot of foreign students have to & thhited States, which is explaining that

everyone in that countryisnotalikev er yone i shdédsthbedecarmameonhin

Americans do when they are abro#¢hen people express surprise that they speak a
foreign language, and having to explain tinaflact a lot of Americans do speak a foreign
languageNot all are like the cartoons of the ugly Americans abroad.

Q:Let 6s t al k Whabvwas happ&hmg?0o v o0 .
BOGUE:Kosovo was in that horrible period of limbo when any discussion of status was

taboa The proper answer anytime anyone raised status among the internationals was,
AThis Is noWethaveimgwhti mdimeati on of what t

he

There was still a fair amount of violence in Kosovo. d on 6t mean fi ghti ng,

on civilians, driveby shooting kinds of things, farmers out in fields being shiois was

violence by Kosovar Albanians directed at Roma, directed at Serbs, mostlyFRsrple
in the minority groups there had to have NATO escorts to go to the gracerythings

like that.It was still a difficult and challenging scene there.

As you will remember, many of the Serbs living in Kosovo have only been able to stay in
Kosovo because of massive subsidies from Serbia over the Jearseconomy was not
terable Sowhatyou had was Kosovar Albanian population hugely frustrated that there

is no independent future in sighteople still entertained at least the theoretical possibility
that they would remain part of Serbgut none of the Western powers wavéling to

come out and talk about the future or even s
you have to make some steps in the right dir
It was during that time that we developed a set of benchmarks, things that the elected
local governnent in Kosovo could work on so they could come to a status discussion
saying, fAYou gave us 10 ltwassvergthingfiolm her e i s wh

economic and political reform to human rights, security and safety, and the like.

There were all these &ward problemsOne was the soalled Kosovo Protection Corps.

This was what NATO had allowed:corps of people who were former fighters from the
Kosovo Liberation Armyorganizedo be a kind of civil defense battaliohhese were

guys who had been figintig, and rescuing kittens out of
what men doThey saw themselves as the future army of an independent Kdduwo.

wanted to be treated as the future army of an independent Kd3mpowanted to go to

military schools and@et military training, all that kind of thind.he only thing the UN

could accept for them under the terms of all this thastheybe a kind of civil defense.
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It was really an employment scheme to keep these young fighters from hanging about
with nothing to do and no money.

Everythingwas inlimboYou coul dndét resolve the status o
because if Kosovo were going to become independent, then they would be the nucleus of

the armylf they were not going to become independentew®u really just going to

make them into a fire department, or were you going to disband them altog&/thetrih

the world was going to happen to these people?

There were a lot of issues like that that were just left hangjimgre was relatively litd
appetite for doing things like slogging through reform of the electrical system, with no
indicationthatin the future you wouldh fact bean independent electrical utilitfhat

was a very awkward and difficult situation.

Everything that came up thais affected by this in so many wa@ne was, for

instance, that Macedonia and Serbia needed to settle a little border dispute and really
demarcate their bordéf.hat gets involved with Kosovods b
border yetSo that leaveMacedonia hanging with no resolution to its border problems

with Serbia.

All these kinds of things just rolled on and on andTdrere were immense difficulties

and problems that resulted from this state of linlm.one was comfortabléthink the
intemational community hoped that things would just calm down after a while, and that
would allow everything to go forward.here might be a more reformist government in
Serbiaandthings would settle down.

As limbo went on, among the things that happene@ et people became very
frustrated and very restless about it.

There were other huge issues within Kosovo in terms of human rights; huge issues with
how centralized the government would bewnether itwould be a more decentralized
governmentThat ges$ into minority rights as well, becauéeanay or s and é

Q: This is Tape 11, Side 1 with Janet Bogue.

BOGUE:I was just reading an article about Kosovd@ e New Yorker a couple of

weeks agoln that article, Richard Holbrooke is quoted as saying thidugriirst Bush

Admini stration, there was a smooMioesewcl i de pat
was goneThere was a reformist government in Belgradgiessia was not in any position

to say noThe lhited Statesva s ndét embroil ed in | ragq.

Infact,twasndédt quite as simpl e as Themlwassremador Hol
insurgency in Macedoni&here was a rather fragile security situation within Kosovo

itself. In southern Serbia, there had been an insurgency of ethnic AlbaBians.i t was n 6t
quite the smooth glide path.was true that some of the external factors, like Russia,



might have been easier to deal with tHarterms of the Balkans itself, this idea that it
was a perfectly smooth glide path is a little hard to believe.

Q: When you lok at the situationa remarriage between the Serbs and the Kosovars

seenedto be pretty unlikely, unless somehow you can get everybody to inbreed, or

something like thaiThe other one jdookingatk o s ovo, and wedve both b
Bosnia, you can image something coming out as a little Switzerland or something; but

Kosovo looks like one big potato patch or sometiing. j ust doesndét seem t
anything going for it.

BOGUE.Yes.My own opinion throughout this time was that there was really no
alterndive for Kosovo except independendéey would never accept being back under
Serbian ruleSerbia had, through its own behavior, lost the right to govern Kosovo.
Independence was the only answetid think that the Kosovars had not made that
answer anasy one for people to come to, both because of the refusal to respect rights for
minorities in Kosovo, the Serbs or the Roma, the Roma had certainly not attacked them
in the way they felt the Serbs had; but also their very bad behaviawvigsMacedonia

was not makingnybody happyAlso, the trafficking in weapons, trafficking in human
beings passing through Kosovo, and the lack of any kind of legitimate economy in this
very small, resource poor and oymrpulated space made Europeans particularly

nervots, since they felt they would bear the brunt of thfss would not be so much a

state as a formalized criminal enterpriEkat is unfair to most Kosovars.

But the fact is, as in Bosnia, during the war many of the people who had and took an
opportunitywere criminalsHere is a situation of chaos and criminals with g&@usthey

were goingnto a situation of chaos, and because they had guns and power, they could do
very well for themselves'he government in Kosovo had not, nor had the UN, succeeded
in smashing those criminal networks, either in Bosnia or in Kodowas a much bigger
problem in Kosovo, a much newer and fresher proltlemin Bosnia.

Part of the problem was what are they goingtodo foraliving?6 s not a touri st
destination] t ndtsa place blessed with natural resour@éere are a few mineshey

have a reasonably wedlducated population, and maybe they could become one of these

pl aces that does a | ot of high tech manufact
elsewheren Europe.That is a long way down the road.

Again, one of the problems not of the Kosova
still in doubt really and it was still a very unsettled situatibomade it impossible to
attract foreign investmerivh o i n t he worl d is going to inve

know what country it may belong to in a few years down the road?

Q: We are talking about 20080vh at was there to prevent wus fr
think you are going to have to be an independeuntry.So as far as the United States

i s concerned, yoOrsomehody makimglteisdecisidtibat wento

against that?
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BOGUE:We | | i t 6Mow Prastdent Beish has doge. just thataviss Kosovo

in the last yearAt the time, he White House was quite adamant that we not take that
view. The White House did not want to see further instability in the Balkbsaw

Kosovo, partly because of the situation in Macedonia, as potentially being a destabilizing
agent in the Balkans, csing wars in neighboring territories, rather than being a

stabilizing influenceWith Milosevic out of the scene, they wanted to get things

stabilized and on a good path before that happened.

Also, they wanted to work with the Europeans and others,evenn Ri a, al t hough it
as powerful as nowRrussia was very adamant on this is$te. Russia, independence for

Kosovo brings up immense issues about Chechny®agdstanand other places in

Russian territory that might very well seek independeindeavery uncomfortable issue

for the Russians to deal witRlusthey feel somehow that they are the protectors of the

Serbs, as their younger brother SlaMsat was an issue even at the time that the Russians

were very concerned with, that there be necgitous moves to independence for

Kosovo.

You will remember that when NATO and the Russians began military operations in
Kosovo that the Russians went in early, ahead of schedule, and seized the airport in
Pristina.lt was their way of letting everyorkmow that they were going to have their say
in this situation.

Qln dealing with Serbia duri ngvelypomhedthet i me, we
hell out of themWho was carrying the Western waters, as far as dealing with the Serbs?

BOGUE:Well, not very many people above my level, | have to say.
Q: Not just about you.am talking about the Western community, the Europeans.
BOGUE:Right.

Ql f we wer e, I wondét say precluded, but cert
profile from what | cargather you are sayingVho was doing the Serb contact business?

BOGUE:Well, there was the scalled Contact Group that met regularly with the Serbs.
Thatwasus, the Russians, the Europeans, and the international organizations like the UN
and the Europn Union as a collectain addition to the individual members.

The Serbs did tend to see various countries as permanently hostile or permanently
friendly toward themThey saw the French as their long time friends, dating back to the
First World War.Thesaw the Germans as friends and allies of Croatia, dating back to the
Second World War, and therefore in the enemy carhpy had mixed feelings about the
Brits. They had mixed feelings about us, more generally negative than positive for many
reasonsTheysaw Turkey as the enenijhey saw Greece as their frierichey tended to

look at countries in a very black and white way.



It made it harder for them to deal with countries in collectivity, like the European Union
or NATO, because it had all those coussrin it.If they talked to NATO, there is a

NATO position and yet, Greece is in NATBErance is in NATO, sort offThe same with

the European Uniornt includes countries they saw as their friends, as well as countries
they saw as their foekthink theyare much more comfortable with those dealings now.

| would say on all the Balkan issues by this time, there was a strong European leaning.
That was not so much a question of American credibility at that point; it was much more
a question of American distction with Afghanistan and Iraglso, the fact that we

wanted the Europeans to play a bigger roldn@BalkansAnd they wanted to play a

bigger role.

Q: Did you find them sort of takingactsyou were uncomfortable with?

BOGUE:We and the Brits tated to be on the tougher end of the scale about things like
war criminals.Sometimes we worried that the Europeans would not be hard enough on
making linkages, for instance, between turning over war criminals and starting the
process of acceding to the Eld.fact, as it happened, as much as | followed it in the
papers, the European Union has been very tough on these issues in the end.

The big worry Americans always have diplomatically about the Europeans is that
meetings wonodét be thabdorhebowe domonyniqus ishohanavertt.i o n
| found in general that the Europeans working on the Balkans were very knowledgeable,

very capable and very interested in fixing this problem.

Q: By the time you left there, did you feel things were moving elaavely positive
track?

BOGUE:lIdid. coul dndét have said, confidheyntl! y, A W
are on their way. o

But | could say that most of the countries in my purview were doing bittesne was

at war, internally or externallythe level of ethnic violence, apart from war, attacks on
people, that sort of thing; or attacks on churches, mosques, symbols; was way down.
Some of the countries had in fact started the process of NATO membership and European
Union membershipMany of then had started the processes of starting to deal with each
other as independent sovereign nations and neighbors &gaidid feel that there was a

long way to go, that there were fits and starts moving in the same direction, and that there
was reason tbe optimistic about the future.

Q:You were doing this frome?
BOGUE:From 2001 to 2003.

Q: How did 9/11 affect your bureau and your area?
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BOGUE:I think it did a couple of thing€One was that in the area, it very much

accelerated the move toward Eueap lead on all things Balkan as the United States

became involved, after 9/11, first in Afghanistan and then in lréagok a lot of senior

attention away from the Balkans, which was fine inmanywéys.u dondét want to
the front page of the papell the timeY o u d o n 0 presidento be ybuhdesk

officer all the time.You want to have a chance to work on these thiRgshably the

single most important development was that it accelerated the move toward European

lead.

In terms of how it Hiected us in the bureau, particularly after the war started in Iraq, that
becamealc onsumi ng of everydawedoadrei wetandsabrengnb
Countries in the Balkans are kind of struggling along, emerging from their own wars, and

wesy, ASo, are yoAundwitthhe yu swea reInlfadtaneg@idgét, A Huh ?
some help in various ways from countries in the Balkans on Iraq.

Most importantandwhat | tried to tell my folkswas that now this was our opportunity.

It was no longea situation of us receiving the tablets from Mt. Sinai, and carrying out
the things that were chiseled on thénwas up to us to develop ideas, to work with
European colleagues and the international organizations to bring to them to fruition, and
to kee this off the plateof senior people.

| have to say that senior people were really good abdsgdretary Powell and Deputy

Secretary Armitage never faileddo anything asked them taBut | was very tough

with my folks about what we asked thendimWe di dndét ask them to sece
who came through/Ve only asked them when it was really, really truly important, and

they never said nd@hey always madetim&. h ey di dndét say, fAWe canoét
right now.We ar e tTheay avaysymthbough, but it was always up to us to

sort of police that for ourselves.

Q:Were you feeling, even before 9/11, the Bu:
buil ding nonsense?0o0

BOGUE:Right.When | came in, the Macedonia insurgem@sin full swing. The White

House was just adamant that we shoWednoét be
have been there waytoolodje s houl dndét be Wei dgnéatwant bui
do it again in Macedoni&lthough they had gotten the essential point alddacedonia,

which is intervene early and small, rather than intervene later anid \was much better

to nip these things in the bud, and then supported a NATO intervention in Macedonia

very early onThey did not want to hang around and do nation mgldrhey did not

want to do any of that.think we have all been quite stunned to see the extent of change

in that approach with Afghanistan and Iraqg.

Q: Okay.2002, whither?

BOGUE:I had told Beth Jones, my boss, that | had really intended to dobhisr only
two years and that would be enough of 24/7 traveling and sthermproblem for me was
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that the Europeans had a meeting practically every other week on the Batkatihem,

it was a day trip wherever they were coming from in Eurdpey fly or take the train,
and they were homé&or me, it was a minimum of three days with overnight flights, an
exhausting kind of thing.

| had already decided that | was going to retire in 2005 when | turned 50, a decision | had
come to for personal and proségsnal reasons.he job | had my eye on for my last two

years was to run the entlgvel programin other words, everybody new coming into the
Foreign Service would pass through my haheguld be in charge of their assignments,

to get them assigned atrdinedandoutto posts for ten years and so dthought that

would be funl thought it would be a great kind of legacy job, a job where you could

make some sort of stamp on the future in a positive Yay.can certainly do that at an
embassy or a [gb, but during the two years | did that job, | think maybe 4,000 came
through.A whole generation was going to be in your care.

Q:This is the Powell generation too, isnbét i

BOGUE:This is the Powlé generation, a very exciting generati@ulin Powellwas our
bestrecrutetWe had posters of Colin Powell that sa
very i mp dmneasé effegtie bmong all sorts of peoplteolin Powell was

one of those people who transcends race, gender, age, everythiktpeseld make

contact in a positive way with men and women, people of every race, and people from

little kids to elderly peoplede was a great recruiter for us.

The other reason that it is the Colin Powell generation was that he managed to get
Congress fially to increase the budget to make up for what were really enormous holes
in the Foreign Service.

Our organizational chart is supposed to look like a pyramid, wider at the bottom,
gradually getting smaller at the tdpstead, it sort of looked like arotrglassWe had a
lot of senior officers and we were bringing in a lot of junior offic&isere was nobody

in the middle from the years when we had stopped hiHegwas trying to correct that by
bringing in not just Foreign Service officers, what wakiof as diplomats, but computer
techs, security agents, English teaching specialists, and all the 19 difjeeeiditieghat
are in the Foreign Service as well.

ltés a job | had always wanted in the Foreig
coming out of the European Buredgso | spent my final two years in the Department
doing that job.

Q: Where were you located and what were you doing?
BOGUE:I was located in the Bureau of Human Resources, uded to be callethe
Bureau of Personndlwas in the Office of Career Development and Assignments, in the

entry-level division.We were a very large divisiolWe had control of assignments for
everyone who hadnét been t enulrwaglourjobto ef f ect ,
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